
If you would like help to understand this document, or would like it in 
another format or language, please call Paul Rogers, Democratic Services 
Officer on 01432 383408 or e-mail progers@herefordshire.gov.uk in 
advance of the meeting. 

 

 

 
 
AGENDA 
 
Herefordshire Schools Forum 
 

 

Date: Monday 17 May 2010 

Time: 2.00 pm 

Place: The Council Chamber,  Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, 
Hereford 

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of the meeting. 

For any further information please contact: 

Paul Rogers, Democratic Services Officer 
Tel: 01432 383408 
Email: progers@herefordshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 
 



 

GUIDANCE ON DECLARING PERSONAL AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS AT MEETINGS 
 

The Council’s Members’ Code of Conduct requires Councillors to declare against an Agenda item(s) 
the nature of an interest and whether the interest is personal or prejudicial.  Councillors have to decide 
first whether or not they have a personal interest in the matter under discussion.  They will then have to 
decide whether that personal interest is also prejudicial. 

  
A personal interest is an interest that affects the Councillor more than most other people in the area.  
People in the area include those who live, work or have property in the area of the Council.  Councillors 
will also have a personal interest if their partner, relative or a close friend, or an organisation that they 
or the member works for, is affected more than other people in the area.  If they do have a personal 
interest, they must declare it but can stay and take part and vote in the meeting.   

 

Whether an interest is prejudicial is a matter of judgement for each Councillor.  What Councillors have 
to do is ask themselves whether a member of the public – if he or she knew all the facts – would think 
that the Councillor’s interest was so important that their decision would be affected by it.  If a Councillor 
has a prejudicial interest then they must declare what that interest is.  A Councillor who has declared a 
prejudicial interest at a meeting may nevertheless be able to address that meeting, but only in 
circumstances where an ordinary member of the public would be also allowed to speak.  In such 
circumstances, the Councillor concerned will have the same opportunity to address the meeting and on 
the same terms.  However, a Councillor exercising their ability to speak in these circumstances must 
leave the meeting immediately after they have spoken. 
 

 

Agenda for the Meeting of the Herefordshire 
Schools Forum 
  
Membership  
  

Chairman Mrs JS Powell          Primary Headteacher (Community) 
Vice-Chairman Mr NPJ Griffiths       Secondary Headteacher (Community) 
  

Mr J A Chapman Roman Catholic Church 
Mr P Burbidge Roman Catholic Church 
Mrs S Catlow-Hawkins Secondary Schools Headteacher (Voluntary Aided) 
Mr N O'Neil Secondary Schools  (Community) 
Mrs S Woodrow Secondary Schools 
Vacancy Secondary Headteachers 
Mr S Pugh Primary Schools Headteacher (Community) 
Rev D Hyett Voluntary Aided Primary School 
Mrs J Cecil Primary Schools Headteacher (Voluntary Controlled) 
Mr P Box Primary Schools 
Ms T Kneale Primary Schools 
Vacancy Primary Headteachers Small Schools 
Mrs J Baker Secondary School Governor 
Vacancy Special School Governor 
Mr T Edwards Primary School Governor 
Mrs S Bailey Special Schools 
Mrs E Christopher Pupil Referral Unit Headteacher 
Mr J Docherty Secondary Schools 
Mrs A Pritchard Teaching Staff Representative 
Mr M Harrisson Teacher Representative 
Mr J Godfrey 14-19 Representative 
Mr A Shaw 14-19 Representatives 
Mrs A Jackson Early Years Representative 

 
Councillor JA Hyde Observer 
Councillor PD Price Observer 
Councillor WLS Bowen Observer 

 

  Non Voting 



 
HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL  17 MAY 2010 

 

 

AGENDA 
 Pages 
  
   
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE     
   
 To receive apologies for absence.  
   
2. NAMED SUBSTITUTES (IF ANY)     
   
 To receive any details of Members nominated to attend the meeting in place 

of a Member of the Forum. 
 

   
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST     
   
 To receive any declarations of interest by Members in respect of items on 

the Agenda. 
 

   
4. MINUTES   1 - 6  
   
 To approve and sign the Minutes of the meeting held on 23 February 2010.  
   
5. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS      
•   
6. LATE ITEMS/ANY OTHER BUSINESS     
   
 To consider any issues raised as either a late item or any other business. 

 
 

   
7. SCHOOLS FORUM REGULATIONS UPDATE   7 - 26  
   
 That Schools Forum to note the updated regulations and consider the 

recommendations for implementation. 
 

 

   
8. REVISED CONSTITUTION OF THE SCHOOLS FORUM   27 - 40  
   
 The Forum to amend its constitution to include a Members Code with regard 

to Declarations of Interest. 
 

 

   
9. FORECAST SCHOOL BALANCES 2009/10   41 - 46  
   
 To update Schools Forum on forecast school balances for 2009/10. 

 
 

   
10. CONSULTATION ON THE FUTURE DISTRIBUTION OF SCHOOL 

FUNDING   
47 - 170  

   
 To approve the response to the Department for Children, Schools and 

Families consultation paper on the future distribution of school funding. 
 

 

   
11. EXTENDED SCHOOLS REVIEW - ALLOCATION OF FUNDING FOR 

2010/11   
171 - 176  

   
 To inform the Schools Forum of the Extended Services funding allocations 

for 2010/11 and monitoring arrangements and to ask for endorsement of 
these. 
 

 

   
12. PROPOSAL TO REVIEW SEN/AEN FUNDING   177 - 192  
   
 To note and endorse recommendations for further work on Special 

Educational Needs Funding. 
 

 



 

 

   
13. TRADE UNION FACILITIES BUDGET - UPDATE REPORT   193 - 196  
   
 To provide an update on the Trade Union facilities budget in terms of the 

mechanism to better control the trade union facilities budget. The report is 
provided for Schools Forum to note.  
 

 

   



PUBLINF10.DOC 

The Public's Rights to Information and Attendance at 
Meetings  
 
 
YOU HAVE A RIGHT TO:- 
 
• Attend all Council, Cabinet, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings 

unless the business to be transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or 
‘exempt' information. 

• Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of 
the meeting. 

• Inspect Minutes of the Council and all Committees and Sub-Committees 
and written statements of decisions taken by the Cabinet or individual 
Cabinet Members for up to six years following a meeting. 

• Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a 
period of up to four years from the date of the meeting.  (A list of the 
background papers to a report is given at the end of each report).  A 
background paper is a document on which the officer has relied in writing 
the report and which otherwise is not available to the public. 

• Access to a public Register stating the names, addresses and wards of all 
Councillors with details of the membership of the Cabinet, of all 
Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have a reasonable number of copies of agenda and reports (relating to 
items to be considered in public) made available to the public attending 
meetings of the Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the Council have 
delegated decision making to their officers identifying the officers 
concerned by title. 

• Copy any of the documents mentioned above to which you have a right of 
access, subject to a reasonable charge (20p per sheet subject to a 
maximum of £5.00 per agenda plus a nominal fee of £1.50, for postage).   

• Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend 
meetings of the Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees and to 
inspect and copy documents. 



PUBLINF10.DOC 

 

Please Note: 

Agenda and individual reports can be made available in large print, Braille or 
on tape.  Please contact the officer named below in advance of the meeting 
who will be pleased to deal with your request. 

The Council Chamber where the meeting will be held is accessible for visitors 
in wheelchairs, for whom toilets are also available. 

A public telephone is available in the reception area. 

Public Transport links 

Public transport access can be gained to Brockington via bus route 104 
shown in dark grey on the map opposite. The service runs every half hour 
from the hopper bus station at Tesco's in Bewell St (next to the roundabout at 
the junction of Blueschool Street/Victoria St/Edgar St) and the nearest bus 
stop to Brockington is in Old Eign Hill near to its junction with Hafod Road. 
The return journey can be made from the same bus stop. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

If you have any questions about this Agenda, how the Council works or would 
like more information or wish to exercise your rights to access the information 
described above, you may do so by telephoning an officer on 01432 383408 
or by visiting in person during office hours (8.45 a.m. - 5.00 p.m. Monday - 
Thursday and 8.45 a.m. - 4.45 p.m. Friday) at the Council Offices, 
Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, Hereford. 



FIREBROCK11.doc 21.05.97 

HEREFORDSHIRE  COUNCIL 
 
 

BROCKINGTON, 35 HAFOD ROAD, HEREFORD. 
 
 
 

FIRE AND EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 
 
 

 
In the event of a fire or emergency the alarm bell will ring 
continuously. 

You should vacate the building in an orderly manner through 
the nearest available fire exit. 

You should then proceed to Assembly Point J which is located 
at the southern entrance to the car park.  A check will be 
undertaken to ensure that those recorded as present have 
vacated the building following which further instructions will be 
given. 

Please do not allow any items of clothing, etc. to obstruct any of 
the exits. 

Do not delay your vacation of the building by stopping or 
returning to collect coats or other personal belongings. 





HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL 

MINUTES of the meeting of Herefordshire Schools Forum held at 
Council Chamber, Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, Hereford HR1 
1SH on Tuesday 23 February 2010 at 2.00 pm 
  

Present: Mrs JS Powell (Chairman) 
Mr NPJ Griffiths (Vice Chairman) 

   
 Mrs S Bailey, Mrs J Baker, Mr P Box, Mr P Burbidge, Mrs J Cecil, 

Mr JA Chapman, Mrs E Christopher, Mr J Docherty, Mr T Edwards, 
Mr M Harrisson, Rev. D Hyett, Mrs A Jackson, Mr N O'Neil, Ms A Pritchard, 
Mr S Pugh, Mr A Shaw and Mrs S Woodrow. 

  
  
In attendance: Councillors PD Price and WLS Bowen 
  
  
65. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

 
Apologies for absence were received from Mrs Catlow-Hawkins, Ms T Kneale and Mrs R 
Lloyd. 
 

66. NAMED SUBSTITUTES (IF ANY)   
 
Mrs D Coates substituted for Ms T Kneale. 
 

67. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
7. SCHOOL FUNDING 2010/11. 
Mr M Harrisson, Personal, Trades Union representative for secondary schools.. 
 
7. SCHOOL FUNDING 2010/11. 
Mrs JS Powell, Personal, Trade Union Branch Secretary.. 
 
 

68. MINUTES   
 
RESOLVED: That subject to the following amendments, the Minutes of the meeting 
held on the 1 February 2010 be approved as a correct record and signed by the 
Chairman: 
 

(i) the words ‘current year’ in line 7 of paragraph 2 of Minute No.62 be 
replaced by the figures ‘2010/11’; 

 
(ii) Resolution (ii) of Minute No.62 be deleted and replaced with the following 

words: 
 

‘Schools Forum notes the 2010/11 allocations of the proposed spending 
plan and that a report be submitted to the May Forum meeting detailing 
2010/11 proposed allocations’; 

 
(iii) the word ‘ fee’ in line 3 of Minute No. 63 be replaced by the word ‘free’ 

and the words ‘sub group’ be deleted from line 5 in paragraph 2 of that 
Minute. 

 

AGENDA ITEM 4

1



 

69. LATE ITEMS/ANY OTHER BUSINESS   
 
In response to a question by the Chairman, the Director of Children’s Servicers informed 
the Forum that to her knowledge, there were no volunteers from Forum Members to 
participate in the group reviewing Service Level Agreements (SLA). She added that 
perhaps there was a lack of understanding of what would be required of an SLA group 
member and that she would ensure that the Assistant Director Planning, Performance 
and Development would clarify this for Forum members. 
 
The Chairman referred to the Budget Working Group and that it would be helpful that 
reports from that group included the names of its members. The Schools Finance 
Manager informed the Forum that he would ensure that membership names would be 
stated on future Working Group reports. He also advised that the group would be asked 
to elect a Chairman from the Headteacher members of the group at its next meeting and 
that it would be envisaged that the Chairman would present Working Group reports to 
the Forum. In response to a question raised by a member, the Forum was informed how 
the membership of the budget working group was elected. 
 
The Forum agreed to the Chairman’s proposal to take Agenda Item No.9 (Minute No. 71 
refers) before Agenda Item No.7 (Minute No. 72 refers). 
 
 

70. HARNESSING TECHNOLOGY GRANT: PERCENTAGE RETENTION BY  LOCAL 
AUTHORITY TO PURCHASE EDUCATIONAL DIGITAL CONTENT AND HARDWARE 
FOR ALL SCHOOLS   
 
In response to the Schools Forum request in December 2009, the ICT Advisor presented 
a report regarding the retention of a proportion of the 2010/11 Harnessing Technology 
Grant (as permitted under the rules of the grant) for the purchase of digital content and 
specific hardware at substantial discounts and as part of strategic county-wide, properly 
supported initiative for schools. He also advised the Forum that the Education City 
product was primarily for primary schools, early secondary and secondary special needs. 
He drew members’ attention to the table of costings against a sample of schools at 
paragraph 19 of the report and advised that the figures were for illustration purposes and 
would be revised when the current pupil census numbers were confirmed. 
 
In response to a member’s question, the Assistant Director Improvement and Inclusion 
advised that the purchase of software licenses was for a two year period thus covering 
2011/2012 when there would be no further grant available and also enabling the 
purchase to be capitalised. Kathy Roberts also noted that any further purchases after 
that time could be coordinated centrally in order to continue to benefit from bulk 
purchasing discounts.  Mark Sanderson noted that any school which had already made 
such purchases could add their existing licence fee onto the end of the two year period. 
 
The ICT Advisor informed the Forum that the penultimate paragraph on page 13 should 
be deleted as it was not a capital cost. 
 
In response to an issue raised by a member, the ICT Advisor informed the Forum  that 
the cost proposal before members would only be possible if all primary schools 
subscribed to it. The discounts currently available would be significantly less if schools 
were to purchase individually. 
 
The Schools Finance Manager advised that the savings listed in the table in paragraph 
19 were for illustrative purposes only. Final allocations of Harnessing Technology Grant 
would only be calculated when final pupil numbers were available and that there would 
also need to be a small adjustment for irrecoverable VAT. 
 

2



 

The Chairman suggested and the Forum agreed, that any vote by the Forum should be 
in accordance with the majority view expressed by the primary school representatives in 
respect of primary schools and the secondary school representatives in respect of 
secondary schools. 
 
 
RESOLVED: That Schools Forum 
 

(i) approves the retention of  27% of the Harnessing Technology Grant for 
primary schools, special schools and Pupil Referral Units (£204,672) for 
the specific purchases / projects outlined in the report; and 

 
(ii) does not approve a fixed sum of £3,515 per secondary school (i.e. 

between 10% and 29% depending on school size) for the specific 
purchases / projects outlined in the report but approves the distribution 
of this grant to secondary schools budgets for them to decide how the 
grant will be spent. 

 
 

71. REPORT OF BUDGET WORKING GROUP - 22 JANUARY 2010   
 
The Schools Finance Manager presented a report which requested the Forum to 
consider the recommendations of the Budget Working Group in agreeing a final budget 
for schools.  
 
The Chairman referred to the recommendations on page 35 of the report and advised 
members that recommendations a, f, g and h were for consideration and decision and 
that recommendations b, c, d and e were for consideration at Item 7 on the agenda, 
Minute No. 72 refers. 
 
The Schools Finance Manager informed the Forum that the agenda and reports of 
Budget Working Group were attached as an appendix to the report so that all the 
financial information and analysis would be available to all Forum members. 

 
With regard to an issue raised regarding trades union facilities budget, the Director of 
Children’s Services informed members that with the likelihood of more school 
redundancies more time will be taken on such issues by the trades union 
representatives. She informed the Forum that a review of expenditure was being 
undertaken by Human Resources to develop a new financial control process.  

 
The Schools Finance Manager advised that the School balances claw-back proposals 
contained a typing error and that the parity Proposal figure of 80 in the penultimate line 
of the table on page 57 should read 68. Also, that the figure £45,0000 in the penultimate 
paragraph on page 57 should read £45,000.  

 
The Schools Finance Manager drew members’ attention to a further recommendation in 
paragraph 7 relating to Capital Transfers from Revenue which was an additional 
recommendation to those referred to on pages 35 and 37 of the report. He advised that 
currently, schools were able to transfer revenue to capital without limitation. However, 
the recommendation proposed was the first step to control such transfers. 

 

RESOLVED: That 

(i) the trade union facilities budget be cash limited at £32,000 for 
2010/11 and measures be introduced for improved financial control 

3



 

with a report to be submitted to the July Forum meeting detailing 
these measures; 

 
(ii) sixth form free school meals be funded from the Learning and Skills 

Council funding allocated to schools and excluded from the 
percentage used to calculate all other factors relating to pre-16 
pupils; 

 
(iii) the changes contained in Proposal B of the Balance claw-back 

scheme i.e. the minimum amount for the primary schools and high 
schools be reduced by £5,000 i.e. primary £25,000 and high schools 
£45,000 for financial year 2010/11; 

 
(iv) approves the rates rebates funding to be distributed to schools as 

follows;  
 

• Primary and High schools to receive £46.65 per pupil. 

• Special schools to receive £208.79 per pupil. 

• Pupil Referral Units to receive £183.47 per pupil. 

and schools be given the choice of either full payment in 2010/11 or 
equal payment over the three years 2010/11-2012/13; 
 

(v) schools should not be able to transfer Revenue funding to Capital 
unless a Capital scheme has been approved by the local authority 
on a timely basis, or in the case of VA schools the Locally 
Controlled Voluntary Aided Programme Committee, and that a report 
be submitted to the Forum meeting in July to show how this will be 
implemented and monitored and the Head of Access and Capital 
Commissioning would  be requested to present this at the July 
Schools Forum meeting. 

 
 
 

72. SCHOOL FUNDING 2010/11   
 
The Schools Finance Manager presented a report with a view to recommending to the 
Cabinet Member for ICT, Education and Achievement the schools budget for 2010/11. 
He advised the Forum that he had drawn extensively on the Budget Working Group 
recommendations in setting out the report and the recommendations referred to on 
pages 17 and 18 on the agenda.  
 
In response to a member’s question, the Schools Finance Manager informed the Forum 
that in respect of the Single Early Years Funding Formulae for early years settings, the 
formula was comparable to other authorities in West Midlands and further work would be 
undertaken to compare the Herefordshire formula with Worcestershire, Shropshire and 
Gloucestershire early years formulas and the analysis would be brought back to the 
Forum.  
 
The Schools Finance Manager referred to the table in page 20 regarding pupil numbers 
and informed the Forum that the figures in the table emphasised that the rate that pupil 
numbers were falling had slowed down.  
 
The Assistant Director Improvement and Inclusion referred to the Provisional Pupil 
Referral Units (PRU) figures in Table b on page 21 and informed the Forum that a new 

4



 

strategy was being prepared for PRUs and this would be reported to the July Forum 
meeting. The Head of Additional Needs would lead on this development and present to 
the Forum at the July meeting. 
 
 
RESOLVED: (i) That the following schools budget for 2010/11 be recommended 

to the Cabinet Member for ICT, Education and Achievement: 
 

(a) The existing budget strategy be confirmed as 

(i) Minimum Funding Guarantee (MFG) of 2.1%; 

(ii) Headroom distribution of 50% on pupil numbers and 
50% social deprivation; 

(iii) Small Schools Protection remains frozen at 06/07 level; 

(iv) The continued cash freeze of the PVI nursery budget 
until parity with Worcestershire, Shropshire and 
Gloucestershire is achieved; 

(v) Changes to Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funded 
budgets to reflect known budget pressures/savings as 
indicated below; 

(b) Budget planning be approved on estimated pupil numbers of 
22,580; 

(c) Budget increases be approved as set out in the report  

(i)  Banded Funding £260,000. 
 
(ii)  Special Schools in year admissions    £75,000. 
 
(iii)  Out County placements £136,000. 
 
(iv)  Inter-authority recoupment £100,000. 

 
(vi) Schools Forum approves these increases in the 

central expenditure limit to meet these demands; 
 

(d)   Increases in school budgets in paragraph 9d be noted; 

(e)  School budgets be subject to final adjustments when pupil     
numbers are confirmed from the January 2010 census and 
when banded funding allocations from the February panel are 
known. 

 
(ii)  That the introduction of PRU charges of a fixed £6,500 per 

excluded pupil in 2010/11 and the £58,500 budget shortfall in 
2011/12 be deferred for consideration at the July Forum 
meeting when the revised PRU strategy is to be considered. 

 
 

 
 
 
 

5



 

73. SCHEME FOR FINANCING SCHOOLS   
 
The Schools Finance Manager presented a report to approve statutory changes to the 
Herefordshire Scheme for Financing Schools for 2010/11. 

 

RESOLVED:  That the inclusion of paragraphs 2.15, 2.16 and 2.3.1 in the 
Appendix attached to the report into the Herefordshire Scheme for Financing 
Schools from April 2010 be approved 

 
 

74. WORKPLAN   
 
The Forum considered the Forum Work Programme.  
 
 
RESOLVED: That the following items be added or amended with regard to 
 

(i) May 2010 Work Programme 
 

(a) DSG Review – dependent on publication by central 
government. 

 
(b) Banded Funding 

(From 23 February meeting). 
 

(ii) July 2010 Work Programme 
 

(a) Trades Union Facilities Agreement. 
(From 23 February meeting). 
 

(b) Pupil Referral Unit Strategy and Charges for 2010/11 and 
budget shortfall. 

(From 23 February meeting). 
 

(c) Revenue to Capital Transfers – proposed monitoring and 
control process. 

(From 23 February meeting). 
 

(d) Dedicated School Grant Outturn. 
(From 23 February meeting). 

 
 
 

The meeting ended at 3.58 pm CHAIRMAN 

6



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Kathy Roberts, Assistant Director: Improvement & Inclusion on (01432) 260804 
  

SchoolsForumRegulationsUpdate21.doc 26Nov08 

MEETING: SCHOOLS FORUM 

DATE: 17 MAY 2010 

TITLE OF REPORT: SCHOOLS FORUM REGULATIONS UPDATE 

OFFICER: ASSISTANT DIRECTOR: IMPROVEMENT & 
INCLUSION 

CLASSIFICATION: Open  

Wards Affected 

County-wide  

Purpose 

That Schools Forum note the updated regulations and consider the recommendations for 
implementation. 

Key Decision  

This is not a Key Decision.  

Recommendation(s) 

 THAT SCHOOLS FORUM: 

 (a) is reconstituted by 1 September 2010 to ensure that membership is fully 
compliant with the amended statutory regulations: The Schools Forum 
(England) Regulations 2010 No. 344 (appendix 1); 

(b) Notes the amended School Budget Shares Regulations 2010 No. 190 
(appendix 2) and the funding opportunities identified within; 

(c) Notes the amended School Finance Regulations 2010 No. 210 (appendix 
3) and the funding opportunities identified within; and 

(d) Notes the enhanced links and responsibilities associated with the 
Children’s Trust. 

Key Points Summary 

• The Schools Forum (England) Regulations 2010 No. 344 amalgamates all previous changes 
and requires Schools Forum to have; 

o Academy members if there is at least one academy in the area; 

AGENDA ITEM 7

7



o Non-school members. 

• The School Budget Shares (Prescribed Purposes) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2010 
No. 190 takes into account provisions within the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and 
Learning Act 2009 and enables schools to establish pooled budgets with partner agencies as 
well as contribute to the work of the Children’s Trust Board. 

• The School Finance (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2010 No. 210 enables local 
authorities to apply a lower weighting for dually registered pupils within their funding formula. 
The Scheme for Financing Schools must be published on a publicly available web-site and 
any revisions must be made available as soon as they come into force. 

• The Schools Forum and Children’s Trust Board need to work in partnership to ensure the best 
outcomes for all children and young people. In particular the Children’s Trust must consult 
with Schools Forum on the development of the Children and Young Peoples Plan. 

Alternative Options 

1 There are no alternative options as this paper identifies updated statutory regulations. 

Reasons for Recommendations 

2 To enable Schools Forum to fulfil its statutory responsibilities. 

Introduction and Background 

3 The DCSF has recently amended the statutory requirements of Schools Forums in England in 
order to ensure that the constituted membership includes representatives from Academies 
and non-school members as appropriate. Herefordshire Schools Forum reviewed its 
membership in 2009 and already incorporates non-school members. The constitution 
therefore needs to be extended to incorporate Academy representatives. 

4 The DCSF further reviewed Budget Shares and Finance Regulations in order to support the 
developing learning routes for children and young people as identified in the Apprenticeships, 
Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009. The amendments also enable schools to pool 
resources with partner agencies and/or contribute to the work of the Children’s Trust Board. 

Key Considerations 

5 Membership: 

 The main changes to these regulations relate to the membership of the Forum, and 
specifically to Academies and non-school members. The regulations will come into force on 1 
April 2010, and Schools Forums will need to be reconstituted by 1 September 2010. 

6 There is a new requirement that there must be at least one Academy member on a Schools 
Forum where there are Academies in the local authority’s area. Academies are growing in 
number and their budgets are calculated on the basis of their local authority’s formula for 
funding schools and are therefore directly affected by decisions the Schools Forum may take. 
In some authorities, the proportion of secondary age pupils in Academies is significant and it 
is only right, therefore, that these pupils’ needs are represented. The requirement is 
consistent with that for nursery and special schools, which must have representation if there 
are any such schools in an authority’s area 

8



7 Arrangements for the clawback of funding from Academies for permanently excluded pupils 
are also being brought further into line with other maintained schools. Once Schools Forums 
have been reconstituted to include academy members, the liability to pay the authority if a 
pupil is permanently excluded will be extended to cover not just an amount equal to the 
statutory deduction but also any local 'top-up' amounts payable by schools under “hard to 
place” or “managed moves” protocols. The liability should be reflected in a local agreement as 
set out in the Department's letters of 12 March and 14 November 2008. 

8 There may need to be more than one Academy member on the Forum if the pupil numbers in 
Academies justify this on a basis of broad proportionality, and local authorities will need to 
review this as the number of Academies increases. The Academy member(s) represents the 
governing bodies of the Academies situated in the authority’s area, so does not necessarily 
have to be a Principal or a governor. It is for the governing bodies of the Academies 
concerned to elect the member(s); if there is only one Academy in the authority’s area, its 
governing body will select the member. The local authority will, however, need to inform the 
Academies of the change to the regulations, and may need to assist the Academies in setting 
up the process for an election if there are no existing meetings at which Academies gather 
together. 

9 A small number of Schools Forums do not have non-schools members. It will now become a 
requirement for them to appoint members in this category; non-schools members must 
include a representative of the early years private, voluntary and independent (PVI) sector, 
and of the 14-19 partnership. With the introduction of the Early Years Single Funding Formula 
(EYSFF), it is particularly important that there is PVI representation on all Forums. 
Representation of the 14-19 partnership is being required because of policy developments in 
this area, in particular diplomas. 

10 There is a new requirement on local authorities to appoint a schools or Academy member 
where an election for these members does not take place by any date set by the authority or 
an election results in a tie between two or more candidates. Authorities should, therefore, set 
deadlines by which schools or Academy member elections should take place, ensuring that 
there is a reasonable time is left prior to the new term of office starting. Where an authority 
has to take a decision on the appointment of a schools or Academy member, they might wish 
to have regard to individuals’ previous membership and attendance, their competences and 
skills, and the balance of membership between different types of school. 

11 Reference to the Learning and Skills Council (LSC) and its observer status has been removed 
because it ceased to exist from 1st April 2010 and those of its functions most relevant to 
Schools Forums transfer to local authorities from that date.  The representation of the 14-19 
partnership will be sufficient to ensure that non-school providers have a voice.   

12 Budget: 

 The Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009 added school governing bodies 
to the list of “relevant partners” who are under a duty to co-operate with the local authority and 
the other relevant partners through the Children’s Trust co-operation arrangements, and to be 
represented on the Children’s Trust Board. These regulations allow schools to make 
contributions from their delegated budget to pooled budgets for improving children’s well-
being to which other Children’s Trust ‘relevant partners’ may contribute and towards the work 
of the Children’s Trust Board. 

13 Many local authorities will already be used to operating pooled budgets in children’s services, 
usually with a Primary Care Trust. The amended regulations will now enable, from 1 March 
2010, an individual school to operate a joint budget with another service (eg health) or another 
school where that would be beneficial for their pupils, or to contribute staff, goods, services, 

9



accommodation or other resources to such an arrangement. Special schools may find this 
particularly helpful. Over time, as partnership arrangements develop both between schools 
and with other services, as envisaged in the 21st Century Schools White Paper, this may 
become more common.  Where this power is used, schools must work with the local authority 
to ensure that the correct arrangements are followed, as formal pooling has specific legal, 
accounting and audit requirements. 

14 From 1 April 2010, the regulations will allow schools to contribute funding or other resources 
towards the work of partnerships within the local Children’s Trust, including the Children’s 
Trust Board. 

15 The main areas of activity for Children’s Trust partners are to: 
o Develop and promote a local vision – set out in the Children and Young People's Plan 

(CYPP) – to drive improved outcomes for local children, young people and their 
families; 

o Achieve this through better integrated services which narrow gaps in outcomes for 
disadvantaged groups against a background of improved outcomes for all;  

o Have robust arrangements for interagency governance (i.e. the Children’s Trust 
Board); 

o Develop better integrated strategies such as strategic commissioning with pooled or 
aligned budgets, shared data and other information, and workforce development; 

o Support those strategies via more integrated processes including effective joint 
working sustained by a shared understanding of professional language and common 
systems; and  

o Develop and promote better integrated front line delivery, organised around the child, 
young person or their family in a setting that supports family life rather than 
professional or institutional barriers.  

 
16 In addition the Children's Trust Board, on which schools must be represented, is responsible 

for 
o Developing and publishing the CYPP, keeping it under review and revising it; and 
o Monitoring progress and producing a report on the extent to which the Children’s Trust 

partners deliver their commitments in the CYPP. 
 
17 As well as governing bodies of maintained schools and the children’s services authority, the 

other statutory ‘relevant partners’ in a Children’s Trust are: 
o District councils in two-tier areas 
o The police authority and the chief officer of police for a police area any part of which 

falls within the area of the children’s services authority 
o A local probation board for an area any part of which falls within the area of the 

authority 
o A youth offending team for an area any part of which falls within the area of the 

authority 
o A Strategic Health Authority and Primary Care Trust for an area any part of which falls 

within the area of the authority 
o Connexions services 
o Proprietors of non-maintained special schools situated in the authority's area 
o Proprietors of city technology colleges, city colleges for the technology of the arts and 

Academies situated in the authority's area 
o Governing bodies of further education institutions (including sixth form colleges), the 

main site of which is situated in the authority's area 

10



o Jobcentre Plus  
o Short Stay Schools/Pupil Referral Units (under regulations currently being made) 
 

18 Separate statutory guidance is being issued on the wider issues relating to Children’s Trusts 
to which all ‘relevant partners’ must have regard. 

19 Where a contribution is sought from the central part of the Schools Budget towards the 
operation of the Children’s Trust, then this can already be done as a contribution to combined 
budgets. It requires Schools Forum approval, and a demonstration that there is an educational 
benefit to pupils. 

20 The Children’s Trust Board will consult the Schools Forum when preparing its Children and 
Young People’s Plan. This will enable the Schools Forum to have strategic input into agreeing 
strategic local priorities. 

21 Finance: 

 The revised School Finance Regulations come into force on 8 March 2010. Many of the 
changes proposed in the original consultation related to the Early Years Single Funding 
Formula (EYSFF); following the ministerial announcement in December 2009, the requirement 
to implement was postponed to the 2011-12 financial year. Therefore, there are no changes 
to the regulations for the purpose of the EYSFF for 2010-11, and local authorities who are 
EYSFF pilots or pathfinders have had to ask to have regulations disapplied. Herefordshire is a 
pathfinder and has implemented the single funding formula as planned. 

22 Of the remaining issues in the consultation, it will be a requirement for local authorities to 
publish their latest version of their Scheme for Funding Schools on a publicly accessible 
website. Revised versions of the Scheme must also be published before the date from which 
the revisions take effect, and it must be made clear when this date is. At present, authorities 
are required to publish Schemes, but the means is at the discretion of the authority. 

23 It will now be possible for local authorities to give a lower weighting to dually registered pupils 
in the pupil count when determining school formula budgets. Previously, authorities were 
required to fully count the pupil at each school. This was inconsistent with the method of 
calculating Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG), which adjusts for these pupils. The original 
consultation proposed that local authorities should be required to exclude from their pupil 
count those at Key Stage Four who are registered at a school solely for the purpose of 
accessing practical and applied learning. A number of authorities rightly pointed out that dual 
registration exists in other settings, such as a special school pupil spending time in a 
mainstream school. The flexibility has, therefore, been widened in response to the 
consultation, and the original requirement removed given that there is already flexibility 
relating to adjustment of Key Stage Four funding levels. The regulations have been amended 
to allow differential weighting of any dually registered pupils. 

24 The final change is to add references to the Young People’s Learning Agency (YPLA) in 
respect of post-16 school funding. The YPLA takes over a number of functions from the 
Learning and Skills Council (LSC) from 1 April 2010. These include the operation of the 
national funding formula underlying post-16 allocations in schools’ delegated budgets, and the 
payment of these allocations to LAs for transmission to schools. 

Community Impact 

25 The amended regulations enable schools to use their delegated funding to develop working 
partnerships and support to the activities of the Children’s Trust Board. 

11



26 The amended regulations enable flexibility of funding to support the effective delivery of 
learning choices for young people. 

Financial Implications 

27 There are no financial implications to the implementation of the amended statutory legislation. 
Rather, the legislation provides more flexibility to schools in the use of their delegated budgets 
to meet the needs of their children and young people. 

Legal Implications 

28 This paper presents the newly amended statutory framework for the operation of Schools 
Forums in England. 

29 These proposals comply with the Councils legal duties. 

Risk Management 

30 Schools Forum needs to ensure it is fulfilling the new statutory legislation within the time 
frames set i.e. new constitution by 1 September 2010, received Finance Regulations 8 March 
2010. 

Consultees 

31 None. 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 The Schools Forum (England) Regulations 2010 No. 344 

Appendix 2 School Budget Shares Regulations 2010 No. 190 

Appendix 3 School Finance Regulations 2010 No. 210 

Background Papers 

Proposed Changes to the Schools Forum Constitution 

Investing for the future, protecting the front line: school funding 2010-13 

12



                                                                                                                         APPENDIX 1 

S T A T U T O R Y  I N S T R U M E N T S  

2010 No. 344 

EDUCATION, ENGLAND 

The Schools Forums (England) Regulations 2010 

Made - - - - 15th February 2010 

Laid before Parliament 23rd February 2010 

Coming into force - - 1st April 2010 

CONTENTS 
1. Citation, commencement, application and interpretation 
2. Revocations 
3. Constitution of schools forum 
4. Membership: general 
5. Schools members 
6. Academies members 
7. Non-schools members 
8. Meetings and proceedings of schools forum 
9. Consultation on contracts 
10. Consultation on financial issues 
11. Information about consultations 
12. Charging of schools forum’s expenses 
13. Members’ expenses 

The Secretary of State for Children, Schools and Families makes the following Regulations in 
exercise of the powers conferred by sections 47A and 138(7) of the School Standards and 
Framework Act 1998(a): 

Citation, commencement, application and interpretation 

1.—(1) These Regulations may be cited as the Schools Forums (England) Regulations 2010 and 
come into force on 1st April 2010. 

(2) These Regulations apply only in relation to England. 

(3) In these Regulations— 

“the Act” means the School Standards and Framework Act 1998; 

                                                                                                                                            
(a) 1998 c.31. Section 47A was inserted by section 43 of the Education Act 2002 (c.32) and has been amended by section 101 

of, and paragraph 7 of Schedule 16 to, the Education Act 2005 (c.18); sections 57 and 184 of, and paragraphs 2(1), (3) and 
(4) of Schedule 5 and Part 6 of Schedule 18, to the Education and Inspections Act 2006 (c.40) and by sections 165 and 169 
of and Schedule 2 to the Education and Skills Act 2008 (c.25). For the meaning of “prescribed” and “regulations” see 
section 142(1) of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998. 

13



 2

“Academy” means an independent school in England to which an agreement under section 
482 of the Education Act 1996(a) relates; 

“Academies member” means a member who represents the governing bodies of the 
Academies situated in the authority’s area; 

“authority” means the local authority in whose area the schools forum is established but, until 
such time as a section 162(1)(a) order comes into force, “local authority” means “local 
education authority”; 

“early years providers” means— 

(a) persons who are registered as early years childminders or other early years providers 
under Chapter 2 of Part 3 of the Childcare Act 2006(b) (which provides for the 
compulsory registration of persons providing early years provision) or are exempt from 
compulsory registration by order of the Secretary of State under section 33(2) or 34(3) of 
that Act; 

(b) independent schools; and 

(c) non-maintained special schools, 

who provide early years provision; 

“early years provision” has the meaning given by section 20 of the Childcare Act 2006; 

“executive member” means any elected member of the authority appointed to the executive of 
that authority; 

“governor” includes any interim executive member of an interim executive board; 

“head teacher’s representative” means a senior member of staff representing a head teacher; 

“interim executive board” is to be construed in accordance with paragraph 2 of Schedule 6 to 
the Education and Inspections Act 2006(c); 

“local authority 14-19 partnership” means the arrangements described in section 85(2) and (3) 
of the Education and Skills Act 2008(d); 

“nursery school” means a nursery school maintained by the authority; 

“primary school” means a primary school maintained by the authority; 

“relevant officer” means— 

(a) the director of children’s services of the authority; or 

(b) any officer employed or engaged to work under the management of the director of 
children’s services, other than— 

(i) one who directly provides education to children or who manages such a person; or 

(ii) a school improvement partner; 

“representative” means either a head teacher or head teacher’s representative or a governor of 
a school maintained by the authority; 

“school” means a school maintained by the authority; 

“school category” means one of the following categories of school— 

(a) community schools, 

(b) foundation schools, 

(c) voluntary aided schools, 

(d) voluntary controlled schools, 

as described in Chapter 1 of Part 2 of the Act; 

                                                                                                                                            
(a) Section 482 of the Education Act 1996 was substituted by section 65 of the Education Act 2002 (c.32). 
(b) 2006 c.21. 
(c) 2006 c.40. 
(d) 2008 c.25. 

14



 3

“section 162(1)(a) order” means an order under subsection (1) of section 162 of the Education 
and Inspections Act 2006(a) containing provision made by virtue of paragraph (a) of that 
subsection (power to replace statutory references to local education authorities with references 
to local authorities); 

“school improvement partner” means a person appointed by the authority under section 5 of 
the Education and Inspections Act 2006; 

“secondary school” means a secondary school maintained by the authority; 

“senior member of staff” means a principal, deputy head teacher, bursar or other person 
responsible for the financial management of the school; 

“special school” means a community special school or a foundation special school. 

(4) In these Regulations, a reference to a governing body does not include a reference to the 
temporary governing body of a new school and a reference to a governor does not include a 
reference to a member of the temporary governing body of a new school, where “new school” has 
the meaning given by section 72(3) of the Act(b). 

Revocations 

2. The following Regulations are revoked— 

(a) the Schools Forums (England) Regulations 2002(c); 

(b) the Schools Forums (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2004(d); 

(c) the Schools Forums (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2005(e); and 

(d) the Schools Forums (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2008(f). 

Constitution of schools forum 

3. Every authority must ensure that the schools forum for their area is constituted in accordance 
with regulations 4 to 7 by 1st September 2010. 

Membership: general 

4.—(1) Subject to the following paragraphs of this regulation, an authority may determine the 
size and composition of their schools forum and the forum members’ terms of office. 

(2) Subject to paragraph (3), a forum must consist of at least 15 members, comprising— 

(a) schools members elected in accordance with regulation 5; 

(b) if there are any Academies in the authority’s area, at least one Academies member elected 
or selected in accordance with regulation 6; and 

(c) non-schools members appointed in accordance with regulation 7. 

(3) If, for any reason, an election for a schools member under regulation 5(1) or an Academies 
member under regulation 6(1) does not take place by any date set by the authority or any such 
election results in a tie between two or more candidates, the authority must appoint the schools 
member or Academies member to their schools forum instead. 

(4) Schools members and Academies members must together comprise at least two thirds of the 
membership of the forum. 

                                                                                                                                            
(a) 2006 c. 40. 
(b) Section 72(3) was amended by section 215(1) of, and paragraph 106 of Schedule 21 to, the Education Act 2002. 
(c) S.I. 2002/2114. 
(d) S.I. 2004/447. 
(e) S.I. 2005/3209. 
(f) S.I. 2008/47. 

15



 4

(5) Subject to paragraphs (6) to (8), primary schools, secondary schools and Academies must be 
broadly proportionately represented on the forum, having regard to the total number of pupils 
registered at them. 

(6) Where the authority maintain one or more special schools, at least one schools member must 
be a representative of a special school. 

(7) Where the authority maintain one or more nursery schools, at least one schools member 
must be a representative of a nursery school. 

(8) An authority may determine that the number of members representing schools in a particular 
school category must be broadly proportionate to the total number of schools in that category 
when compared with the total number of schools maintained by the authority. 

(9) A forum member remains in office until— 

(a) the member’s term of office expires; 

(b) the member ceases to hold the office by virtue of which the member became eligible for 
election, selection or appointment to the forum; 

(c) the member resigns from the forum by giving notice in writing to the authority; or 

(d) in the case of a non-schools member, the member is replaced by the authority, at the 
request of the body which the member represents, by another person nominated by that 
body, 

whichever comes first. 

(10) The authority must maintain a written record of the composition of their forum, to 
include— 

(a) the numbers of schools members and by which group or sub-group they were elected; 

(b) the number of Academies members; and 

(c) the number of non-schools members, their terms of office, how they were chosen and 
whom they represent. 

Schools members 

5.—(1) Schools members must be elected to the schools forum by the members of the relevant 
group, or sub-group in the authority’s area. 

(2) The groups are— 

(a) representatives of nursery schools, where there are any such schools in the authority’s 
area; 

(b) representatives of primary schools other than nursery schools; 

(c) representatives of secondary schools; and 

(d) representatives of special schools, where there are any such schools in the authority’s 
area. 

(3) Each group referred to in paragraph (2) may consist of one or more of the following sub-
groups— 

(a) where the authority exercises its discretion under paragraph (4)(a), representatives of 
head teachers of schools in each group; 

(b) where the authority exercises its discretion under paragraph (4)(b), representatives of 
governors of schools in each group; 

(c) where the authority exercises its discretion under paragraph 4(c), representatives of head 
teachers and governors of schools in each group; 

(d) where the authority exercises its discretion under regulation 4(8), representatives of the 
particular school category. 

(4) The authority may determine that a certain number of representatives of each group must 
be— 

16



 5

(a) head teachers or head teachers’ representatives; 

(b) governors; or 

(c) head teachers or head teachers’ representatives and governors. 

Academies members 

6.—(1) Subject to paragraph (2), Academies members must be elected to the schools forum by 
the governing bodies of the Academies in the authority’s area. 

(2) Where there is only one Academy in the authority’s area, the governing body of the 
Academy must select the person who will represent them on the schools forum. 

Non-schools members 

7.—(1) The authority must appoint non-schools members to their schools forum comprising— 

(a) one or more persons to represent the local authority 14-19 partnership; and 

(b) one or more persons to represent early years providers. 

(2) Subject to paragraph (3), the authority may appoint additional non-schools members to their 
forum to represent the interests of other bodies. 

(3) Prior to making any appointment under paragraph (2), the authority must consider whether 
the following bodies should be represented on their forum— 

(a) the Diocesan Board of Education for any diocese any part of which is situated in the 
authority’s area; 

(b) the Bishop of any Roman Catholic Diocese any part of which is situated in the authority’s 
area; 

(c) where there are any schools or Academies within the authority’s area that are designated 
under section 69(3) of the Act(a) as having a religious character (other than Church of 
England or Roman Catholic schools), the appropriate faith group in respect of any such 
school or Academy. 

(4) The authority may not appoint any executive member or relevant officer of the authority to 
their forum as a non-schools member. 

(5) Within one month of the appointment of any non-schools member, the authority must inform 
the governing bodies of schools maintained by them and of Academies within their area of the 
name of the member and the name of the body that member represents. 

Meetings and proceedings of schools forum 

8.—(1) The schools forum must meet at least four times a year and are quorate if at least two 
fifths of the total membership is present at a meeting. 

(2) Any elected member or officer of the authority who is not a member of the forum may 
attend and speak at meetings of the forum. 

(3) Subject to paragraph (4), the members of the forum must elect a person as chair from among 
their number and determine the chair’s term of office. 

(4) The members of the forum may not elect as chair any member of the forum who is an 
elected member or officer of the authority. 

(5) Subject to paragraph (7), the members of the forum may determine their own voting 
procedures. 

(6) The proceedings of the forum are not invalidated by— 

(a) any vacancy among their number; 
                                                                                                                                            
(a) Section 69(3) also applies to independent schools (which includes Academies) by virtue of section 124B, which was 

inserted by regulations 2 and 3 of S.I. 2003/2037.  

17



 6

(b) any defect in the election or appointment of any member; or 

(c) any defect in the election of the chair. 

(7) The authority must make arrangements to enable substitutes to attend and vote at meetings 
of the forum on behalf of schools members, Academies members and non-schools members, in 
consultation with members of the forum. 

Consultation on contracts 

9. The authority must consult the schools forum on the terms of any proposed contract for 
supplies or services (being a contract paid or to be paid out of the authority’s schools budget 
where the estimated value of the proposed contract is not less than the threshold which applies to 
the authority for that proposed contract pursuant to regulation 8 of the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2006(a) at least one month prior to the issue of invitations to tender. 

Consultation on financial issues 

10.—(1) The authority must consult the schools forum annually in respect of the authority’s 
functions relating to the schools budget, in connection with the following— 

(a) arrangements for the education of pupils with special educational needs; 

(b) arrangements for the use of pupil referral units and the education of children otherwise 
than at school; 

(c) arrangements for early years provision; 

(d) arrangements for insurance; 

(e) administrative arrangements for the allocation of central government grants paid to 
schools via the authority; 

(f) arrangements for free school meals. 

(2) The authority may consult the forum on such other matters concerning the funding of 
schools as they see fit. 

Information about consultations 

11. The schools forum must inform the governing bodies of schools maintained by the authority 
of any consultation carried out by the authority under regulation 9 or 10, as soon as it reasonably 
can. 

Charging of schools forum’s expenses 

12. The authority must pay the expenses of the schools forum and charge those expenses to the 
schools budget. 

Members’ expenses 

13. The authority must reimburse all reasonable expenses of members in connection with their 
attendance at meetings of the forum and charge those expenses to the schools budget. 
 
 
 Vernon Coaker 
 Minister of State 
15th February 2010 Department for Children, Schools and Families 
 
 

                                                                                                                                            
(a) S.I. 2006/5. 

18



 7

EXPLANATORY NOTE 

(This note is not part of the Regulations) 

These Regulations revoke and replace the Schools Forums (England) Regulations 2002 and the 
Regulations which amended those Regulations. 

Regulations 3 to 8 provide for the constitution of a schools forum in every local authority in 
England, including the election of schools members, the election or selection of Academies 
members and the appointment of non-schools members to the schools forum, their meetings and 
proceedings. The requirements to elect or select Academies members and to appoint non-schools 
members are new. 

Regulations 9 to 11 require the authority to consult their schools forum before entering into certain 
types of contract and annually in relation to a range of financial issues and the governing bodies of 
schools maintained by them to be informed of any such consultation. 

Regulations 12 and 13 require the authority to pay the expenses of their schools forum out of the 
schools budget and the reasonable expenses of its members. 

A full regulatory impact assessment has not been produced for this instrument as no impact on the 
private or voluntary sectors is foreseen. 

19



20



                                                                                                                                      APPENDIX 2 

S T A T U T O R Y  I N S T R U M E N T S  

2010 No. 190 

EDUCATION, ENGLAND 

The School Budget Shares (Prescribed Purposes) (England) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2010 

Made - - - - 2nd February 2010 

Laid before Parliament 8th February 2010 

Coming into force 

Regulations 1 and 2(1) and (2) 1st March 2010 

Regulation 2(3) 1st April 2010 

The Secretary of State for Children, Schools and Families makes the following Regulations in 
exercise of the powers conferred by section 50(3)(b) of the School Standards and Framework Act 
1998(a): 

Citation, commencement and application 

1.—(1) These Regulations may be cited as the School Budget Shares (Prescribed Purposes) 
(England) (Amendment) Regulations 2010. 

(2) Subject to paragraph (3), these Regulations come into force on 1st March 2010. 

(3) Regulation 2(3) comes into force on 1st April 2010. 

(4) These Regulations apply only in relation to England. 

Amendment of the School Budget Shares (Prescribed Purposes) (England) Regulations 2002 

2.—(1) The School Budget Shares (Prescribed Purposes) (England) Regulations 2002(b) are 
amended as follows. 

(2) In regulation 3, after sub-paragraph (c) insert— 

“(d) (i) the provision of staff, goods, services, accommodation or other resources to a 
relevant person or body; or 

 (ii) the making of contributions to a fund out of which relevant payments may be 
made, 

for the purposes of arrangements made under section 10 of the Children Act 2004 
(co-operation to improve well-being)(c) (“CA 2004”), and in this sub-paragraph 
“relevant person or body” and “relevant payment” have the meanings given by 
section 10(11) of CA 2004;”. 

(3) In regulation 3, after sub-paragraph (d) insert— 

                                                                                                                                            
(a) 1998 c.31. For the meaning of “prescribed” and “regulations” see section 142(1) of that Act. 
(b) S.I. 2002/378, as amended by S.I. 2004/444. 
(c) 2004 c. 31. Section 10 was amended by section 193 of the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009 (c.22).  

21



 2

“(e) (i) the provision of staff, goods, services, accommodation or other resources ; or 

 (ii) the making of payments towards expenditure incurred, 

by, or for purposes connected with the functions of, the Children’s Trust Board(a) 
for the area in which the school is situated.”. 

 
 
 Vernon Coaker 
 Minister of State 
2nd February 2010 Department for Children, Schools and Families 
 

EXPLANATORY NOTE 

(This note is not part of the Regulations) 

These Regulations amend the School Budget Shares (Prescribed Purposes) (England) Regulations 
2002. 

They enable the governing bodies of maintained schools to use their school budget shares to 
provide staff, goods, services, accommodation and other resources and make financial 
contributions to a fund established either by the Children’s Services Authority(b) in whose area 
the school is situated or by any of the authority’s relevant partners, with a view to improving the 
well-being of children and relevant young persons in that area, in accordance with section 10 of 
the Children Act 2004. 

They also enable these governing bodies to make the same types of provision for purposes 
connected with the functions of the Children’s Trust Board in whose area the school is situated, in 
accordance with section 12C of the Children Act 2004. 

A full regulatory impact assessment has not been produced for this instrument as no impact on the 
private or voluntary sectors is foreseen. 

                                                                                                                                            
(a) Sections 12A to 12D of the Children Act 2004 make provision for the establishment, functions, funding and supply of 

information to Children’s Trust Boards. These sections are inserted by section 194 of the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children 
and Learning Act 2009. 

(b) As defined in section 65 of the Children Act 2004. 

22



                                                                                                                                      APPENDIX 3 

S T A T U T O R Y  I N S T R U M E N T S  

2010 No. 210 

EDUCATION, ENGLAND 

The School Finance (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2010 

Made - - - - 4th February 2010 

Laid before Parliament 11th February 2010 

Coming into force - - 8th March 2010 

The Secretary of State for Children, Schools and Families makes the following Regulations in 
exercise of the powers conferred by sections 47, 48, and 138(7) of and paragraph 1(7) of Schedule 
14 to the School Standards and Framework Act 1998(a): 

Citation, commencement and application 

1.—(1) These Regulations may be cited as the School Finance (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2010 and come into force on 8th March 2010. 

(2) These Regulations apply only in relation to England. 

Amendment of the School Finance (England) Regulations 2008 

2. The School Finance (England) Regulations 2008(b) are amended in accordance with the 
following regulations. 

3. In regulation 1(4)— 

(a) after the definition of “the 2006 Act”, insert— 

““the 2009 Act” means the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 

2009(c);”; 

(b) for the definition of “admission number”, substitute— 

““admission number” means the number of children in any relevant age group intended 
to be admitted in any school year as determined or, where the context requires, 
proposed to be determined by an admission authority in accordance with section 88D of 
the 1998 Act(d);”; 

(c) for the definition of “specific grant”, substitute— 

““specific grant” means any grant (other than the Dedicated Schools Grant or any grant 
made by the LSC under section 7 of the 2000 Act or by the YPLA under section 61 of 

                                                                                                                                            
(a) 1998 c.31.  Section 47 was amended by paragraph 6 of  Schedule  16 to the Education Act 2005 (c. 18), section 48 amended 

by paragraph 2 of Schedule 3 to the Education Act 2002 (c.32) and paragraph 1(7) of Schedule 14 was substituted by 
paragraph 5 of Schedule 5 to the Education and Inspections Act 2006 (c.40). For the meaning of “prescribed” and 
“regulations”, see section 142(1).  

(b) S.I. 2008/228. 
(c) 2009  c.22. 
(d) 1998 c.31. Section 88D was inserted by section 151(1) and (4) of the Education and Skills Act 2008 (c.25).  

23



 2

the 2009 Act) paid to a local authority under conditions which impose restrictions on 
the particular purposes for which the grant may be used;”; 

(d) at the end of the definition of “termination of employment costs”, for the full stop 
substitute a semi-colon; 

(e) after the definition of “termination of employment costs”, insert— 

““YPLA” is the Young People’s Learning Agency for England(a);”. 

4. In regulation 15— 

(a) in paragraph (2)— 

(i) in sub-paragraph (a)(i), for “recognised as” substitute “have”; and 

(ii) in sub-paragraph (b), after “(sixth form pupils)” insert “or the YPLA (sixth form 
pupils)”. 

(b) at the end of paragraph (4)(h), omit “and”; and 

(c) at the end of paragraph (4)(i), for the full stop substitute a semi-colon and after paragraph 
(4)(i) insert— 

“(j) whether the pupil is registered at more than one maintained school;”. 

5. In regulation 21— 

(a) in paragraph (1), after “LSC” insert “or the YPLA”; 

(b) in paragraph (3), after “LSC’s” insert “or the YPLA’s”; and 

(c) in paragraph (4), after “LSC” insert “or the YPLA”. 

6. In regulation 23(2), after “section 7 of the 2000 Act” insert “or by the YPLA under section 61 
of the 2009 Act”. 

7. For regulation 28, substitute— 

“28.—(1) A local education authority— 

(a) must publish their scheme on a website which is accessible to the general public; 
and 

(b) may publish it elsewhere, in such manner as they see fit. 

(2) Whenever a local education authority revise the whole or part of their scheme they 
must publish the scheme as revised on a website which is accessible to the general public 
by the date that the revisions are due to come into force, together with a statement that the 
revised scheme comes into force on that date.”. 

8. In paragraph 1(a) of Schedule 4, after “Act” insert “or by the YPLA under section 61 of the 
2009 Act”. 
 
 
 Vernon Coaker 
 Minister of State 
4th February 2010 Department for Children, Schools and Families 
 
 

EXPLANATORY NOTE 

(This note is not part of the Regulations) 

These Regulations make a number of minor amendments to the School Finance (England) 
Regulations 2008, including amendments to— 

                                                                                                                                            
(a) The Young People’s Learning Agency for England is established under section 60 of the Apprenticeships, Skills, Children 

and Learning Act 2009 (c. 22).  

24



 3

(a) take account of the establishment of the Young People’s Learning Agency for England; 

(b) allow local education authorities to weight pupil numbers according to whether pupils are 
registered at more than one maintained school, when determining and redetermining 
budget shares; and 

(c) require local education authorities to publish their financial schemes on a website 
accessible to the general public. 

A full regulatory impact assessment has not been produced for this instrument as no impact on the 
private or voluntary sectors is foreseen 

25



26



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Paul Rogers, Democratic Services Officer on (01432) 383408 

  

DraftDeclarofIntReport1.doc 26Nov08 

MEETING: SCHOOLS FORUM 

DATE: 17 MAY 2010 

TITLE OF REPORT: REVISED CONSTITUTION FOR SCHOOLS FORUM 

OFFICER INTERIM ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE – LEGAL 
AND DEMOCRATIC 

CLASSIFICATION: Open  

Wards Affected 

County-wide – All Schools.   

Purpose 

That the Forum amends its constitution to include a Members Code with regard to Declarations of 
Interest. 

Key Decision  

This is not a Key Decision.  

Recommendation(s) 

That the Schools Forum approves 

(a) the proposed amendment to the Schools Forum constitution as set out in paragraph 
6 of the report; and 

(b) the requirement for members to complete a Notification of Interests form.  

Key Points Summary 

• A specific Code within the constitution relating to Declarations of Interest. 

• When becoming a member of the Forum members will be bound to adhere to the Code. 

Alternative Options 

To continue with the current protocol. 

Reasons for Recommendations 

1 Whilst agreeing to make declarations of interest where appropriate using Herefordshire Council’s 
Code for guidance, there should be provision for a specific Code regarding declarations of 
interest within the constitution of the Forum for its members to adhere to.  

AGENDA ITEM 8

27



 

2 The current protocol does not ensure that Forum members are bound to disclose interests. The 
recommended protocol will ensure that members are duty bound to make disclosures in 
accordance with the Code as contained within the constitution.  

Introduction and Background 

3 A Declarations of Interest item has always been included on the Agenda for Forum meetings 
which has given members the opportunity to declare any interests in relation to items that appear 
on the Agenda. Although the Forum’s constitution does not make specific reference to the need 
for members to declare interests, the protocol used as a basis in such instances where it might 
be appropriate for members to declare an interest has been Herefordshire Council’s Code.  

4 The Council’s Code applies to Herefordshire Council’s elected members and co-opted non 
elected members only. In signing up to the Code, Herefordshire Councillors are bound to adhere 
to the Code when representing the Council on outside bodies such as the Schools Forum. Co-
opted members adhere to the Code as members on Council Committees and meetings only. 

5 It is suggested that the following paragraph be included within the constitution: 

‘It is recognised that all Schools Group members will have an interest in at least one school. It 
is important that members should declare if the item under discussion could make a material 
difference to that school, or where they may have a personal or prejudicial interest. 
Notwithstanding this, a member may continue contributing to the discussion, but should not 
take any part in any decision made concerning that particular proposal which uniquely 
changes funding for their particular school/schools. (An advice note concerning declarations of 
interest is attached as an appendix to the constitution).’ 
 

The advice note referred to above is as follows: 
 
  

 ‘ADVICE NOTES CONCERNING DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
  

 There are many instances where a decision on an issue will have an effect on all schools, be 
it on a pro rata basis, and as such members would not declare an interest. Where a decision 
on an issue ‘uniquely’ affects one particular school, at which the member is, for example, the 
headteacher of that school, or where the head teacher’s children attend, then it would be 
appropriate for an interest to be declared. 

 
In considering the declaration of an interest, a Member of the Forum should apply the 
following test: would a member of the public, knowing the facts of the situation, reasonably 
think that the member might be influenced by the interest?  
A prejudicial interest would include the situation whereby a proposal uniquely affects either a 
school at which they are a head teacher/governor or which their children attend.  
Any member who requires advice/guidance concerning declarations of interest or any other 
issue concerning the Forum should contact the Clerk in the first instance on telephone 
number.’ 

Attached to the report as an Appendix is the Forum constitution showing the above wording at 
paragraph 17. Attached to the constitution is Annex 2 setting out the advice notes as referred to 
above. 

6 When becoming a member of the Forum, members would be required to complete a Notification 
of Interests form detailing their interests. In agreeing to this requirement, the current members will 
be required to complete the Notification of Interests as soon as possible. 

28



 

Key Considerations 

7 There is a need to formalise the protocol with regard to declarations of interest to protect the 
integrity of members and the Forum. The proposals in the report achieve this aim.  

Community Impact 

8 None 

Financial Implications 

9 None 

Legal Implications 

10 None. 

Risk Management 

11 There are no known risks. 

Consultees 

12 None.  

Appendices 

Copy of the Schools Forum constitution. 

 

Background Papers 

Schools Forum constitution. 

Schools Forum Constitutions from several Councils. 

29



30



                                                                                                                                 APPENDIX 

HEREFORDSHIRE SCHOOLS  
FORUM MEMBERSHIP AND CONSTITUTION 

 
1. Introduction 
 
The Schools Forum is established by virtue of 47A of the School Standards and Framework 
Act 1998 (as amended by the Education Act 2002) and the School Finance (England) 
Regulations 2006. 
 
 
2. Function 
 
The Schools Forum will have several main functions as listed below, but may also consult on 
other items that the Local Authority deems appropriate. Details are defined in the Schools 
Forum (England) Regulations 2002 and School Finance (England) Regulations 2006 as well 
as guidance issued by the Department  for Education Skills, subsequently updated under the 
Department for Children Schools and Families (DCSF), including the School Finance 
Regulations 2008. 
 
 
3. Purpose of the Forum 
 
Regulations prescribe three main functions on which the Local Authority must consult the 
forum as follows: 
 

a.  On changes to the schools funding formula 
b. On the terms of contracts to be let by the Local Authority for  

services to schools, paid from the schools budget. (Subject to a  
de-minimis level) 

c.  On issues relating to the management of the Schools Budget, 
including: 

 
• arrangements for the education of pupils with special 

educational needs 
• arrangements for the use of pupil referral units and the 

education of children otherwise than at school 
• arrangements for early years education 
• insurance arrangements 
• prospective revisions to the Local Authority’s financing scheme 

for the financing of schools 
• administration of central government grants to schools 
• arrangements for free school meals 

 
The Local Authority will consult the Forum on Local Authority Budget Issues. 
 
 
4. Powers and Duties 
 
The schools forum is an advisory body, established to represent schools views to the Local 
Authority.  In addition, the forum has decision-making powers in specific areas, as follows: 
 

• Approving increases to the DCSF prescribed limits on centrally managed 
expenditure 

• Formula changes during multi-year funding periods (in exceptional and limited 
circumstances) 

• To agree the level of school specific contingency held 

31



Version 1  
1 January 2010 

 

• Approving minor amendments to the Minimum Funding Guarantee – in limited 
circumstances (eg to remove anomalies), provided no more than 50% of 
pupils in schools are affected. 

• To agree arrangements for combining elements of the centrally managed 
budget with elements of other services where there are resulting benefits for 
schools and pupils. 

 
 
5. Membership 
 
The Herefordshire Schools Forum will have 26 members elected as follows: 
 

School members: 
 
6 Primary Schools Head teacher representatives 
1 Primary School Governor representative 
5 Secondary School Head teacher representatives 
1 Secondary School Governor representative 
1 Special School Head teacher representative 
1 Special School Governor representative 
1 School with a Nursery representative 
1 Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) Management Committee representative 
1 Business Manager representative 

 
 
Non School members: 
 
2 Diocesan Representatives 
2 Trade Union representatives, 1 Primary School and 1 Secondary School 
2 Early Years representatives 
2 14-19 Partnership representatives 
 
26  Total Forum members 

 
 
The members with observer status are as follows: 
 

• Cabinet Member for Children's Services 
• Cabinet Member for ICT, Education and Achievement. 
• Children's Services Scrutiny Committee Chairman 

 
 
6. Tenure of Office 
 
Each member will have a three-year term of office (unless they become Chair or Vice Chair). 
In the event that a member of the forum ceases to hold the office, the term of office ceases 
and another appointment must be made.  The replacement will serve the remainder of the 
term. 
 
 
7. Quorum and Substitutes 
 
The Forum shall not be quorate if less than 40% of the total membership is present at the 
meeting. Members unable to attend should therefore arrange cover from nominated 
substitutes, appointed in compliance with the arrangements below. 
 

32



Version 1  
1 January 2010 

 

Substitutes are to be nominated in the same way as members. Democratic Services should 
be notified of the names of all substitutes.   
 
Head teachers can be represented by senior school staff including principals, deputy Head 
teachers, bursars or other persons responsible for financial management of the school. 
 
 
8. Election Arrangements School Members 
 
School members of the forum must be nominated via a process “determined by the 
constituents represented by members of that group”. 
 
 
9. Primary Head Teacher Members 
 
Six Head teacher representatives (plus substitutes) to be appointed following expressions of 
interest and an election procedure concluded at the appropriate primary Heads meeting to 
which all primary Heads in that given area are invited.  
 
To ensure appropriate representation within the primary phase, the following overriding 
criteria are established: 
 

At least 1 primary head member must represent community schools 
At least 1 primary head member must represent voluntary controlled/voluntary 
aided/foundation schools 

 
There must be at least 2 members representing a school less that 105 pupils.  

 
There must be at least 1 member representing a school more than 105 pupils. 
 
 
10. Secondary Head Teacher Members 
 
Five High School head teacher representatives (plus substitutes) must be appointed via an 
election procedure concluded at the Herefordshire Association of Secondary Heads (HASH) 
meeting to which all secondary heads are invited. HASH will set the term of office for their 
representatives within the maximum term set out in paragraph 6. 
 
The following overriding criteria must be applied: 
 

At least 1 secondary head member must represent community schools 
At least 1 secondary head member must represent voluntary controlled/voluntary 
aided/foundation schools 
At least 1 head must represent 11-16 schools 
At least 1 head must represent 11-18 schools 

 
 
11. Head teacher of a school with a Nursery 
 
The member (plus a substitute) should be elected by the heads of the Herefordshire 
maintained schools with nurseries. 
 
12. Special School Head teacher members 
 
One special school head (plus a substitute) will be elected by the special schools head 
teachers at a meeting to which all special school head teachers are invited. 
 

33



Version 1  
1 January 2010 

 

 
13. Governor Members 
 
Three Governors (plus substitutes) must be appointed via an election procedure concluded 
at the Herefordshire Association of Governors (HAGs) meeting to which all governor 
representatives are invited (irrespective of whether they are members of HAG as follows: 
 

Primary Governor: 
Secondary Governor 
Special School Governor 

 
A maximum of one member from any one governing body may sit on the forum. 
 
The representatives must also be the chair of their school governing body finance committee 
or equivalent. 
 
A Head teacher may not sit as a governor representative. 
 
The HAGs should seek to ensure an appropriate geographical and size of school 
representation. 
 
 
14. PRU representative 
 
The forum member (plus a substitute) should be appointed by the Management Committee 
of the Pupil Referral Service. 
 
 
15. Non School Members 
 
Diocesan representation (plus substitutes) should be one from each faith, membership to be 
secured through the Standing Advisory Council Religious Education. 
 
Trade Union representatives will report back to the Teaching Union meeting, thereby 
representing all unions.  The representative should be appointed via an election procedure 
concluded at the Teaching Unions meeting. 
 
Early Years representatives (plus substitutes) should be appointed via the Early Years 
Steering Group and should represent the independent and voluntary sector, rather than 
school nursery provision. 
 
The representatives from the 14-19 consortium (plus substitutes) should be appointed via an 
election concluded by the 14-19 consortium. 
 
 
16. Election of Chair and Vice Chair 
 
The Chair and Vice-Chair must be elected from the Forum’s own members. The Chair and 
Vice- Chair will hold these positions for a maximum of two years.  This extends the period of 
membership of Schools Forum beyond the period set out in 4.3.  The Chair and Vice Chair 
should represent different sectors of the school community. 
 
When the Chair and Vice-Chair are not present, the meeting can elect a Chair for that 
meeting only. 
 
 
 

34



Version 1  
1 January 2010 

 

17. Declarations of Interest 
 
It is recognised that all Schools Group members will have an interest in at least one school. 
It is important that members should declare if the item under discussion could make a 
material difference to that school, or where they may have a personal or prejudicial interest. 
Notwithstanding this, a member may continue contributing to the discussion, but should not 
take any part in any decision made concerning that particular proposal which uniquely 
changes funding for their particular school/schools. (An advice note concerning declarations 
of interest is attached at Annex 2).  
 
 
18. Managing the Business 
 
The following operational timescales and procedures are required to ensure that Schools 
Forum operates efficiently and has sufficient information and time to consider the issues. 
 
 
 19. Frequency of Meetings 
 
Schools Forum should meet at least six times a year including the following months: 
 

September 
November 
January 
February 
March 
June 

 
Dates must be set annually for the forthcoming year. 
 
 
20. Forward Plan and Agenda Setting 
 
A forward plan must be established and reviewed by the Forum on an annual basis, usually 
in February of each year.  The following should be considered through the annual cycle: 
 

February – programme of work for the following financial year 
June outline proposals covering the areas of work contained in section 2 
September – details of work set out in June 
November – sign off of work to be consulted with all schools, in time to inform budget 
setting and Cabinet decision making in February 

 
Agenda must be agreed by the Assistant Director, Improvement and Inclusion in consultation 
with the Chair of Schools Forum one week after the last forum meeting.  Democratic 
Services will provide the resource to facilitate the forum, including organising and sending 
out agenda and papers, Minutes and action sheets. 
 
A common format for all reports must be followed, using the attached template, Annexe 1. 
 
Papers for Schools Forum must be circulated seven working days before the Schools Forum 
date. They are required to be signed off by Herefordshire Council’s Head of Finance, 
Assistant Chief Executive Legal and Democratic, Head of Risk Management and the 
Assistant Director, Improvement and Inclusion prior to circulation. 
 
Briefing meetings for the Chair must take place at least three working days before each 
Schools Forum meeting. 
 

35



Version 1  
1 January 2010 

 

Minutes and an action sheet from each Schools Forum meeting must be circulated seven 
working days after the Schools Forum meeting as draft, and the Minutes will be formally 
considered and confirmed at the following Schools Forum meeting. 
 
 
21. Decision Making 
 
Schools Forum is an important body within the financial and service planning activities of 
Herefordshire Council, the Herefordshire Partnership and Children’s Trust.  As set out in 
section 2, Schools Forum is primarily a consultative body, with some decision making 
responsibilities.  The Local Authority will take the views of Schools Forum into account 
before finalising arrangements on which the Forum has been consulted, at a Directorate 
Leadership Team and Lead Member, Cabinet and Council level. 
 
Recommendations to the Council should normally be made through consensus.  Majority 
voting should be used to decide any issues, with each representative casting one vote.  The 
Chairman will have the casting vote in the event of a tie.  
 
In the event of an urgent decision being required an email will be sent to all Schools Forum 
members fully explaining the issue on which a decision is required.  Forum members will be 
required to submit their response via email to the date required.  No decision will formally be 
made until a quorate number of responses has been received by the Assistant Director, 
Improvement and Inclusion.  This process will be administered by Democratic Services. 
 
Schools Forum should receive feedback on the decisions made by Herefordshire Council 
that have taken into account Schools Forum views as part of any consultation process.  The 
Chair of Schools Forum can invite Council Members to provide feedback at Schools Forum 
meetings. 
 
 
22. Working Groups 
 
Herefordshire Children and Young Peoples Directorate (CYPD) and schools should try to 
make use of existing working groups wherever possible, to minimise duplication and use 
existing expertise.  In order to support and advise the work of the Schools Forum existing 
working groups can be approached to provide information on related activities. The Forum 
can also, if required, set up working groups for specific tasks. Such groups could be time-
limited and would need to establish clear remits, appropriate membership and operating 
principles. 
 
(i) The full Schools Forum remains the decision making body for the  

responsibilities covered in section 3.  Working groups and other groups will provide 
information, advice and options. 

 
(ii)   Current Schools Forum Working Groups: 
 

(a) Budget Review Working Group: This group is established as a permanent 
advisory sub-group of the full Schools Forum.  Importantly it reports to 
Schools Forum (SF), and is not itself a decision-making body.  

 
Remit: 

 
To provide additional support and time to consider information and data in 
order to inform the development of key budgetary options, recommendations 
and decisions relating to Dedicated Schools Grant. 

 
Membership:   

36



Version 1  
1 January 2010 

 

 
Identified members of SF including Chair and Deputy CYPD Assistant 
Director, Improvement and Inclusion 
Finance officers 

 
Operating principles: 

 
To assess financial information prior to presentation to Schools Forum 
To consider implications of any financial proposal 
To draft papers for submission to full Schools Forum meetings 
To provide considered information and advice to support the work of the full 
Schools Forum. 

 
(iii)   Working groups that could support the work of Schools Forum: 
  

The following working groups have been established to develop strategy for key 
priority areas and to ensure effective management and implementation of delivery. 
The financial element of this responsibility provides information to Schools Forum 
and supports SF processes. 

 
(a) Funding for Inclusion Group: This group was established to develop a 

strategy for the delegation of Additional Needs funding direct to schools and 
settings.  

 
Remit: 

 
To design models for delegation of Additional Needs funding. 
To draft proposals for CYPD DLT, Schools Forum and Cabinet consideration. 
To carry out thorough consultation. 
To monitor implementation. 
To monitor and review impact. 

 
Membership: 

 
This group has a large membership consisting of school representatives, 
stakeholders, CYPD officers and Finance officers. 

  
Operating principles: 

 
To assess information on delegated funding models 
To analyse Herefordshire requirements 
To analyse data on finance 
To analyse range of Additional Needs and pupil numbers 
To report back to all key decision making bodies 
To be accountable for model implementation 
To be responsible for monitoring of effectiveness. 

 
  (iv) Other such groups include: 
 

Service Level Agreement Group 
Early Years and Extended Services 
Connexions Working Group  
Joint Agency Management Group 
Children’s Trust Management and Outcome Groups 

 
Schools Forum and CYPD aim to make the most of existing groups, rather than create new 
ones. The above list will develop and change according to work requirements. 

37



Version 1  
1 January 2010 

 

 
 
 
 

                                                                                                                                  ANNEX 1 

 

AGENDA ITEM NO. ??? 

 
 

HEADING 
 

REPORT BY 
 

SCHOOLS FORUM  19 MARCH 2009 
 

Schools Affected 

 

Purpose 
Choose one of the following: 

for information 
 
to update on progress 
 
to highlight issues and agree next steps 
 
for consideration and decision making 

  

Financial Implication 
 
Background 
 
Including links to legislation, national and local initiatives, Herefordshire’s Children 
and Young People’s Plan  
 

Issues or Risks  
 
Recommendations 

 

 

Background Papers 

38



Version 1  
1 January 2010 

 

 
 
 
 
 
           ANNEX 2 
 
 
ADVICE NOTES CONCERNING DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There are many instances where a decision on an issue will have an effect on all schools, be 
it on a pro rata basis, and as such members would not declare an interest. Where a decision 
on an issue ‘uniquely’ affects one particular school, at which the member is, for example, the 
headteacher of that school, or where the head teacher’s children attend, then it would be 
appropriate for an interest to be declared. 
 
In considering the declaration of an interest, a Member of the Forum should apply the 
following test: would a member of the public, knowing the facts of the situation, reasonably 
think that the member might be influenced by the interest?  
A prejudicial interest would include the situation whereby a proposal uniquely affects either a 
school at which they are a head teacher/governor or which their children attend.  
Any member who requires advice/guidance concerning declarations of interest or any other 
issue concerning the Forum should contact the Clerk in the first instance on telephone 
number 01432 383408. 
 

39



40



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Malcolm Green, Schools Finance Manager on (01432) 260818 

  

170510ForecastSchoolBalances20.doc 26Nov08 

MEETING: SCHOOLS FORUM 

DATE: 17 MAY 2010 

TITLE OF REPORT: FORECAST SCHOOL BALANCES 2009/10 

 OFFICER SCHOOLS FINANCE MANAGER   

CLASSIFICATION: Open 

Wards Affected 

County-wide – All Schools 

Purpose 

To update Schools Forum on forecast school balances for 2009/10. 

Key Decision  

This is not a Key Decision.  

Recommendation 

 THAT School Forum is asked to: 

note the forecast school balances and that the final balances will be tabled on the day.  

Key Points Summary  

• New process for forecasting school balances introduced October 2009 

• Final school balances for 09/10 to be tabled on the day 

• Five schools forecast to be in deficit 

Alternative Options 

1 There are no alternative options for consideration. 

Reasons for Recommendations 

2 This item was deferred from the February 2010 meeting of Schools Forum, when the report 
was to provide a forecast outturn position based on the latest information and analysis in 
January 2010.  

AGENDA ITEM 9

41



Introduction and Background 

3 This report will be superceded by the final school balances paper which will be available mid 
May and tabled on the day of Schools Forum.  Currently the closure of school accounts is in 
progress with adjustments being made for creditors, debtors and March supply claims.  

4 A new process for forecasting school balances was introduced in October 2009. The previous 
process involved distributing half and three quarter year monitoring sheets to schools. 
However little feedback was received from schools to facilitate a reasonable forecast 
prediction so a new process was introduced. The new process is based on a statistical 
forecast that is prepared and distributed monthly by finance to schools from October onwards. 
Due to the methodology adopted it is expected that the forecast will increase in accuracy as 
the year progresses.  It also includes an estimate of the potential balance clawback at year 
end in order to give schools early warning that their spending may not be as planned. Schools 
have the opportunity to comment and amend the figures with justification and evidence. 
Quarterly monitoring from bank account schools is also now included so that a complete 
picture is available. 

5 The LMS team regularly receive requests from schools for budget virements which have been 
prompted by the forecast, demonstrating they are responding to the information received and 
reviewing their budget and expenditure. The forecast information also proves valuable in 
helping to identify schools with potential future budget problems and to monitor the progress of 
schools with licensed deficits. It is further intended to review the quality of the forecasts by 
comparing the monthly forecasts with the final school balances when these are available in 
mid-May. Improvements to the forecasting methodology will be made wherever possible for 
the next financial year and periodically reported to Schools Forum.  

6 Based on the forecast information, school balances (excluding the Academy) are expected to 
be £5.3m compared to £5.0m in 2009/10. There could be a clawback or transfer to capital of 
up to £1m. Five schools are forecast to be in deficit as follows; 

Dilwyn    -£3,874 

Broadlands   -£73,050 

St Weonard’s  -£13,571 

Aylestone   -£56,622 

Brookfield  -£7,986 

Licensed Deficit agreements have been agreed for St Weonard’s, Aylestone and Brookfield 
and the schools are on course as agreed in their plan to achieve a balanced budget. The 
deficit recovery plan for Broadlands requires further work with the school in 10/11 to ensure 
that the deficit does not exceed the agreed £120k. No recovery plan has as yet been 
discussed with Dilwyn and the school is currently subject to a consultation on it’s future.  

7 Additionally, two schools have been permitted to carry forward excess balances due to 
exceptional circumstances. Lady Hawkins will use their excess balances in 2010/11 and 
2011/12 to minimise the future cost of redundancies by not filling teaching vacancies arising 
from routine staff turnover wherever possible as part of an agreed three year staffing reduction 
plan. Their balances are within the clawback limits this year but are planned to be £70,000 
over the limit at the end of financial year 10/11. Approval has been given for this year initially 
to Leominister Junior to carry forward balances of £153,000 (£66,000 in excess of the limit) to 
maintain the existing staffing structure of the school prior to the amalgamation of the infant and 

42



junior schools in September 2012. The infant and junior schools are working together to plan 
for a successful transition to the new primary school. A further business plan from both 
schools regarding their use of balances is due in January 2011 and a further decision taken by 
the new Director at that time. 

We have dealt with Kimbolton by way of a loan so that no approval re excess balances is 
needed balances carry forward. They are 1 of six schools taking a loan. The loan will be paid 
in 10/11 when the severance cost falls due. We don’t need to include this unless you 
specifically want to.  

 

Key Considerations 

8 None identified. 

Community Impact 

9 None identified. 

Financial Implications 

10 Any irrecoverable deficits are effectively funded by all schools from within Dedicated Schools 
Grant. 

Legal Implications 

11 It is confirmed that these proposals are consistent with the Council's legal duties. 
 

Risk Management 

12 The actual year end balances will be tabled at the Schools Forum meeting on 17th May 2010.  

Consultees 

13 None. 

Appendices 

14 Schedule of forecast school balances 2009/10.  

Background Papers 

Individual school forecasts October 2009 to March 2010. 

43



44



SCHOOL NAME
Uncommitted 
Revenue 
budget

Period 7 Period 8 Period 9 Period 10 Period 11 Period 12

Potential 
Clawback 
as at 

period 12 
09/10

Est 
balance at 
year end 
09/10

Balance 
bfwd from 
08-09

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
ALMELEY PRIMARY SCHOOL 12,990 22,042 2,965 9,312 19,149 17,631 18,023 0 18,023 36,541
ASHPERTON PRIMARY SCHOOL 23,466 11,366 5,734 8,003 10,840 24,402 29,600 0 29,600 48,748
BODENHAM ST MICHAELS CE PRIMARY 219 43,456 40,442 42,484 45,952 45,128 44,237 4,808 39,429 47
BOSBURY C E PRIMARY SCHOOL 36,863 41,583 57,723 71,044 72,171 80,218 78,159 35,834 42,325 41,024

BRAMPTON ABBOTTS CE PRIMARY SCHOOL 20,924 59,470 35,493 36,034 40,054 47,003 46,687 4,422 42,265 34,405
BREDENBURY PRIMARY SCHOOL 72,444 120,609 108,382 116,615 119,371 105,480 110,561 70,782 39,779 34,905
BRIDSTOW CE PRIMARY SCHOOL 29,274 4,997 19,428 26,566 36,047 39,123 34,842 0 34,842 39,079
BROCKHAMPTON PRIMARY SCHOOL 6,236 10,155 17,142 27,585 37,099 51,120 53,444 11,708 41,736 45,494

BROMYARD ST PETERS PRIM SCHOOL -21,815 6,389 -973 6,785 14,820 23,598 20,653 0 20,653 -32,112 
BURGHILL PRIMARY SCHOOL 22,149 14,287 -14,635 5,264 24,373 24,198 28,294 0 28,294 36,229
BURLEY GATE CE PRIMARY SCHOOL 29,676 93,032 57,599 64,235 60,796 66,582 69,691 28,406 41,285 33,168
CANON PYON CE PRIMARY SCHOOL 25,953 34,897 -27,975 4,734 17,990 27,647 25,825 0 25,825 37,581

CLEHONGER CE PRIMARY SCHOOL 6,607 28,570 27,132 8,513 22,314 19,318 22,644 0 22,644 51,339
CLIFFORD PRIMARY SCHOOL 8,193 38,631 10,797 16,445 22,511 26,735 25,776 0 25,776 27,854
COLWALL C E PRIMARY SCHOOL 3,689 90,563 26,766 32,014 41,818 42,434 41,963 0 41,963 20,103
CRADLEY CE PRIMARY SCHOOL 11,265 63,165 -24,690 12,237 11,184 17,669 15,101 0 15,101 37,382

CREDENHILL ST MARYS CE PRIMARY SCHOOL 74,931 54,795 19,342 21,526 33,520 49,695 44,604 0 44,604 22,610
DILWYN CE PRIMARY SCHOOL 797 13,526 -10,801 -9,597 -4,617 -4,634 -3,874 0 -3,874 16,840
EARDISLEY CE PRIMARY SCHOOL 19,928 30,060 30,677 31,304 33,057 36,662 34,723 0 34,723 36,956
EASTNOR PAROCHIAL PRIMARY SCHOOL 25,595 43,355 38,683 25,672 23,483 26,606 32,864 0 32,864 37,160

EWYAS HAROLD PRIMARY SCHOOL 154 -42,166 -2,854 -10,044 4,218 15,228 9,470 0 9,470 5,487
FOWNHOPE, ST.MARY'S CE PRIMARY SCHOOL 7,846 -15,888 -3,626 -3,668 9,322 6,313 11,687 0 11,687 15,958
GARWAY PRIMARY SCHOOL 23,090 65,270 40,928 45,843 49,752 49,001 46,364 8,776 37,588 37,038
GOODRICH CE PRIMARY SCHOOL 30,013 32,441 15,816 21,449 37,792 36,667 38,601 0 38,601 32,879

GORSLEY GOFFS PRIMARY SCHOOL 27,638 124,844 26,009 48,127 58,027 51,684 52,909 8,560 44,349 33,136
HEREFORD BROADLANDS PRIMARY SCHOOL -80,456 -72,340 -101,430 -82,759 -70,648 -60,263 -73,050 0 -73,050 -84,100 
HEREFORD HAMPTON DENE PRIMARY SCHOOL 48,791 4,380 31,061 49,642 74,764 71,716 69,498 0 69,498 80,956
HEREFORD HOLMER CE PRIMARY SCHOOL 2,306 87,080 35,555 61,831 60,632 63,665 65,197 2,637 62,560 80,836

HEREFORD LORD SCUDAMORE 51,481 - - 49,388 - - 49,388 0 49,388 102,354
HEREFORD MARLBROOK PRIMARY SCHOOL 1 96,270 295,297 222,093 267,965 270,196 136,756 32,329 104,427 138,748
HEREFORD OUR LADY'S RC PRIMARY SCHOOL 41,532 27,187 48,513 70,829 85,143 94,138 92,775 43,405 49,370 61,833
HEREFORD ST FRANCIS XAVIERS PRIMARY SCHOOL 25,517 44,171 40,576 39,279 54,897 45,914 39,450 0 39,450 30,484

HEREFORD ST. JAMES' CE PRIMARY SCHOOL 12,338 7,616 2,073 -4,942 21,888 12,497 18,848 0 18,848 736
HEREFORD ST. MARTIN'S PRIMARY SCHOOL 32,082 100,238 49,102 57,312 78,010 93,557 53,934 0 53,934 117,202
HEREFORD ST. PAULS 37,443 - - 148,194 - - 148,194 57,344 90,850 113,595
HEREFORD TRINITY PRIMARY SCHOOL 9,998 -33,726 -95,496 19,469 49,440 57,735 52,767 0 52,767 70,860

HEREFORD ST THOMAS CANTILUPE PRIMARY SCHOOL 46,504 192,268 81,372 99,115 110,795 99,084 58,233 6,893 51,340 65,284
HOLME LACY PRIMARY SCHOOL 5,759 13,354 4,439 3,287 5,878 14,796 15,414 0 15,414 31,468
KIMBOLTON,ST.JAMES' CE PRIMARY SCHOOL 21,092 32,995 22,226 23,420 34,844 37,164 42,756 4,679 38,077 38,464
KINGS CAPLE PRIMARY SCHOOL 16,551 21,208 28,867 30,635 31,297 39,239 36,211 1,171 35,040 32,976

KINGSLAND CE PRIMARY SCHOOL 13,826 -34,023 8,655 1,428 47,056 37,902 37,742 0 37,742 32,794
KINGSTONE & THRUXTON PRIMARY SCHOOL 64,333 63,065 48,089 43,479 55,329 65,503 69,474 21,074 48,400 60,931
KINGTON PRIMARY SCHOOL 60,797 34,340 43,280 29,324 87,677 91,297 84,910 33,059 51,851 58,322
LEA CE PRIMARY SCHOOL 953 1,359 20,420 22,424 24,825 24,673 20,249 0 20,249 39,067

LEDBURY PRIMARY SCHOOL 92,752 76,259 128,246 128,888 159,928 168,322 149,406 38,253 111,153 135,457
LEINTWARDINE ENDOWED PRIMARY SCHOOL 41,556 62,413 61,934 63,134 60,868 69,116 69,439 29,297 40,142 37,872
LEOMINSTER INFANTS SCHOOL 30,470 179,428 25,336 40,925 45,546 50,137 48,105 0 48,105 8,792
LEOMINSTER JUNIOR SCHOOL 131,582 140,976 152,799 168,851 171,350 180,107 160,200 73,021 87,179 101,592

LEOMINSTER IVINGTON CE PRIMARY SCHOOL 20,521 34,406 20,391 19,324 29,914 35,901 28,453 0 28,453 14,978
LITTLE DEWCHURCH CE PRIMARY SCHOOL -4,343 39,561 -1,325 -26,776 6,616 18,023 20,013 0 20,013 4,330
LLANGROVE CE PRIMARY SCHOOL 3,367 12,949 -13,739 2,005 9,202 10,742 30,598 0 30,598 20,834
LONGTOWN CE PRIMARY SCHOOL 50,856 31,755 39,329 23,369 35,106 35,929 44,420 7,921 36,499 25,838

LUGWARDINE PRIMARY SCHOOL 7,442 90,053 -3,128 5,388 9,668 316 19,924 0 19,924 24,914
LUSTON PRIMARY SCHOOL 11,863 68,155 -16,029 -11,230 4,981 12,204 17,327 0 17,327 14,638
MADLEY PRIMARY SCHOOL 34,963 18,230 14,047 23,519 48,896 45,901 41,955 0 41,955 36,519

FORECAST REVENUE CARRY FORWARD 2009/10

4
5



SCHOOL NAME
Uncommitted 
Revenue 
budget

Period 7 Period 8 Period 9 Period 10 Period 11 Period 12

Potential 
Clawback 
as at 

period 12 
09/10

Est 
balance at 
year end 
09/10

Balance 
bfwd from 
08-09

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

FORECAST REVENUE CARRY FORWARD 2009/10

MARDEN PRIMARY SCHOOL 16,190 6,631 6,836 14,624 24,741 33,222 37,759 0 37,759 25,192

MICHAELCHURCH ESCLEY PRIMARY SCHOOL 33,238 54,560 41,457 47,051 41,023 40,293 34,515 0 34,515 34,090
MORDIFORD CE PRIMARY SCHOOL 37,393 66,480 34,332 54,710 46,658 56,451 31,339 0 31,339 39,284
MUCH BIRCH CE PRIMARY SCHOOL 7,971 -1,321 -11,555 -27,106 1,436 8,787 7,165 0 7,165 377
MUCH MARCLE CE PRIMARY SCHOOL 40,625 42,337 54,526 66,070 65,335 63,750 54,515 14,453 40,062 37,534

ORLETON CE PRIMARY SCHOOL 10,337 18,761 -79 32,175 37,801 36,789 30,461 0 30,461 24,935
PEMBRIDGE CE PRIMARY SCHOOL 40,002 6,667 14,652 4,682 32,830 36,253 33,493 0 33,493 38,484
PENCOMBE C E PRIMARY SCHOOL 3,580 27,092 19,765 14,625 25,799 31,079 29,436 0 29,436 21,511
PETERCHURCH PRIMARY SCHOOL 5,131 -3,855 -25,059 -36,313 -3,991 30,783 30,834 0 30,834 14,274

ROSS ON WYE ASHFIELD PARK PRIMARY SCHOOL -17,445 27,391 -14,627 5,058 48,497 51,280 50,800 0 50,800 24,748
ROSS ON WYE ST JOSEPHS RC PRIMARY SCHOOL 35,876 19,206 46,743 52,012 66,112 64,882 59,501 19,712 39,789 37,231
ST. WEONARD'S PRIMARY SCHOOL -22,995 -3,798 -22,519 -24,556 -18,250 -13,267 -13,571 0 -13,571 -26,462 
SHOBDON PRIMARY SCHOOL 22,932 52,515 50,942 57,103 62,242 51,249 49,881 13,276 36,605 35,313

STAUNTON-ON-WYE ENDWD PRIMARY SCHOOL 28,276 59,775 45,966 42,155 47,000 48,364 48,862 10,938 37,924 35,040
STOKE PRIOR PRIMARY SCHOOL 17,283 69,565 42,291 45,036 52,499 55,533 59,364 20,887 38,477 36,470
STRETTON SUGWAS CE PRIMARY SCHOOL 2,949 49,775 15,369 12,552 24,024 23,227 22,369 0 22,369 18,560
SUTTON PRIMARY SCHOOL 0 68,318 -3,598 11,646 -20,357 24,154 27,615 0 27,615 3,837

WALFORD PRIMARY SCHOOL 29,635 92,329 19,835 -29,773 34,582 51,105 48,629 2,839 45,790 50,861
WELLINGTON PRIMARY SCHOOL 27,342 24,270 10,438 11,205 33,490 27,249 36,539 0 36,539 42,490
WEOBLEY PRIMARY SCHOOL 1,714 95,392 -59,296 16,968 23,614 27,879 11,749 0 11,749 15,491
WESTON-UNDER-PENYRD CE PRIMARY SCHOOL 14,309 16,295 -17,531 14,536 6,662 10,275 15,058 0 15,058 -1,785 

WHITBOURNE CE PRIMARY SCHOOL 2,942 -1,669 14,713 18,862 26,675 32,044 30,916 0 30,916 36,658
WHITCHURCH CE PRIMARY SCHOOL 14,254 -43,811 15,098 19,847 39,079 49,370 51,137 10,008 41,129 29,267
WIGMORE PRIMARY SCHOOL 27,112 44,150 48,865 56,112 65,764 79,274 55,443 12,176 43,267 24,697
WITHINGTON PRIMARY SCHOOL 19,587 21,237 47 4,843 23,507 22,161 23,227 0 23,227 33,548

HEREFORD RIVERSIDE PRIMARY SCHOOL 48,126 114,861 75,977 89,647 128,140 113,741 101,491 8,344 93,147 76,169

QUEEN ELIZABETH HIGH SCHOOL 220,835 - - 140,848 - - 140,848 33,356 107,492 109,616
HEREFORD AYLESTONE SCHOOL -386,865 28,172 -368,448 -136,054 -75,038 -75,473 -56,622 0 -56,622 175,971
BISHOPS HIGH SCHOOL 79,352 - - 549,035 - - 549,035 182,988 366,047 247,878
HEREFORD ST MARYS HIGH SCHOOL 172,846 - - 124,264 - - 124,264 0 124,264 196,488

HEREFORD WHITECROSS HIGH SCHOOL 153,772 123,563 74,402 147,128 221,033 281,282 276,410 0 276,410 186,820
KINGSTONE HIGH SCHOOL 36,048 - - 134,634 - - 134,634 0 134,634 155,987
KINGTON, LADY HAWKINS HIGH SCHOOL 97,679 - - 187,691 - - 187,691 26,805 160,886 166,536
LEDBURY, JOHN MASEFIELD HIGH SCHOOL 105,212 - - 110,390 - - 110,390 0 110,390 196,793

LEOMINSTER THE MINSTER COLLEGE -28,422 -424,551 77,230 151,618 152,829 213,866 197,669 0 197,669 67,013
PETERCHURCH, FAIRFIELD HIGH 5,571 - - 52,575 - - 52,575 0 52,575 37,027
ROSS ON WYE JOHN KYRLE HIGH SCHOOL -325,946 695,963 626,852 579,711 684,567 655,166 490,427 104,597 385,830 310,606
WEOBLEY HIGH SCHOOL 37,415 -245,058 -31,168 31,133 41,362 67,035 88,744 0 88,744 -5,979 

WIGMORE HIGH SCHOOL 76,299 283,321 111,395 115,437 163,554 186,987 152,533 6,075 146,458 95,810

HEREFORD BARRS COURT SCHOOL 22,195 25,877 34,526 79,257 97,278 105,132 61,123 0 61,123 63,708
HEREFORD BLACKMARSTON SCHOOL 3,361 -54,695 -5,613 98,438 74,966 96,330 99,614 20,720 78,894 69,253
LEOMINSTER WESTFIELD SCHOOL 41,203 160,338 99,717 58,388 71,075 76,774 70,698 23,335 47,363 43,571
HEREFORD THE BROOKFIELD SCHOOL -32,746 53,164 -6,354 -30,974 -3,609 -9,506 -7,986 0 -7,986 -112,040 

THE ACONBURY CENTRE 19,332 54,273 44,142 49,562 54,498 31,126 37,901 0 37,901 28,135
ST DAVIDS PRU 18,093 18,321 38,140 44,359 41,238 43,114 40,197 0 40,197 26,893
THE PRIORY PRU 8,364 36,816 23,853 38,526 45,940 47,696 46,475 8,852 37,623 24,461

Total 2,099,964 4,007,733 2,588,226 5,079,064 4,927,515 5,386,475 6,346,581 0 1,043,740 5,302,841 5,020,786

4
6



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Malcolm Green, Schools Finance Manager on (01432) 260818 

  

170510DCSFfundingconsultation0.doc 26Nov08 

MEETING: SCHOOLS FORUM 

DATE: 17 MAY 2010 

TITLE OF REPORT: CONSULTATION ON THE FUTURE DISTRIBUTION 
OF SCHOOL FUNDING 

OFFICER SCHOOLS FINANCE MANAGER 

CLASSIFICATION: Open 

Wards Affected 

County-wide – All Schools 

Purpose 

To approve the response to the Department for Children, Schools and Families (DCSF) consultation 
paper on the future distribution of school funding. 

Key Decision  

This is not a Key Decision.  

Recommendation 

 THAT School Forum is asked to: 

a. Contribute to the response document as appropriate 

b. Approve the response document for submission to the Secretary of State. 

Key Points Summary 

• The appendix sets out the Government’s proposals for the distribution of school funding from 
April 2011 and includes the consultation response form. It sets out the principles which would 
underpin a new funding system along with proposals on the formula for allocating the Dedicated 
Schools Grant (DSG). Details of the consultation paper are set out in paragraphs 3 to 31. 

• The proposed formula elements are 

o Basic Entitlement 

o Additional Educational Needs 

o High Cost Pupils 

o Sparsity 

AGENDA ITEM 10

47



o Area Cost Adjustment 

Alternative Options 

1 There are no alternative options for consideration. 

Reasons for Recommendations 

2 Herefordshire Schools Forum needs to reply to the consultation paper so their views are 
collated and add strength to achieving a satisfactory outcome.  

Introduction and Background 

3 DCSF has launched a consultation on the future distribution of the DSG from April 2011 
onwards. The consultation period ends on 7 June 2010 and responses can be completed 
via the DCSF website or sent to dsg.consultation@dcsf.gsi.gov.uk. The results of the 
consultation will be published by the Department in summer 2010. 

4 This briefing paper summarises the formula proposals for DSG and mainstreaming of specific 
grants, in the order they appear in the consultation document. The consultation paper itself 
contains the technical detail and is attached as an appendix. 

Background 

5 Until April 2006 core funding for schools was allocated through the local government finance 
system, in the same way as funding for other local authority services. A formula known as the 
Schools Formula Spending Share (FSS), allocated an amount for each education authority to 
fund schools. This amount was notional, meaning individual authorities could chose to spend 
more or less than their FSS on education. 

6 From 2006/07 funding for schools has been distributed to local authorities as a separate ring-
fenced grant, the DSG.  

7 Currently, allocations for DSG are based on the ‘Spend Plus’ methodology. The ‘Spend’ 
element takes the planned spending on education by local authorities in 2005/06 as a 
baseline and gives each authority the same basic increase per pupil above the previous year’s 
level of DSG per pupil. The ‘Plus’ element consists of a number of ‘top-ups’ to reflect 
Government priorities, each of these are allocated according to their own formulas. In 
common with other low funded authorities, Herefordshire has received extra funding i.e. 
£0.82m for Herefordshire, to bring the allocation up to formula in the three years 2006/7, 
07/08 and 08/09. 

8 As such, the DSG cannot reflect changes in relative needs between local authorities since 
2005/06. Consequently, the Government wishes to return to a system which better reflects 
current need. 

Formula Review 

9 The Government launched a review of the distribution mechanism for DSG in January 2008. 
Since then a Formula Review Group, representing all the main stakeholders, has met 
regularly to direct the work of the review. Details of the Group’s membership and papers and 
notes of their meetings are available on the DCSF Teachernet website. Following this 
process, the Department has set out the principles for a new formula and the options within its 
various elements, for consultation. 

48



Consultation Proposals 

10 The consultation focuses on two particular issues, the formula for distributing DSG and the 
inclusion of a number of specific grants into DSG (mainstreaming). The consultation paper is 
divided into chapters, detailing the proposals for each element of the formula and the 
questions for stakeholders. The paper does not include details of how these elements would 
be weighted in relation to one another, nor are there exemplifications of authorities’ 
allocations. The consultation makes clear that the Government’s principle of fairness ‘does not 
mean every pupil or each area getting the same level of funding’. 

11 Each chapter of the DCSF consultation paper is considered individually below and a draft 
response is listed under each consultation question. 

Structure of the Formula [Chapter 1] 

12 DCSF’s intention is to return to a formula-based approach to the distribution of DSG. The 
consultation paper states the aim in developing a new formula distribution methodology was to 
distribute resources according to relative need, taking into account the different costs of 
educating particular groups of pupils and of providing education in different areas. 

13 DCSF propose the new formula as consisting of the following elements: 

o A basic entitlement – a set amount given for every pupil regardless of any additional 
need and/or cost; 

o Additional Educational Needs including those associated with deprivation – to 
recognise that some children need greater support, which schools and local 
authorities need to pay for, in order to help them achieve their potential; 

o High Cost Pupils – to recognise that a small number of pupils have specific needs 
which mean they cost significantly more to educate than other pupils;  

o Sparsity – to recognise that in rural areas the sparsity of the pupil population makes it 
necessary to have small primary schools, which cost more per pupil; 

o Area Cost Adjustment – to recognise that there are higher salaries and associated 
staffing costs in certain areas. 

 

Reducing Specific Grants [Chapter 1] 

14 Currently specific grants allocate an additional £4.5bn for schools funding, which is not 
included in the DSG. Specific grants were originally introduced to fund the implementation of 
specific Government policies. However, the guidance for most of these ring-fenced grants 
now specifies only that the funding should be spent on any purpose of the school. Therefore, 
it is the Department’s intention to reduce the number of ring-fenced grants to as few as 
possible. DCSF envisages the new DSG will include the following grants currently in 
existence: 

o Dedicated Schools Grant (including London Pay Addition Grant);  

o School Development Grant (Devolved) excluding Specialist Schools;  

o School Standards Grant;  

o School Standards Grant (Personalisation);  

o School Lunch Grant;  

49



o Ethnic Minority Achievement Grant;  

o Extension of the Early Years Free Entitlement;  

o Extended Schools – Sustainability and Subsidy 
 

Consultation Questions  

1. Do you agree with the principles we are applying to the formula? 
      

2. Do you agree with the proposals to mainstream the grants specified into DSG? 
 

3. Do you agree with the proposed elements of the formula? 
 

 

Basic Entitlement [Chapter 2] 

15 The basic entitlement is intended to cover the general costs of running schools; consequently 
it is the element of the formula which allocates the most funding (almost 75% notionally at 
present). The consultation proposes two options for establishing the basic entitlement, either 
judgementally or through an Activity Led Funding (ALF) approach.  

16 If a judgemental approach were to be used, DCSF would determine an amount after making a 
judgement about how best to divide the overall sum (quantum) into the main formula 
components. This has the advantage of simplicity and would represent the pattern of historic 
funding between the elements. 

17 An ALF approach would allocate funding based on an assessment of how much a school 
needs to spend to provide education for pupils, before any adjustments are made. It involves 
identifying the core activities undertaken by schools (e.g. teaching, management etc.) and 
trying to cost them, taking account factors such as their frequency and time. This approach 
would also involve a degree of judgement. The ALF approach could make it clear to budget-
setters what the resources available to schools would buy. However, the consultation 
document says there are ‘significant challenges in developing and operating a successful 
model’. 

 

4. Which methodology for calculating the basic entitlement do you consider would enable 
the fairest and most practical distribution of funding? 

 
 

 

Additional Educational Needs [Chapter 3] 

18 This element of the formula is intended to reflect the costs associated with providing additional 
support to some children. Research was commissioned from the consultants 
PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) to identify categories of additional educational needs. It is the 
Department’s intention that the formula should recognise deprivation in particular.  As such, it 
is proposed 50% of the AEN block would be distributed according to a proxy for deprivation, 

50



25% via an indicator for underperforming groups, 13% via English as an Additional Language 
and 12% via a flat rate per pupil.  

19 The document proposes five different options for a deprivation indicator (the proportion of 
pupils affected by each measure is in square brackets): 

o Option 1 – Out of Work Tax Credit Indicator [20.6%] 

o Option 2 – Free School Meals (FSM) [16.0%] 

o Option 3 – Child Poverty Measure [22.5%] 
o Option 4 – Average Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index (IDACI) score of 

pupils educated within the local authority [23.2%] 
o Option 5 – FSM with the additional 500,000 pupils in the most deprived areas by the 

IDACI score not on FSM [23.4%] 
 

20 In order to ensure the funding system recognises deprivation at a local level, from 2012/13 all 
authorities will be required to operate a Local Pupil Premium agreed with their Schools Forum. 
In time, it is expected this will become the main vehicle for distributing deprivation funding and 
authorities will be required to report annually how they are allocating deprivation funding 
through the Section 251 financial reporting tables (formerly Section 52). 

 

5. Do you agree with the proposed methodology for distributing money for additional 
educational needs? 

 
6. Which is your preferred indicator for distributing money via deprivation? Why? 
       

7. Do you agree with the indicators, other than for deprivation, that we have proposed for 
each need? 

 
8. Will the Local Pupil Premium mechanism help funding to be more responsive to 

changes in pupil characteristics? 
 
9. Is it right that local authorities should each develop their own pupil premium 

mechanism? 
 
 

 

High Cost Pupils [Chapter 4] 

21 A small proportion of pupils, generally those with statements of Special Educational Needs 
(SEN), have very specific needs which are very costly to provide for. Unlike the other formula 
elements, funding for high cost pupils is directed to the authority where the pupil is resident, 
not the one where they attend school, as it is the resident authority which has statutory 
responsibility for ensuring provision. 

22 DCSF used evidence from the PwC research to define high cost pupils and to develop 
proposals for resource allocation. The consultation proposes a similar approach to that for 
AEN, based on types of pupil need. This would result in the High Cost Pupils block being 
distributed 50% via a per pupil rate, 33% via a measure of low attainment at Key Stage 2, 

51



14% via a deprivation proxy, 2% via take-up of Disability Living Allowance and 1% via English 
as an Additional Language. 

23 The current system of recoupment for pupils with statements of SEN educated outside the 
authority will remain. The consultation also states DCSF will encourage voluntary recoupment 
for pupils classified in the School Action and School Action Plus categories, who are educated 
outside the resident authority and have similar needs to pupils with statements. 

 

10. Do you agree with the methodology for distributing money for High Cost Pupils? 
 

 

Sparsity [Chapter 5] 

24 The consultation proposes two options to reflect sparsity. The broad option would result in 104 
(out of 150 local education authorities) receiving additional money for sparsity. The narrow 
option would target funding at the most sparsely populated areas. The narrow option would 
affect 66 authorities and 300,000 pupils, a similar number to pupils currently attending small 
rural primary schools (less than 150 pupils). In order to derive a measure of sparsity, DCSF 
propose using home postcode data of pupils, collected in annual school censuses, and 
applying this data to Middle Super Output Areas. Currently, pupil numbers are taken from 
2001 census data and then applied to electoral ward geography. No provision for sparsity for 
small secondary schools is proposed, the consultation notes home to secondary school 
transport is already funded through Formula Grant. 

 

11. Do you agree that the school census and Middle Super Output Area are the right data 
sources and geography to use to assess the sparsity of an area? 

 
 

12. Which method for calculating the sparsity factor do you think will best enable 
additional funding to reach those local authorities that need to maintain small schools 
– the broad or narrow option? 

 
 

13. Do you agree that there should not be a secondary sparsity factor? 
 
 
 

 

Area Cost Adjustment [Chapter 6] 

25 The Area Cost Adjustment (ACA) is intended to reflect that the cost of providing services in 
some authorities will be higher than others. The document proposes two options for an ACA in 
the formula; a General Labour Market (GLM) approach and a hybrid approach. The 
methodology for the previous schools formula used a GLM approach. 

26 The GLM approach takes account of the relative pay of various groups of workers in different 

52



geographical areas. Underlying this approach is the principle that teachers and other 
education workers are part of a general labour market. Consequently, employing authorities 
have to compete with other employers in the area in both the public and private sectors. If a 
GLM approach were to be used DCSF would adopt the same methodology as used by CLG, 
which is likely to be consulted on over the summer. 

27 A hybrid approach would focus more directly on the costs of employing school staff. It would 
involve a specific cost approach using teachers’ pay bands to cover the direct financial costs 
of teachers; this would be derived from a national index of the direct financial cost of each 
group of teaching staff. In addition it would use the GLM approach to cover the direct financial 
costs of non-teaching staff and the indirect cost of both type of staff. The split of pay between 
teachers and other staff is calculated as 68:32. The consultation states the hybrid approach 
would allocate fewer resources than the GLM method as the differential between higher and 
lower cost areas is calculated to be smaller. This could allow for the additional money to be 
recycled through the basic entitlement to all authorities. 

  

14. Which is the fairest method of applying the Area Cost Adjustment? 
 

 

Transitional Arrangements [Chapter 7] 

28 The introduction of a new needs-based formula will, according to DCSF, ‘result in significant 
distributional changes’. The Department recognise authorities need protection from sudden 
changes to budgets and are proposing transitional arrangements (i.e. a Minimum Funding 
Guarantee). 

29 It is proposed transitional arrangements for 2011/12 and 2012/13 will involve a per pupil floor 
set above the Minimum Funding Guarantee. This would result in no authority receiving an 
increase lower than the floor in both years. The floor will be paid for either by a ceiling on the 
authorities with the largest increases in funding or by reducing the amount above the floor for 
all non-floor authorities by the same proportion (scaling) or a combination of these two 
options. The consultation paper does not propose a cash-floor, such as the one which 
operates at present, as it is likely to move authorities with falling pupil numbers away from the 
formula. However, the Department recognises that authorities which will lose under the new 
formula and have declining pupil numbers could be faced with difficulties. The paper states 
DCSF will ‘consider whether any protection needs to be offered for local authorities in that 
position’. 

30 It will also be necessary for authorities to make local transitional arrangements to manage the 
impact on schools’ budgets of the movements in funding which will result from the removal of 
the specific grants listed earlier. DCSF propose a single set of transitional arrangements, 
which will be based on a single baseline, including both the DSG and the special grants rolled 
into DSG. The Department consider this approach as preferable to establishing separate 
transitional arrangements for each specific grant. 

15. Do you support our plans for the transitional arrangements for mainstreaming grants? 
 

16. Should floors be paid for by all local authorities or just by the largest gaining 
authorities? 

 

53



 

17. Do you have any suggestions for how the Minimum Funding Guarantee could be 
improved? 

 
 

 

Further Considerations [Chapter 8] 

31 DCSF currently provide an Exceptional Circumstances Grant for authorities which experience 
significant growth in pupil between the January school census and the start of the academic 
year or significant growth over in the number of pupils with English as an additional language. 
No authorities received the Grant in 2008/09 or 2009/10 for the first reason, although several 
received funding for the second reason. The consultation seeks views on whether similar 
arrangement, funded from the DSG, should be continued from 2011. 

32 The consultation also proposes allowing local authorities with schools near military 
establishments to make a claim for additional pupils to be counted for DSG purposes, if 
numbers have fallen significantly from the previous year as a result of armed forces 
movements. Claims would have to be made directly to the Department and would be 
considered individually on their merits. The consultation does not propose making any specific 
provision in the formula for children of parents serving in the armed forces. 

 

18. If a contingency arrangement for local authorities is to continue, funded from the DSG, 
what areas should it cover and what should the criteria be for triggering eligibility? 

 

19. Do you support our proposals for Service children? 
 
 

 

Key Considerations 

33. None identified. 

Community Impact 

34 None identified. 

Financial Implications 

35 No financial implications are identified within the consultation paper as per pupil funding 
allocations will be announced by DCSF in the autumn after the closure of the consultation. 

Legal Implications 

36 It is confirmed that these proposals are consistent with the Council's legal duties 

54



 

Risk Management 

37 Herefordshire’s views will only be considered by DCSF if a response is returned by 7th June 
2010. 

Consultees 

38 None. 

Appendices 

39 Consultation on the future distribution of school funding published by DCSF March 2010 
Schools  

Background Papers 

Briefing notes prepared by Society of County Treasurers and the Local Government Association 

55



56



Consultation on the 
future distribution of 
school funding

57



 

 !"!#$%&!'()*+&%,+&-) .

/0%12$!3%)#244'&5) 6

!"#$%&'( ( )*+#',-(#(.&+(/*'012#( 3
) 78%)#18++()*2"-!"9)#5#$%4:)1+&%);&!"1!;(%#)'"-)*+&42(')#$&21$2&%)

!"#$%&'(4( )"&(5#-67(8.%6%2&0&.%(  9
) <;$!+"#)*+&)-%$%&4!"!"9)$8%)='#!1)2"!$)+*)*2"-!"9)

!"#$%&'(9( :,,6%6*.#2(8,17#%6*.#2(;&&,-(  3
) >!#$&!=2$!"9)'--!$!+"'()*2"-!"9)*+&);2;!(#),!$8)'--!$!+"'()%-21'$!+"'()"%%-#)

!"#$%&'(<( =6>"(!*-%(?1$62-( 4@
) >!#$&!=2$!"9)'--!$!+"'()*2"-!"9)*+&)8!98)1+#$);2;!(#:)!"1(2-!"9)$8+#%),!$8)8!98)

1+#$)#;%1!'()%-21'$!+"'()"%%-#)

!"#$%&'(A( B$#'-6%C( 94
) ?%*(%1$!"9)$8%)'--!$!+"'()1+#$#)+*)#4'(();&!4'&5)#18++(#)!")#;'&#%(5)

;+;2('$%-)'&%'#)

!"#$%&'(D( :'&#(!*-%(:,E1-%0&.%( 9@
) ?%*(%1$!"9)('=+2&)1+#$#)!")-!**%&%"$)'&%'#)

!"#$%&'(@( )'#.-6%6*.#2(#''#.>&0&.%-( <<
) @&+$%1$!"9)#18++(#)'"-)(+1'()'2$8+&!$!%#)*&+4)#!9"!*!1'"$)*(21$2'$!+"#)!")*2"-!"9)

!"#$%&'(3( F1'%"&'(7*.-6,&'#%6*.-(#.,(7*.721-6*.( <D
) <$8%&)!##2%#)'"-)"%0$)#$%;#)

A""%0)A)  %$8+-+(+95)2"-%&;!""!"9)$8%)12&&%"$)*2"-!"9)'&&'"9%4%"$#) 6B

A""%0)C) D2;;(%4%"$'&5)$%18"!1'()!"*+&4'$!+")+")$8%);&+;+#%-)*+&42(')'&&'"9%4%"$#) 6E

A""%0)F) F8'&$#)!"1(2-%-)!")$8%)-+124%"$) EG

A""%0)>) F+"#2($'$!+")H2%#$!+"#) I.

A""%0)/) J!"K#)$+)+$8%&)2#%*2()-+124%"$#) I6

Contents

58



59



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  

Ministerial foreword

23+-)#("0+)&*(#)4!3+-"5+"&)0'5+)&!)6!7+-8)+.$0'&(!")*'#)/++")')&!6)6-(!-(&98)/'0:+.)/9)-+0!-.)
%+3+%#)!,)("3+#&5+"&;)<".)'#)7+)*'3+)#+&)!$&8)&*'&)("3+#&5+"&)(#)#+&)&!)0!"&("$+;)=$&)(&)(#)"!&)
#(56%9)')0'#+)!,)6$&&("1)5!-+)5!"+9)("&!)&*+)#9#&+5)'#)')7*!%+;)>+)"++.)&!)5':+)#$-+)&*'&)
("3+#&5+"&)1!+#)7*+-+)(&)(#)"++.+.)'".)(#)#6+"&)7(#+%9;

?3+-)&*+)%'#&),+7)9+'-#)7+)*'3+)/-!$1*&)')*(1*).+1-++)!,)#&'/(%(&9)'".)6-+.(0&'/(%(&9)&!)#0*!!%)
,$".("1)&*-!$1*)!$-)@6+".)A%$#)5+&*!.!%!19;)=$&)7+)*'3+)'%7'9#)#'(.)&*'&)7+)7(#*)&!)-+&$-")&!)
'),!-5$%'B/'#+.)5+&*!.)!,)'%%!0'&(!")(")CDEE8)#!)&*'&)'%%!0'&(!"#)/+&&+-)-+,%+0&)'0&$'%)
0*'-'0&+-(#&(0#)!,)6$6(%#;

F*(#)0!"#$%&'&(!")#+&#)!$&)&*+)6-("0(6%+#)!,)&*+)"+7),!-5$%')'".)'#:#),!-)3(+7#)!")&*+)!6&(!"#)
'3'(%'/%+)&!)$#;)G")1+&&("1)&*(#),'-)7+)*'3+)/++")'/%9)'##(#&+.)/9)5+5/+-#)!,)!$-)H!-5$%')I+3(+7)
4-!$6)7*(0*)("0%$.+#)-+6-+#+"&'&(3+#)!,)0+"&-'%)'".)%!0'%)1!3+-"5+"&8)&+'0*+-)'".)*+'.&+'0*+-)
'##!0('&(!"#8)$"(!"#)-+6-+#+"&("1)#$66!-&)#&',,)'".)!&*+-)("&+-+#&+.)6'-&(+#;)>+)'-+)+J&-+5+%9)
1-'&+,$%)&!)&*+5;

>+)'-+)'%#!)3+-9)1-'&+,$%)&!)&*+)0!$"&%+##)6+!6%+)K)#0*!!%)%+'.+-#8)&+'0*+-#8)#$66!-&)#&',,8)
1!3+-"!-#8)6'-+"&#8)6$6(%#8)LA#8)@0*!!%#)H!-$5)0*'(-#8)%!0'%)1!3+-"5+"&)-+6-+#+"&'&(3+#8)%!0'%)
'$&*!-(&9)!,,(0+-#)'".)!&*+-)!-1'"(#'&(!"#)'".)(".(3(.$'%#)K)7*!)*'3+)0!"&-(/$&+.)&!)&*+)-+3(+7;

>+)'-+)6-!6!#("1),(3+)+%+5+"&#),!-)&*+),!-5$%'8)7*(0*)7(%%)/+),'5(%('-)&!)&*!#+)("3!%3+.)(")#0*!!%)
,$".("1;)F*+#+)'-+M)')/'#(0)+"&(&%+5+"&),!-)+3+-9)6$6(%N)'..(&(!"'%)5!"+9),!-)6$6(%#)7(&*)'..(&(!"'%)
+.$0'&(!"'%)"++.#8),$".("1),!-)6-!3(#(!"),!-)*(1*)0!#&)6$6(%#8)')#6'-#(&9),'0&!-)&!)#$66!-&)%!0'%)
'$&*!-(&(+#)7*(0*)"++.)&!)5'("&'(")#5'%%)#0*!!%#)(")#6'-#+%9)6!6$%'&+.)'-+'#8)'".)'")'.O$#&5+"&)
,!-)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)7*!)*'3+)*(1*+-)%'/!$-)0!#&#;)>+)'-+)'%#!)6-!6!#("1)&*+)("&-!.$0&(!")!,)')
P!0'%)A$6(%)A-+5($58)(")!-.+-)&!)+"#$-+)&*'&)&*+)3+-9)#(1"(,(0'"&)-+#!$-0+#)(")&*+)#9#&+5),!-)
.+6-(3'&(!")-+'0*)&*+)6$6(%#)7*!)"++.)&*+5;

>+)*'3+)#+&)!$&)(")&*(#).!0$5+"&)&*+)!6&(!"#),!-).(#&-(/$&("1)+'0*)!,)&*+)+%+5+"&#;)>+)7'"&)&!)
*+'-),-!5)'%%)("&+-+#&+.)6'-&(+#)&*+(-)3(+7#)!")&*+#+)!6&(!"#8)'".)(")6'-&(0$%'-)7*(0*8)&*+9)/+%(+3+8)
'-+)-(1*&)(")6-("0(6%+;)>+)7(%%)0!"&("$+)&!)&'%:)&!)#&':+*!%.+-#)'".)7(%%).+3+%!6),(-5)6-!6!#'%#)
7*(0*)7+)7(%%)6$/%(#*)%'&+-)(")&*+)9+'-;

60



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) 

2*(#)(#)')&+0*"(0'%)/$&)*(1*%3)(45!-&'"&).!0$4+"&6)'#)&*+),("'%)!$&0!4+)!,)&*(#)-+7(+8)8(%%)',,+0&)
&*+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1),!-)#+7+-'%)3+'-#)&!)0!4+9):+)8!$%.)&*+-+,!-+)$-1+)'%%)&*!#+)
8(&*)'")("&+-+#&)(")#0*!!%),$".("1)&!)&';+)&*+)&(4+)&!)-+'.)&*(#).!0$4+"&6).(#0$##)(&)8(&*)&*+(-)
0!%%+'1$+#)(")#0*!!%#)'".)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#6)'".)&!)#+".)$#)&*+(-)7(+8#9

!"#$%$&'%()"#&

<("(#&+-)!,)=&'&+),!-))
=0*!!%#)'".)>+'-"+-#

61



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  

Executive summary

2*(#).!0$3+"&)#+&#)!$&)&*+)4!5+-"3+"&6#)7-!7!#'%#),!-)&*+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1),-!3)
87-(%)9:;;<)=&)#+&#)!$&)&*+)7-("0(7%+#)>*(0*)>!$%.)$".+-7(")')"+>),$".("1)#?#&+3)'%!"1)>(&*)
7-!7!#'%#)!")&*+),!-3$%'),!-)'%%!0'&("1)&*+)@+.(0'&+.)A0*!!%#)4-'"&)B@A4C<)2*+).!0$3+"&)#++D#)
'1-++3+"&)!"),$".("1)7-("0(7%+#)'".)#++D#)5(+>#)!")&*+)!7&(!"#)7$&),!->'-.)!")*!>)&*+)
(".(5(.$'%),!-3$%')+%+3+"&#)#*!$%.)!7+-'&+<

2*(#),!%%!>#)')>(.+E-'"1("1)-+5(+>)!,)&*+)3+0*'"(#3),!-)'%%!0'&("1)&*+)@A4F)'""!$"0+.)/?)&*+)
4!5+-"3+"&)(")G'"$'-?)9::H<)8)I!-3$%')J+5(+>)4-!$7)BIJ4CF)>*(0*)*'#)("0%$.+.)-+7-+#+"&'&(5+#)
,-!3)&*+)3'(")+.$0'&(!")#&'D+*!%.+-#F)*'#)#&++-+.)&*+)>!-D)!,)&*+)-+5(+><)K!-+).+&'(%#)!,)&*+)
1-!$76#)>!-DF)("0%$.("1)IJ4)3+3/+-#*(7F)7'7+-#)'".)"!&+#)!,)&*+)3++&("1#F)'%!"1)>(&*)-+7!-&#)
/?)L-(0+>'&+-*!$#+ !!7+-#)BL> CF)0!33(##(!"+.),!-)&*+)-+5(+>F)0'")/+),!$".)!")&*+)
@+7'-&3+"&6#)2+'0*+-"+&)>+/#(&+M

*&&7MNN>>><&+'0*+-"+&<1!5<$DN3'"'1+3+"&N#0*!!%,$".("1N@A4,!-3$%'-+5(+>N

!"#$%&'()#*+,*)&-.
2*+)#0*!!%),$".("1)#?#&+3)3$#&)#$77!-&)#0*!!%#)&!)7-+7'-+)'%%)0*(%.-+"),!-)'.$%&)%(,+)'".)*+%7)
#0*!!%#)"'--!>)&*+)1'7#)(")'0*(+5+3+"&)&*'&)+O(#&F)7'-&(0$%'-%?)/+&>++").+7-(5+.)'".)"!"E
.+7-(5+.)7$7(%#<)2*+),!-3$%')#*!$%.)-+,%+0&)&*'&).(,,+-+"&)7$7(%#)"++.).(,,+-+"&)%+5+%#)!,)#$77!-&)
'".)&*'&).(,,+-+"&)'-+'#)>(%%)*'5+).(,,+-+"&)0!#&)7-+##$-+#<)=&)#*!$%.)-+',,(-3)&*+)7-("0(7%+)&*'&)
"++.#)(")(".(5(.$'%)#0*!!%#)'-+)/+#&)'##+##+.)'&)&*+)%!0'%)%+5+%<)=&)#*!$%.)-+,%+0&)&*+)7-(!-(&?)&*+)
4!5+-"3+"&)(#)1(5("1)&!)#$77!-&("1).+7-(5+.)7$7(%#)&!)-'(#+)'0*(+5+3+"&)'".)&!)+"#$-+)&*+)
,$".("1)&!)#$77!-&)#0*!!%#)&!)3++&)&*+)"++.#)!,).+7-(5+.)0*(%.-+")(#)0%+'-%?)(.+"&(,(+.<

8-!$".)PQ<R)/(%%(!")(#)0$--+"&%?)'%%!0'&+.)&!)#0*!!%#)&*-!$1*)#7+0(,(0)1-'"&#<)2*+)("&+"&(!")(#)&!)
3'("#&-+'3)'#)3'"?)!,)&*+#+)1-'"&#)'#)7!##(/%+)("&!)&*+)@A4<)2*(#)>(%%)/!&*)#(37%(,?)&*+)7-!0+##)
'".)1(5+),$-&*+-)0!"&-!%)&!)#0*!!%#)'".)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#<)8,&+-)&*+)("0!-7!-'&(!")!,)!&*+-)1-'"&#)
7-!7!#+.)(")&*+).!0$3+"&F)&*+)@A4)>(%%)&!&'%)!5+-)PSR)/(%%(!")'".)>(%%),!-3)&*+)5'#&)3'T!-(&?)!,)
,$".("1),!-)#0*!!%#<

2*+)A+0-+&'-?)!,)A&'&+)*'#)'""!$"0+.)&*'&)&*+)4!5+-"3+"&)("&+".#)&!)#+&)')K("(3$3)I$".("1)
4$'-'"&++<)2*(#)>(%%)3+'")&*'&)'%%)#0*!!%#)>!$%.)-+0+(5+)')0'#*)("0-+'#+)7+-)7$7(%F)#$/T+0&)&!)+O0%$#(!"#)
#$0*)'#)-+#!$-0+#)'##(1"+.)&!)(".(5(.$'%)7$7(%#)'".)'.T$#&3+"&#),!-)3'-1("'%)7$7(%)"$3/+-)0*'"1+#<

/#")".-0(1"#$%&'(-&-$-+2.

3*4( 5'.*,(6+2*2&-$-+2

2*+)U'#(0)V"&(&%+3+"&)(#)&*+-+)&!)0!5+-)&*+)1+"+-'%)0!#&#)!,)-$""("1)#0*!!%#F)"!&(!"'%%?)'-!$".)
&*-++)W$'-&+-#)!,)&*+)@A4)'%%!0'&(!"<)=&)(#)')7+-)7$7(%)'3!$"&)"!&)0!5+-("1)'"?)'..(&(!"'%)"++.#)!-)

62



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) 

0!#&#2)3*(0*)'-+)4(05+.)$4)+%#+3*+-+)(")&*+),!-6$%'7)8*(#).!0$6+"&)#+&#)!$&)&3!)!4&(!"#),!-)&*+)
0'%0$%'&(!")!,)&*(#)/'#(0)$"(&)!,),$".("19)'):$.1+6+"&'%)'44-!'0*)&!).(;(.("1)$4)&*+)!;+-'%%)#$6)
';'(%'/%+),!-)&*+)<=>)("&!)(&#),!-6$%')+%+6+"&#2)'".)'")'0&(;(&?@%+.),$".("1)ABCDE)'44-!'0*)3*(0*)
(.+"&(,(+#)'".)'&&+64&#)&!)0!#&)&*+)0!-+)'0&(;(&(+#)&*'&)#0*!!%#)$".+-&'5+7)F!&*)!4&(!"#)-+G$(-+)
+%+6+"&#)!,):$.1+6+"&7

!""#$ %&&"'"()*+$,&-.*'"()*+$/00&1$!%,/#

=!6+)0*(%.-+")"++.)'..(&(!"'%)#$44!-&2),!-)3*(0*)#0*!!%#)'".)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)"++.)&!)4'?7)
H+#+'-0*)$".+-&'5+")/?)I3 )*'#)(.+"&(,(+.)')-'"1+)!,)'..(&(!"'%)"++.#)!,)4$4(%#),-!6)'%%)
/'051-!$".#)'".)&*+#+)*';+)/++")$#+.)3*+").+;+%!4("1)&*+),!-6$%'7)8*(#),!-6$%'),'0&!-)#*!$%.)
-+,%+0&2)(")4'-&(0$%'-2)&*'&)0*(%.-+"),-!6).+4-(;+.)/'051-!$".#)'-+)%+##)%(5+%?)&!)'0*(+;+)&*'")&*+(-)
6!-+)'.;'"&'1+.)4++-#)'".)"++.)'..(&(!"'%)#$44!-&)&!)*+%4)&*+6)'0*(+;+)&*+(-)4!&+"&('%7

8!)+"#$-+)&*'&)&*+),$".("1)#?#&+6)(#)-+#4!"#(;+)&!)3*+-+).+4-(;+.)0*(%.-+")'-+2)'%%)%!0'%)
'$&*!-(&(+#)3(%%)/+)-+G$(-+.)&!)!4+-'&+)')%!0'%)4$4(%)4-+6($6),-!6)JKLJ@LM)!"3'-.#7)=$0*)')%!0'%)
4$4(%)4-+6($6)3!$%.)6+'")&*'&)(,)')#0*!!%)-+0-$(&#)')%'-1+-)"$6/+-)!,).+4-(;+.)4$4(%#2)(&)0'")#++)
&*'&)(&)3(%%)-+0+(;+)'..(&(!"'%),$".#2)3*(0*)3(%%)/+)-+,%+0&+.)(")(&#)/$.1+&7

!"""#$2"34$5(1'$6-7"+1$!256#

B)#6'%%)"$6/+-)!,)4$4(%#2)6'("%?)&*!#+)3(&*)=4+0('%)N.$0'&(!"'%)O++.#)A=NOE2)*';+);+-?)#4+0(,(0)
"++.#)3*(0*)'-+);+-?)0!#&%?)&!)4-!;(.+),!-7)N;(.+"0+),-!6)&*+)I3 )-+#+'-0*)*'#)/++")$#+.)&!)
.+,("+)*(1*)0!#&)4$4(%#)'".)&!).+;+%!4)4-!4!#'%#),!-)'%%!0'&("1)-+#!$-0+#2)/'#+.)!")&*+)"++.)
&?4+#)(.+"&(,(+.)(")&*+)I3 )3!-57)8*+)0$--+"&)-+0!$46+"&)#?#&+6),!-)4$4(%#)3(&*)#&'&+6+"&#)!,)
=NO)+.$0'&+.)!$&#(.+)&*+)-+#(.+"&)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&?)3'#)'%#!)%!!5+.)'&)'#)4'-&)!,)&*+)-+;(+3)'".)"!)
0*'"1+)(#)4-!4!#+.7

!"8#$97*:1"';

8*(#)(#)"!&)#(64%?)'),'0&!-),!-)#6'%%)#0*!!%#7)P&)(#)("&+".+.)&!)-+0!1"(#+)&*+)"++.)&!)6'("&'(")#6'%%)
4-(6'-?)#0*!!%#)(")#4'-#+%?)4!4$%'&+.)'-+'#2)3*(0*)0!#&)6!-+)4+-)4$4(%)&!)-$"7)83!)!4&(!"#)'-+)
4-!4!#+.9)')/-!'.+-)!4&(!")("0!-4!-'&("1)6!-+)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)!-)')"'--!3+-)!4&(!")3*(0*)
&'-1+&#)')#6'%%+-)"$6/+-)!,)6!-+)#4'-#+%?)4!4$%'&+.)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#7)8*+)0'#+),!-)')#4'-#(&?)
,'0&!-),!-)#+0!".'-?)#0*!!%#)3'#)0!"#(.+-+.)/$&)+;(.+"0+).(.)"!&)#$11+#&)')#&-!"1)0'#+),!-)
(&#)("0%$#(!"7

!8#$ %:0*$5(1'$%&<-1'=0)'$!%5%#

8*+-+)(#)')3(.+);'-('&(!")'0-!##)&*+)0!$"&-?)(")#&',,("1)0!#&#)3*(0*)6+'"#)&*'&)&*+)0!#&)!,)
4-!;(.("1)0!64'-'/%+)#+-;(0+#)(").(,,+-+"&)4'-&#)!,)&*+)0!$"&-?)3(%%).(,,+-7)83!)!4&(!"#),!-)
0'%0$%'&("1)&*+)B B)'-+)0!"#(.+-+.7)Q"+)(#)/'#+.)!")&*+)4-("0(4%+)&*'&)+.$0'&(!")3!-5+-#)'-+)4'-&)
!,)&*+)1+"+-'%)%'/!$-)6'-5+&)A>CRE7)8*+)!&*+-)S*?/-(.T)'44-!'0*)(#)/'#+.)(")4'-&)!")&*+).(-+0&)4'?)
0!#&#)!,)&+'0*+-#2)3*(0*)3+)'-+)'/%+)&!)G$'"&(,?2)'".)$#+#)&*+)>CR)'44-!'0*),!-)'%%)!&*+-)+%+6+"&#)
!,)#&',,)0!#&#2)3*(0*)3+)'-+)"!&)'/%+)&!)G$'"&(,?7

63



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  

!"#$%&'(()$(

2*+)0!"#$%&'&(!")'%#!)'..-+##+#)!&*+-)(##$+#)0!"#(.+-+.).$-("1)&*+)-+3(+45)("0%$.("1)*!4)&!)'.6$#&)
&*+)789),!-)&*+)0!"3+-#(!")!,):'("&'("+.)#0*!!%#)("&!);0'.+:(+#5),$".("1),!-)8+-3(0+)0*(%.-+"5)&*+)
-+3+"$+)0!#&)(:<%(0'&(!"#)!,)&*+)=-(3'&+)>("'"0+)?"(&('&(3+5)@!:+)A.$0'&+.)0*(%.-+")'".)%("B#)4(&*)
&*+)7+<'-&:+"&),!-) !::$"(&(+#)'".)C!0'%)9!3+-":+"&D#)E C9F)-+%'&(3+)"++.#),!-:$%')EGH>F5)4*(0*)
("0%$.+#)'#<+0&#)!,)0*(%.-+"D#)#+-3(0+#I

*$+"&("$,(

J+)4'"&)&!)*+'-),-!:)'%%)&*!#+)4(&*)'")("&+-+#&)(")#0*!!%),$".("1)!")/!&*)&*+)!3+-'%%):'B+$<)!,)
&*+),!-:$%')'".)&*+)<-("0(<%+#)#+&)!$&)(")&*(#).!0$:+"&I)K"0+)4+)*'3+)0!"#(.+-+.)&*+)-+#<!"#+#)
4+)4(%%)0!"#$%&)!"),(-:+-)<-!<!#'%#)#!)&*'&)4+)'-+)'/%+)&!)1(3+)(".(0'&(3+)'%%!0'&(!"#)&!)%!0'%)
'$&*!-(&(+#)/L)H!3+:/+-)MNONI)2*+)0%!#("1).'&+),!-)-+#<!"#+#)(#)P&*)Q$"+)MNONI

-./)'%'$(

?,)L!$-)+"R$(-L)(#)-+%'&+.)&!)&*+)<!%(0L)0!"&+"&)!,)&*+)0!"#$%&'&(!")L!$)0'")0!"&'0&)+(&*+-

Q$%(+&)S'&+#)!"T)&+%+<*!"+T)NMN)PUVN)WUOU)+X:'(%T)6$%(+&IL'&+#Y.0#,I1#(I1!3I$B5)!-

?'")Z0[(0'-)!"T)&+%+<*!"+T)NMN)PUVN)P\WN)+X:'(%T)('"I:03(0'-Y.0#,I1#(I1!3I$B

?,)L!$-)+"R$(-L)(#)-+%'&+.)&!)&*+)7 8>)+X0!"#$%&'&(!")4+/#(&+)!-)&*+)0!"#$%&'&(!")<-!0+##)
(")1+"+-'%5)L!$)0'")0!"&'0&)&*+) !"#$%&'&(!")]"(&)/L)+X:'(%T)0!"#$%&'&(!"I$"(&Y.0#,I1#(I1!3I$B)
!-)/L)&+%+<*!"+T)NWPN)NNN)MMWWI

012&"1&%$(,1.3

 !"#$%&'&(!")-+#<!"#+#)0'")/+)0!:<%+&+.)!"%("+)'&)444I.0#,I1!3I$B^0!"#$%&'&(!"#

!-)/L).!4"%!'.("1)')-+#<!"#+),!-:)4*(0*)#*!$%.)/+)0!:<%+&+.)'".)#+"&)&!T

+X:'(%T).#1I0!"#$%&'&(!"Y.0#,I1#(I1!3I$B

<!#&T) )?'")Z0[(0'-)
>$".("1)'".)2+0*"!%!1L)]"(&)
7+<'-&:+"&),!-) *(%.-+"5)80*!!%#)'".)>':(%(+#)
U-.)>%!!-
8'"0&$'-L)_$(%.("1#)
9-+'&)8:(&*)8&-++&)
C!".!"))
8JO=)U_2

433'"'1.56&71,'$(

;..(&(!"'%)0!<(+#)!,)&*+)=7>)3+-#(!")!,)&*(#)0!"#$%&'&(!")'".)&*+)-+#<!"#+),!-:)'-+)'3'(%'/%+),-!:)
444I.0#,I1!3I$B^0!"#$%&'&(!"#

64



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) 

Chapter 1 
Towards a new formula
The school funding system, core principles and formula 
structure

!"!# 2*+)#3#&+4)!,),$".("1)#0*!!%#)*'#)0*'"1+.)#(1"(,(0'"&%3)#("0+)56678)9"&(%):;;<=;>?)%!0'%)
'$&*!-(&(+#@)0!-+),$".("1),!-)#0*!!%#)'".)!&*+-)A$A(%)A-!B(#(!")C'#)A-!B(.+.)(")&*+)#'4+)
C'3)'#),!-)'%%)!&*+-)%!0'%)#+-B(0+#)&*-!$1*)&*+)%!0'%)1!B+-"4+"&),("'"0+)#3#&+48)D),!-4$%')
C'#).+B+%!A+.)("):;;:=;E)&!)0'%0$%'&+)&*+)F0*!!%#)G!-4$%')FA+".("1)F*'-+?)C*(0*)C'#)
&*+)4!"+3)1(B+")&!)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)"!&(!"'%%3),!-)#0*!!%#8)2*(#),!-4$%')C'#)$#+.)$"&(%)
:;;<=;>8

!"$# F("0+):;;>=;7),$".("1),!-)#0*!!%#)*'#)/++").(#&-(/$&+.)&!)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)'#)')#+A'-'&+)
H+.(0'&+.)F0*!!%#)I-'"&)JHFIK)$#("1)&*+)LFA+".)M%$#N)4+&*!.!%!138)2*(#)0!B+-#),$".("1)
,!-)A$A(%#)'1+.)E=5>8)M!#&=5>)+.$0'&(!")(#),$".+.)#+A'-'&+%38)2*(#)4+&*!.!%!13)*'#)
A-!B(.+.)#&'/(%(&3)'".)A-+.(0&'/(%(&3)(")#0*!!%),$".("18)O!C+B+-?)(&)*'#)-+P$(-+.)&*+)
#+&&("1)!,)')/'#+)3+'-)&!)C*(0*),$&$-+)("0-+'#+#)'-+)'AA%(+.?)(")&*(#)0'#+):;;<=;>?)'".)#!)
.!+#)"!&)'%%!C),!-)0*'"1+#)(")-+%'&(B+)"++.#)/+&C++")%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)#("0+)&*'&)&(4+)&!)
/+)-+,%+0&+.8)2*+-+)(#)')#&-!"1)0'#+?)&*+-+,!-+?),!-)-+&$-"("1)&!)')#3#&+4)C*+-+),$".("1)
'%%!0'&(!"#)/+&&+-)-+,%+0&)0$--+"&)"++.8)Q!-+).+&'(%)'/!$&)&*+)#0*!!%),$".("1)#3#&+4)(#)#+&)
!$&)(")D""+R)D8

!"%# 2*+)I!B+-"4+"&)%'$"0*+.)')-+B(+C)!,)&*+)4+0*'"(#4),!-)'%%!0'&("1)HFI)(")S'"$'-3):;;T8)
2*+)'(4)!,)&*+)-+B(+C)*'#)/++")&!)0!"#(.+-)&*+).+B+%!A4+"&)!,)')#("1%+)&-'"#A'-+"&)
,!-4$%'),!-)&*+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)&*+)HFI?)C*(0*)'%%!0'&+#)-+#!$-0+#)(")%("+)C(&*)-+%'&(B+)
"++.?)-+0!1"(#("1)&*+).(,,+-+"&)0!#&#)!,)+.$0'&("1)A'-&(0$%'-)1-!$A#)!,)A$A(%#?)A'-&(0$%'-%3)
&!)4++&)&*+)"++.#)!,).(#'.B'"&'1+.)A$A(%#?)'".)A-!B(.("1)+.$0'&(!")(").(,,+-+"&)'-+'#8

!"&# 2!)#&++-)&*+)C!-U)!,)&*+)-+B(+C)'".)&!)1'&*+-)+B(.+"0+)!")-+%+B'"&)(##$+#?)')G!-4$%')
V+B(+C)1-!$A)C'#)+#&'/%(#*+.8)2*(#)1-!$A)("0%$.+.)-+A-+#+"&'&(B+#),-!4)0+"&-'%)'".)%!0'%)
1!B+-"4+"&?)&+'0*+-)'".)*+'.&+'0*+-)'##!0('&(!"#?)$"(!"#)-+A-+#+"&("1)#$AA!-&)#&',,)
'".)!&*+-)("&+-+#&+.)A'-&(+#8

!"'# 2*+)C!-U)!,)&*+)1-!$A)C'#)0'--(+.)!$&)(")A$/%(0)C(&*)A'A+-#)'".)4("$&+#)!,)&*+)1-!$A)
/+("1)A$/%(#*+.)!")&*+)H+A'-&4+"&@#)2+'0*+-"+&)C+/#(&+W))
*&&AWXXCCC8&+'0*+-"+&81!B8$UX4'"'1+4+"&X#0*!!%,$".("1XHFI,!-4$%'-+B(+CX8

!"(# 2*+)I-!$A)*+%.)5E)4++&("1#)'".)<E)A'A+-#)C+-+)0!"#(.+-+.8)2*+)4'(")'-+')!,),!0$#)C'#)
!")&*+)%(U+%3),!-4$%')+%+4+"&#W

)"# *#+),-.#/01-12/3/01)Y)'")'4!$"&)1(B+"),!-)+B+-3)A$A(%)-+1'-.%+##)!,)'"3)'..(&(!"'%)
"++.)'".X!-)0!#&Z

65



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  

!"#$%&'(&)#*+,#-./#0''(-(+&01#/'%20-(+&01#&//'3#45678#+*#9%9(13#(&21%'(&):#-.+3/#
033+2(0-/'#;(-.#'/9,(<0-(+&#2)&!)-+0!1"(#+)&*'&)#!3+)0*(%.-+")"++.)1-+'&+-)#$44!-&5)
,!-)6*(0*)#0*!!%#)'".)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)"++.)&!)4'75)(")!-.+-)&!)*+%4)&*+3)'0*(+8+)&*+(-)
4!&+"&('%9

2"# $%&'(&)#*+,#=().#>+3-#?%9(13)4=>?8)2)&!)-+0!1"(#+)&*'&)')#3'%%)"$3/+-)!,)4$4(%#)*'8+)
"++.#)6*(0*)3+'")&*+7)0!#&)#(1"(,(0'"&%7)3!-+)&!)+.$0'&+)'".)#$44!-&)&*'")!&*+-)
4$4(%#9

'"#@90,3(-A)*%&'(&)#B)&!)-+0!1"(#+)&*'&)(")-$-'%)'-+'#)&*+)#4'-#(&7)!,)&*+)4$4(%)4!4$%'&(!")
3':+#)(&)"+0+##'-7)&!)*'8+)#3'%%)4-(3'-7)#0*!!%#5)6*(0*)0!#&)3!-+)4+-)4$4(%)&!)-$"9

/"# 5,/0#>+3-#5'C%3-D/&-#45>58#*%&'(&)#2)&!)-+0!1"(#+)&*'&)&*+-+)'-+)*(1*+-)#'%'-(+#)
'".)'##!0('&+.)#&',,("1)0!#&#)(")0+-&'(")'-+'#;

E"F# <-(0+6'&+-*!$#+ !!4+-#)=<6 >)6+-+)0!33(##(!"+.)&!)$".+-&':+)-+#+'-0*)("&!),!$-)'-+'#)
!,),$".("1?)@..(&(!"'%)A.$0'&(!"'%)B++.#9)*(1*)0!#&)4$4(%#)=3'("%75)/$&)"!&)+"&(-+%7)&*!#+)
6(&*)#&'&+3+"&#)!,)CAB>9)&*+),+'#(/(%(&7)!,)'")'0&(8(&7D%+.),$".("1)'44-!'0*),!-)0'%0$%'&("1)
&*+)/'#(0)+"&(&%+3+"&9)'".)'-+')0!#&)(##$+#;)E*+),!$-)-+4!-&#)0'")/+),!$".)!")&*+)
E+'0*+-"+&)6+/#(&+?

*&&4?FF666;&+'0*+-"+&;1!8;$:F.!0/'":F(".+G;0,3H(.IJKJLK

E"G# E*+).+8+%!43+"&)!,)&*+),!-3$%')"++.#)&!)/+)0!"#(.+-+.)(")&*+)0!"&+G&)!,)&*+)0$--+"&)
+0!"!3(0)0%(3'&+)'".)&*+)#&'&+)!,)&*+)4$/%(0)#+0&!-),("'"0+#;)E*+)M!8+-"3+"&)(#)
0!33(&&+.)&!)0!"&("$("1)&!)4-!8(.+)-+'%)1-!6&*)(")#0*!!%),$".("1)'".)*'#)'""!$"0+.)
&*'&)#0*!!%#)6(%%)0!"&("$+)&!)-+0+(8+)-+'%)&+-3#)("0-+'#+#)/+&6++")NOJJ)'".)NOJP;)Q$&)
3!-+)&*'")+8+-)&*+-+)(#)')"++.)&!)+"#$-+)&*'&)#0*!!%#)6!-:)+,,(0(+"&%7)'".)+,,+0&(8+%7)'".)
&*'&)&*+-+)(#)8'%$+),!-)3!"+7)(")&*+)4-!8(#(!")!,)#+-8(0+#;

E" # R'8("1).+8+%!4+.)!4&(!"#)!")&*+):+7)(##$+#)6(&*)!$-)4'-&"+-#5)6+)'-+)"!6)%!!:("1)&!)
#0*!!%#)'".)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)&!)&+%%)$#)&*+(-)8(+6#)'/!$&)&*+)!4&(!"#5)/+,!-+)6+)'""!$"0+)
,("'%)4-!4!#'%#;)E*+-+,!-+)&*(#).!0$3+"&)#+&#)!$&)&*+)4-("0(4%+#)!,)&*+),!-3$%')'".)&*+)
!4&(!"#)6(&*(")(&#)8'-(!$#)+%+3+"&#;

?,(&2(91/3

E"EH# E*+)'(3)(#)&!)4-!.$0+)').(#&-(/$&(!"),!-3$%')6*(0*)3++&#)&*+)"++.#)!,)&*+)NJ#&) +"&$-7)
C0*!!%;)S&)3$#&)-+0!1"(#+)&*'&)#0*!!%#),'0+)0*'%%+"1+#)(")"'--!6("1)&*+)1'4#)(")
'0*(+8+3+"&)'".)4-+4'-("1)+8+-7)0*(%.)'".)7!$"1)4+-#!"),!-)%(,+)(")'")+8+-D0*'"1("1)
6!-%.;

E"EE# S&)3$#&)-+0!1"(#+)&*'&)&*+)0!"0+4&)!,)I*0(,&/33J#'+/3#&+-#D/0&#-.0-#/</,A+&/#;(11#)/-#
-./#30D/;)S"#&+'.)(&)3$#&)-+,%+0&)&*'&)!$-)+0!"!37)'".)1+!1-'4*7)3+'"#)&*'&).(,,+-+"&)
'-+'#)*'8+).(,,+-+"&)0!#&)4-+##$-+#5)'".)&*'&).(,,+-+"&)4$4(%#)"++.).(,,+-+"&)%+8+%#)!,)
#$44!-&)(")!-.+-)&!)*+%4)&*+3)'0*(+8+;

E"EK# S&)3$#&)-+0!1"(#+)&*'&5)6*(%#&)&*+-+)'-+)8'%(.)'##+##3+"&#)&*'&)0+"&-'%)1!8+-"3+"&)0'")
3':+)'/!$&)"++.5)&//'3#(&#(&'(<('%01#32.++13#0,/#!/3-#033/33/'#0-#-./#1+201#1/</1;)E*(#)
4-("0(4%+)$".+-4(""+.)&*+)0-+'&(!")!,)C0*!!%#)T!-$3#)(")NOON)&!)'.8(#+)'".)0!"#$%&)!")

66



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

&*+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,),$".("12)3+)("&+".)&!)0!"&("$+)&!).(#&-(/$&+)4!"+5)&!)#0*!!%#6)
&*-!$1*)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#6)$#("1)&*+(-)%!0'%),!-4$%'+2

 " #$ 7)"'&(!"'%),!-4$%')&!),$".)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)#*!$%.)-+0!1"(#+)&*!#+)(##$+#)8*(0*)'-+)!,)
"'&(!"'%)(49!-&'"0+)'".)4':+)#(1"(,(0'"&).(,,+-+"0+#)&!)%!0'%)0!#&#)'".)9-+##$-+#2);&)(#)"!&)
&*+-+)&!)-+,%+0&)<'-('&(!"#)&*'&)'-+)-'".!4%5)!00$--("16)"!-6)(,)8+)'-+)&!)'0*(+<+)&*+)'(4)!,)
')#(49%+)'".)&-'"#9'-+"&),$".("1),!-4$%'6)(#)(&)-(1*&)&!)("0%$.+)+<+-5)(##$+)-'(#+.2)
%&''()(*+(,$&*$'-*.&*/$0(12((*$34+53$5-164)&1&(,$7-,1$0($8-,1&'&(.$-,&*/$)40-,1$
(9&.(*+(2

 " :$ 7#)#+&)!$&)(")&*+)3*(&+)='9+-6)16($;49()*7(*1$&,$+477&11(.$14$51$3(5,1$75&*15&*&*/$
16($+-))(*1$3(9(3$4'$'-*.&*/$5334+51(.$'4)$.(<)&951&4*2)3+)#&-!"1%5)/+%(+<+)&*'&)&*(#)
5..&1&4*53$'-*.&*/$,64-3.$0($,<(*1$'4)$16($0(*('&1$4'$.(<)&9(.$<-<&3,2)>!0'%)
'$&*!-(&(+#)*'<+)/++")8!-:("1)&!)("0-+'#+)&*+)9-!9!-&(!")!,)&*+(-).+9-(<'&(!"),$".("1)
&*'&)&*+5)9$&)&!8'-.#).+9-(<+.)9$9(%#6)'".)&*+5)#*!$%.)+"#$-+)&*'&)&*(#)&-+".)0!"&("$+#)
#!)&*'&)0=$>! :? @A$533$16($74*(=$5334+51(.$*51&4*533=$'4)$.(<)&9(.$<-<&3,$)(5+6(,$
.(<)&9(.$<-<&3,$34+533=2)>!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)8(%%)'%#!)"++.)&!)+"#$-+)&*'&)&*+(-),$".("1),!-)
.+9-(<+.)9$9(%#)(#))(,<4*,&9($14$+65*/(,$&*$16($*-70(),$4'$.(<)&9(.$<-<&3,$&*$
.&''()(*1$,+6443,$16)4-/6$16($4<()51&4*$4'$5$B4+53$C-<&3$C)(7&-7"

 " @$ 3+)4$#&)'%#!)-+0!1"(#+)&*'&)#0*!!%#)'".)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)"++.)#&'/(%(&5)'".)&(4+)&!)9%'")
,!-)0*'"1+#)&!),$".("12)D6()('4)($16()($2&33$0($<)41(+1&4*,$51$,+6443$5*.$34+53$
5-164)&1=$3(9(3$14$)(.-+($16($3(9(3$4'$,64)1$1()7$+65*/(,$14$16($.&,1)&0-1&4*"

E5&*,1)(57&*/$/)5*1,

 " F$ ?!4+)@A2B)/(%%(!")(#)0$--+"&%5)'%%!0'&+.)&!)#0*!!%#)&*-!$1*)#9+0(,(0)1-'"&#2)C'"5)!,)&*+#+)
1-'"&#)8+-+)!-(1("'%%5)("&-!.$0+.)&!)(49%+4+"&)#9+0(,(0)9!%(0(+#2)D!8+<+-6)8*(%+)#9+0(,(0)
-("1),+"0+#)*'<+)-+4'("+.),!-)&*+)?0*!!%)>$"0*)E-'"&)'".)F&*"(0)C("!-(&5)70*(+<+4+"&)
E-'"&)GFC7EH)4!#&)!,)&*+)!&*+-)1-'"&#)*'<+)-("1),+"0+#)8*(0*)#(49%5)#9+0(,5)&*'&)&*+)
,$".("1)0'")/+)#9+"&)!")'"5)9$-9!#+)!,)&*+)#0*!!%2

 " G$ 3+)&*+-+,!-+)("&+".)&!)4'("#&-+'4)'#)4'"5)#9+0(,(0)1-'"&#)'#)9!##(/%+)("&!)&*+)I?E6)
8*(0*)4':+#)#+"#+)(,)8+)'-+)4!<("1)&!)')#("1%+)"++.#)/'#+.),!-4$%'2)J*(#)8(%%)#(49%(,5)
&*+)#5#&+4)'".)1(<+),$-&*+-)0!"&-!%)&!)#0*!!%#)'".)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#6)(")%("+)8(&*)&*+)
9-("0(9%+#)!,)&*+)3*(&+)='9+-6) !"#$%#&'()%#*!%*$2)J*(#)(#)"!&)'/!$&)0$&&("1),$".("1)K)
!<+-'%%),-!"&)%("+),$".("1),!-)#0*!!%#)8(%%)("0-+'#+)(")-+'%)&+-4#)/5)'")'<+-'1+)!,)L2M)9+-)
0+"&)9+-)'""$4)(")NLOOPON)'".)NLONPOQ)'".)&*(#)(#)'99%(+.)&!)&*+)&!&'%)8*(0*)("0%$.+#)'%%)
!,)&*+#+)1-'"&#2)7&)&*(#)#&'1+)8+)#++)&*+)&*+),$&$-+)I?E)("0%$.("1R

5"$I+.(0'&+.)?0*!!%#)E-'"&)G("0%$.("1)>!".!")='5)7..(&(!")E-'"&HS

0"$?0*!!%)I+<+%!94+"&)E-'"&)GI+<!%<+.H)+T0%$.("1)?9+0('%(#&)?0*!!%#S

+"$ ?0*!!%)?&'".'-.#)E-'"&S

."$?0*!!%)?&'".'-.#)E-'"&)G=+-#!"'%(#'&(!"HS

("$ ?0*!!%)>$"0*)E-'"&S

'"$ F&*"(0)C("!-(&5)70*(+<+4+"&)E-'"&S
67



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)   

!"#23&+"#(!")!,)&*+)2'-%4)5+'-#)6-++)2"&(&%+7+"&8

$"#23&+".+.)90*!!%#):)9$#&'("'/(%(&4)'".)9$/#(.4;

 " %# <+)-+0!1"(#+)&*'&)&*+-+)=(%%)/+)(##$+#)'-!$".)&*+)7'("#&-+'7("1)!,)(".(>(.$'%)1-'"&#;)?*+)
2&*"(0)@("!-(&4)A0*(+>+7+"&)B-'"&C),!-)+3'7D%+C)*'#)/++")'")(7D!-&'"&)1-'"&)(")*+%D("1)
"'--!=)&*+)'0*(+>+7+"&)1'D#),!-)E%'0F)'".)@("!-(&4)2&*"(0)1-!$D#)'".)(")#$DD!-&("1)&*+)
"++.#)!,)D$D(%#),!-)=*!7)2"1%(#*)(#)'")A..(&(!"'%)G'"1$'1+)H2AGI;)?*+#+)D$-D!#+#)=(%%)
-+7'(")/$&C)$".+-)&*+#+)D-!D!#'%#C)#0*!!%#)=(%%)*'>+)'..(&(!"'%),-++.!7)&!)$#+)&*+)
,$".("1)&!)&'-1+&)"'--!=("1)'0*(+>+7+"&)1'D#),!-)'"4)!&*+-)$".+-JD+-,!-7("1)D$D(%)
1-!$D#;)G!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)#*!$%.)'%#!)/+)'/%+)&!)-+&'(")')D!-&(!")!,)&*(#),$".("1)&!)-$")')
0+"&-'%(#+.)#+->(0+)&!)#$DD!-&)#0*!!%#)(")"'--!=("1)'0*(+>+7+"&)1'D#),!-)$".+-J
D+-,!-7("1)D$D(%#)'".)7++&("1)&*+)#D+0(,(0)"++.#)!,)/(%("1$'%)%+'-"+-#C)=*+-+)&*+4)
0!"#(.+-)&*'&)(#)7!-+)D-'0&(0'%)&*'").+%+1'&("1)'%%)&*+),$".("1)&!)#0*!!%#;)&'#()**#'+,-.'#
/$0/#/$'#/1/0*#12#2-+3)+!#3),/.)4-/'3#/$.1-!$#/$'#21.5-*0#/1(0.3,#-+3'.6'.21.5)+!#
'/$+)7#!.1-6,#0+3#6-6)*,#()/$#89:#),#0/#*'0,/#0,#!.'0/#0,#/$'#/1/0*#12#8;9<#6*-,#/$'#
051-+/#12#=><#0*.'03?#+1/)1+0**?#3),/.)4-/'3#1+#/$0/#40,),"

 " @# A#)#+&)!$&)(")&*+)<*(&+)K'D+-) !"#$%&'()*$ !"#$+,&!!(*$-"#$."/"#01$2"'()'34$5$678/$%03/"#9$
+,&!!(8$+98/0:*)=+)'%#!)("&+".)&!)/-("1),!-='-.)D-!D!#'%#),!-)')1-'"&)&!)#$DD!-&)#0*!!%)
(7D-!>+7+"&;)?*(#)=(%%)/+)!$&#(.+)&*+)L9B)'".)=(%%)/+),$".+.)/4)-+.(-+0&("1)-+#!$-0+#)
,-!7)&*+)M'&(!"'%)9&-'&+1(+#)'".)!&*+-)0+"&-'%)D-!1-'77+#C)#$0*)'#)&*+)M'&(!"'%)'".) (&4)
 *'%%+"1+)D-!1-'77+#;)N")%("+)=(&*)&*+)0!77(&7+"&)(")&*+)<*(&+)K'D+-C),!-)=+'F+-)
D+-,!-7+-#*$=+)D-!D!#+)&*'&$&*(#)1-'"&)#*!$%.)/+)%("F+.)&!)&*+)'1-++7+"&)!,)&*+)90*!!%)
N7D-!>+7+"&)K%'")/4)&*+)90*!!%)N7D-!>+7+"&)K'-&"+-)H9NKIC)-+D-+#+"&("1)&*+)%!0'%)
'$&*!-(&4;)?*+)L 96)(#)0$--+"&%4)0!".$0&("1)')#+D'-'&+)0!"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+#+)
'--'"1+7+"&#;)9D+0('%(#&)90*!!%#O),$".("1)=(%%)0!"&("$+)&!)/+)'%%!0'&+.)#+D'-'&+%4)!$&#(.+)
&*+)L9BC)'#)9NK#)=(%%)/+)-+#D!"#(/%+),!-)&'F("1).+0(#(!"#)'/!$&)#0*!!%#O)#D+0('%(#&)#&'&$#;

 "AB# ?*+)7'("#&-+'7("1)!,)1-'"&#)=(%%)-+#$%&)(")#!7+)7!>+7+"&)("),$".("1)'".)=(%%)-+P$(-+)
%!0'%)&-'"#(&(!"'%)'--'"1+7+"&#)&!)7'"'1+)&*+)(7D'0&)!")#0*!!%#O)/$.1+&#;)?*(#)=(%%)/+)
D'-&(0$%'-%4)&-$+)=*+-+)&*+)#0*!!%)*'#)/++")'%%!0'&+.)')#(1"(,(0'"&)'7!$"&)!,)#D+0(,(0)1-'"&)
D+-)D$D(%)(")0!7D'-(#!")&!)&*+)-+#&)!,)(&#)/$.1+&;)?*+-+,!-+)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)=(%%)"++.)&!)
7'"'1+)&*+)D-!0+##)#!)&*'&)&*+)%!0'%%4)'1-++.),!-7$%')0'")-$")=(&*!$&)D$&&("1)#0*!!%#)(")
.(,,(0$%&4;)?*(#)(#)%(F+%4)&!)-+P$(-+)&(1*&)&-'"#(&(!"'%)'--'"1+7+"&#)'&)%+'#&)(")&*+),(-#&)4+'-;)
?*+)@("(7$7)6$".("1)B$'-'"&++)=!$%.)'DD%4)&!)')/'#+)&*'&)("0%$.+#)/!&*),$".("1)
&*-!$1*)&*+)L9B)'".)1-'"&#)&*'&)'-+)&!)/+)7'("#&-+'7+.;)<+)0!"#(.+-)&*(#)'DD-!'0*)(#)
D-+,+-'/%+)&!)#+D'-'&+)&-'"#(&(!"'%)'--'"1+7+"&#),!-)&*!#+)1-'"&#;)<+)=(%%)&'F+)&*(#)
!DD!-&$"(&4)&!)#++)(,)&*+)!D+-'&(!")!,)&*+)@("(7$7)6$".("1)B$'-'"&++)0'")/+)(7D-!>+.;)
@!-+).+&'(%)!")&*+)!D+-'&(!")!,)&-'"#(&(!"'%)'--'"1+7+"&#)(#)#+&)!$&)(") *'D&+-)Q;

>/.-7/-.'#12#/$'#21.5-*0

 "A # <+)'-+)0%+'-)&*'&)&*+)+%+7+"&#)!,)&*+),!-7$%')=(%%)/+R

0"# 9#40,)7#'+/)/*'5'+/):)'")'7!$"&)1(>+"),!-)+>+-4)D$D(%)-+1'-.%+##)!,)'"4)'..(&(!"'%)
"++.)'".S!-)0!#&8

68



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

"#$%&&'(')*+,$-&./+(')*+,$011&2$'*/,.&'*3$(4)21$+22)/'+(1&$5'(4$&167'8+(')*)2)&!)
-+0!1"(#+)&*'&)#!3+)0*(%.-+")"++.)1-+'&+-)#$44!-&5)6*(0*)#0*!!%#)'".)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)
"++.)&!)4'7),!-5)(")!-.+-)&!)*+%4)&*+3)'0*(+8+)&*+(-)4!&+"&('%9

/#$ 9'34$:)2($;.6',2)2)&!)-+0!1"(#+)&*'&)')#3'%%)"$3/+-)!,)4$4(%#)*'8+)#4+0(,(0)"++.#)6*(0*)
3+'")&*+7)0!#&)#(1"(,(0'"&%7)3!-+)&!)+.$0'&+)'".)#$44!-&)&*'")!&*+-)4$4(%#9

&#$<6+72'(=)2)&!)-+0!1"(#+)&*'&)(")-$-'%)'-+'#)&*+)#4'-#(&7)!,)&*+)4$4(%)4!4$%'&(!")3':+#)(&)
"+0+##'-7)&!)*'8+)#3'%%)4-(3'-7)#0*!!%#5)6*(0*)0!#&)3!-+)4+-)4$4(%9

1#$ %71+$:)2($%&>.2(?1*()2)&!)-+0!1"(#+)&*'&)&*+-+)'-+)*(1*+-)#'%'-(+#)'".)'##!0('&+.)
#&',,("1)0!#&#)(")0+-&'(")'-+'#;

 #!!$ <%%!0'&(!"#)6(%%)/+)0'%0$%'&+.)("),!$-)#+4'-'&+)/%!0:#;)=*+#+)6(%%)/+>

+#$ ?'-%7)@+'-#)#+&&("1#9

"#$A+0+4&(!")&!)@+'-)B9

/!&*)!,)6*(0*)6(%%)("0%$.+)+%+3+"&#)!,)C'#(0)?"&(&%+3+"&5)<..(&(!"'%)?.$0'&(!"'%)D++.#)'".)
E4'-#(&75)4%$#)&*+)<-+') !#&)<.F$#&3+"&;

/#$ @+'-)G)&!)HH9

6*(0*)6(%%)("0%$.+)+%+3+"&#)!,)C'#(0)?"&(&%+3+"&)'".)<..(&(!"'%)?.$0'&(!"'%)D++.#5)4%$#)&*+)
<-+') !#&)<.F$#&3+"&9)'".

&#$I(1*) !#&)J$4(%#9

6*(0*)6(%%)("0%$.+)&*+)I(1*) !#&)J$4(%)+%+3+"&)4%$#)&*+)<-+') !#&)<.F$#&3+"&;

<&)&*+)/+1(""("1)!,)&*+)#4+".("1)4+-(!.)6+)("&+".)&!)(##$+),(K+.)'""$'%)L$'-'"&++.)M"(&#)
!,)N$".("1)4+-)4$4(%),!-)+'0*)7+'-)!,)&*+)4+-(!.),!-)+'0*)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&7;)=*+-+)6(%%)/+)
L$'-'"&++.)M"(&#)!,)N$".("1),!-)+'0*)!,)&*+),!$-)/%!0:#;)=*(#)6(%%)'%%!6)3$%&(O7+'-)
/$.1+&("1)&!)0!"&("$+;

 #!@$ P+)*'8+)0!"#(.+-+.)+8(.+"0+5)("0%$.("1)&*+)-+#+'-0*)0!33(##(!"+.),-!3)J6 5)&!).+8+%!4)
!4&(!"#)(")+'0*)!,)&*+#+),!-3$%')+%+3+"&#;)=*+).+8+%!43+"&)!,)&*+)3+&*!.!%!17)*'#)/++")
#$44!-&+.)/7)("4$&),-!3)')&+0*"(0'%)1-!$4)!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)+K4+-&#;

 #!A$ Q4&(!"#),!-)&*+#+),'0&!-#5)6*+-+)4-!4!#+.5)'-+)#+&)!$&)(")&*+),!%%!6("1)0*'4&+-#;

B2,12$)C$</',,=

 #!D$ =*+),!-3$%')6(%%)'44%7)&!)'%%)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)(")?"1%'".)6(&*)-+#4!"#(/(%(&7),!-)#0*!!%#5)
+K0+4&)&*+)R#%+#)!,)E0(%%7;)P*+-+)6+)("&+".)&!)0!"&("$+)&!)(##$+)')#+4'-'&+)1-'"&5)'#)'),!-3$%')
0'""!&)'44%7)3+'"("1,$%%7)&!)&*(#)#3'%%)'".)$"(S$+)'$&*!-(&7;

E.12(')*2

F)$=).$+3711$5'(4$(41$67'*/'6,12$51$+71$+66,='*3$()$(41$C)7?.,+G

F)$=).$+3711$5'(4$(41$67)6)2+,2$()$?+'*2(71+?$(41$37+*(2$261/'C'1&$'*()$F<HG

F)$=).$+3711$5'(4$(41$67)6)21&$1,1?1*(2$)C$(41$C)7?.,+G

69



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

Chapter 2 
The Basic Entitlement
Options for determining the basic unit of funding

"#$%&'()*+

,- . 2*+)/'#(0)+"&(&%+3+"&)(#)("&+".+.)&!)0!4+-)&*+)1+"+-'%)0!#&#)!,)-$""("1)#0*!!%#)'".)(#)
&*+-+,!-+)&*+),'0&!-)5*(0*)'%%!0'&+#)&*+)3!#&),$".("1)6)"!&(!"'%%7)8$#&)%+##)&*'")&*-++)
9$'-&+-#)!,)&*+)0$--+"&):;<)'%%!0'&(!"=)>&)0!4+-#)/'#+),$".("1)/+,!-+)'"7)'..(&(!"'%)
'3!$"&#),!-)?@AB)#+C'-'&+),$".("1),!-)*(1*)0!#&)C$C(%#B)#C'-#(&7),$".("1),!-)&*+)C-(3'-7)
#+0&!-)'".)&*+)'.8$#&3+"&#),!-)'-+')0!#&#)'-+)'..+.=)2*+-+)'-+)&5!)'CC-!'0*+#)&!)
0'%0$%'&("1)&*+)/'#(0)$"(&)!,),$".("1)C+-)C$C(%D

 l ?)8$.1+3+"&'%)'CC-!'0*)6)(")5*(0*)&*+),$".("1)(#)/'#+.)!")'")'##+##3+"&)'/!$&)*!5)
/+#&)&!).(4(.+)$C)&*+)!4+-'%%)#$3)C%'""+.)/7)&*+)<!4+-"3+"&)("&!)(&#)3'("),!-3$%')
0!3C!"+"&#=)?")'3!$"&)C+-)C$C(%)(#).+-(4+.)&!)0!4+-)+'0*)!,)/'#(0),$".("1B)?@AB)*(1*)
0!#&)C$C(%#B)#C'-#(&7)'".)'-+')0!#&#E)!-

 l ?)/!&&!3F$C)'CC-!'0*)6)(")5*(0*)&*+),$".("1)(#)/'#+.)!")'")'##+##3+"&)!,)*!5)3$0*)
')#0*!!%)"++.#)&!)#C+".)&!)C-!4(.+)+.$0'&(!"),!-)C$C(%#)/+,!-+)'"7)'.8$#&3+"&#)'-+)
3'.+=)2*(#)(#)G"!5")'#)'0&(4(&7F%+.),$".("1)H?IJK=)>&)5!$%.)("4!%4+)(.+"&(,7("1)')%(#&)!,)
0!-+)'0&(4(&(+#)&*'&)#0*!!%#)$".+-&'G+)H+=1=)&+'0*("1B)3'"'1+3+"&K)'".)&-7("1)&!)0!#&)
&*+3B)&'G("1)'00!$"&)!,)#$0*),'0&!-#)'#)&*+(-),-+9$+"07)'".)&(3+=)2*+)'(3)5!$%.)/+)&!)
.+#0-(/+)5*'&)&*+)#$3#)'4'(%'/%+)5!$%.)/$7=)2*(#)'CC-!'0*)5!$%.)'%#!)-+9$(-+)')
.+1-++)!,)8$.1+3+"&=

/'012()3.4('%.(*.#$521256780+.9)*+2*&

,-,. ?#)C'-&)!,)(&#)5!-G)&!).+4+%!C)'),!-3$%'),!-)LMMNFMO)&*+)@.$0'&(!")J$".("1);&-'&+17)
<-!$C)H@J;<K)0!"#(.+-+.)&*+)+PC+-(+"0+)!,)&*!#+)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)5*(0*)5+-+)$#("1)'")
'0&(4(&7F%+.)'CC-!'0*)&!)-+#!$-0+)'%%!0'&(!"=)2*+)C$-C!#+)5'#)&!)$".+-#&'".)3!-+)0%+'-%7)
&*+)&7C+#)!,)'0&(4(&(+#)0'--(+.)!$&)/7)#0*!!%#)'".)&*+(-)'##!0('&+.)0!#&#B)(")!-.+-)&!)#++)
5*'&)+%+3+"&#)0!$%.)/+)'CC%(+.)'#)C'-&)!,)')"'&(!"'%),!-3$%'=)2*+)<-!$C)(.+"&(,(+.)#(P)
0!3C!"+"&#)'".)0!#&).-(4+-#),!-).+&+-3("("1)&*+)/'#(0)+"&(&%+3+"&D)&+'0*("1B)
3'"'1+3+"&B)#$CC!-&)#&',,B)>",!-3'&(!")'".) !33$"(0'&(!"#)2+0*"!%!17)H> 2KB)C-+3(#+#)
3'("&+"'"0+)'".)!&*+-)"!"F#&',,("1)0!#&#=)2*+)<-!$C)-+0!1"(#+.)&*'&)&*(#)'CC-!'0*)5'#)
C!&+"&('%%7)4+-7)0!3C%+P)'".)-+9$(-+.)+PC%(0(&)'##$3C&(!"#)'".).+0(#(!"#)!")')5*!%+)
-'"1+)!,)(##$+#)#$0*)'#)0%'##)#(Q+#)/7)G+7)#&'1+B)"!"F0!"&'0&)&(3+),!-)&+'0*+-#B)"$3/+-#)!,)
"!"F&+'0*("1)'".)#$CC!-&)#&',,)'".)C-+3(#+#)0!#&#=)2*+#+)'-+),'0&!-#)!")5*(0*)
*+'.&+'0*+-#).+0(.+)'".)5*(0*)5(%%)4'-7)/+&5++")#0*!!%#=)2*+)C-!0+##)5!$%.)*'4+)
("4!%4+.).+-(4("1)')"'&(!"'%)'4+-'1+)C+-FC$C(%),(1$-+),!-)+'0*)!,)&*+)#$/F/%!0G#)/7)
/$(%.("1)$C)')#+&)!,)'##$3C&(!"#)'-!$".)&*+)#(P)0!3C!"+"&#B)(")#!3+)0'#+#)/7)3'G("1)
.(,,+-+"&)'##$3C&(!"#),!-)+'0*)G+7)#&'1+=

70



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

"#$% 2!-3)4'#)"!&)#$,,(0(+"&%5).+6+%!7+.)!")&*+)89:);!.+%),!-)(&)&!)/+)("0%$.+.)(")&*+)<==>?
=@),!-;$%')'".)&*+)'77-!'0*)$#+.)$7)&!)<==A?=B)$#+.)&*+)C$.1+;+"&'%)'77-!'0*)
!$&%("+.)'/!6+D)E*+)4!-3)!,)&*+)7-+6(!$#)-+6(+4)*'#)*!4+6+-)7-!6(.+.)')$#+,$%)#&'-&("1)
7!("&),!-)&*+)0!"#(.+-'&(!")!,)'")89:)'77-!'0*)'#)7'-&)!,)&*(#)-+6(+4D

&'(%)*+,-%./0,01(2(/0%,/%0'(%/(3%456271*

8-0,9,0:;1(<%47/<,/=%*>>65*-'

"#!% 2+)0!;;(##(!"+.)F4 )&!).+&+-;("+)&*+),+'#(/(%(&5)!,)'")'0&(6(&5?%+.)'77-!'0*)'".)&*+)
!7&(!"#),!-).!("1)#!D)2+),$-&*+-)0!;;(##(!"+.)GHI J)&!).+6+%!7)')4!-3("1);!.+%),!-)
7!&+"&('%)$#+)(")&*+)KGL)'%%!0'&(!")7-!0+##D)E*+)89:)'77-!'0*)*'#)&*+)7!&+"&('%)
'.6'"&'1+)!,);'3("1)(&)0%+'-+-)&!)&*!#+)#+&&("1)/$.1+&#)4*'&)&*+)-+#!$-0+#)'6'(%'/%+)
4!$%.)/$5D)E*+-+)'-+M)*!4+6+-M)#(1"(,(0'"&)0*'%%+"1+#)(").+6+%!7("1)'".)!7+-'&("1)')
#$00+##,$%);!.+%D

"#?% E*+),(-#&)(#)&*+)0!;7%+N(&5)!,)&*+)7-!0+##)4*(0*M)+6+")'&)(&#);!#&)/'#(0)%+6+%M)-+%(+#)!")
&*+-+)/+("1)')#$/#&'"&('%)';!$"&)!,).+&'(%+.)'".)'00$-'&+).'&')'6'(%'/%+D)2*+-+)&*+-+)'-+)
.'&')1'7#M)'##$;7&(!"#)4(%%)"++.)&!)/+);'.+)/'#+.)+(&*+-)!");!.+%)&*+!-5)!-)/5)
'77%5("1)+N7+-(+"0+)!,)*!4)#$0*);!.+%#)!7+-'&+)(")!&*+-)'-+'#)#$0*)'#)(")%!0'%)
'$&*!-(&(+#D)E*+-+)(#)')#(1"(,(0'"&)';!$"&)!,)"'&(!"'%).'&')'6'(%'/%+)("0%$.("1),("'"0('%)
-+&$-"#M)#0*!!%)0+"#$#+#)'".)&*+)&+'0*+-)4!-3%!'.)#$-6+5)'".)4+);'.+)&*+#+)'6'(%'/%+)&!)
GHI JD)O!4+6+-M).$-("1)GHI JP#)'"'%5#(#)&*+5)+"0!$"&+-+.)&*+),!%%!4("1)(##$+#Q

 l 8")+6(.+"0+)1'7)'-!$".)&*+)H'-%5)R+'-#)#+&&("1#M)(")7'-&(0$%'-)-+1'-.("1)F-(6'&+M)
S!%$"&'-5)'".)T".+7+".+"&)7-!6(.+-#)UFST#VD)T")'..(&(!"M)&*+).(,,+-+"0+)(")&*+)
1+!1-'7*(0'%).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)"$-#+-5)#0*!!%#M)4*(0*)&57(0'%%5)'&&-'0&)')*(1*+-)%+6+%)!,)
,$".("1)&*'")FST#)'".)"$-#+-5)0%'##+#M)7-!6(.+#)'),$-&*+-)0!;7%(0'&(!"W

 l 2*+-+)-+#!$-0+#)!-)#&',,)'-+)$#+.),!-)/!&*)"!"?8HX)'".)8HX)7$7(%#M),!-)+N';7%+)
&+'0*("1)'##(#&'"&#M)&*+-+)(#)').(,,(0$%&5)(").+&+-;("("1)&*+)7-!7!-&(!"#)&!)'%%!0'&+)&!)
&*+)(".(6(.$'%)/'#(0)+"&(&%+;+"&)'".)8..(&(!"'%)H.$0'&(!")X++.#)/%!03#W)'".

 l Y+("1)'/%+)&!)-+,%+0&)'77-!7-('&+%5)&*+)'..(&(!"'%)0!#&#)!,)#7'-#(&5M)4*(0*)4!$%.)/+)
#+7'-'&+%5)(.+"&(,(+.)(")&*+)KGL),!-;$%'M)'#)&*+#+)0!#&#);'5)/+)("0%$.+.)(");'"5)
.(,,+-+"&)#+0&(!"#)(")&*+),("'"0('%)-+&$-"#D

"#@% E*+-+)(#)&*+),$-&*+-)(##$+)&*'&M)4*(%+)&*+)GHI J);!.+%)'%%!4#),!-)+N7%!-'&(!")!,)&*+)
,$".("1)7'##+.)&!)#0*!!%#M)(&).!+#)"!&)0!"#(.+-)&*+)0+"&-'%%5)-+&'("+.)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&5)
'0&(6(&(+#)4*(0*)4!$%.)*'6+)&!)/+)0!"#(.+-+.)#+7'-'&+%5D

A(9(15>2(/0%54%0'(%8BC%25<(1

"#D% E*+),+'#(/(%(&5)!,)'")89:)/'#(0)+"&(&%+;+"&).+7+".#)!")3+5)'##$;7&(!"#)'-!$".)&*+)'-+'#)
!,)&57(0'%)#&',,("1)-'&(!#M)#&',,)#'%'-(+#M)7-!7!-&(!"#)!,)&(;+).+6!&+.)&!)7'-&(0$%'-)'0&(6(&(+#)
'".)*!4)&*+),$".("1)4(&*(")&*+)/'#(0)+"&(&%+;+"&)%("3#)4(&*)&*+),$".("1)#&-+';#),!-)8HX)
'".)O FD)G!;+)7'-&(0$%'-)(##$+#)&!)/+)0!"#(.+-+.)'-+Q

71



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

 !"#$%&"#%'#(!"#)*+*,")"+(#("*)#-+#./!%%&.

"#$% 2!)/+)'/%+)&!)0!"#(.+-)'33-!3-('&+%4)*!5)6$0*)&+'0*("1)-+#!$-0+)&*+-+)(#)(")+'0*)#0*!!%)
(&)(#)"+0+##'-4)&!)$".+-#&'".)&*+)-!%+)!,)7'-(!$#)6'"'1+6+"&)1-'.+#8)2!).+7+%!3)&*+)
6!.+%)&*+-+,!-+)5+)5!$%.)"++.)&!)9"!5:

 l *!5)6'"4).+3$&4)'".)'##(#&'"&)*+'.#)5!$%.)/+)(")3!#&);3+-)<=>>>)3$3(%#)(")+'0*)!,)
&*+)3-(6'-4)'".)#+0!".'-4)3*'#+#?)'".)*!5)6$0*)!,)&*+(-)&(6+)5!$%.)/+)#3+"&)!")
0%'##-!!6)&+'0*("1)'0&(7(&(+#@

 l *!5)6$0*)!,)&*+(-)&(6+)5!$%.)/+)#3+"&)!")&*+)'.6("(#&-'&(!")'".)#3+0(,(0)&+'0*("1)
#$33!-&),!-)&*!#+)3$3(%#)5*!)*'7+)'..(&(!"'%)+.$0'&(!"'%)"++.#@

 l *!5)6'"4)*+'.#)!,).+3'-&6+"&#)5!$%.)/+)(")3!#&);3+-)<=>>>)3$3(%#)(")#+0!".'-4)
#0*!!%#?)'".)*!5)6$0*)!,)&*+(-)&(6+)5!$%.)/+)#3+"&)!")0%'##-!!6)&+'0*("1)'0&(7(&(+#@)
'".

 l *!5)6$0*)!,)&*+(-)&(6+)5!$%.)/+)#3+"&)!")&*+)'.6("(#&-'&(!")'".)#3+0(,(0)&+'0*("1)
#$33!-&),!-)&*!#+)3$3(%#)5*!)*'7+)'..(&(!"'%)+.$0'&(!"'%)"++.#8

 "*/!-+,#*..-.(*+(.#+%(#*..-,+"0#(%#1234256#7!%#*$"#+%(#2(!+-/#8-+%$-(9#1:;;%$(#5..-.(*+(.

"#&% A!#&)#&',,)0%'##(,(+.)'#)BCDECFG)&+'0*("1)'##(#&'"&#)'".)C&*"(0)A("!-(&4)B$33!-&)F##(#&'"&#)
5(%%)/+)("7!%7+.)(")'..(&(!"'%)+.$0'&(!"'%)"++.#)'0&(7(&(+#)-'&*+-)&*'")(")6++&("1)6!-+)
1+"+-'%)%+'-"("1)"++.#8)2*+)#(&$'&(!")(#)*!5+7+-)%+##)0%+'-),!-)!&*+-)&+'0*("1)'##(#&'"&#)
'".)(&)5(%%)7'-4)/+&5++")#0*!!%#)'".)5(&*(")0%'##+#8)H!-)&*+)6!.+%)5+)5!$%.)"++.)&!)
9"!5:

 l *!5)6'"4)1+"+-'%)&+'0*("1)'##(#&'"&#)'-+)(")3!#&)'".)*!5)6$0*)!,)&*+(-)&(6+)5!$%.)
/+)!")'0&(7(&(+#)'##!0('&+.)5(&*)'..(&(!"'%)+.$0'&(!"'%)"++.#);3+-)<=>>>)3$3(%#)(")+'0*)
!,)3-(6'-4)'".)#+0!".'-4)3*'#+#?

 !"#:."#%'#%(!"$#+%+<("*/!-+,#.(*''#-+#./!%%&.

"# '% 2*+)/'#(0)+"&(&%+6+"&)0!7+-#)"!"I&+'0*("1)5!-9)'".)!&*+-)"!"I&+'0*("1)#&',,8)H!-)#0*!!%#)
!,).(,,+-+"&)#(J+#)&*+)#&-$0&$-+)!,)&*+)!-1'"(#'&(!")5(%%)/+).(,,+-+"&=)'%%!5("1)&*+)#3%(&)
/+&5++")/'#(0)+"&(&%+6+"&)'".)&*+)+K&-')5!-9%!'.)'##!0('&+.)5(&*)&*+)'.6("(#&-'&(!")!,)
'..(&(!"'%)+.$0'&(!"'%)"++.#)&!)/+)6!-+)+'#(%4).+,("+.)(")#!6+)#0*!!%#)&*'")!&*+-#8)
L(,,+-+"0+#)6'4)'%#!)+K(#&)/+&5++")3*'#+#=)'..("1),$-&*+-)0!63%(0'&(!"8)H!-)&*+)6!.+%)
5+)5!$%.)"++.)&!)9"!5:

 l *!5)6'"4)/$-#'-#=)#+0-+&'-(+#=)!&*+-)'.6("(#&-'&(!")'".)0%+-(0'%)#&',,=)6(..'4)
#$3+-7(#!-4)'##(#&'"&#)'".)!&*+-)#&',,)5*!)'-+)"+(&*+-)&+'0*+-#)"!-)&+'0*("1)'##(#&'"&#)
;2F?)5!$%.)/+)(")3!#&);3+-)<=>>>)3$3(%#)(")+'0*)!,)3-(6'-4)'".)#+0!".'-4)3*'#+#?@)'".

 l *!5)6$0*)!,)&*+(-)&(6+)5!$%.)/+)!")'0&(7(&(+#)'##!0('&+.)5(&*)'..(&(!"'%)+.$0'&(!"'%)
"++.#8

3%+<;*9#/%.(.

"#  % F")FGH)6!.+%),!-)&*+)/'#(0)+"&(&%+6+"&)6$#&)'%#!)0!"#(.+-)&*+)"!"I#&',,)0!#&#)&*'&)#0*!!%)
("0$-)#$0*)'#)+"+-14)/(%%#)'".)6'("&+"'"0+)0!#&#8)M")')3+-I3$3(%)/'#(#)&*+#+)"!"I#&',,)

72



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

0!#&#)'-+),!$".)&!)2'-3)'0-!##)&*+)0!$"&-34)567%'"'&(!"#),!-)&*(#)2'-('&(!")8'3)("0%$.+)
+0!"!8(+#)!,)#0'%+9)&*+)'1+)!,)#0*!!%)/$(%.("1#)!-).(,,+-+"0+#)/+&:++")#0*!!%#)(")&*+)
$&(%(&3).+'%#)#+0$-+.4);")7'-&(0$%'-9)7-(8'-3)#0*!!%#):(&*)8!-+)&*'")<==)7$7(%#)'".)
#+0!".'-3)#0*!!%#):(&*)')#(6&*),!-8)#7+".)0!"#(.+-'/%3)%+##)7+-)7$7(%)!")"!">7'3)0!#&#4

"# "$ ?#):(&*)#&',,)0!#&#9)0!"#(.+-'&(!")*'#)&!)/+)1(2+")&!)'..(&(!"'%)+.$0'&(!"'%)"++.#)
-+@$(-+8+"&#4)A0*!!%#):(&*)')*(1*+-)7+-0+"&'1+)!,)7$7(%#)+%(1(/%+),!-),-++)#0*!!%)8+'%#9)
')7-!63)(".(0'&!-),!-)7$7(%#):(&*)'..(&(!"'%)+.$0'&(!"'%)"++.#9)'-+),!$".)&!)*'2+)')*(1*+-)
#7+".)'".)')1-+'&+-)2'-('&(!")(")#7+".)7+-)7$7(%)!")7-+8(#+#)0!#&#4)B*(#)(#)&-$+),!-)/!&*)
7-(8'-3)'".)#+0!".'-3)7*'#+#4)B*+-+,!-+)')7-!7!-&(!")!,)&*+)7-+8(#+#)0!#&#)#*!$%.)/+)
.++8+.)&!)/+)'##!0('&+.):(&*)'..(&(!"'%)+.$0'&(!"'%)"++.#)4)C(,,(0$%&(+#)!00$-)(")
.+&+-8("("1)&*+)'77-!7-('&+)8+0*'"(#8),!-).!("1)&*(#)1(2+")&*+):(.+)2'-('&(!")!/#+-2+.4

 !"#$%&"#'!#(()((*)"$

"# %$ ;")!-.+-)&!)0'%0$%'&+)'%%)!,)&*+#+)0!#&#9):+):!$%.)"++.)&!)8'D+)'##$87&(!"#)&*'&)-+,%+0&)')
"'&(!"'%)'2+-'1+)7!#(&(!"),!-)&*+)#3#&+8)'#)'):*!%+4)A0*!!%#)2'-3)*$1+%3).$+)&!)2'-('&(!"#)
(")#(E+9)(")7$7(%)0*'-'0&+-(#&(0#9)'".)(")&*+):'3)&*+3)'-+),$".+.)&*-!$1*)%!0'%),!-8$%'+4)
B*(#)"'&(!"'%)7!#(&(!"):(%%)&*+-+,!-+)"!&)"+0+##'-(%3)-+,%+0&)'%%)%!0'%)0(-0$8#&'"0+#4)?%#!9)
:*(%#&)&*+)7$-7!#+)!,)&*+)?FG)'77-!'0*)(#)"!&)&!)#7+0(,3):*'&)'%%)#0*!!%#)#*!$%.)/+)
#7+".("1)!")0+-&'(")/$.1+&)'-+'#9)(&)0!$%.)/+)2(+:+.)'#)#$0*4)A0*!!%#)8(1*&),++%)$".+-)
7-+##$-+)&!)&-3)&!)8'&0*)&*+#+)"'&(!"'%)'##$87&(!"#9)%+'.("1)&!)("'77-!7-('&+)/$.1+&("1)
'".)'")$"*+%7,$%)'##$87&(!")(")&*+)#3#&+8)&*'&)&*+)H!2+-"8+"&)(#)'&&+87&("1)&!)
7-+#0-(/+)*!:)+2+-3)#0*!!%)#*!$%.)/+)-$"4

"# &$ I+-+):+)&!)'.!7&)'")?FG)'77-!'0*9):+):!$%.)"++.)&!)8'D+)(&)+6&-+8+%3)0%+'-)&!)%!0'%)
'$&*!-(&(+#)'".)#0*!!%#)&*'&)&*+)'##$87&(!"#)'".)0'%0$%'&(!"#)$#+.)(")&*+)8!.+%)'-+)"!&)
'")(".(0'&(!")!,):*'&):+)&*("D)#*!$%.)/+)#7+"&)(")#0*!!%#4)B*+#+).+0(#(!"#)8$#&)/+)8'.+)
%!0'%%34

 !+,-.)*)"$#'!#//0&#12!$&!-)0%3%".!$2)!4#(%1!)"$%$')*)"$!%"!$2)!")5!6&0*,'#

"# '$ B*+)'%&+-"'&(2+)&!)'")?FG)8+&*!.!%!13),!-)&*+)/'#(0)+"&(&%+8+"&)(#)&!).+&+-8("+)'")
'8!$"&)',&+-)8'D("1)')J$.1+8+"&)'/!$&)*!:)/+#&)&!).(2(.+)$7)&*+)!2+-'%%)#$8)7%'""+.)
/3)&*+)H!2+-"8+"&)("&!)(&#)8'("),!-8$%')0!87!"+"&#4);&)#&'-&#)/3)0!"#(.+-("1)&*+)
,$".("1)&!)/+)'%%!0'&+.),!-)+'0*)!,)&*+),!-8$%'),'0&!-#)!,)/'#(0)+"&(&%+8+"&9)?5K9)L M9)
#7'-#(&3)'".)&*+)'##!0('&+.)'-+')0!#&)'.J$#&8+"&)&*'&)'77%(+#)&!)+'0*)!,)&*+84

"# !$ ?")'8!$"&)7+-)7$7(%)(#).+-(2+.),!-)+'0*)!,)&*+),!-8$%')0!87!"+"&#)'".):+)"++.)&!)
-+'0*)')2(+:9):*(0*)("2!%2+#)'")+%+8+"&)!,)J$.1+8+"&9)'#)&!)&*+)/'%'"0+)/+&:++")&*+84

"# ($ B*(#)'77-!'0*):!$%.)-+@$(-+),+:+-)'##$87&(!"#)&!)/+)8'.+)'/!$&)&*+).+&'(%)!,)&*+)
'77-!'0*4)?#):+)D"!:)&*'&)&*+)7*'#+#)'-+),$".+.).(,,+-+"&%39):+)"++.)&!)-+,%+0&)&*!#+)
.(,,+-+"0+#)(")&*+)/'#(0)+"&(&%+8+"&4);")!-.+-)&!).!)#!):+):!$%.)$#+)+2(.+"0+),-!8)&*+)
#+0&(!")NOP)!$&&$-")#&'&+8+"&)Q,!-8+-%3)#+0&(!")ONR)&!).+-(2+)&*+)-+%'&(2+):+(1*&#)
/+&:++")&*+)7*'#+#4

73



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

"# $% 2!3+)(##$+#)&!)0!"#(.+-)&*+-+,!-+)'-+4

 l '0&(5(&67%+.),$".("1)*'#)&*+)8!&+"&('%)'.5'"&'1+)!,)3'9("1)(&)0%+'-+-)&!)&*!#+)#+&&("1)
/$.1+&#):*'&)&*+)-+#!$-0+#)'5'(%'/%+):!$%.),$".;)<*(#)0!$%.)*+%8)&*!#+)3'9("1)
,$".("1).+0(#(!"#)&!)=$.1+)/+&:++")0!38+&("1)8-(!-(&(+#)'".)(38-!5+)5'%$+),!-)
3!"+6;

 l (&)(#)*!:+5+-)')0!38%+>)8-!0+##):*(0*?)&!)3'9+)(&):!-9'/%+)'".)'00+8&'/%+?)-+%(+#)!")
&*+-+)/+("1).+&'(%+.)'".)'00$-'&+).'&')'5'(%'/%+;

 l (&)'%#!)-+%(+#)!")#!3+)'##$38&(!"#)#$0*)'#)!")&*+)#8%(&)/+&:++")&*+)@AB)'".)/'#(0)
+"&(&%+3+"&)0!38!"+"&#)&*'&):!$%.)*'5+)')#(1"(,(0'"&)(38'0&)!")&*+),$".("1)
'%%!0'&(!";

 l (&)0!$%.)'88+'-)8-+#0-(8&(5+)'/!$&)*!:)#0*!!%#)#*!$%.)/+)!8+-'&("1?)(38%6("1)'")
!8&(3$3)8'&&+-")!,)'0&(5(&6):*(0*)#0*!!%#)#*!$%.)/+),!%%!:("1;

 l &*+)@CD)'88-!'0*)0!$%.)%+'.)&!)("#$,,(0(+"&),$".("1)/+("1)'%%!0'&+.),!-)'..(&(!"'%)
+.$0'&(!"'%)"++.#?)(,)&*+)0!#&#)'##!0('&+.):(&*)&*!#+)"++.#)'-+)"!&)'88-!8-('&+%6)
0'%0$%'&+.)'".)-+3!5+.?)-+#$%&("1)(")&*+)/'#(0)+"&(&%+3+"&)/+("1)&!!)*(1*;

 l &*+)'%&+-"'&(5+)E=$.1+3+"&'%F)'88-!'0*)(#)3$0*)#(38%+-)(")0!"#&-$0&(!")'".)-+G$(-+#)
,+:+-)'##$38&(!"#;)H&).!+#)"!&).+#0-(/+)')8'&&+-")!,)#8+".("1)!-):*'&)&*+),$".("1)
:!$%.)8'6),!-)#!):!$%.)"!&)!,,+-)'#)0%+'-)').+#0-(8&(!")!,):*'&)+%+3+"&#)!,)'0&(5(&6)&*+)
/'#(0)+"&(&%+3+"&)(#)0!5+-("1;)H&):!$%.)*!:+5+-)-+8-+#+"&)&*+)8'&&+-")!,)*(#&!-(0)
,$".("1)/+&:++")&*+)8*'#+#;

&'()*+,-.

/0+10%2(*0,3,4,56%7,8%1941'49*+-5%*0(%:9)+1%(-*+*4(2(-*%3,%6,'%1,-)+3(8%;,'43%(-9:4(%
*0(%79+8()*%9-3%2,)*%<891*+194%3+)*8+:'*+,-%,7%7'-3+-5=

74



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

Chapter 3 
Additional Educational Needs
Distributing additional funding for pupils with additional 
educational needs

"#$%&'()*+

,- . 2"+)!,)&*+)'(3#)!,)&*+)-+4(+5)(#)&!)6-!.$0+)'),$".("1)#7#&+3)&*'&)#$66!-&#)#0*!!%#)'".)
%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)&!)-'(#+)&*+)+.$0'&(!"'%)'0*(+4+3+"&)!,)'%%)0*(%.-+")'".)7!$"1)6+!6%+8)
 +"&-'%)&!)&*(#)(#)&*+)'(3)&!)"'--!5)&*+)1'6)(")+.$0'&(!"'%)'0*(+4+3+"&)/+&5++")'%%)
0*(%.-+")'".)&*!#+),-!3)%!5)("0!3+)'".).(#'.4'"&'1+.)/'091-!$".#8) *(%.-+"),-!3)
.+6-(4+.)/'091-!$".#)'-+)#&(%%)%+##)%(9+%7)&!)'0*(+4+)&*'")&*+(-)3!-+)'.4'"&'1+.)6++-#8)
:-!1-+##)*'#)/++")3'.+)(")"'--!5("1)&*+)1'6#)/+&5++").(,,+-+"&)1-!$6#;)5(&*)&*+)3!#&)
.+6-(4+.)#0*!!%#)'".)&*+)3!#&).+6-(4+.)'-+'#)3'9("1)&*+)3!#&)6-!1-+##8)<$&)&*+-+)(#)#&(%%)
3$0*)3!-+)&!).!8)=&&'("3+"&),(1$-+#),!-)>+7)?&'1+)@)#*!5)&*'&;),!-)@AAB;)CD8D)6+-)0+"&)!,)
6$6(%#)9"!5")&!)/+)+%(1(/%+),!-),-++)#0*!!%)3+'%#)EF?GH)'0*(+4+.)&*+)+I6+0&+.)%+4+%)(")
/!&*)J"1%(#*)'".)3'&*+3'&(0#K),!-)6$6(%#)5*!)5+-+)"!&)+%(1(/%+),!-)F?G)&*+),(1$-+)5'#)
LC8C)6+-)0+"&8)F!-)#+0!".'-7)6$6(%#;)CM8M)6+-)0+"&)!,)6$6(%#)"!&)+%(1(/%+),!-),-++)#0*!!%)
3+'%#)'0*(+4+.)C)!-)3!-+)=NO )1-'.+)P ?J#)!-)+Q$(4'%+"&;)("0%$.("1)J"1%(#*)'".)
3'&*+3'&(0#;)0!36'-+.)&!)@R8B)6+-)0+"&)!,)6$6(%#)9"!5")&!)/+)+%(1(/%+),!-),-++)#0*!!%)
3+'%#)S)'")'&&'("3+"&)1'6)!,)@L8C)6+-0+"&'1+)6!("&#8

,-/. T+)"++.)&!)*'4+)'),$".("1)#7#&+3)&*'&)-+,%+0&#)&*+)-!%+)!,)#0*!!%#)(")#$66!-&("1)'%%)
6$6(%#;)'".)+"'/%+#)#0*!!%#)&!)'%(1")-+#!$-0+#)&!)'1-++.)6-(!-(&(+#8)?(-)=%'")?&++-U#)-+4(+5)
!,)6$6(%)/+*'4(!$-)-+0!33+".+.)&*'&)5+)0!"#(.+-)*!5),$".("1)0'")#$66!-&)+'-%7)
("&+-4+"&(!")'".)+"0!$-'1+)&*+).+4+%!63+"&)!,)+'-%7)("&+-4+"&(!")#+-4(0+#8)V")'..(&(!";)
&*+)JI6+-&):'"+%)!")=##+##3+"&)-+0!33+".+.)&*'&)&*+)P!4+-"3+"&)0!"#(.+-#)*!5)
#0*!!%),$".("1)0!$%.)#$66!-&)&-'"#(&(!")'".)0'&0*)$6)(")7+'-#)L)'".)W8)?6+0(,(0).+0(#(!"#)
'/!$&)5*'&)#&-'&+1(+#)&!)+36%!7)&!)#$66!-&)6$6(%#)'-+)/+#&)&'9+")/7)#0*!!%#;)/$&)&*+)
,$".("1)#7#&+3)"++.#)&!)+"#$-+)&*+7)*'4+)'.+Q$'&+)-+#!$-0+#)&!).!)#!8):$6(%#),-!3)
.(#'.4'"&'1+.)/'091-!$".#)'-+)3!-+)%(9+%7)&!)"++.)#$66!-&)(")!-.+-)&!)-+'0*)&*+(-)
6!&+"&('%;)("0%$.("1).$-("1)&-'"#(&(!";)'".)'-+)3!-+)%(9+%7)&!)"++.)+'-%7)("&+-4+"&(!"8)
J"#$-("1)&*'&)&*+),!-3$%')1(4+#).$+)6-!3("+"0+)&!)-+,%+0&("1).(#'.4'"&'1+)(#)(36!-&'"&)
(,)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)'".)#0*!!%#)'-+)&!)/+&&+-)&'-1+&),$".("1)&!5'-.#)6-(!-(&(+#)%(9+)+'-%7)
("&+-4+"&(!")'".)&-'"#(&(!")#&-'&+1(+#8)X'-1+&("1).+6-(4'&(!")-+3'("#)')&!6)6-(!-(&7),!-)
G("(#&+-#8

,-,. ?!)(&)(#)0-$0('%)"!&)!"%7)&*'&)&*+-+)(#)'..(&(!"'%)3!"+7)'%%!0'&+.)"'&(!"'%%7),!-).+6-(4'&(!")
/$&)'%#!)&*'&)&*(#)(#)6'##+.)!")&!)'".)$#+.)/7)#0*!!%#)5(&*).+6-(4+.)0*(%.-+"8)=#)5'#)
3'.+)0%+'-)(")&*+)T*(&+):'6+- !"#$ %&'()* !"#$ +,&""(* -#$ .#/#$01 2#'()'34 5 678/ %03/#$9 
+,&""(8 +98/0:;)&*+)0$--+"&)%+4+%)!,),$".("1),!-).+6-(4'&(!")5(%%)/+)3'("&'("+.)("),$&$-+)
7+'-#8)X*+)P!4+-"3+"&)(#)0!33(&&+.)&!)("0-+'#("1).+6-(4'&(!"),$".("1),-!3)&*(#)%+4+%)

75



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

!2+-)&*+)"+3&)4'-%('5+"&)'".)'%#!)&!)+"#$-("1)&*'&)/6)&*+)+".)!,)&*+)"+3&)4'-%('5+"&7)
'&)&*+)%'&+#&7)'%%)!,)&*(#).+8-(2'&(!"),$".("1)(#)8'##+.)!")&!)#0*!!%#)9(&*).+8-(2+.)8$8(%#:)
;")!-.+-)&!)(58-!2+)&*+)&-'"#8'-+"06)'".)&'-1+&("1)!,).+8-(2'&(!"),$".("17)'%%)%!0'%)
'$&*!-(&(+#)9(%%)/+)-+<$(-+.)&!)!8+-'&+)')=!0'%)4$8(%)4-+5($5),-!5)>?@>A@B:)C*+")
'%%!0'&("1)DEF)&!)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#7)9+)9(%%)#+&)!$&)0%+'-%6)&*+)%+2+%)!,).+8-(2'&(!"),$".("1)
&*+6)-+0+(2+)$".+-)&*+),$".("1),!-5$%')&!)*+%8)&*+5).+%(2+-)&*(#)!/G+0&(2+:

"#$% H$&)(&)(#)"!&)G$#&).+8-(2+.)8$8(%#)&*'&)*'2+)'..(&(!"'%)+.$0'&(!"'%)"++.#:)I)#$-2+6)
0!".$0&+.)/6)49 )(.+"&(,(+.)')-'"1+)!,)'..(&(!"'%)+.$0'&(!"'%)"++.#)+38+-(+"0+.)/6)
')-'"1+)!,)8$8(%#),-!5)'%%)/'0J1-!$".#:)E!)(&)(#)(58!-&'"&)&*'&)&*+),$".("1),!-5$%')
-+0!1"(#+#)!&*+-)+.$0'&(!"'%)"++.#)'".)"!&)G$#&)&*!#+)'##!0('&+.)9(&*).+8-(2'&(!":)
K!-+).+&'(%)!,)&*+)49 )9!-J)(#)#+&)!$&)/+%!9:

&'(')*+,-.%/%-'0%1*234)/%1*2%45'%12*3%67  

"#8% D+&'(%#)!")*!9)&*+),!-5$%')$".+-8(""("1)&*+)0$--+"&),$".("1)'--'"1+5+"&#)!8+-'&+.)'-+)
#+&)!$&)(")I""+3)I:)L*+)8-+2(!$#),!-5$%')9*(0*)$".+-8("#)&*+)0$--+"&)E8+".)4%$#)
'--'"1+5+"&#)9'#)%'-1+%6)/'#+.)!")-+#+'-0*)$".+-&'J+")/6)49 )(")>??>:);")>??M)&*+)
D EN)0!55(##(!"+.)49 )&!)$8.'&+)&*(#)9!-J)&!)8-!2(.+).+&'(%#)!,)&*+)0!#&#)!,)'".)9'6#)
!,)5+'#$-("1)IOP)(")&*+),!-5$%'Q)9*+&*+-)&*+)("0(.+"0+)!,)IOP)*'#)0*'"1+.7)&*+)
.(,,+-+"&)&68+#)!,)"++.)/+("1)5'"'1+.)(")#0*!!%#)'".)0*'"1+#)(")&*+)0!#&)!,)5++&("1)
&*+#+)"++.#:

"#9% 49 )#$-2+6+.)!2+-)R7???)#0*!!%#)'".)$#+.)+2(.+"0+),-!5)&*+)MSM)#0*!!%#)&*'&)-+#8!".+.)
'#)8'-&)!,)(&#)-+#+'-0*)&!)(.+"&(,6)&*+).(,,+-+"&)&68+#)!,)'..(&(!"'%)"++.#)8$8(%#)*'2+)'".)
&*+)5+'#$-'/%+),'0&!-#)&*'&)0!--+%'&+)5!#&)#&-!"1%6)9(&*)&*!#+)"++.#:)L*(#)*'#)8-!2(.+.)
&*+)/'#(#),!-)&*+)!8&(!"#),!-).(#&-(/$&("1)&*(#)+%+5+"&)!,)&*+),!-5$%':)L*+)"++.#)
(.+"&(,(+.)'-+T

 l H+*'2(!$-'%7)O5!&(!"'%)'".)E!0('%);"&+-'0&(!")UHOE;V

 l W!5+)O"2(-!"5+"&)UWOV

 l  !1"(&(!")'".)=+'-"("1)U =V

 l  !55$"(0'&(!")'".);"&+-'0&(!")U ;V

 l E+"#!-6)'".)4*6#(0'%)UE4V

 l O"1%(#*)'#)'")I..(&(!"'%)='"1$'1+)UOI=V

 l X&*+-

"#:% L*+)'/!2+)"++.)&68+#)9+-+)!-(1("'%%6)/'#+.)!")0$--+"&)EOP)0'&+1!-(+#)!,)"++.)/$&)')
9(.+-).+,("(&(!")9'#)"++.+.)'#)"!&)'%%)8$8(%#)9(&*)IOP)*'2+)EOP:)L*+)0'&+1!-(+#)0*!#+")
-+,%+0&).(#0$##(!"#)9(&*)#&'J+*!%.+-#)!")&*+)"++.)&68+#)/+("1)+38+-(+"0+.)(")#0*!!%#:

&,5;2,<4;,*-%3';=*>*)*.?

"#@% X$-)8-!8!#+.)5+&*!.!%!16),!-).(#&-(/$&("1)IOP),$".("1)(#)&!)5'J+)'")'##+##5+"&)!,)&*+)
"'&(!"'%)("0(.+"0+)!,)'..(&(!"'%)+.$0'&(!"'%)"++.#)'".7)/+0'$#+)9+)*'2+)"!)9'6)!,)

76



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

2"!3("1)+4'0&%5)3*+-+)+'0*)6$6(%)3(&*)'..(&(!"'%)"++.#)(#)%!0'&+.7)&!)$#+)6-!45)
(".(0'&!-#)&!)'##+##)&*+)%(2+%5)("0(.+"0+)!,)&*+#+)"++.#)(")+'0*)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&58)9+)
6-!6!#+)&!).(#&-(/$&+),$".("1)$#("1)0'-+,$%%5)0*!#+")(".(0'&!-#)&*'&)'-+)'##!0('&+.)3(&*)
&*+)(".(:(.$'%)"++.)&56+#)(.+"&(,(+.)(")&*+)#$-:+58

"#$% ;*+)&!&'%),$".("1).(#&-(/$&+.)(")&*(#)3'5)3(%%)/+)+"!$1*)&!)0!:+-)3*'&)#0*!!%#)"'&(!"'%%5)
'-+)0$--+"&%5).+:!&("1)&!)<++&("1)'..(&(!"'%)+.$0'&(!"'%)"++.#)(")&*+)#5#&+<8)=")&!6)!,)
&*(#)&*+-+)3(%%)/+)'..(&(!"'%),$".#)3*(0*)3(%%)/+)&'-1+&+.)&!3'-.#).+6-(:'&(!"8

"#&!% ;*+)#$-:+5)&!%.)$#)&*'&7)+40%$.("1)6$6(%#)3(&*)*(1*)0!#&)"++.#7)'-!$".)>?8@)6+-)0+"&)!,)
6-(<'-5)'".)>A8?)6+-)0+"&)!,)#+0!".'-5)6$6(%#)*':+)BCD)E)-!$1*%5)F8GHH)<(%%(!")6$6(%#8)
;*+)#$-:+5).(.)"!&)("0%$.+)C'-%5)I+'-#)#+&&("1#)'".)&*+-+,!-+)(&)(#)'##$<+.)&*'&)&*+)
("0(.+"0+)!,)BCD)(")&*+#+)#+&&("1#)(#)&*+)#'<+)'#)(")&*+)J+0+6&(!")&!)I+'-)K)/%!028

"#&&% ;*+)#$-:+5).+-(:+.)&*+)#0*!!%)%+:+%)("0(.+"0+#)!,)BCD)/5)&56+),!-)6-(<'-5)'".)#+0!".'-5)
#0*!!%#8)L&)(#)(<6!-&'"&)&!)"!&+)&*'&)')6$6(%)<'5)*':+)<!-+)&*'")!"+)"++.8)M!-)'%%)6$6(%#)
3(&*)BCD7)&*+)/-+'2.!3")/5)"++.)&56+)(#)'#),!%%!3#N

'()*+%,-().%
/-00123.

4%05%,6 ,7%05%,&&

O+*':(!$-'%7)C<!&(!"'%)'".)P!0('%)
L"&+-'0&(!"

QR QR >FR

S!<+)C":(-!"<+"& T>R T>R >KR

 !1"(&(!")'".)U+'-"("1 >>R >>R >QR

 !<<$"(0'&(!")'".)L"&+-'0&(!" QR QR KR

P+"#!-5)'".)V*5#(0'% >R >R ?R

C"1%(#*)'#)'")B..(&(!"'%)U'"1$'1+ FGR FGR F>R

=&*+- >R >R ?R

;!&'%)W(1"!-("1)-!$".("1X FAAR FAAR FAAR

"#& % ;*+)"++.)&56+)("0(.+"0+#)&*'&)*':+)/++")0'%0$%'&+.)/5)V3 )'-+)'&)"'&(!"'%)%+:+%8);!)/+)
'/%+)&!).(#&-(/$&+),$".("1)&!)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)(&)(#)(<6!-&'"&)&!)&-'"#%'&+)&*+)"'&(!"'%)
("0(.+"0+)&!)')%!0'%)'$&*!-(&5)("0(.+"0+)!,)BCD8);*(#)&-'"#%'&(!")(#)6+-,!-<+.)/5)
0!"#(.+-("1)&*+),'0&!-#)&*'&)<'5)/+)#&-!"1%5)'##!0('&+.)'&)&*+)"'&(!"'%)%+:+%)3(&*)&*'&)
"++.)&56+7)#$0*)'#).+6-(:'&(!")!-)$".+-6+-,!-<'"0+7)'".)&*+")'%%!0'&("1),$".#)/'#+.)!")
+'0*)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&5Y#)6-!6!-&(!")!,)&*+)"'&(!"'%)&!&'%7),!-)+4'<6%+)+'0*)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&5Y#)
6-!6!-&(!")!,)&*+)"'&(!"'%)&!&'%)!,)6$6(%#)+%(1(/%+),!-)M-++)P0*!!%)Z+'%#)!-)6$6(%#)3(&*)
C"1%(#*)'#)'")B..(&(!"'%)U'"1$'1+8

"#&"% 9+)*':+)%("2+.)&*+)"!"[*(1*)0!#&)BCD)"++.)&56+#)(.+"&(,(+.)'/!:+)&!)3*'&)3+)0!"#(.+-)
&!)/+)&*+)<!#&)'66-!6-('&+).(#&-(/$&(!")(".(0'&!-8)M!-)+4'<6%+)CBU)(#)<+'#$-+.).(-+0&%5)
'".)3+)'-+)'/%+)&!)'##$<+)&*'&)&*+)("0(.+"0+)!,)"++.#)'##!0('&+.)3(&*)CBU)<'&0*)&*+)
("0(.+"0+)!,)CBU)(&#+%,8)M!-)!&*+-)"++.#)3+)*':+)'66%(+.),'0&!-#)3(&*)3*(0*)+:(.+"0+)
#$11+#&#7)!-)&*+).+,("(&(!")!,)&*+)"++.)&56+)(<6%(+#7)')0!--+%'&(!")3(&*)&*'&)"++.)&56+8

77



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

"#$ 2!-)3+*'4(!$-'%5)67!&(!"'%)'".)8!0('%)9"&+-'0&(!")"++.#):3689;)'".)<!7+)6"4(-!"7+"&)
:<6;)"++.#5)&*+)=> )#&$.?),!$".)')@!#(&(4+)-+%'&(!"#*(@)/+&>++")&*+)@-!@!-&(!")!,)
@$@(%#)+%(1(/%+),!-),-++)#0*!!%)7+'%#)'".)&*+)@-!@!-&(!")!,)@$@(%#)>(&*)/!&*)3689)'".)')
<6)"++.5)#$11+#&("1)')%("A)/+&>++")#$0*)"++.#)'".).+@-(4'&(!"B)C+)@-!@!#+)&*'&)'%%)
,$".("1),!-)&*+#+)+%+7+"&#)(#)'%%!0'&+.)$#("1)').+@-(4'&(!")7+'#$-+D

%#$ !1"(&(!")'".)E+'-"("1).(,,(0$%&(+#5)/?).+,("(&(!"5)>(%%)7'"(,+#&)&*+7#+%4+#)(")1-!$@#)
>(&*)#%!>+-)@-!1-+##)'".)$%&(7'&+%?)%!>+-)'&&'("7+"&B)C+)&*+-+,!-+)@-!@!#+)'%%!0'&("1)
,$".("1)/?)-+,+-+"0+)&!)$".+-@+-,!-7("1)1-!$@#B)F!-+).+&'(%)!")&*+).+,("(&(!")!,)
&*+#+)1-!$@#)(#)@-!4(.+.)%'&+-)(")&*(#) *'@&+-D

&#$ G*+)("0(.+"0+)!,)6"1%(#*)'#)'")H..(&(!"'%)E'"1$'1+)(#)7+'#$-+.).(-+0&%?5)'".)>+)
'##$7+)&*'&)&*+)("0(.+"0+)!,)'"?)'##!0('&+.)"++.)(#)0!--+%'&+.B

'#$G*+)!&*+-)&?@+#)!,)"++.)'-+)0!"#(.+-+.)&!)/+)7!-+)-'".!7%?)!00$--("1)'".)>+)
&*+-+,!-+)@-!@!#+)&*'&)&*+)7!-+)0!7@%+I)"++.#)!,) !77$"(0'&(!")'".)9"&+-'0&(!")
'".)8+"#!-?)'".)=*?#(0'%)#*!$%.)/+)'%%!0'&+.)$#("1)'),%'&)@$@(%)-'&+)'0-!##)'%%)
'$&*!-(&(+#B)C+)@-!@!#+)&!).!)&*+)#'7+),!-)&*+)JK&*+-L)1-!$@)'#)&*+-+)(#)"!)-+'#!")&!)
'%%!0'&+)&*(#).(,,+-+"&%?B

(#!)$ G*+)&!&'%)!4+-'%%)("0(.+"0+)!,)+'0*)"++.)&?@+)(#)&*+)@-!.$0&)!,)&*+)("0(.+"0+)!,)+'0*)"++.)
&?@+)(")+'0*)@*'#+)'".)&*+)"$7/+-)!,)@$@(%#)(")+'0*)@*'#+B

*+,$-./0 123452%64278$98'2&"475 :05&084";0$
7<$"==$*+,>

3+*'4(!$-'%5)67!&(!"'%)'".)8!0('%)
9"&+-'0&(!"

M+@-(4'&(!" NOBOP

<!7+)6"4(-!"7+"& M+@-(4'&(!" OQBRP

 !1"(&(!")'".)E+'-"("1 S".+-@+-,!-7("1)T-!$@# RUBQP

 !77$"(0'&(!")'".)9"&+-'0&(!" 2%'&)V'&+)=+-)=$@(% WBXP

8+"#!-?)'".)=*?#(0'% 2%'&)V'&+)=+-)=$@(% RBRP

6"1%(#*)'#)'")H..(&(!"'%)E'"1$'1+ 6"1%(#*)'#)'")H..(&(!"'%)E'"1$'1+ NOBYP

K&*+- 2%'&)V'&+)=+-)=$@(% RBRP

Z)&*+)@+-0+"&'1+#).!)"!&)'..)$@)&!)N[[P).$+)&!)-!$".("1

(#!?$ G*+)'/!4+).(#&-(/$&(!")7+0*'"(#7#)-+#$%&)(")UXBY)@+-)0+"&)!,)H6\),$".("1)/+("1)
.(#&-(/$&+.)4(')').+@-(4'&(!")@-!I?5)RUBQ)@+-)0+"&)(#).(#&-(/$&+.)4(')$".+-@+-,!-7("1)
1-!$@#5)NOBY)@+-)0+"&)4(')6"1%(#*)'#)'")H..(&(!"'%)E'"1$'1+)'".)NRBU)@+-)0+"&)4(')'),%'&)
@+-)@$@(%)-'&+B

@/42783$<75$'23452%64278$28'2&"4753

(#!A$ C(&*(")&*(#).(#&-(/$&(!")7+0*'"(#7)&*+-+)'-+)!@&(!"#),!-)&*+)(".(0'&!-#)&!)/+)$#+.5)'".)
>+)>!$%.)>+%0!7+)4(+>#)!")&*+#+B)C*+-+)@!##(/%+5)&*+)'(7)(#)&!)$#+)(".(0'&!-#)&*'&)/+#&)
-+@-+#+"&)&*+)@$@(%#)&!)/+)&'-1+&+.)>(&*)&*+)'..(&(!"'%),$".("1B)G*+).+@-(4'&(!")!@&(!"#)

78



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  

'-+)#+&)!$&)/+%!23)4*+)&'/%+)#+&#)!$&)#!5+)!,)&*+)0*'-'0&+-(#&(0#)!,)&*+)6!&+"&('%)
(".(0'&!-#3

!"#$ %&'(")*+",-$,'+",-.

76&(!")8)9)7$&)!,):!-;)4'<) -+.(&)=".(0'&!-

76&(!")>)9)?@A)9)?-++)@0*!!%)A+'%#

76&(!")B)9) *(%.)C!D+-&E)A+'#$-+

76&(!")F)9))GD+-'1+)=HG =)I="0!5+)H+6-(D'&(!")G,,+0&("1) *(%.-+")=".+<J)#0!-+)!,)6$6(%#)
+.$0'&+.)2(&*(")&*+)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&E

76&(!")K)9))?@A)2(&*)&*+)'..(&(!"'%)KLLMLLL)6$6(%#)(")&*+)5!#&).+6-(D+.)'-+'#)/E)&*+)
=HG =)#0!-+)"!&)!")?@A

/-0"1*+,( 2(,',(+",-$
,3$'4'"5.

67'&$,3$
8&*.4(&

C$6(%#)("),'5(%(+#)(")-+0+(6&)!,)7$&)!,):!-;)4'<) -+.(&)
I77:J

>L3NO P@7G

C$6(%#);"!2")&!)/+)+%(1(/%+),!-),-++)#0*!!%)5+'%#)I?@AJ 8N3LO C$6(%

C$6(%#).++5+.)&!)/+)(")6!D+-&E)$#("1)&*+) *(%.)C!D+-&E)
=".+<)I/'#+.)!")7$&)!,):!-;)4'<) -+.(&)2(&*)'..(&(!"'%)
0*(%.-+")(")*!$#+*!%.#)2(&*)("0!5+#)QNLO)!,)5+.('")
("0!5+M) C=J

>>3KO P@7G

C$6(%#).++5+.)&!)/+).+6-(D+.)0!"#(.+-("1)&*+)5+'")=HG =)
#0!-+#)'##!0('&+.)2(&*)6$6(%)6!#&0!.+#)'11-+1'&+.)'&)
P!0'%)G$&*!-(&E)%+D+%)I=HG =J

>B3>O P@7G

C$6(%#);"!2")&!)/+)+%(1(/%+),!-),-++)#0*!!%)5+'%#)6%$#)
'..(&(!"'%)KLLMLLL)0*(%.-+")(")6!#&0!.+#)2(&*)%!2+#&)=HG =)
I?@AR=HG =)SE/-(.J

>B3FO P@7G

=##$+#)-+%'&("1)&!)&*+).+6-(D'&(!")(".(0'&!-#)'-+T

 l +'0*)(56'0&#)').(,,+-+"&)6-!6!-&(!")!,)6$6(%#U

 l P@7G#)IP!2+-)@$6+-)7$&6$&)G-+'#J)'-+)')1+!1-'6*E)$"(&)/'#+.)$6!")"'&(!"'%)0+"#$#)
!$&6$&)'-+'#3)4*+-+)'-+)B>MFV>)P@7G#)(")W"1%'".)2(&*)'")'D+-'1+)6!6$%'&(!")!,)8MKLL)
6+!6%+3)4*+)P@7G)5+'#$-+#)'##$5+)&*'&)+'0*)6$6(%)&';+#)!")&*+)1+"+-'%)
0*'-'0&+-(#&(0#)!,)&*+)P@7G)&*'&)&*+)6$6(%)-+#(.+#)("3):*(%+)&*(#)2(%%)"!&)/+)&-$+)6$6(%)/E)
6$6(%M)!")'D+-'1+)&*+)6$6(%#X)0(-0$5#&'"0+#)#*!$%.)-+,%+0&)&*+)0*'-'0&+-(#&(0#)!,)&*+)
P@7G3)4*+)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&E)5+'#$-+)(#)0'%0$%'&+.)/E)'D+-'1("1)'0-!##)(&#)P@7G#)
'00!-.("1)&!)6$6(%)"$5/+-#U

 l &*+)6$6(%)5+'#$-+)$#+#).'&')0!%%+0&+.)'&)')6$6(%)%+D+%U

79



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

 l 234)(#)')5$5(%)%+6+%)7+'#$-+)/$&)'#)(&)-+%(+#)!")&*+)5'-+"&)'55%8("1),!-),-++)#0*!!%)
7+'%#)(&)0'")$".+-9-+5-+#+"&)&*+)'0&$'%)"$7/+-)!,)5$5(%#):*!):!$%.)/+)+%(1(/%+;)<&)'%#!)
*'#)&*+)'..(&(!"'%)%(7(&'&(!")&*'&)#!7+)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)'-+)5(%!&("1)$"(6+-#'%),-++)
#0*!!%)7+'%#=

 l &*+-+)'-+)6'-(!$#):'8#)&*+)<>? <)#0!-+)0'")/+)$#+.;)@-'"#%'&("1)&*+)<>? <)#0!-+)("&!)
')5-!5!-&(!")!,)0*(%.-+")&*'&)'-+).++7+.)&!)/+).+5-(6+.)'##$7+#)&*'&)&*+).(,,+-+"0+)
/+&:++")&*+)<>? <)#0!-+#)!,)&:!)5$5(%#).(-+0&%8)7+'#$-+#)&*+)-+%'&(6+)"++.)/+&:++")
&*+7=)'".

 l (".(0'&!-#)&*'&)-+%8)!")5+!5%+)'55%8("1),!-)')5'-&(0$%'-)#&'&$#)!-)/+"+,(&A)+;1;)&!)
-+0+(6+)>(#'/(%(&8)B(6("1)?%%!:'"0+A):(%%)*'6+)&*+)5!&+"&('%),!-)$".+-9-+5!-&("1;)
@*(#)5*+"!7+"!")(#)"!&)$"(C$+)&!)#0*!!%),$".("1;

<") *'-&#)D)&!)E)(")?""+F) ):+)#*!:)&*+)(".+F),!-)+'0*)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&8)$".+-)+'0*)!5&(!";

"##$% &'()*+)*,-*.#'/%/*-0+1

!234% 2!-) !1"(&(!")'".)B+'-"("1):+)5-!5!#+)&!)$#+)'")(".(0'&!-)/'#+.)!")$".+-5+-,!-7("1)
1-!$5#A).+,("+.)'#)&*!#+)5$5(%#)G"!:")&!)/+)+%(1(/%+),!-),-++)#0*!!%)7+'%#)5%$#)/%'0G)'".)
7("!-(&8)+&*"(0)HI4JK)1-!$5#)HI%'0G) '-(//+'"A)L*(&+MI%'0G) '-(//+'"A)I%'0G)?,-(0'")'".)
L*(&+MI%'0G)?,-(0'"A)I%'0G)N&*+-A)O'G(#&'"(A)L*(&+)N&*+-)'".)P85#8MQ!7')'".)@-'6+%%+-#)
!,)<-(#*)R+-(&'1+K):*+-+)$".+-5+-,!-7'"0+)-+7'("#)')0!"0+-";)2!-).+&'(%#)!,)&*+)%!0'%)
'$&*!-(&8).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)$".+-95+-,!-7("1)1-!$5#A)5%+'#+)#++) *'-&)S)(")?""+F) ;

"###$%5'/6#17%81%8'%8((#9#-'86%68'/08/)

!23:% 2!-)&*+)J?B)/%!0GA):+)'-+)5-!5!#("1)&!).+&+-7("+)&*+)'%%!0'&(!")/8)$#("1)+'0*)%!0'%)
'$&*!-(&8T#)5+-0+"&'1+)!,)J?B)5$5(%#)'#)-+0!-.+.)!")&*+)#0*!!%)0+"#$#;)@*+)'##$75&(!")
*+-+)(#)&*'&)&*+)!00$--+"0+)!,)J?B)"++.),!%%!:#)&*+)1+"+-'%)("0(.+"0+)!,)J?B;)2!-).+&'(%#)
!,)&*+)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&8).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)5$5(%#):(&*)J"1%(#*)'#)'")?..(&(!"'%)%'"1$'1+A)5%+'#+)
#++) *'-&)U)(")?""+F) ;

;))9#'/%8((#9#-'86%'))(1

!23<% O$5(%#),-!7).+5-(6+.)/'0G1-!$".#)0!"#(#&+"&%8).!)"!&)5+-,!-7)'#):+%%)'#)&*+(-)7!-+)
'.6'"&'1+.)5++-#)'".)(&)(#)(75!-&'"&)&*'&)&*+),$".("1)#8#&+7)(#)'/%+)&!).+%(6+-)#$,,(0(+"&)
,$".("1)&*-!$1*).+5-(6'&(!"),'0&!-#)&!)+"#$-+)#0*!!%#)0'")#$55!-&)&*+#+)0*(%.-+")'".)&!)
*+%5)"'--!:)&*+)1'5;)<")&*+)L*(&+)O'5+-) !"#$%&'()*$ !"#$+,&!!(-*$."#$/"0"#12$3"'()'45$6$
78-0$%140"#9$+,&!!(-$+9-01:A)&*+)P!6+-"7+"&)0!77(&&+.)&!)'&)%+'#&)7'("&'("("1)&*+)
"'&(!"'%)'%%!0'&(!"),!-).+5-(6'&(!")'&)(&#)0$--+"&)%+6+%;)@*+-+,!-+A):+)5-!5!#+)&!)'%%!0'&+)
'..(&(!"'%)-+#!$-0+#)!6+-)'".)'/!6+)&*+)?JV).(#&-(/$&(!").+#0-(/+.)'/!6+A)!")&*+)/'#(#)
!,).+5-(6'&(!"A)#!)&*'&)&*+)&!&'%)'7!$"&).(#&-(/$&+.)"'&(!"'%%8),!-).+5-(6'&(!")(#)
7'("&'("+.;)L+):(%%)$#+)&*+)#'7+).+5-(6'&(!")(".(0'&!-)'#):+)0*!!#+),!-)&*+)7+0*'"(#7)
'/!6+A)'".)&*(#):(%%)+"#$-+)&*'&)#$/#&'"&('%)'..(&(!"'%)-+#!$-0+)1!+#)&!:'-.#)+'0*)
.+5-(6+.)5$5(%A)-+1'-.%+##)!,):*+&*+-)&*+8)%(6+)(")')1+"+-'%%8).+5-(6+.)'-+')!-)(")')#7'%%)
5!0G+&)!,).+5-(6'&(!";

80



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

"#$%&'()%)*#+%,)-./0,)-&120.2

34 5) 2*(#)3!4+-"5+"&)*'#)'%6'7#)/++")0!55(&&+.)&!)"'--!6("1)&*+)1'8#)(")'&&'("5+"&)
/+&6++").(#'.4'"&'1+.)0*(%.-+")'".)&*+(-)8++-#9):".)6+)*'4+)5+&)&*(#)0*'%%+"1+)6(&*)
#(1"(,(0'"&)'..(&(!"'%),$".("1)&!)*+%8)#0*!!%#)8-!4(.+)&*+)"+0+##'-7)'..(&(!"'%)#$88!-&)
,!-).+8-(4+.)0*(%.-+");)-(#("1)&!)'%5!#&)<=/")(")>?@?A@@9

34 6) 2*(#)*'#)-+#$%&+.)(")1!!.)8-!1-+##)/+("1)5'.+)(")"'--!6("1)&*+)'&&'("5+"&)1'8),!-)
+&*"(0)5("!-(&7)8$8(%#)'".)(")#!5+)!,)&*+)5!#&).(#'.4'"&'1+.)'-+'#)#&'".'-.#)'-+)-(#("1)
,'#&+-)&*'")&*+)'4+-'1+9)

34  ) B0*!!%)(58-!4+5+"&)8-!1-'55+#)#$0*)'#)C'&(!"'%)'".) (&7) *'%%+"1+)'-+)+"#$-("1)&*'&)
5!-+)8$8(%#)&*'")+4+-)'-+)'0*(+4("1)D)1!!.)3 BE#)("0%$.("1)E"1%(#*)'".)5'&*#9)2*+)
'..(&(!"'%),$".("1)'".)#$88!-&)&*+7)8-!4(.+)8%'7#)'")("&+1-'%)-!%+)(")-'(#("1)#&'".'-.#)
'".)'#8(-'&(!"#)(")#0*!!%#)&*'&)'-+)!,&+")(").+8-(4+.)'-+'#)'".)&*'&),'0+)#(1"(,(0'"&)
0*'%%+"1+#9

34 3) F")!-.+-)&!)(58-!4+)#&'".'-.#)'".)'0*(+4+5+"&G)+#8+0('%%7),!-)&*!#+)8$8(%#),-!5)
.(#'.4'"&'1+.)/'0H1-!$".#G)6+)*'4+)("&-!.$0+.)&*+)-(1*&)&!)!"+A&!A!"+)&$(&(!")'".)
0'&0*)$8)#$88!-&)'".)("0-+'#+.),$".("1),!-)8+-#!"'%(#'&(!"9)I+)'-+)0!55(&&+.)&!)
0!"&("$("1)&!)("4+#&)&!)+"#$-+)&*'&)8$8(%#)/+"+,(&),-!5)&*(#)H(".)!,)&'-1+&+.)#$88!-&G)
8'-&(0$%'-%7).+8-(4+.)8$8(%#9

34 !) J!6+4+-G)6+)H"!6)&*'&)&*+)'..(&(!"'%),$".("1),!-).+8-(4'&(!").!+#)"!&)'%6'7#)-+'0*)&*+)
0*(%.-+")6*!)"++.)(&9)K!0'%).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)(#),!-)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)&!)'1-++)
(")0!"#$%&'&(!")6(&*)&*+(-)B0*!!%#)L!-$5#G)/$&)6+)H"!6)&*'&)*(#&!-(0'%%7)&*+-+)*'#)/++")')
&+".+"07)&!)M,%'&&+"N).+8-(4'&(!"),$".("1)'&)')%!0'%)%+4+%G)#$0*)&*'&)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#).!)
"!&)'%6'7#)&'-1+&)&*+)5!"+7)&*'&)&*+7)*'4+)-+0+(4+.),!-).+8-(4+.)8$8(%#)&!6'-.#)&*!#+)
8$8(%#9

34 7) K!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)6+-+)'%%)1(4+")')"!&(!"'%)&'-1+&)(")>??O)&*'&)/7)>?@?A@@)&*+7)#*!$%.)/+)
8'##("1)!")'&)%+'#&)P?)8+-)0+"&)!,)&*+(-).+8-(4'&(!"),$".("1)&!6'-.#).+8-(4+.)8$8(%#9

34 8) L$-&*+-)&!)&*(#G)6+)'""!$"0+.)(")&*+)I*(&+)Q'8+-) !"#$%&'()*$+!"#$,%&!!(,*$!"#$-"."#/0$
1"'()'23$4$56,.$%/2."#+$,%&!!(,$,+,./7G)&*'&)!$-)8-("0(8%+#),!-).+8-(4'&(!"),$".("1)6!$%.)
/+)&*'&R

%4)5!"+7)'%%!0'&+.)'&)&*+)"'&(!"'%)%+4+%),!-).+8-(4'&(!")#*!$%.)'%%)/+)'%%!0'&+.)%!0'%%7)&!)
#0*!!%#)6(&*)&*+)8$8(%#)6*!)"++.)(&G)'".)&*(#)#*!$%.)5+'")&*'&)/7)&*+)+".)!,)&*+)"+S&)
Q'-%('5+"&)'&)&*+)%'&+#&G)@??)8+-)0+"&)!,).+8-(4'&(!"),$".("1)(#)8'##+.)!")
'88-!8-('&+%7T

94) &*+)#7#&+5)#*!$%.)/+)5!-+)-+#8!"#(4+)&!)0*'"1+#)(")&*+)0*'-'0&+-(#&(0#)!,)8$8(%#)(")
#0*!!%#)'".)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#G)#!)&*'&)5!"+7)(#)/+&&+-)&'-1+&+.)6*+-+)(&)(#)5!#&)"++.+.T)
'".

+4) &*+)8-!8!-&(!")!,)-+#!$-0+#)'%%!0'&+.)"'&(!"'%%7),!-).+8-(4'&(!")#*!$%.)'&)%+'#&)/+)
5'("&'("+.)#!)&*'&)&*+)'5!$"&)#8+"&)%!0'%%7)!").+8-(4'&(!")6(%%)1-!69

34 :) 2*+)3!4+-"5+"&)-+U+0&#)&*+)#$11+#&(!")&*'&)&*+-+)#*!$%.)/+)')"'&(!"'%%7)5'".'&+.)8$8(%)
8-+5($5)6*(0*)#+&#)!$&)+S'0&%7)*!6)5$0*)#*!$%.)/+)'%%!0'&+.)&!)8-+#0-(/+.)8$8(%#)6(&*)

81



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

"!)-+,+-+"0+)&!)'0&$'%)"++.2)3(-#&4)(,)(&)(#)("&-!.$0+.),-!5)+6(#&("1)-+#!$-0+#)(&)7(%%)-+#$%&)(")
#$/#&'"&('%)-+.(#&-(/$&(!")'5!"1)#0*!!%#2)8*+)-+0+"&)9"#&(&$&+),!-)3(#0'%):&$.(+#)-+;!-&)
0!"0%$.+#)&*'&)7(&*!$&)'..(&(!"'%)-+#!$-0+#)<)(")<=)#0*!!%#)0!$%.)+6;+-(+"0+)0$&#)(")
+60+##)!,)<=);+-)0+"&2)>$&)&*+)'%&+-"'&(?+)!,)#$/#&'"&('%)+6&-')-+#!$-0+#),!-)#0*!!%#)
@;+-*';#)(")+60+##)!,)A);+-)0+"&4)'#)(")&*+)93:)5!.+%%("1B)(#)"!&)-+'%(#&(0)(")0$--+"&)
0(-0$5#&'"0+#)C)(&)7!$%.)-+D$(-+)?+-E)#$/#&'"&('%)#$5#)&!)/+)&'F+"),-!5)+%#+7*+-+4)#$0*)
'#)-+#!$-0+#),!-)5$#(04)#;!-&4)'".)!&*+-)#$;;!-&),!-)0*(%.-+"2):+0!".4)&*+)"'&(!"'%),$".("1)
#E#&+5)'%-+'.E)'%%!0'&+#)#(1"(,(0'"&%E)*(1*+-)-+#!$-0+#),!-).+;-(?'&(!")C)'%5!#&)GH)/(%%(!"4)
'".)(&)7!$%.)5'F+)%(&&%+)#+"#+)#(5;%+)&!);(%+)');$;(%);-+5($5)!")&!;)!,)7*'&)&*+)93:)
.+#0-(/+#)'#)&*+)+6(#&("1)(5;%(0(&);$;(%);-+5($54)#!)&'F("1)"!)'00!$"&)!,)7*'&)(#)'%-+'.E)
&*+-+2)8*(-.4)(&)7!$%.);-+#$5+)&*'&)&*+-+)7'#)')#("1%+)';;-!;-('&+).+,("(&(!")!,)
.+;-(?'&(!"),!-)$#+)'0-!##)&*+)0!$"&-E)'".)&*'&)&*+)#'5+)%+?+%)!,)-+#!$-0+)7'#)"++.+.)&!)
5++&)+'0*).+;-(?+.);$;(%I#)"++.#4)&'F("1)"!)'00!$"&)!,)%!0'%)0(-0$5#&'"0+#)'".)%!0'%)
?'-('&(!"#2)9&),!-)&*+#+)-+'#!"#)&*'&)7+)/+%(+?+)')"'&(!"'%);$;(%);-+5($5)(#)"!&)&*+)-(1*&)
';;-!'0*)&!)-+#!$-0("1)#0*!!%#2

"# $% J+).!)*!7+?+-)/+%(+?+)&*'&4)'#)#+&)!$&)(")&*+)J*(&+)K';+-4),$".("1)'%%!0'&+.)"'&(!"'%%E)
,!-).+;-(?+.);$;(%#)#*!$%.)/+)#;+"&)!").+;-(?+.);$;(%#)%!0'%%E2)L(#&!-(0'%%E4)&*(#)*'#)"!&)
/++")&*+)0'#+2)8*+-+,!-+4)(")!-.+-)&!)+"#$-+)&*'&),$".("1)-+'0*+#)&*+);$;(%#)7*!)5!#&)
"++.)(&4)&'(%)*+(,-.(-&%/011%,(230,(%1*451%53&'*,0&0(6%&*%7566%*-%511%&'(0,%8(7,0+5&0*-%
93-80-:%&*%8(7,0+(8%737016%0-% ;<=><!%5&%&'(%15&(6&?%5-8%(@7(4&%7,*:,(66%&*%A(%.58(%
&*/5,86%&'06%0-%(54'%*9%&'(%0-&(,+(-0-:%B(5,62

"# C% 8!)+"#$-+)&*+),$".("1)&!)#$;;!-&)#0*!!%#)&!)5++&)&*+)"++.#)!,).+;-(?+.)0*(%.-+")(#)
0%+'-%E)(.+"&(,(+.)'".)&!)+"#$-+)&*'&)(&)(#)-+#;!"#(?+)&!)7*+-+)&*+#+)0*(%.-+")'-+)&'(%
)*+(,-.(-&%/011%,(230,(%511%1*451%53&'*,0&0(6%&*%*7(,5&(%5%D*451%E3701%E,(.03.%9,*.%
 ;< ><"%*-/5,862

"#";% 8*(#)5+'"#)&*'&)'")'5!$"&)!,)5!"+E)(")')#0*!!%I#).+%+1'&+.)/$.1+&)5$#&)-+%'&+).(-+0&%E)
'".)+6;%(0(&%E)&!).+;-(?+.);$;(%#)7(&*(")&*+)#0*!!%4)'".)#*!$%.)5!?+)'-!$".)&*+)#E#&+5)
'#)"+0+##'-E2):$0*)')M!0'%)K$;(%)K-+5($5)7!$%.)5+'")&*'&)(,)')#0*!!%)-+0-$(&#)')%'-1+-)
"$5/+-)!,).+;-(?+.);$;(%#4)&*+E)0'")#++)&*'&)&*+E)7(%%)1+&)'..(&(!"'%),$".#4)7*(0*)7(%%)/+)
-+,%+0&+.)(")&*+(-)/$.1+&2

"#"<% M!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)7(%%)*'?+)&*+),-++.!5)&!)'1-++)7(&*)&*+(-):0*!!%#)3!-$5#)*!7)&!)
!;+-'&+)')M!0'%)K$;(%)K-+5($54)-'&*+-)&*'")');-!0+##)/+("1)5'".'&+.)"'&(!"'%%E4)#("0+)
#0*!!%#)'".)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)'-+)&*+)!"+#)/+#&);%'0+.)&!).+0(.+)7*+-+)"++.)(#2)3!-)
("#&'"0+)(&)7(%%)/+),!-)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)&!)'1-++)7(&*)&*+(-):0*!!%#)3!-$5#)7*(0*);$;(%#)
#*!$%.)/+)&'-1+&+.)@(2+2)&*+)(".(0'&!-#)&!)$#+B4)'".)&*+)%+?+%)!,),$".("1)&*!#+);$;(%#)
#*!$%.)'&&-'0&2

"#" % 9&)(#)!$-)+6;+0&'&(!")&*'&)!?+-)&(5+4)&*+)%!0'%);$;(%);-+5($5)7(%%)/+)&*+)5'(")?+*(0%+),!-)
&*+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,).+;-(?'&(!"),$".("12

"#""% 9")!-.+-)&!)5'("&'(")#&'/(%(&E)!,),$".("1).$-("1)&*+)E+'-4)&*+)M!0'%)K$;(%)K-+5($5)#*!$%.)
!;+-'&+),-!5)E+'-)&!)E+'-4)'".)#0*!!%#I)/$.1+&#)#*!$%.)"!&)/+)'.N$#&+.)(")&*+),("'"0('%)
E+'-2)3!-)("#&'"0+4)(,)')#0*!!%)*'.)')%'-1+-)"$5/+-)!,).+;-(?+.);$;(%#)'.5(&&+.)(")
:+;&+5/+-)&*'")*'.)%+,&)(")O$%E4)&*+)#0*!!%)7!$%.)"!&)-+0+(?+)'..(&(!"'%)5!"+E)$"&(%)&*+)

82



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

,!%%!2("1),("'"0('%)3+'-4)5$&)(&)2(%%)/+)'/%+)&!)6%'")!")&*+)/'#(#)&*'&)(&)2(%%)-+0+(7+)
'..(&(!"'%),$".#4)8+)/+%(+7+)&*(#)#&-(9+#)&*+)-(1*&)/'%'"0+)/+&2++")#&'/(%(&3)'".)
-+#6!"#(7+"+##4

"#"$% 8+)-+0!1"(#+)&*'&)&*+-+):'3)/+)'")("&+-'0&(!")/+&2++")&*+)%!0'%)6$6(%)6-+:($:)'".)&*+)
!6+-'&(!")!,)&*+);("(:$:)<$".("1)=$'-'"&++4)>0*!!%#)<!-$:#?)2*!)2(%%)'1-++)&*+)
!6+-'&(!")!,)&*+)@!0'%)A$6(%)A-+:($:?)2(%%)'%#!)*'7+)&*+)6!2+-)&!)'1-++)&!)'")'.B$#&:+"&)
&!)&*+)!6+-'&(!")!,)&*+);("(:$:)<$".("1)=$'-'"&++)2*+-+)&*'&)(#)"+0+##'-3),!-)&*+)
+,,+0&(7+)!6+-'&(!")!,)&*+)@!0'%)A$6(%)A-+:($:4)8+)2'"&)&*+),$".("1)'##!0('&+.)2(&*)
.+6-(7+.)6$6(%#)&!)/+)'/%+)&!):!7+),-!:)3+'-)&!)3+'-)/+&2++")#0*!!%#)2(&*)&*!#+)6$6(%#)
#!)&*'&)#0*!!%#)*'7+)'")("0+"&(7+)&!)&'9+)!")6$6(%#),-!:):!-+).+6-(7+.)/'091-!$".#4)<!-)
&*(#)&!)*'66+")+,,+0&(7+%3?)%!0'%)'-+'#):'3)2(#*)&!)'.B$#&)&*+)2'3)&*+);("(:$:)<$".("1)
=$'-'"&++)2!-9#)(")!-.+-)&!)+"#$-+)&*(#)-+#6!"#(7+"+##4) $--+"&%3?)2*+-+)&*+)'.B$#&:+"&)
',,+0&#)#0*!!%#)0!"&'("("1):!-+)&*'")CD)6+-)0+"&)!,)6$6(%#?)(&)0'")!"%3)/+):'.+)2(&*)&*+)
'1-++:+"&)!,)&*+)>+0-+&'-3)!,)>&'&+4)E!2+7+-?)2+)2!$%.)6-+#$:+)&*'&)0*'"1+#)!,)&*(#)
"'&$-+)2*(0*)'%%!2)&*+),$".("1)'##!0('&+.)2(&*)&*+)6$6(%)6-+:($:)&!):!7+)/+&2++")
#0*!!%#)2!$%.)/+)'1-++.)'".)2+)2(%%)0!"#$%&)!")/$(%.("1)&*(#)("&!)&*+)-+1$%'&(!"#)%'&+-)
(")FDGD4

"#"&% @!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)2(%%)2'"&)&!).+7+%!6).(,,+-+"&)#3#&+:#).+6+".("1)!")&*+(-)%!0'%)
0(-0$:#&'"0+#?)'".)2+)2(%%)%!!9)&!)6-!7(.+)/+#&)6-'0&(0+)'#)#3#&+:#).+7+%!64

"#"!% 8+)'-+)':+".("1)&*+)#+0&(!")FCG),("'"0('%)-+6!-&("1)&'/%+#)&!)("0%$.+)(",!-:'&(!")'/!$&)
.+6-(7'&(!")'%%!0'&(!"#)#!)&*'&)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)'-+)-+H$(-+.)&!)-+6!-&)'""$'%%3)*!2)&*+3)
'-+)'%%!0'&("1)&*+(-).+6-(7'&(!"),$".("14

'()*+,-.*

/-%0-(%123))%4,+5%+5)%63-6-*)7%8)+5-7-9-20%:-3%7,*+3,;(+,.2%8-.)0%:-3%177,+,-.19%
)7(<1+,-.19%.))7*=

>5,<5%,*%0-(3%63):)33)7%,.7,<1+-3%:-3%7,*+3,;(+,.2%8-.)0%?,1%7)63,?1+,-.=%>50=

/-%0-(%123))%4,+5%+5)%,.7,<1+-3*@%-+5)3%+51.%:-3%7)63,?1+,-.@%+51+%4)%51?)%63-6-*)7%:-3%
)1<5%.))7=

>,99%+5)%A-<19%B(6,9%B3)8,(8%8)<51.,*8%5)96%:(.7,.2%+-%;)%8-3)%3)*6-.*,?)%+-%<51.2)*%
,.%6(6,9%<5131<+)3,*+,<*=

C*%,+%3,25+%+51+%9-<19%1(+5-3,+,)*%*5-(97%)1<5%7)?)9-6%+5),3%-4.%6(6,9%63)8,(8%8)<51.,*8=

83



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

Chapter 4 
High Cost Pupils
Distributing additional funding for high cost pupils, 
including those with high cost special educational needs

"#$%&'()*+

,-./ 2*+-+)'-+)')-+%'&(3+%4)#5'%%)"$5/+-)!,)6$6(%#)7(&*)'..(&(!"'%)"++.#),!-)7*!5)(&)(#)3+-4)
0!#&%4)&!)6-!3(.+8)2*+-+)(#)"!)0!55!"%4)*+%.).+,("(&(!")!,)*(1*)0!#&)&*'&)(#)'00+6&+.)/4)
'%%)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#9)'".)&*+)6-'0&(0+)!,)0%'##(,4("1)#$0*)6$6(%#)3'-(+#)#(1"(,(0'"&%4)'0-!##)
%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#8)2*+).(#&("1$(#*("1),+'&$-+)(#)&*'&)&*+)("0(.+"0+)'5!"1#&)6$6(%#)(#)%!7)
/$&)&*+)0!#&)!,)&*+)"++.#)(#)-+%'&(3+%4)*(1*8):")5'"4)0'#+#9)'#)(")&*+)0'#+)!,)6$6(%#)7(&*)
#&'&+5+"&#)!,);<=9)&*+-+)(#)')#&'&$&!-4)-+>$(-+5+"&)!")&*+)-+#(.+"&)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&4)&!)
6-!3(.+),!-)&*+#+)"++.#9)'".)(&)(#)"+0+##'-4)&*+-+,!-+)&!)+"#$-+)&*'&)&*+#+)"++.#)'-+)
-+,%+0&+.)'#)'00$-'&+%4)'#)6!##(/%+)(")&*+)?;@8)2*+)/+#&)7'4)!,).!("1)&*(#)(#)&*-!$1*)')
#+6'-'&+)*(1*)0!#&)6$6(%#),$".("1)/%!0A8)B"%(A+)&*+)!&*+-),!-5$%')+%+5+"&#9),$".("1),!-)
*(1*)0!#&)6$6(%#)(#).(-+0&+.)&!)&*+)'$&*!-(&4)7*+-+)&*+)6$6(%)(#)-+#(.+"&9)"!&)&*+)!"+)7*+-+)
&*+4)'&&+".)#0*!!%8)2*(#)(#)/+0'$#+)&*+)#&'&$&!-4)-+#6!"#(/(%(&4),!-)+"#$-("1)&*+)6-!3(#(!")
,!-)#$0*)6$6(%#),'%%#)!")&*+)-+#(.+"&)'$&*!-(&48

01213(45*&/#/*16/7('8)3#/7('/ 9..:.;

,- / ?+&'(%#)!,)*!7)&*+)'##+##5+"&),!-)*(1*)0!#&)6$6(%#)$".+-%4("1)&*+)0$--+"&)#4#&+5)7'#)
5'.+)(#)#+&)!$&)(")C""+D)C8):&)7'#)%'-1+%4)/'#+.)!")&*+)7!-A)!,)&*+)<.$0'&(!")E$".("1)
;&-'&+14)@-!$6)F<E;@G)(")HIIH8):")HIIJ9)&*+)? ;E)0!55(##(!"+.)K7 )&!)6-!3(.+)'")
'##+##5+"&)!,)*!7)&*+)6(0&$-+),!-)*(1*)0!#&)6$6(%#)*'.)0*'"1+.)#("0+)HIIH)#!)&*'&)7+)
0'")/+#&)-+,%+0&)0$--+"&)"++.#)(")&*+),$".("1),!-5$%'8

,-;/ K7 )("&+-3(+7+.)HJ)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)&!)(",!-5)(&#)7!-A8)C%#!)-+%+3'"&)*'#)/++")K7 L#)C<=)
-+#+'-0*)7!-A9).+#0-(/+.)(") *'6&+-)M8)2*+(-)#0*!!%)#$-3+4)+D'5("+.)&*+)0!#&#)'".)
("0(.+"0+)!,)C<=)'&)#0*!!%)%+3+%9)("0%$.("1)*(1*)0!#&)"++.#9)'".)*'#)&*+-+,!-+)6-!3(.+.)
(56!-&'"&)/'0A1-!$".)&!)&*(#)7!-A8

0175*5*&/<5&</$(=>/4)453=

,-,/ E!-)6$6(%#)(")"!"N5'("#&-+'5)#+&&("1#)7+)0!"&("$+)&!)'##$5+)&*'&)&*+4)#*!$%.)'%%)/+)
.++5+.)&!)/+)*(1*)0!#&8)O+)-+0!1"(#+)&*'&)6%'0+5+"&#)7(%%)3'-4)%!0'%%4)/$&)0!"#(.+-)&*'&)
&*(#)(#)')-+'#!"'/%+)'##$56&(!"),!-)&*+)6$-6!#+#)!,)'--(3("1)'&)')"'&(!"'%).+,("(&(!"8)E!-)
6$6(%#)(")5'("#&-+'5)6-(5'-4)'".)#+0!".'-4)#0*!!%#)*!7+3+-)7+)6-!6!#+)&!)-+,("+)&*+)
HIIM).+,("(&(!")7*(0*)!"%4)("0%$.+.)&*!#+)7(&*)#&'&+5+"&#)!,);<=8)2*+)#$-3+4)#$11+#&#)
&*'&)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&4)6!%(04)*'#)/++")+3!%3("1)'-!$".)*!7)&*+4)0'&+1!-(#+)6$6(%#)("&!)&*+)
,!$-);<=)1-!$6#)P)"!)#6+0('%)6-!3(#(!"9)#0*!!%)'0&(!"9)#0*!!%)'0&(!")6%$#)'".)6$6(%#)7(&*)

84



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

#&'&+2+"&#)!,)3456)7*(0*)2+'"#)7+)#*!$%.)/+)%!!8("1)'&)9$9(%#)'0-!##)'%%)&*+)345)
0'&+1!-(+#)7*+").+,("("1)&*+)*(1*)0!#&)9$9(%#)/%!08:

"#$% ;+)("<+#&(1'&+.)7(&*)#&'8+*!%.+-#)*!7)/+#&)&!).+,("+)*(1*)0!#&)9$9(%#)'".)(&)7'#)'1-++.)
&*'&)/+0'$#+)!,)&*+)<'-('&(!"#)(")%!0'%)9!%(0=)'-!$".)345)0'&+1!-(#'&(!")&*+)2!#&)
'99-!9-('&+)2+&*!.)!,).+,("("1)*(1*)0!#&)9$9(%#)(")2'("#&-+'2)#0*!!%#)7'#)/=)2+'"#)!,)
'),("'"0('%)&*-+#*!%.:)>*+)?7 )#$-<+=)(.+"&(,(+.)')"'&(!"'%)&*-+#*!%.),(1$-+)!,)'")'""$'%)
0!#&)!,)@A6BCD)E)&*+)9!("&)'&)7*(0*)&*+)0!#&)("0-+'#+#)#(1"(,(0'"&%=)'".)&*+)("0(.+"0+),'%%#:)
>*(#)(#)(")'..(&(!")&!)&*+)/'#(0)$"(&)!,),$".("1:)F#("1)&*(#)&*-+#*!%.)'".)&*+)9-!9!-&(!"#)
/+%!7),-!2)&*+)#$-<+=)G'.H$#&+.),!-)BIIJ)0+"#$#).'&'K)!,)+'0*)345)9-!<(#(!")1-!$9)&*'&)
'-+)0!"#(.+-+.)&!)/+)*(1*)0!#&6)7+)+#&(2'&+)#!2+)C:L)9+-)0+"&)!,)9$9(%#)(")2'("#&-+'2)
#0*!!%#)'-+)*(1*)0!#&)GC:M)9+-)0+"&)(")2'("&'("+.)9-(2'-=)'".)C:N)9+-)0+"&)(")2'("&'("+.)
#+0!".'-=K:)>*(#)'2!$"&#)&!)'99-!O(2'&+%=)LI6MIM)*(1*)0!#&)P>4#)(")2'("#&-+'2)9-(2'-=)
#0*!!%#)'".)'99-!O(2'&+%=)QN6LCI)*(1*)0!#&)P>4#)(")2'("&'("+.)#+0!".'-=)#0*!!%#)
"'&(!"'%%=)E)')&!&'%)!,)'99-!O(2'&+%=)JN6DCM)G#++)R""+O)S6)9'-'1-'9*)CCK:)T$-)+#&(2'&+),!-)
BIIJ)(#)&*'&)&*+-+)'-+)BCN6LJJ)*(1*)0!#&)9$9(%#)(")2'("#&-+'2)'".)"!"U2'("#&-+'2)
#+&&("1#:)>*+)&'/%+)/+%!7)#*!7#)&*+)9-!9!-&(!")!,)9$9(%#)(")+'0*)345)0'&+1!-=)&*'&)'-+)
.++2+.)*(1*)0!#&:

&'()('*+(,%(-%).)+/0%+,%1234%567%32*18('9%*42*%2'1%:11;1:%4+84%3(0*

3&'&+2+"&+. AL:AAV

30*!!%)'0&(!")?%$#) Q:MQV

30*!!%)'0&(!") I:NIV

5!)345)9-!<(#(!") I:ICV

"#<% >*(#)7!-8)*'#)(.+"&(,(+.)&7!)(29!-&'"&),'0&!-#)7*(0*)'-+)-+%+<'"&)&!)&*+),$".("1),!-)*(1*)
0!#&)9$9(%#)'".)7*(0*)7+)0!"#(.+-)"++.)&!)/+)-+,%+0&+.)(")&*+)"+7),!-2$%':)>*+),(-#&)(#)
&*'&)&*+)"$2/+-)'".)0!#&)!,)*(1*)0!#&)9$9(%#)(")2'("#&-+'2)#+&&("1#)(#)2$0*)*(1*+-)&*'")
(.+"&(,(+.)(")BIIB:)>*+)#+0!".)(#)&*'&)&*+)0!#&)!,)9-!<(.("1),!-)*(1*)0!#&)9$9(%#)(")1+"+-'%)
*'#)("0-+'#+.)2!-+)-'9(.%=)&*'")0!#&)("0-+'#+#),!-)!&*+-)9'-&#)!,)&*+)+.$0'&(!")#+0&!-:)>*+)
"!&(!"'%)&!&'%),!-)*(1*)0!#&)9$9(%#)(")BIIJUCI)(#)H$#&)!<+-)@M/")/$&)?7 )-+#+'-0*)#$11+#&#)
&*'&)'-!$".)@Q/")(#)0$--+"&%=)/+("1)#9+"&)!")#$0*)9$9(%#6)(")'..(&(!")&!)&*+)/'#(0)$"(&)!,)
,$".("1:

=+0*'+>.*+(,%;1*4(:(/(89

"#?% ;+)9-!9!#+)&!)$#+)&*+)#'2+)'99-!'0*),!-)&*+)'%%!0'&(!")!,),$".("1),!-)&*+)*(1*)0!#&)
9$9(%)/%!08)&!)&*'&)9-!9!#+.),!-)&*+)'%%!0'&(!")!,)R45),$".("1)E)"'2+%=)&*'&)/'#+.)!")
&*+)9$9(%)"++.)&=9+#)(.+"&(,(+.)(")&*+)?7 )#0*!!%)#$-<+=6)/$&)$#("1)&*+)#9+0(,(0).'&'),!-)
*(1*)0!#&)9$9(%#6)'".)(.+"&(,=("1)&*+)2!#&)'99-!9-('&+).(#&-(/$&(!")2+0*'"(#2),!-)
'%%!0'&("1)-+#!$-0+#)&!)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#),!-)&*+#+)"++.)&=9+#:

"#!% >!)+#&(2'&+)&*+)"$2/+-)!,)+9(#!.+#)!,)+'0*)"++.)&=9+)"'&(!"'%%=)7+)*'<+)2$%&(9%(+.)&*+)
("0(.+"0+)!,)+'0*)"++.)&=9+),!-)*(1*)0!#&)9$9(%#),-!2)&*+)#$-<+=)/=)&*+)&!&'%)"$2/+-)!,)
*(1*)0!#&)9$9(%#)(")2'("#&-+'2)#+&&("1#:

85



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

"#!$ 2!3+4+-5)6'"7)*(1*)0!#&)8$8(%#)-+0+(4+)#8+0('%(#&)8-!4(#(!")(")"!"96'("#&-+'6)#+&&("1#:)
;+)<"!3)&*'&)&*+-+)'-+)==>5?@A)8$8(%#)(")"!"96'("#&-+'6)#+&&("1#)!4+-'%%)/$&)'-+)"!&)
'/%+)&!)$#+)&*+)#$-4+7)&!)'%%!0'&+)&*+6)'0-!##)&*+)8'-&(0$%'-)BCD)"++.)&78+#)'#)&*+)#$-4+7)
!"%7)0!4+-+.)6'("#&-+'6)#+&&("1#:);+)*'4+)&*+-+,!-+)6'88+.)&*+)#&'".'-.)ECD)
0'&+1!-(+#)'0-!##)&!)&*+)BCD)"++.)&78+#:)F*(#)*'#)+"'/%+.)')"++.)8-!,(%+)&!)/+).+-(4+.),!-)
8$8(%#)(")6'("&'("+.)#8+0('%5)"!"96'("&'("+.)#8+0('%5)(".+8+".+"&)'".)1+"+-'%)*!#8(&'%)
#0*!!%#:)G!-+).+&'(%)(#)#+&)!$&)(")B""+H)I:)I7)'..("1)&!1+&*+-)&*+)("0(.+"0+#)(")
6'("#&-+'6)'".)"!"96'("#&-+'6)#+&&("1#5)3+)*'4+)')&!&'%)("0(.+"0+),!-)+'0*)"++.:

"#%&$ F*+)"++.)&78+#)'-+)&*+)#'6+)'#)&*!#+)$#+.),!-)BCD:)B#)3(&*)BCD5)3+)*'4+)%("<+.)&*+)"++.)
&78+#),!-)*(1*)0!#&)8$8(%#)&!)3*'&)3+)0!"#(.+-)&*+)6!#&)'88-!8-('&+).(#&-(/$&(!")
6+&*!.#:)F*(#)*'#)(")#!6+)0'#+#)-+#$%&+.)(")6!-+)&*'")!"+).(#&-(/$&(!")(".(0'&!-),!-)&*+)
(".(4(.$'%)"++.)&78+)'%&*!$1*)3+)*'4+)&-(+.)&!)<++8)&*+),!-6$%')'#)#(68%+)'#)8!##(/%+:
C4(.+"0+)*'#)/++")&'<+"),-!6)')4'-(+&7)!,)#!$-0+#)("0%$.("1)&*+)E8+0('%)C.$0'&(!"'%)
D++.#)(",!-6'&(!")'&)8$8(%)%+4+%)!")&*+)#0*!!%)0+"#$#:

"#%%$ B"'%7#(#)#*!3#)&*'&)&*+-+)(#)%(&&%+)'##!0('&(!")'&)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&7)%+4+%)/+&3++")6!#&)!,)&*+)
"++.)&78+#)'".).+8-(4'&(!":)I+0'$#+)!,)&*+)6!-+)-'".!6)("0(.+"0+)!,)*(1*)0!#&)BCD)'&)
%!0'%)'$&*!-(&7)%+4+%5)')%'-1+)8-!8!-&(!")!,)&*+).(#&-(/$&(!"),!-)ICEJ5) J)'".)EK)(#)'##$6+.)
&!)/+)/7)'),%'&)-'&+:

'#$ F*+-+)(#)')3+'<)'##!0('&(!")/+&3++")ICEJ)'".).+8-(4'&(!")'&)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&7)%+4+%:)
2!3+4+-5)3*+")+H8%!-("1)&*+)'##!0('&(!")'&)')#6'%%)1+!1-'8*7)#0'%+)')#%(1*&%7)#&-!"1+-)
%("<)(#)!/#+-4+.:)F*+-+,!-+5)3+)'-+)8-!8!#("1)&!).(#&-(/$&+)LMN)!,)ICEJ),$".("1)4(')
.+8-(4'&(!":

(#$F!)-+8-+#+"&)&*+)8-!8!-&(!")!,)8$8(%#)3(&*)#+4+-+) !1"(&(!")'".)O+'-"("1)BCD5)'#)3(&*)
&*+)BCD)/%!0<5)'")$".+-8+-,!-6'"0+)6+'#$-+)(#)'88-!8-('&+:)F!).(-+0&),$".("1)
&!3'-.#)&*+)6!#&)#+4+-+)"++.#)')6+'#$-+)!,)&*!#+)8$8(%#)'0*(+4("1)"!)6!-+)&*'")
O+4+%)L)'&)P+7)E&'1+)L)(#)8-!8!#+.)&!).(#&-(/$&+),$".("1)!,)&*(#)"++.)&78+:) *'-&)@)(")
B""+H) )#*!3#)&*(#)'&&'("6+"&),!-)+'0*)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&7:

)#$ C4(.+"0+)#$11+#&#)')3+'<)%("<)/+&3++") !66$"(0'&(!")'".)J"&+-'0&(!")"++.#)'".)
.+8-(4'&(!"5)-+,%+0&+.)(")!$-)8-!8!#'%)&!).(#&-(/$&+)>QN)!,)&*+)6!"+7),!-)&*'&)"++.)4(')
'),%'&)-'&+5)'".)=QN)4(')').+8-(4'&(!")(".(0'&!-:

*#$C4(.+"0+),-!6)&*+)-+8!-&) !"#$%&'()*#%+$,-%&'."")/'%-)'0$/%1$&$+23'4-)"5/+%-)$-6'7,#%&'
8%5$%+$,-'$-'95":%&"-#";' "5:$#"'95,:$/$,-'%-)' *!!,5+5)8$/%(#*+.)(")R+/-$'-7)LQ=Q5)
#$11+#&#)')3+'<)%("<)/+&3++")8$8(%#)3(&*)*+'-("1)(68'(-6+"&)'".)+%(1(/(%(&7),!-)
S(#'/(%(&7)O(4("1)B%%!3'"0+)TSOBU:);+)&*+-+,!-+)8-!8!#+)&!)("0%$.+)&*+)8-!8!-&(!")!,)
0*(%.-+")+%(1(/%+),!-)SOB)'#)'")+%+6+"&)!,)&*+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)E+"#!-7)'".)K*7#(0'%)
,$".("1:) *'-&)>)(")B""+H) )#*!3#)&*+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)&*+)8+-0+"&'1+)&'<+)$8)!,)SOB)
/7)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&7:);+)8-!8!#+)&*'&)&*+)-+6'("("1),$".("1)(#)'%%!0'&+.)'#)'),%'&)-'&+:

+#$ B#)3(&*)BCD5)(&)(#)'##$6+.)&*'&)&*+)("0(.+"0+)!,)C"1%(#*)'#)'")B..(&(!"'%)O'"1$'1+)(#)
'##!0('&+.)3(&*)&*+)("0(.+"0+)!,)&*+)"++.:

86



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

"#$%&'() *+,% $))-%./0.-)/0)

2+*'3(!$-'%4)56!&(!"'%)'".)
7!0('%)8"&+-'0&(!"

9:;)<+=-(3'&(!")
>:;)?%'&)-'&+)=+-)=$=(%)

9@;

A!6+)5"3(-!"6+"& BCC;)<+=-(3'&(!") @;

 !1"(&(!")'".)D+'-"("1 BCC;)/E)F!&)G0*(+3("1)H!-+)
&*'")D+3+%)9)'&)I+E)7&'1+)9

JJ;

 !66$"(0'&(!")'".)8"&+-'0&(!" KC;)?%'&)L'&+)M+-)M$=(%N)BC;)
<+=-(3'&(!"

BO;

7+"#!-E)'".)M*E#(0'% OC;)?%'&)L'&+)M+-)M$=(%)
9C;)<DG)

O;

5"1%(#*)'#)'")G..(&(!"'%)
D'"1$'1+

BCC;)5"1%(#*)'#)'")G..(&(!"'%)
D'"1$'1+

B;

P&*+- BCC;)?%'&)L'&+)M+-)M$=(% O;

1234% 7!)&*+)-+%+3'"&)=-!=!-&(!")!,)&*+)/%!0Q)R(%%)/+).(#&-(/$&+.)$#("1)&*+)0!--+#=!".("1)
(".(0'&!-S)?!-)+T'6=%+4)R+)R(%%).(#&-(/$&+)9@)=+-)0+"&)!,)&*+)*(1*)0!#&)=$=(%#)/%!0Q),!-)
25784)9:)=+-)0+"&)!,)R*(0*)R(%%)/+)3(').+=-(3'&(!"4)'".)>:)=+-)0+"&)!,)R*(0*)R(%%)/+),%'&S)8")
&!&'%4):C)=+-)0+"&)(#).(#&-(/$&+.)3(')'),%'&)=+-)=$=(%)-'&+S)P,)&*+)-+6'(".+-4)JJ)=+-)0+"&)(#)
.(#&-(/$&+.)3(')')6+'#$-+)!,)&*!#+)=$=(%#)"!&)'0*(+3("1)*(1*+-)&*'")D+3+%)9)'&)I+E)7&'1+)
94)BU)=+-)0+"&)3(')').+=-(3'&(!")=-!TE4)9)=+-)0+"&)3(')&*+)&'Q+V$=)!,)<(#'/(%(&E)D(3("1)
G%%!R'"0+)'".)B)=+-)0+"&)3(')5"1%(#*)'#)'")'..(&(!"'%)%'"1$'1+S

123 % ?!-)&*+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,),$".("1),!-)*(1*)0!#&)=$=(%#)R+)'-+)"!&)!,,+-("1)')-'"1+)!,)!=&(!"#)
!&*+-)&*'"),!-)&*+)'%%!0'&(!")!,).+=-(3'&(!"),$".("14),!-)R*(0*)R+)=-!=!#+)&!)$#+)&*+)
.+=-(3'&(!")(".(0'&!-).+0(.+.)$=!"),!-)&*+)G5F)'%%!0'&(!"S)W*+)-'"1+)!,).+=-(3'&(!")
(".(0'&!-#)'-+)#+&)!$&)(") *'=&+-)JS

567)8%.99:)9

;)0<:(=)/6

1231% X+)0!"#(.+-+.)&*+)0'#+),!-)'")'%&+-"'&(3+)&!)&*+)0$--+"&)#E#&+6)R*+-+/E)&*+)'..(&(!"'%)
0!#&#)!,)*(1*)0!#&)=$=(%#4)'/!3+4)&*'&)'%%!R+.),!-)(")&*+)/'#(0)+"&(&%+6+"&4)'-+)6+&)/E)&*+)
%!0'%)'$&*!-(&E)R*+-+)&*+)=$=(%#)-+#(.+)-'&*+-)&*'"4)'#)R(&*)&*+)-+#&)!,)&*+),$".("1)#E#&+64)
&*+)=-!3(.+-)'$&*!-(&ES)53(.+"0+)#$11+#&#)&*'&)&*+-+)(#)"!)#&-!"1)#$==!-&),!-)')0*'"1+)
'".)R+)=-!=!#+)&!)-+&'(")&*+)0$--+"&)-+0!$=6+"&)#E#&+6),!-)=$=(%#)R(&*)#&'&+6+"&#)
+.$0'&+.)!$&#(.+)&*+)-+#(.+"&)'$&*!-(&ES)X+)R(%%)+"0!$-'1+)3!%$"&'-E)-+0!$=6+"&),!-)
=$=(%#)0%'##(,(+.)(")&*+)#0*!!%)'0&(!")'".)#0*!!%)'0&(!")=%$#)0'&+1!-(+#)R*!)'-+)+.$0'&+.)
!$&#(.+)&*+)-+#(.+"&)'$&*!-(&E)'".)R*!)*'3+)#(6(%'-)%+3+%#)!,)"++.)&!)#&'&+6+"&+.)=$=(%#S

87



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

"#$%&'(#))$**$#%$%+'#,'-.#/$*$#%

01!2' 2+)0!"#(.+-+.)3*+&*+-)/+&&+-)4'%$+),!-)5!"+6)'".7!-)8-!4(#(!"),!-)4+-6)*(1*)0!#&)8$8(%#)
0!$%.)/+)'0*(+4+.)&*-!$1*)9!("&)0!55(##(!"("1)/6)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#:);4(.+"0+)#$11+#&#)
,$-&*+-)3!-<)!")/$(%.("1)0'8'0(&6)'".)+=8+-(+"0+)3(&*(")%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)(#)"++.+.)
/+,!-+)#$0*)')#6#&+5)0!$%.)3!-<)+,,+0&(4+%6:)2+)3(%%)<++8)&*(#)(##$+)$".+-)-+4(+3:)>")
8'-&(0$%'-)3+)3(%%)#&$.6)*!3)&*+)"+3)8!#&?@A)#6#&+5B)3*(0*)3(%%)*'4+)')#&-!"1)-+1(!"'%)
+%+5+"&B)3!-<#)',&+-)8!#&?@A),$".("1)(#)&-'"#,+--+.)&!)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)(")CD@D:

345*&$#%*

6#'7#4'8+.55'9$&:'&:5')5&:#;#<#+7',#.';$*&.$=4&$%+')#%57',#.'>$+:'?#*&'@4-$<*A

88



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

Chapter 5 
Sparsity
Reflecting the additional costs of small primary schools 
in sparsely populated areas

"#$%&'()*+

,-./ 200+##)&!)*(1*)3$'%(&4)+.$0'&(!")'".)!&*+-)'0&(5(&(+#)'".)#+-5(0+#)#*!$%.)"!&).+6+".)!")
7*+-+)6$6(%#)%(5+8)9")6-'0&(0+)&*+)1+!1-'6*4)!,)&*+)%'".)'".)&*+)5'-(+&4)(").+"#(&4)!,)
6!6$%'&(!"):+'"#)&*'&)0+-&'(")'-+'#),'0+)'..(&(!"'%)0*'%%+"1+#)("):++&("1)&*'&).+:'".8

,-!/ 9");"1%'".<)=<=>?)6-(:'-4)#0*!!%#)*'5+),+7+-)&*'")@AB)6$6(%#<)!,)7*(0*)@<?=>)*'5+),+7+-)
&*'")CB)6$6(%#8)D(#+0!"!:(+#)!,)#0'%+):+'")&*'&)&*+#+)#:'%%+-)#0*!!%#)0!#&):!-+)6+-)
6$6(%)&!)-$"8)E!-)6-(:'-4)#0*!!%#)(")FBBGH@B<)&*+)'5+-'1+)/$.1+&)#*'-+)6+-)6$6(%)("0%$.("1)
IIJ<)IIJKLM<)IDJ<)'".)!&*+-)I&'".'-.)E$".)'%%!0'&(!"#)K+N0%$.("1)!6+"("1)'".)0%!#("1)
#0*!!%#M)(#)O=<C=B)(")#0*!!%#)!,),+7+-)&*'")CB)6$6(%#<),'%%("1)&!)OP<GBG)(")#0*!!%#)!,)CB)&!)
@=G)6$6(%#8)Q*+#+),(1$-+#)0!:6'-+)&!)')"'&(!"'%)'5+-'1+)!,)OP<?CF)6+-)6$6(%8

0$1((2/0345/6789: ;)<=5'/(>/0$1((2? ")+&5@/?1#'5/A5'/A)A32/
3*$2)+3*&/&'#*@?/

E+7+-)&*'")CB @<?=> O=<C=B

CB)&!)@=G F<CFG OP<GBG

@AB)!-):!-+ @F<PC= OP<A@F

2%%)6-(:'-4)#0*!!%# @?<C?B OP<?CF

,- / R+)'00+6&)&*'&)#!:+)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)7(%%)*'5+)"!)-+'%(#&(0)'%&+-"'&(5+)&!):'("&'("("1)
#:'%%)6-(:'-4)#0*!!%#<)(")7*'&)'-+)&46(0'%%4)-$-'%)'-+'#<)(")!-.+-)&!).+%(5+-)+.$0'&(!")&!)
&*+(-)6$6(%#8)Q*+4)#*!$%.)/+)#$66!-&+.)&!):++&)&*+)"+0+##'-4)'..(&(!"'%)0!#&#)&*-!$1*)
&*+)DIJ),!-:$%'8

,-B/ Q*+)R*(&+)L'6+-) !"#$%&'()*$ !"#$+,&!!(-*$."#$/"0"#12$3"'()'45$6$78-0$%140"#9$+,&!!(-$+9-01:)
-+0!1"(#+.)&*+)(:6!-&'"0+)!,)-$-'%)#0*!!%#<)'".)(".(0'&+.)&*'&)&*+).+5+%!6:+"&)!,)
6'-&"+-#*(6)7!-S("1)/+&7++")&*+:)(#)(:6!-&'"&)&!)&*+(-)%!"1+-)&+-:)#$#&'("'/(%(&48)Q*+)
J!5+-":+"&)*'#)#(1"'%%+.)&*'&)(&)7'"&#)&!)#++)&*+)#:'%%)#0*!!%#)#$/#(.4)$#+.),!-)&*(#)
6$-6!#+8)Q*(#)7!$%.)/-("1)&7!):'T!-)/+"+,(&#)&!)-$-'%)0!::$"(&(+#8)E(-#&%4<)#0*!!%#)"++.)
&!)7!-S)&!1+&*+-)&!).+%(5+-)&*+),$%%)-'"1+)!,)&+'0*("1)'".)%+'-"("1<)'0&(5(&(+#)'".)#$66!-&)
&*'&)0*(%.-+").+#+-5+8)U4)7!-S("1)&!1+&*+-<)#0*!!%#)(")-$-'%)'-+'#)7(%%)/+)(")')/+&&+-)
6!#(&(!")&!)(:6-!5+)!$&0!:+#),!-)&*+(-)0*(%.-+")&*'")7!-S("1)'%!"+8)I+0!".%4<)#0*!!%#)
&*'&)7!-S)&!1+&*+-)7(%%)/+)/+&&+-)'/%+)&!).+%(5+-)+0!"!:(+#)!,)#0'%+)&*-!$1*)#$0*)'0&(!"#)
'#)+:6%!4("1)#*'-+.)/$#("+##):'"'1+-#<)'1-++("1)T!("&)+"+-14)0!"&-'0&#)'".)!&*+-)
:+'#$-+#)&*'&).+%(5+-)+,,(0(+"0(+#8)9"5+#&("1)&*+)'..(&(!"'%):!"+4)&*'&)#:'%%)#0*!!%#)

89



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)   

-+0+(2+)("&!)#$0*)3'-&"+-#*(3#)4(%%)"!&)!"%5)*+%3)&!)(63-!2+)0*(%.-+"7#)!$&0!6+#8)/$&)
#*!$%.)'%#!)/+)')6+'"#)!,)#+0$-("1)&*+),$&$-+)!,)#6'%%)-$-'%)#0*!!%#9

!"!# :6'%%)#0*!!%#)3%'5)')2(&'%)-!%+);)/$&)&*+5)0!#&)6!-+)3+-)3$3(%)&!)-$"9)<*+-+)&*+5)'-+)
"+0+##'-5)(&)(#)(63!-&'"&)&*'&)4+)0!"&("$+)&!)#$33!-&)&*+69)=$-'%)#0*!!%#)3%'5)'")("&+1-'%)
-!%+)(")%!0'%)0!66$"(&(+#8)!,&+")/+("1)0+"&-'%)&!)2(%%'1+)%(,+9)>!4+2+-8)4+)#*!$%.)3-!2(.+)
'..(&(!"'%),$".("1)&!)"!&)#$33!-&)#6'%%)#0*!!%#)4*+-+)&*+5)*'33+")&!)+?(#&)/+0'$#+)!,)
*(#&!-(0'%)'00(.+"&)!-)/+0'$#+)&*+)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&5)0*!!#+#)&!)0!",(1$-+)(&#)3-!2(#(!")(")')
4'5)4*(0*).+0-+'#+#)(&#)'/(%(&5)&!)1+"+-'&+)+0!"!6(+#)!,)#0'%+9

$%&'()*+#,&-*.'#&/0#.%*)./(

!"1# <*(%#&)4+)0!$%.).+2(#+)'),!-6$%')4*(0*)0!$%.)'%%!0'&+),$".("1),!-)'%%)#6'%%)#0*!!%#8)4+)
0!"#(.+-)&*'&)&*(#)0!$%.)-+6!2+)'")("0+"&(2+)&!)6'("&'(")!-).+2+%!3)'")+,,(0(+"&)#0*!!%)
!-1'"(#'&(!"9)@&)(#8)&*+-+,!-+8)"+0+##'-5)&!)$#+)')6+'#$-+)&!)'%%!0'&+),$".("1)&*'&).!+#)"!&)
("*+-+"&%5)$#+)#0*!!%)#(A+)'#)'),'0&!-)/$&)6'("&'("#)')%!1(0'%)%("B9

!"2# <*+-+)&*+-+)(#)')2+-5)%!4).+"#(&5)!,)3$3(%#)(")'")'-+'8)&*(#)#$11+#&#)')"++.),!-)#6'%%)
#0*!!%#9)<+)*'2+).+0(.+.8)&*+-+,!-+8)(")B++3("1)4(&*)3-+2(!$#),!-6$%'+8)&!)#$33!-&)
3-+.!6("'&+%5)-$-'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)&*-!$1*)')#3'-#(&5),'0&!-)/'#+.)$3!")&*+)#3'-#(&5)!,)&*+)
+'-%5)5+'-#)'".)3-(6'-5)3$3(%)3!3$%'&(!"#9

34*5.0.6.7+

!"8# C*+-+)'-+)&*-++)(##$+#)&!)/+)0!"#(.+-+.)4*+").+2+%!3("1)')#3'-#(&5),'0&!-D

 l C*+)#!$-0+)!,).'&')&!)/+)$#+.E

 l C*+)&*-+#*!%.#)&!)'33%5)4*+").+,("("1)#3'-#(&5)'".)#$3+-)#3'-#(&5E)'".

 l C*+)1+!1-'3*5)&!)4*(0*)4+)'-+)'33%5("1)&*+)#3'-#(&5)6+'#$-+9

9&*&#(.:'-4(

!";# C*+).(#&-(/$&(!")(")FGGHIGJ8)4*(0*)$".+-3("#)&*+):3+".)K%$#)#5#&+68)$#+.)(",!-6'&(!")
,-!6)&*+)FGGL)M'&(!"'%)K!3$%'&(!") +"#$#)&!).+#0-(/+)*!4)#3'-#+)&*+)3!3$%'&(!")!,)')
%!0'%)'$&*!-(&5)4'#9)C*(#)0+"#$#).'&')(#)0!%%+0&+.)+2+-5)&+")5+'-#8)0!2+-("1)&*+)4*!%+)
3!3$%'&(!"8)'".)&*+)FGLL)0+"#$#)4!$%.)"!&)/+)'2'(%'/%+)(")&(6+)&!)/+)$#+.),!-)&*+)"+4)
,!-6$%'9

!"<=# @"),$&$-+)&*+-+,!-+8)4+)3-!3!#+)&!)$#+)&*+)*!6+)3!#&0!.+).'&')(")&*+)'""$'%)#0*!!%)
0+"#$#+#9)C*+#+)'-+)0!%%+0&+.)'""$'%%5)'".8)'#)')3$3(%)0+"#$#8)4!$%.)6!-+)'00$-'&+%5)
-+,%+0&)&*+)#3'-#(&5)!,)&*+)3$3(%)3!3$%'&(!"9

>5'4(5.60(#*.#?4#&%%6)40

!"<<# N$-)#&'-&("1)3!("&),!-)&*+)#3'-#(&5)'"'%5#(#)*'#)/++")&*+)&*-+#*!%.#)$#+.),!-)&*+)FGGHIGJ)
.(#&-(/$&(!"9)C*+)&*-+#*!%.#)!,)O)3+-#!"#)3+-)*+0&'-+),!-)#3'-#(&5)'".)G9H)3+-#!"#)3+-)
*+0&'-+),!-)#$3+-I#3'-#(&5)4+-+)#+&)'#)')6+'#$-+)!,)#3'-#(&5)'0-!##)'%%)'1+#9)@&),!%%!4#)&*'&)
4*+")0!"#(.+-("1)#0*!!%)'1+)3!3$%'&(!")!"%58)&*+)&*-+#*!%.#)"++.)&!)/+)'.P$#&+.)&!)

90



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

-+,%+0&)&*+)"+2)3!3$%'&(!"4)5+)0'").!)#!)$#("1)&*+)3-!3!-&(!")!,)&*+)3!3$%'&(!")'1+.)
6789)'#)-+0!-.+.)!")&*+):998)"'&(!"'%)0+"#$#4);#)&*+)6789)3!3$%'&(!")-+3-+#+"&+.)<$#&)
!=+-)89>)!,)&*+):998)0+"#$#)3!3$%'&(!"?)&*+)#0'%+.),'0&!-#)2!$%.)/+)94@9A),!-)#3'-#(&B)
'".)949C8),!-)#$3+-7#3'-#(&B4)D*+)&'/%+)/+%!2)1(=+#)&*+)'.<$#&+.),'0&!-#4

"#$%&'($()%*+,$-'  ./0'12'$%34

E-!3!-&(!")!,)3!3$%'&(!")F):998) +"#$# 899> 894:>

G-.("'-B)#3'-#(&B)&*-+#*!%.)H3+-#!"#)3+-)*+0&'-+I) @ 94@9A

J$3+-7#3'-#(&B)&*-+#*!%.)H3+-#!"#)3+-)*+0&'-+I 94C 949C8

5&$62*(#1'72$8'9#,:#'9&'3&2,;&'+#&'4(*24,+1'8&*4)2&

<=/>' E-+=(!$#%B?)&*+)+%+0&!-'%)2'-.)1+!1-'3*B)2'#)$#+.)&!).+-(=+)&*+)#3'-#(&B)K+'#$-+4);#)
2'-.#)0'")='-B).-'K'&(0'%%B)(")1+!1-'3*(0)#(L+)'".)3!3$%'&(!").+"#(&B?)&*+)$#+)!,)K!-+)
-+1$%'-)1+!1-'3*(+#)/'#+.)$3!")&*+)"'&(!"'%)0+"#$#)G$&3$&);-+')1+!1-'3*B)2'#)
+M3%!-+.4)D*+)N(..%+)J$3+-)G$&3$&);-+')3-!=(.+#)')-+3%'0+K+"&)&!)&*+)2'-.)1+!1-'3*B)
/$&)3-!=(.+#)')0!K3'-'/%+)"$K/+-)!,)1+!1-'3*(0)$"(&#)&!)&*'&)!,)2'-.#4)5+)&*+-+,!-+)
3-!3!#+)&!)0!$"&)&*+)"$K/+-)!,)#3'-#+)'".)#$3+-7#3'-#+)3$3(%#)(")+=+-B)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&B)
H#!K+)2(%%)!,)0!$-#+)*'=+)"!"+I)'".)K$%&(3%B)&*'&)"$K/+-)/B)0*!#+")$"(&)0!#&#)&!)
.+&+-K("+)&*+)'..(&(!"'%)'K!$"&)!,),$".("1),!-)#3'-#(&B),!-)+'0*)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&B4)D*+)
K+&*!.)!,).+-(=("1)&*+)$"(&)0!#&)2!$%.)/+)&*+)#'K+)'#)&*'&)$#+.),!-)&*+):99C79O)
.(#&-(/$&(!"?)2*(0*)0'%0$%'&+#)&*+)'..(&(!"'%)0!#&#)!,)#K'%%)#0*!!%#)'#)0!K3'-+.)&!)%'-1+-)
#0*!!%#4)P".+-)&*+)3-+=(!$#)#B#&+K)')#K'%%)#0*!!%)2'#).+,("+.)'#)*'=("1)8C9)QDR)3$3(%#)
!-),+2+-)/$&)&*+)'"'%B#(#)'%#!)&!!S)'00!$"&)!,)&*+)*(1*+-)0!#&#),!-)=+-B)#K'%%)#0*!!%#?)
.+,("+.)'#)A9)QDR)3$3(%#)!-),+2+-4)

?(+,$-4

<=/ ' 5+)3-!3!#+)&2!)!3&(!"#),!-)&*+)#3'-#(&B),'0&!-T)')/-!'.)!3&(!")2*(0*)("0%$.+#)K!-+)%!0'%)
'$&*!-(&(+#)!-)')"'--!2+-)!3&(!"4

@2$*3'$(+,$-

<=/!' D*+)&*-+#*!%.#)0!$%.)-+K'(")'#)94@9A)3$3(%#)3+-)*+0&'-+)H#3'-#+I)'".)949C8)3+-)*+0&'-+)
H#$3+-7#3'-#+I?)2*(0*)+U$'&+#)&!)&*+)2*!%+)3!3$%'&(!")&*-+#*!%.#)3-+=(!$#%B)$#+.)!,)@)
3+-#!"#)3+-)*+0&'-+)H#3'-#+I)'".)94C)3+-)*+0&'-+)H#$3+-7#3'-#+I4'D*(#)2!$%.?)'&)0$--+"&)
,(1$-+#?)-+#$%&)(")89@)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)-+0+(=("1)'..(&(!"'%)K!"+B),!-)#3'-#(&B?)2(&*)849V)
K(%%(!")3$3(%#).++K+.)#3'-#+)!-)#$3+-7#3'-#+4

A*22$9'$(+,$-

<=/<' 5+)0!$%.)-+.$0+)&*+#+)&*-+#*!%.#)(")!-.+-)&!)&'-1+&)K!-+)K!"+B)'&)&*+)K!#&)#3'-#+%B)
3!3$%'&+.)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#4)W+.$0("1)&*+)&*-+#*!%.#)&!)949VV)H#3'-#+I)'".)949:)H#$3+-7
#3'-#+I)2!$%.)K+'")&*'&)'-!$".)699?999)3$3(%#)'-+).++K+.)#3'-#+)!-)#$3+-7#3'-#+?)')
"$K/+-)#(K(%'-)&!)&*+)3$3(%#)2*!)0$--+"&%B)'&&+".)#K'%%)HX8C9QDR#I)-$-'%)3-(K'-B)#0*!!%#?)

91



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

'-!$".)23454446)7".+-)&*+#+)'%&+-+.)&*-+#*!%.#)88)'$&*!-(&(+#)9!$%.)-+0+(:+)#;'-#(&<)
=!"+<5)+"'/%("1)$#)&!)("0-+'#+)&*+)$"(&)0!#&),!-)+'0*)#;'-#+);$;(%6)>*!#+)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)
9(&*)&*+)1-+'&+-)"++.),!-)#;'-#(&<)=!"+<)9!$%.)/+"+,(&6

!"#$%  *'-&#)(%%$#&-'&("1)&*+)#;'-#(&<)'".)#$;+-?#;'-#(&<)=+'#$-+#),!-)+'0*)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&<)'".)
&*+)0!=;!#(&+)#;'-#(&<)(".+@5)$".+-)/!&*)/-!'.)'".)"'--!9)!;&(!"#5)0'")/+),!$".)(")
A""+@) 5) *'-&#)B45)BB)'".)B26)C&)#*!$%.)/+)"!&+.)&*'&)&*+)("0-+'#+.)$"(&)0!#&)$".+-)&*+)
"'--!9)!;&(!")=+'"#)&*'&)')%!9+-)(".+@)!")&*+)"'--!9)!;&(!").!+#)"!&)(".(0'&+)')
-+.$0+.)'%%!0'&(!"6

&'(')*+,-%.%/')0,1.23%/4.2/+*3%5.)*02

!"#6% D+)0!"#(.+-+.)&*+)0'#+),!-)'),'0&!-),!-)#='%%)#+0!".'-<)#0*!!%#)'#)9+%%)'#);-(='-<5)'".)
.(#0$##+.)&*(#)9(&*)&*+)E!-=$%')F+:(+9)G-!$;6)>*+-+)'-+)&*-++)-+%+:'"&)(##$+#H

 l 9*+&*+-)&*+-+)'-+)+"!$1*)#='%%)#+0!".'-<)#0*!!%#)&!)9'--'"&)').+.(0'&+.)#;'-#(&<)
,'0&!-)'".)9*+&*+-)&*+(-)!00$--+"0+)0'")/+);-+.(0&+.)/<)')#;'-#(&<)=+'#$-+I

 l 9*+&*+-)!-)"!&)#='%%)#+0!".'-<)#0*!!%#)-+J$(-+)=!-+)&+'0*+-#);+-);$;(%)&*'")!&*+-)
#0*!!%#I)'".

 l (,)"!&5)9*+&*+-)&*'&)=+'"#)&*'&)#='%%)#+0!".'-<)#0*!!%#)'-+)$"'/%+)&!).+%(:+-)#$,,(0(+"&)
0*!(0+)(")&*+)KLM)0$--(0$%$=6

!"#7% >*+-+)(#)"!)0%+'-)&*-+#*!%.),!-).+,("("1)')#='%%)#+0!".'-<)#0*!!%6)A"'%<#(#);-+#+"&+.)&!)
NELG)$#+.)844)E>N)'#)')&*-+#*!%.6)F+;+'&("1)&*+)'"'%<#(#),!-)#+0!".'-<)#0*!!%#)9(&*)&*(#)
.+,("(&(!")0!",(-=+.)&*+-+)9'#)"!)-!/$#&)%("O)/+&9++")#='%%)#+0!".'-<)#0*!!%#)'".)
#;'-#(&<6)P"%<)9*+")&*+).+,("(&(!")!,)')#='%%)#+0!".'-<)#0*!!%)("0-+'#+.)&!)Q44)&!)344)E>N)
.(.)&*+)'"'%<#(#)/+0!=+)-!/$#&6)R!9+:+-5)(&)/+0!=+#).(,,(0$%&)&!)'-1$+)&*'&)#0*!!%#)!,)&*(#)
#(S+)'-+)T#='%%U6

!"#8% E$-&*+-)'"'%<#(#)9'#)$".+-&'O+")&!)+@;%!-+)&*+)0'#+),!-)')T#='%%)#0*!!%#U),'0&!-),!-)
#+0!".'-<)#0*!!%#6)>*+)-+%'&(!"#*(;)/+&9++")&*+)"$=/+-)!,),$%%)&(=+)+J$(:'%+"&)&+'0*+-#)
'".);$;(%#)9'#)+@;%!-+.)&!).+&+-=("+)(,)#='%%)#0*!!%#),'0+.)1-+'&+-),$".("1);-+##$-+#)
.$+)&!);-!:(.("1)=!-+)&+'0*+-#6)>*+)'"'%<#(#)#$11+#&+.)&*'&)&*+-+)(#)"!)+:(.+"0+)&*'&)
#='%%)#0*!!%#)*'.).(#;-!;!-&(!"'&+%<)=!-+)&+'0*+-#)&*'")!&*+-)#0*!!%#6)>*+-+,!-+5)&*+-+)
9!$%.)!"%<)/+)')0'#+),!-)'..(&(!"'%),$".("1)(,)(&)0!$%.)/+)#*!9")&*'&)#='%%)#0*!!%#)9+-+)
$"'/%+)&!);-!:(.+)&*+)#'=+)-'"1+)!,)#$/V+0&#)'#)')0!"#+J$+"0+)!,)"!&)*':("1)'#)='"<)
&+'0*+-#)'".)&*+-+,!-+);!&+"&('%%<).(#'.:'"&'1("1)&*+(-);$;(%#6

!"9:% D+)'"'%<#+.)&*+)"$=/+-)!,)#$/V+0&#)!")!,,+-)'&)+'0*)#0*!!%)$#("1)G LN).'&'5)0!"#(.+-("1)
#(=(%'-)#$/V+0&#)'#)/+%!"1("1)&!)&*+)#'=+),'=(%<)'".)0!"0%$.+.)&*'&)&*+-+)(#)#(1"(,(0'"&)
:'-('&(!"6)D*(%#&)&*+)"$=/+-)!,)#$/V+0&#)':'(%'/%+)("0-+'#+#)&!)#!=+)+@&+"&)9(&*)#0*!!%)
#(S+5)&*+-+)(#)'%#!):+-<)9(.+):'-('&(!")(")&*+)"$=/+-)!,)#$/V+0&#)':'(%'/%+)(")#0*!!%#)!,)
#(=(%'-)#(S+#6)>*(#):'-('&(!")#$11+#&#)&*'&)&*+)"++.),!-)')#+0!".'-<)#;'-#(&<),'0&!-)*'#)"!&)
/++");-!:+.)'#)#0*!!%#)9(&*)#(=(%'-),$".("1)'-+)'/%+)&!);-!:(.+)=!-+)#$/V+0&),'=(%(+#)
&*'")!&*+-)#0*!!%#6)>*+-+)9(%%)/+)'..(&(!"'%)*!=+)&!)#0*!!%)&-'"#;!-&)0!#&#),!-)#+0!".'-<)
#0*!!%#)(")#;'-#+)'-+'#5)/$&)#$0*)0!#&#)'-+)0!:+-+.)(")&*+) !==$"(&(+#)'".)W!0'%)
G!:+-"=+"&)X WGY)1+"+-'%)%!0'%)1!:+-"=+"&),$".("1)'--'"1+=+"&#6

92



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

"#$%& 2+%'&+.)&!)&*(#)3'#)&*+)(##$+)'/!$&)&*+)'/(%(&4)!,)#+0!".'-4)#0*!!%#)(")-$-'%)'-+'#)&!)!,,+-)')
,$%%)-'"1+)!,)5(6%!7'#)'#)&*+#+)/+0!7+)'8'(%'/%+9):$".("1),!-)5(6%!7'#)(#)0$--+"&%4)
6-!8(.+.)&*-!$1*)')#6+0(,(0)1-'"&)'".)&*(#)(#)#+&)&!)0!"&("$+)!8+-)&*+)"+;&),+3)4+'-#)'#)
5(6%!7'#)0!"&("$+)&!)-!%%)!$&9)<(&*(")&*+)0$--+"&)5(6%!7')1-'"&)(#)')#6'-#(&4)+%+7+"&)&!)
-+,%+0&)&*+)'..(&(!"'%)0!#&#)!,)6-!8(.("1)5(6%!7'#)(")-$-'%)'-+'#9)<+)/+%(+8+)&*'&)&*+-+)(#)
"!)0'#+),!-)'..(&(!"'%),$".("1)&*-!$1*)&*+)5=>9

'()*+,-.*

/-&0-(&123))&+41+&+4)&*54--6&5).*(*&1.7&8,776)&9(:)3&;(+:(+&<3)1&13)&+4)&3,24+&71+1&
*-(35)*&1.7&2)-231:40&+-&(*)&+-&1**)**&+4)&*:13*,+0&-=&1.&13)1>

?4,54&@)+4-7&=-3&5165(61+,.2&+4)&*:13*,+0&=15+-3&7-&0-(&+4,.A&B,66&C)*+&).1C6)&177,+,-.16&
=(.7,.2&+-&3)154&+4-*)&6-516&1(+4-3,+,)*&+41+&.))7&+-&@1,.+1,.&*@166&*54--6*&D&+4)&C3-17&
-3&.133-B&-:+,-.>

/-&0-(&123))&+41+&+4)3)&*4-(67&.-+&C)&1&*)5-.7130&*:13*,+0&=15+-3>

93



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

Chapter 6 
Area Cost Adjustment
Reflecting labour costs in different areas

"#$%&'()*+

,-./ 2*+)0!#&)!,)3-!4(.("1)0!53'-'/%+)#+-4(0+#)(")&6!)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)6(%%)!,&+").(,,+-7)2*+)
8-+') !#&)8.9$#&5+"&):8 8;)-+,%+0&#)&*+)"++.),!-)#0*!!%#)(")#!5+)'-+'#)&!)3'<)*(1*+-)
#'%'-(+#)'".)&!)3'<)5!-+)&!)-+0-$(&)'".)-+&'(")#&',,7)=")&*+)>??@),!-5$%')(&)6'#)0'%0$%'&+.)
!")&*+)/'#(#)!,).(,,+-+"0+#)/+&6++")'$&*!-(&(+#)(")%'/!$-)0!#&#A)6(&*)')#5'%%)'..(&(!")
-+%'&+.)&!)/$#("+##)-'&+#7)=")&+-5#)!,)%'/!$-)0!#&#)&*+-+)'-+).(-+0&)0!#&#A)#$0*)'#)&+'0*+-#A)
+.$0'&(!")#$33!-&)#&',,A)'.5("(#&-'&(4+)#&',,A)0%+'"+-#)'".)0'&+-("1)#&',,A)'".)(".(-+0&)0!#&#)
("0%$.("1)-+0-$(&5+"&)'".)-+&+"&(!")0!#&#7)2*+-+)'-+)'%#!)0!#&#)'##!0('&+.)6(&*)3-!4(.("1)
#&',,)0!4+-7)2*+)8 8)(#)("&+".+.)&!)-+,%+0&)1+!1-'3*(0'%)4'-('&(!"#)(")#&',,)0!#&#)'".)
#*!$%.)"!&)-+,%+0&)%!0'%).+0(#(!"#)6*(0*)-+#$%&)(")4'-('&(!"#),!-)!&*+-),'0&!-#)#$0*)'#)'1+A)
#+BA)+.$0'&(!")%+4+%A)'".)!00$3'&(!")5(B7

,-0/ 2+'0*+-#C)3'<)(#).+&+-5("+.)"'&(!"'%%<)!")&*+)-+0!55+".'&(!")!,)&*+)D0*!!%)2+'0*+-#C)
E+4(+6)F!.<):D2EF;7)2*+-+)'-+),!$-)3'<)/'".#)0!4+-("1)G"1%'".)'".)H'%+#)'".)&*+)+,,+0&)
!,)')"'&(!"'%)3'<)#<#&+5)(#)&!)-+.$0+)&*+)4'-('&(!")'0-!##)&*+)0!$"&-<)(")&*+).(-+0&)0!#&#)!,)
+53%!<("1)&+'0*+-#7)2*+)3'<)!,)"!"I&+'0*("1)#&',,)(#)"!&)0$--+"&%<)#$/9+0&)&!)#(5(%'-)
'--'"1+5+"&#)/$&)#&'&$&!-<)3-!4(#(!"#),!-)')"'&(!"'%)"+1!&('&("1)/!.<),!-)#$0*)#&',,)6+-+)
3'##+.)'#)3'-&)!,)&*+)833-+"&(0+#*(3#A)DJ(%%#A) *(%.-+")'".)K+'-"("1)80&)>??L7)

,- / 8)-+4(+6)!,)&*+)5!#&)'33-!3-('&+)#<#&+5)!,)-+,%+0&("1)'-+')0!#&).(,,+-+"0+#),!-)+.$0'&(!")
6'#)%'#&)$".+-&'J+")(")>??>7)2*-++)/-!'.)'33-!'0*+#)6+-+)0!"#(.+-+.M

#-/ &*+)1+"+-'%)%'/!$-)5'-J+&):NKO;)'33-!'0*A)6*(0*)0'%0$%'&+#)'")+"*'"0+5+"&)/'#+.)
!")&*+)6'1+#)!,)+53%!<++#)(")1+"+-'%)(").(,,+-+"&)'-+'#P

1-/ &*+)#3+0(,(0)0!#&)'33-!'0*A)$#("1)'0&$'%)K!".!")6+(1*&("1)3'<5+"&#)&!)&+'0*+-#)'".)
!&*+-)#&',,)&!)0'%0$%'&+)&*+)+"*'"0+5+"&P)'".

$-/ '")'33-!'0*)/'#+.)!").(,,+-+"0+#)/+&6++")'-+'#)(")&*+)0!#&)!,)%(4("1)-'&*+-)&*'")
.(,,+-+"0+#)(")6'1+#)'".)#'%'-<)%+4+%#)'#)6(&*):';)'".):/;)'/!4+7

23*3'#4/4#1()'/5#'%36/#77'(#$8

,-9/ 2*+)1+"+-'%)%'/!$-)5'-J+&)'33-!'0*)%!!J+.)'&)&*+)-+%'&(4+)3'<)!,)4'-(!$#)1-!$3#)!,)
6!-J+-#)(").(,,+-+"&)1+!1-'3*(0'%)'-+'#A)'#)#*!6")(")&*+)Q+6)G'-"("1#)D$-4+<):"!6)&*+)
8""$'%)D$-4+<)!,)R!$-#)'".)G'-"("1#;7)2*+)$".+-%<("1)3-("0(3%+)!,)&*(#)'33-!'0*)(#)&*'&)
&+'0*+-#)'".)!&*+-)+.$0'&(!")6!-J+-#)'-+)3'-&)!,)')1+"+-'%)%'/!$-)5'-J+&)#!)%!0'%)
'$&*!-(&<)+53%!<+-#)*'4+)&!)0!53+&+)6(&*)!&*+-)+53%!<+-#A)5'"<)(")&*+)3-(4'&+)#+0&!-A)
(")!-.+-)&!)-+0-$(&)'".)-+&'(")#$,,(0(+"&)#&',,)!,)&*+)"+0+##'-<)S$'%(&<7)H*+-+)3-(4'&+)#+0&!-)
6'1+#)'-+)*(1*+-A)#!)#*!$%.)&*!#+)(")&*+)3$/%(0)#+0&!-)/+)'".)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)(")&*+#+)

94



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

'-+'#)"++.)&!)/+)0!23+"#'&+.)4(&*)*(1*+-),$".("1)(")!-.+-)&!)0!23+&+)4(&*)3-(5'&+)
#+0&!-)+23%!6+-#)!")')%+5+%)3%'6("1),(+%.7

"#$% 8*+)2+&*!.!%!16),!-)&*+)3-+5(!$#),!-2$%')$#+.)&*+)9:;)'33-!'0*7

&'()*+*)%),-.%/''0,/)1

"#"% 8*+)#3+0(,(0)0!#&)'33-!'0*)0!"#(.+-+.)/'0<)(")=>>=)0!"0+"&-'&+.)!")&*+):!".!")
4+(1*&("1)3'62+"&#)4*(0*)'-+)'0&$'%%6)2'.+)&!)&+'0*+-#)'".)!&*+-)#&',,7)

"#2% :!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)4!$%.)/+)1(5+")+?&-')-+#!$-0+#).+3+".("1)!")*!4)2$0*)&*+6)'0&$'%%6)
*'5+)&!)3'6)&*+(-)#&',,@)&*+-+/6)3-!5(.("1)')%("<)/+&4++")-'&+#)!,)3'6),!-)&+'0*+-#)'".)
!&*+-)#&',,@)'".)&*+)'..(&(!"'%),$".("1)3-!5(.+.)&!)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#7

3%4,-.%,+%5*6*78%/''0,/)1

"#!% 8*+)0!#&)!,)%(5("1)'33-!'0*)("5!%5+.).+-(5("1)'")(".+?)!,)-+%'&(5+)*!$#+)3-(0+#)'#)&*+)
/'#(#),!-)0'%0$%'&("1)&*+)A A7)8*+)(".+?)4!$%.)'0&)'#)')3-!?6),!-).(,,+-+"0+#)(")#&',,)0!#&#)
'0-!##)&*+)0!$"&-67)B!$#("1)0!#&#)4+-+)0*!#+")'#)'00!22!.'&(!")0!#&#)&'<+)&*+)/(11+#&)
#*'-+)!,)("0!2+)'".)4+-+)2+"&(!"+.)'#)'")(23!-&'"&),'0&!-)',,+0&("1)+23%!6++#C)
.+0(#(!"#)&!)4!-<)(")!"+)'-+')-'&*+-)&*'")'"!&*+-7)8*(#)'33-!'0*)4!$%.)&*+-+,!-+)'&&+23&)
&!).+'%).(-+0&%6)4(&*)&*+)2'(")/'--(+-)&!)-+0-$(&2+"&)'".)-+&+"&(!"7

"#9% ;!-+).+&'(%)!")*!4)&*+)0$--+"&)A A)2+&*!.!%!16)!3+-'&+#)(#)#+&)!$&)(")A""+?)A7

:6*;(7)(%+,0%/%7(<%+,0=>5/

"#?@% D4 )4+-+)0!22(##(!"+.)&!)0!"#(.+-)*!4),$".("1)4(&*(")EF9)0'")/+#&)-+,%+0&)&*+)
.(,,+-("1)%'/!$-)0!#&#)'0-!##)&*+)0!$"&-6@)("0%$.("1)&!)-+3!-&)!")#$0*)(##$+#)'#G

 l 8*+).(,,+-+"&)2+&*!.#)$#+.)&!)0!"#&-$0&)'")A-+') !#&)A.H$#&2+"&@)("0%$.("1)&*!#+)
$#+.)/6)!&*+-).+3'-&2+"&#)'".)'1+"0(+#I

 l 8*+)0$--+"&)#&-$0&$-+)!,)&*+),!$-)3'6)/'".#)&!)#++)4*+&*+-)&*+6)0$--+"&%6)*+%3)&*!#+)
'-+'#),'0("1)&*+)2!#&)#(1"(,(0'"&)%'/!$-)2'-<+&)0*'%%+"1+#I

 l 8*+)2+-(&#)!,).(,,+-+"&)'33-!'0*+#)&!)'")A A7

A(5/.*,7-1*'%B(.<((7%.1(%343%/7;%.1(%.(/)1(0-C%'/D%B/7;-

"#??% J+%+5'"&)&!)!$-)0!"#(.+-'&(!")!,)&*+)2!#&)'33-!3-('&+)A A),!-)&*+)EF9)(#)*!4)(&)("&+-'0&#)
4(&*)&*+)&+'0*+-#C)3'6/'".#7)8*+)0!#&)!,)&+'0*+-#C)#'%'-(+#)(#)&*+)#("1%+)%'-1+#&)+%+2+"&)!,)
#&',,)0!#&#)'".)&*+-+)(#)&*+-+,!-+)')0'#+),!-)&*+)A A)&!)-+,%+0&@)'&)%+'#&)(")3'-&@).(,,+-+"0+#)
/+&4++")&*+)3'6)/'".#7)K,)&*'&)(#)"!&)&*+)0'#+@)0*'"1+#)&!)&*+)3'6/'".#)4(%%)"!&)-+#$%&)(")
0*'"1+#)&!),$".("1)%+5+%#)'".)&*(#)0!$%.)',,+0&)&*+)'/(%(&6)!,)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)&!)
(23%+2+"&)#$0*)0*'"1+#7

"#?E% 8*+)0$--+"&) :9)A A)1+!1-'3*(+#)$#+.),!-)&*+)+.$0'&(!")A A)'".)'%#!)&*+)3'6/'".)
1+!1-'3*(+#)'-+)#+&)!$&)(")A""+?)L7)8*(#)#*!4#)&*'&)&*+-+)(#)#!2+)2(#'%(1"2+"&)/+&4++")
&*+)&4!)1+!1-'3*(+#7)K")3'-&(0$%'-@)L-+"&@)L'-<("1)'".)E'1+"*'2@)M'%("1@)B'-("1+6@)

95



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

2+-&!")'".)3+4*'5)'-+)'##(1"+.)&!)!$&+-)6!".!")762)-+1(!"#)/$&)'-+)("0%$.+.)(")&*+)
(""+-)6!".!")8'9/'".:

"#$%&'()*&+)$,-).+-/)0&($).123($4-'$

567 ) ;+)*'<+)0!"#(.+-+.)&*+),!$-)1+"+-(0)!8&(!"#)(.+"&(,(+.)/9)=4 >

 l &*+)1+"+-'%)%'/!$-)5'-?+&)'88-!'0*)@)4*(0*)$#+#)4'1+#)(")&*+)4(.+-)%'/!$-)5'-?+&)&!)
-+,%+0&).(,,+-+"0+#)/+&4++")'-+'#A

 l &*+)0!#&)!,)%(<("1)'88-!'0*)@)4*(0*)$#+#)<'-('&(!"#)(")&*+)0!#&)!,)%(<("1)'0-!##).(,,+-+"&)
'-+'#A

 l &*+)#8+0(,(0)0!#&)'88-!'0*)@)4*(0*)$#+#)'0&$'%)0!#&#)!,)-+0-$(&("1)'".)+58%!9("1)#&',,A)
'".

 l ')*9/-(.)5+&*!.)4*(0*)0!5/("+#)&4!)!-)5!-+)!,)&*+)'/!<+)'88-!'0*+#:

5678) ;+)0!"#(.+-)&*'&)"+(&*+-)&*+)0!#&)!,)%(<("1)'88-!'0*)"!-)')8$-+)#8+0(,(0)0!#&)'88-!'0*)(#)')
-+'%(#&(0)!8&(!"),!-)&*+)B B:

5679) ;*(%#&)(&)4!$%.)/+)8!##(/%+)&!).+<+%!8)')0!#&)!,)%(<("1)'88-!'0*)/'#+.)!")*!$#+)8-(0+#)4+)
*'<+)0!"0+-"#)'/!$&)*!4)'88-!8-('&+)*!$#+)8-(0+#)'-+)'#)')5+'#$-+:)C+#8(&+)1+"+-'%%9)
/+("1)&*+)%'-1+#&)+%+5+"&)(")'"9)0!#&)!,)%(<("1)5+'#$-+)&*+-+)#++5#)&!)/+)%(&&%+)+<(.+"0+)
!,)')%("?)/+&4++")*!$#+)8-(0+#)'".)&*+)-+0-$(&5+"&)'".)-+&+"&(!")!,)+.$0'&(!")
+58%!9++#:)D!$#+)8-(0+#)0'")/+)',,+0&+.)/9)')-'"1+)!,),'0&!-#E)#$0*)'#)#$88%9)'".)
'<'(%'/(%(&9)!,)0-+.(&E)$"-+%'&+.)&!)4'1+).(,,+-+"&('%#)/+&4++")'-+'#:)F*+-+,!-+)/'#("1)&*+)
B B)!")*!$#+)8-(0+).(,,+-+"0+#)'0-!##)&*+)0!$"&-9)4!$%.)"!&)"+0+##'-(%9)/+)&*+)/+#&)4'9)
!,)-+,%+0&("1).(,,+-+"0+#)(")0!#&#)!,)+.$0'&(!")#&',,)'0-!##)&*+)0!$"&-9:)2!-+)(58!-&'"&%9E)
*!$#+)8-(0+#)!<+-)&*+)%'#&).+0'.+)*'<+)/++")5$0*)5!-+)<!%'&(%+)&*'")+'-"("1#:)F*(#E)4+)
/+%(+<+E)4!$%.)5'?+)&*+)B BE)'".)&*+-+,!-+)&*+),$".("1).(#&-(/$&(!"E)$"#&'/%+)+<+")(,)4+)
4+-+)&!)&'?+)')&*-++)9+'-)'<+-'1+)(")!$-)0'%0$%'&(!":

5675) F*+)#8+0(,(0)0!#&)'88-!'0*)-+%(+#)!")1!!.)#!$-0+#)!,).'&'),!-)'%%)!,)&*+)+%+5+"&#)(&)0!<+-#)
@)/!&*).(-+0&)'".)(".(-+0&)0!#&#)!,)&+'0*("1)'".)!&*+-)#&',,:);*(%#&)(&)(#)8!##(/%+)&!)$#+)&*+)
-+G$(#(&+).'&')!")&*+).(-+0&)0!#&#)!,)&+'0*+-#E)#$,,(0(+"&)(",!-5'&(!"),!-)"!")&+'0*("1)#&',,)
'".),!-)(".(-+0&)0!#&#)(#)"!&)'<'(%'/%+:);+)'-+)"!&)&'?("1),!-4'-.)&*+)#8+0(,(0)0!#&)
'88-!'0*)'#)')4*!%+)/$&)'-+)$#("1)8'-&)!,)&*(#)'88-!'0*),!-)&*+)*9/-(.)!8&(!":

567:) F*(#)%+'<+#)$#)4(&*)&4!)!8&(!"#),!-).+&+-5("("1)&*+)B B>

 l F*+)7+"+-'%)6'/!$-)2'-?+&)'88-!'0*)@)/$&)4(&*).+0(#(!"#)&!)/+)5'.+)'-!$".)&*+)
5!#&)'88-!8-('&+)1+!1-'8*(+#E)+&0A)!-

 l B.!8&)')"+4%9).+<+%!8+.)*9/-(.)'88-!'0*)4*(0*)4!$%.)/+)/'#+.)(")8'-&)!")&*+)
#8+0(,(0)0!#&#)!,)&+'0*+-#)'".)!")&*+)762),!-)&*+)-+5'("("1)+%+5+"&#:

;-'-+/<)</=&3+)4/+>-$

567?) F*+)762)'88-!'0*)4!-?#)!")&*+)/'#(#)&*'&)&*+)#0*!!%)%'/!$-)5'-?+&)!8+-'&+#)'#)8'-&)!,)
&*+)4(.+-)%'/!$-)5'-?+&:)F*+-+,!-+E)4+-+)4+)&!)8-!0++.)4(&*)&*(#)'88-!'0*E)4+)4!$%.)

96



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

0!"#(.+-)(&)'22-!2-('&+)&!).!)#!)'22%3("1)&*+)#'4+)4+&*!.!%!13)'#)$#+.),!-)!&*+-)2'-&#)
!,)&*+)%!0'%)1!5+-"4+"&),("'"0+)#3#&+46)7+)8!$%.9

 l ("0%$.+)/!&*)2$/%(0)'".)2-(5'&+)#+0&!-)+42%!3++#)(")&*+)0'%0$%'&(!":

 l '22%3)&*+); ;)&!)&*+)<=)>"1%'".)1+!1-'2*(0'%)'-+'#:

 l "!&)("0%$.+)')1+!1-'2*(0)#4!!&*("1)4+0*'"(#4)8*(0*)*'#)&*+)+,,+0&)!,)4("(4(#("1)
.(,,+-+"0+#)(").(,,+-+"&)1+!1-'2*(0'%)'-+'#:)'".

 l ("0%$.+)')%!8+-)%(4(&)8*(0*)(.+"&(,(+#)')"$4/+-)!,)1+!1-'2*(0)'-+'#)'#)*'5("1)"!)0!#&)
'.?$#&4+"&6

"#$%& @*+)A+2'-&4+"&),!-) !44$"(&(+#)'".)B!0'%)C!5+-"4+"&)'-+)("&+".("1)&!)0!"#$%&)%'&+-)(")
&*+)3+'-)!")&*+)!2+-'&(!")!,)&*+); ;)'0-!##)&*+)8(.+-),("'"0+)#3#&+46)7+)8!$%.)+D2+0&)
&!),!%%!8)'"3)0*'"1+#)2-!2!#+.)/3) BC6

"#'!& ;"); ;)(#)("&+".+.)&!)'.?$#&),!-).(,,+-+"0+#)(")&*+)$"(&)0!#&#)!,)%'/!$-),'0+.)/3)#0*!!%#E)
',&+-)0!"&-!%%("1),!-)5'-('&(!"#)8*(0*)-+,%+0&)!&*+-),'0&!-#)#$0*)'#)'1+E)#+DE)+.$0'&(!"'%)
%+5+%)'".)!00$2'&(!"'%)4(D6)7*(%+)&*(#)8(%%)4'("%3)-+,%+0&)&*+)'0&$'%)0!#&#)!,)2'3("1)
&+'0*+-#E)&*+-+)(#)'")'-1$4+"&)&*'&)#!4+)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)8(%%),'0+)(".(-+0&)%'/!$-)0!#&#)
8*+-+)&*+)2'3)!,,+-+.).!+#)"!&)-+,%+0&)2'3)-'&+#)(")&*+)%!0'%)%'/!$-)4'-F+&6)@*+#+)0!#&#)
4'3)/+),("'"0('%)/$&)&*+-+)4'3)'%#!)/+)')0!#&)(")&+-4#)!,)%!#&)G$'%(&36)@*+)0*'-&)/+%!8)
-+,%+0&#)&*(#)&*+!-39

()*+,-&.)-/01&2+-&30)450-6

 Wage Rate

High amenities/Low cost areas Low amenities/High cost areas

National pay
schedule for 
teachers

Indirect costs resulting from the wage
di�erential between private sector
pay and national pay scales for teachers

Private sector
wage schedule

H!$-0+9)/'#+.)$2!")I8 )-+2!-&E)JKK=

"#'$& @+'0*+-#L)2'3)(#).+&+-4("+.)"'&(!"'%%3)!")&*+)-+0!44+".'&(!")!,)&*+)H@MN6)@*+-+)'-+)
,!$-)2'3)/'".#)8*(0*)&!)#!4+)+D&+"&)-+,%+0&).(,,+-+"0+#)(")%'/!$-)4'-F+&)5'-('&(!"#)'0-!##)
&*+)0!$"&-36)N$&)%!0'%)%'/!$-)4'-F+&#)4(1*&)-+G$(-+)#0*!!%#)&!)4'F+),$-&*+-)'.?$#&4+"&#6)
O!-)("#&'"0+E)(")'-+'#)!,)%!8)0!#&)!-)*(1*)'4+"(&(+#E)8*(0*)8!$%.)0!42+"#'&+),!-)%!8+-)

97



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

2'1+#3)#&',,)&$-"!4+-)'".)&*+-+,!-+)(".(-+0&)0!#&#)2!$%.)/+)%!2+-5) !"4+-#+%6)(")*(1*)
0!#&3)%!2)'7+"(&6)'-+'#3)2*(0*)8'6)/+%!2)&*+)7'-9+&)-'&+),!-)&+'0*+-#3)(".(-+0&)0!#&#)2(%%)
/+)*(1*+-)-+#$%&("1),-!7)*(1*+-)#&',,)&$-"!4+-3)*(1*+-)-+0-$(&7+"&)0!#&#)'".)7!-+)-+%('"0+)
!")'1+"06)#&',,5):!)0!$"&+-'0&)&*(#)'..(&(!"'%)8'6),%+;(/(%(&(+#)2+-+)("&-!.$0+.3)+"'/%("1)
1!4+-"("1)/!.(+#)&!)*'4+)#!7+)%!0'%)0!"&-!%)!4+-)&*+(-)&+'0*+-#<)#'%'-(+#5):*+6)'-+)"!&)
*!2+4+-)+;&+"#(4+%6)$#+.)'".)&*(#)-+#$%&#)(")'),%'&&+-)#&-$0&$-+),!-)&+'0*+-#<)8'6)&*'")&*+)
%!0'%)7'-9+&#5)=+)2!$%.)0!"&("$+)&!)+"0!$-'1+)#0*!!%#)&!)$#+)8'6),%+;(/(%(&(+#)2*+-+)
'88-!8-('&+5

"#$$% >)?+"+-'%)@'/!$-)A'-9+&)'88-!'0*)2!$%.)-+,%+0&)&*(#)'".)'&&+78&)&!)+"0!78'##)/!&*)&*+)
.(-+0&)'".)&*+!-+&(0'%)4'-('"0+#)(")(".(-+0&)0!#&#)!,)+78%!6("1)#0*!!%)#&',,5

:*+)?@A)> >)(#)(%%$#&-'&+.)(") *'-&)BC)(")>""+;) 5

&'()*+%,--).,/0

"#$1% =+).!)"!&)*'4+)#$,,(0(+"&).'&')&!).+4+%!8)'")> >)'88-!'0*)/'#+.)#!%+%6)!")#8+0(,(0)
0!#&#5)=+).!)*!2+4+-)*'4+).'&')(")#!7+)'-+'#)2*(0*)(#)!,)#$,,(0(+"&)D$'%(&63)"'7+%6)&*+)
"'&(!"'%%6)#+&)&+'0*+-#<)8'6)/'".#3)&!).+4+%!8)#$0*)'")'88-!'0*5):*+)*6/-(.)7+&*!.)(#)'")
'&&+78&)&!).+,("+)')2!-9'/%+)'88-!'0*)2*(0*)("0%$.+#)#8+0(,(0)0!#&#)'#),'-)'#)8!##(/%+3)
$#("1)-!/$#&).'&')2*+-+)(&)+;(#&#3)'".)').(,,+-+"&)'88-!'0*)2*+-+)(&).!+#)"!&5) !78'-+.)
&!)'),$%%)#8+0(,(0)0!#&#)'88-!'0*)7+&*!.!%!163)&*(#)*'#)&*+)'&&-'0&(!")!,)/+("1)'/%+)&!)
'%%!2),!-).(,,+-+"0+#)(")-+0-$(&7+"&)'".)-+&+"&(!")0!#&#)2(&*!$&)-+D$(-("1)'")+;&+"#(4+)
.'&')1'&*+-("1)+;+-0(#+5)=*+")0!78'-+.)&!)'),$%%)?@A)'88-!'0*3)(&)*'#)&*+)'.4'"&'1+)!,)
-+,%+0&("1)&*+)#8+0(,(0)0!#&#)!,)')%'-1+)8'-&)!,)&*+)2!-9,!-0+)2*(%#&)-+&'("("1)&*+)%("9)&!)&*+)
+0!"!7(0)&*+!-6)&*'&)'88%(+#)&!)&*+)-+7'(".+-)!,)&*+)2!-9,!-0+5

"#$ % E")&*+)*6/-(.)'88-!'0*3)&*+).(-+0&)0!#&#)'0&$'%%6)/+("1)("0$--+.)/6)+78%!6("1)&+'0*+-#)
,!-7)&*+)7'("3)#8+0(,(0)0!#&#)'88-!'0*)8'-&)!,)&*+)>-+') !#&)>.F$#&7+"&5):*+)-+7'(".+-3)
$#("1)&*+)?@A)'88-!'0*3)0!4+-#)&*+).(-+0&)0!#&#)!,)"!"G&+'0*("1)#&',,)'#)2+%%)'#)&*+)
(".(-+0&)0!#&#)'##!0('&+.)2(&*)&+'0*+-#5

"#$2% :*+)*6/-(.)!8&(!")&*+-+,!-+)("4!%4+#H

 l >)#8+0(,(0)0!#&)'88-!'0*)$#("1)&*+)&+'0*+-#<)8'6)/'".#)&!)0!4+-)&*+).(-+0&),("'"0('%)
0!#&#)!,)&+'0*+-#I

 l >)?@A)/'#+.)'88-!'0*)&!)0!4+-)&*+).(-+0&),("'"0('%)0!#&#)!,)"!"G&+'0*("1)#&',,I)'".

 l >)?@A)/'#+.)'88-!'0*),!-)&*+)(".(-+0&)0!#&#),!-)/!&*)&+'0*("1)'".)"!"G&+'0*("1)#&',,5

"#$"% J+&'(%#)!,)*!2)&*+)*6/-(.)7+&*!.)!8+-'&+#)'-+)#+&)!$&)(")>""+;)K5)E&)("4!%4+#).+-(4("1)')
"'&(!"'%)(".+;)!,)&*+).(-+0&),("'"0('%)0!#&)!,)+'0*)1-!$8)!,)&+'0*("1)#&',,5)>)9+6)(##$+)(#)
.+&+-7("("1)&*+)#8%(&)!,)8'6)/+&2++")&+'0*+-#)'".)!&*+-)#&',,3)2*(0*)2+)*'4+)0'%0$%'&+.)
&!)/+)LMHCN5

"#$3% O!-)&*+)#8+0(,(0)0!#&#)+%+7+"&)!,)&*+)*6/-(.)'88-!'0*)2+)*'4+H

 l &'9+")&*+)"$7/+-)!,)&+'0*+-#)'&)+'0*)#8("+)8!("&)&!)8-!.$0+)')"'&(!"'%)8-!,(%+)
!,)#'%'-6)0!#&#)

98



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

 l 2+)&*+").+&+-3("+.)&*+)'0&$'%)0!#&#)!,)+34%!5("1)&*+)"'&(!"'%)4-!,(%+)!,)&+'0*+-#)
2(&*(")+'0*)!,)&*+)4'5)/'".#

 l &*+)-+%'&(6+)0!#&#)&!)&*+)7+#&)!,)8"1%'".)4'5)/'".)&*+")'%%!2),!-)&*+)#4+0(,(0)0!#&#)
+%+3+"&)!,)&*+)*5/-(.)9 9)&!)/+)0!"#&-$0&+.

"#!$% :!-)&*+);<=)+%+3+"&)!,)&*+)*5/-(.)'44-!'0*>)2+)*'6+)3'.+)&*+)#'3+)'##$34&(!"#)'#),!-)
&*+)3'(");<=)'44-!'0*>)"'3+%5?

 l $#("1)@A)1+!1-'4*(0'%)'-+'#

 l "!&)("0%$.("1)')#3!!&*("1)3+0*'"(#3B)'".

 l ("0%$.("1)')%!2+-)%(3(&C

D*+)*5/-(.)9 9)(#)(%%$#&-'&+.)(") *'-&)E@)(")9""+F) C

&'(%)*+,-,%./0+12

"#!3% 9).+0(#(!")/+&2++")&*+)&2!)!4&(!"#)0!3+#).!2")&!)')G$.1+3+"&)!,)2*+&*+-)&+'0*+-#)'-+)
#++")'#)4'-&)!,)&*+)2(.+-)%'/!$-)3'-H+&>)'".)&*+-+,!-+)%'/!$-)3'-H+&)3!6+3+"&#)'-+)
G$.1+.)&!)-+,%+0&)'.+I$'&+%5)0*'"1+#)'0-!##)&*+)0!$"&-5)(")&*+).(-+0&)'".)(".(-+0&)0!#&#)!,)
&+'0*+-#B)!-)2*+&*+-)&*+)6'-('&(!")(")&+'0*+-)0!#&#)'0-!##)&*+)0!$"&-5)(#)#$,,(0(+"&%5)
.(,,+-+"&)&!)&*+)1+"+-'%)%'/!$-)3'-H+&)&!)2'--'"&)#+4'-'&+)&-+'&3+"&>)'#)(#)&*+)0'#+),!-)
.!0&!-#)'".).+"&(#&#)2*+")0!34'-+.)&!)!&*+-)JKL)#&',,C

"#45% :!-)&*+);<=)'44-!'0*>)M2 )-+#+'-0*)#$11+#&#)&*'&)(,)5!$)'%#!)("0%$.+)&*+)&*+!-+&(0'%)
(".(-+0&)0!#&#)!,)&+'0*+-#>)/5)%!!H("1)'&)-+0-$(&3+"&)'".)-+&+"&(!").(,,+-+"0+#)'0-!##)&*+)
0!$"&-5>)&*+");<=)(#)4-+,+-'/%+)/+0'$#+)(&)(#)0'4'/%+)!,)'.+I$'&+%5)-+,%+0&("1).(,,+-+"0+#)
'0-!##)&*+)0!$"&-5)(")&*+)&!&'%)#&',,)0!#&#),!-)&*+)+.$0'&(!")#+0&!-C)N&)(#)&*+)0$--+"&)
'44-!'0*)$#+.),!-)+.$0'&(!">)'".)/5)')"$3/+-)!,)!&*+-).+4'-&3+"&#C

"#46% D*+);<=)'44-!'0*)'##$3+#)&*'&)&*+-+)(#)')#(1"(,(0'"&)1'4)/+&2++")&*+)4'5)/'".#),!-)
&+'0*+-#)'".)4-(6'&+)#+0&!-)2'1+#)2*(0*)-+#$%&#)(")(".(-+0&)0!#&#),!-)#0*!!%#)(")&+-3#)!,)
'..(&(!"'%)-+0-$(&3+"&)'".)-+&+"&(!")0!#&#)'".)!&*+-)0!#&#)#$0*)'#)3!-+),-+I$+"&)$#+)!,)
'1+"05)#&',,C)K!2+6+->)+6(.+"0+).-'2"),-!3)'"'%5#(#)!,)#0*!!%)+F4+".(&$-+),-!3)#+0&(!")
OP)!$&&$-"#)'".)!&*+-)#!$-0+#)(".(0'&+#)&*'&)#0*!!%#)'-+)"!&)("0$--("1)#$/#&'"&('%)0!#&#)!,)
&*(#)&54+C

"#4!% N&)0'")/+)'-1$+.)&*'&)&*+)*5/-(.)'44-!'0*)3!-+)0%!#+%5)-+,%+0&#)&*+)+.$0'&(!")#+0&!-)'#)(&)
$#+#)&*+).(-+0&),("'"0('%)0!#&)!,)&+'0*+-#)'#)4'-&)!,)&*+)0'%0$%'&(!">)2*(%#&)'%#!)-+0!1"(#("1)
&*+)(".(-+0&)0!#&#)!,)&+'0*+-#)'#)(".(0'&+.)/5)#0*!!%#Q)'0&$'%)%+6+%#)!,)#4+".("1C)N&)(#)')
3!-+)0!34%+F)#5#&+3)&!)!4+-'&+)'".)("6!%6+#)')0'%0$%'&(!")!,)&*+)-+%'&(6+)2+(1*&#)!,)&*+)
#4+0(,(0)0!#&)'".);<=)+%+3+"&#)!,)&*+)4-!0+##C)K!2+6+->)(&)(#)'%#!)3!-+)("&$(&(6+)'#)(&).!+#)
*'6+)').(-+0&)%("H)/+&2++")&*+)&+'0*+-#Q)4'5)/'".#)'".)&*+),$".("1),!-).(,,+-+"&('%)%'/!$-)
0!#&#C)D*+-+)(#)#$,,(0(+"&).'&'),-!3)#+0&(!")OP)&!).+-(6+)')-+'#!"'/%+)2+(1*&("1)/+&2++")
&*+)&2!)+%+3+"&#)!,)&*+)*5/-(.)R)2*(0*)2+)*'6+)+#&(3'&+.)'&)ST)4+-)0+"&),!-)&+'0*+-#)
#'%'-(+#)'".)UP)4+-)0+"&),!-)!&*+-)#&',,)0!#&#C

"#44% D*+)*5/-(.)'44-!'0*)2!$%.)'%%!0'&+),+2+-)-+#!$-0+#)&*'")&*+);<=)3+&*!.)/+0'$#+)&*+)
.(,,+-+"&('%)/+&2++")*(1*+-)'".)%!2+-)0!#&)'-+'#)(#)0'%0$%'&+.)&!)/+)#3'%%+-C)D*(#)0!$%.)

99



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

'%%!2),!-)&*+)'..(&(!"'%)3!"+4)&!)/+)-+040%+.)&*-!$1*)&*+)/'#(0)+"&(&%+3+"&)&!)'%%)%!0'%)
'$&*!-(&(+#5)6&)'%#!)3+'"#)&*'&),!-)&*+)7$-7!#+#)!,)0!37'-("1)&*+)&2!8)&*+)*4/-(.)(".(0+#)
"++.)&!)/+)-'(#+.)/4)'/!$&)95:)7+-)0+"&)&!)1(;+)0!37'-'/(%(&4)2(&*)&*+)+,,+0&#)!,)<=>5

"#$%&'()*+,-.+/()0+1.,2..)+$34+13)56+3)5+78)5()*

9:! + ?),$-&*+-)0!"#(.+-'&(!"8)2*(0*)*'#)/++")-+%+;'"&)&!)!$-).+;+%!73+"&)!,)')*4/-(.)!7&(!"8)
(#)&*+)%("@)/+&2++")&*+)? ?)'".)&*+)&+'0*+-#A)7'4/'".#5)B*+)0$--+"&)<=>)1+!1-'7*(+#).!)
"!&)'%(1")2(&*)&*+)7'4/'".#5)B*(#)*'#)/++")')7'-&(0$%'-)(##$+),!-)=!".!"8)'#)(.+"&(,(+.)
'/!;+8)'".)2+)*';+)/++")0!"#(.+-("1)&*+)+C&+"&)&!)2*(0*)&*+)'/!;+)!7&(!"#)'-+)'/%+)&!)
-+,%+0&).+0(#(!"#)!")&*+)7'4/'".)-+%'&(;(&(+#)'".)1+!1-'7*(+#5)6&)(#)0%+'-)&*'&)&*+)*4/-(.)
'77-!'0*)(#)/+#&)'/%+)&!).!)&*(#5)D4),++.("1)'"4)0*'"1+#)3'.+)&!)&*+)7'4/'".#).(-+0&%4)
("&!)&*+)#7+0(,(0)0!#&)+%+3+"&)!,)&*+)*4/-(.)'77-!'0*8)&*+)? ?)0'").(-+0&%4)-+,%+0&)&*+#+)
0*'"1+#5)B*+-+,!-+8)#*!$%.)&*+)7'4/'".#)0*'"1+)(")&*+),$&$-+8)(&)2!$%.)/+)
#&-'(1*&,!-2'-.)&!)-+,%+0&)&*+#+)0*'"1+#)(")&*+)*4/-(.)!7&(!"5

9:!;+ B*+)7!#(&(!")(#)%+##)0%+'-)0$&),!-)&*+)<=>)'77-!'0*5)E+)$#+)&*+) =<)'77-!'0*)&!).+,("("1)
&*+)1+!1-'7*(+#)'".)&*(#)0$--+"&%4)!7+-'&+#),!-)FG)'-+'#5) =<)'-+)7-!7!#("1)&!)0!"#$%&)
%'&+-)(")&*+)4+'-)!")&*+(-)7-!7!#'%#),!-)!7&(!"#),!-)? ?)3+&*!.!%!14),-!3)HI99)'".)2+)
2!$%.)"++.)&!)-+,%+0&) =<).+0(#(!"#)(,)&*+)<=>)'77-!'0*)2'#)0*!#+"),!-)&*(#)7$-7!#+5)
>!-+!;+-8)&*+)<=>)'77-!'0*)*'#)"!)2'4)!,)-+,%+0&("1)0*'"1+#)(")-+%'&(;(&(+#)/+&2++")&*+)
7'4)/'".#5

<3,.6

9:!9+ E+)0!"#(.+-+.)2*+&*+-)&*+-+)(#)')0'#+),!-)'")+%+3+"&)!,)?-+') !#&)?.J$#&3+"&)&!)/+)
/'#+.)!");'-('&(!")(")&*+)%+;+%#)!-)-'&+#)7'4'/%+)/4)#0*!!%#5)K$-)(";+#&(1'&(!")#*!2+.)
&*'&)&*+-+)(#)#!3+)-+1(!"'%);'-('&(!")/$&)(&)(#)"!&)#4#&+3'&(08)'".)&*+-+)(#)'%#!);'-('&(!")
/+&2++")'$&*!-(&(+#)2(&*(")+'0*)-+1(!"5)LC7+".(&$-+)!-)-'&+#)(#)'%#!)(",%$+"0+.)/4)&*+)
7-!7!-&(!")!,)'(.+.)'".),!$".'&(!")#0*!!%#8)2*(0*)-+0+(;+)-'&+)-+%(+,8)(")+'0*)'-+'5)<(;+")
&*(#)!$&0!3+8)'".)&*+)-+%'&(;+%4)#3'%%)'3!$"&)!,)+C7+".(&$-+)-+7-+#+"&+.)/4)-'&+#)2(&*(")
&*+)MN<8)2+).!)"!&)("&+".)&!)7$-#$+),$-&*+-)&*+)(.+')!,)')#+7'-'&+)? ?),'0&!-#),!-)-'&+#5)
?..(&(!"'%).+&'(%)(#)7-!;(.+.)'&)?""+C)D5

=8.6,(&)6

>-(?-+(6+,-.+73(%.6,+#.,-&5+&7+3$$/4()*+,-.+@%.3+A&6,+@5B86,#.),C

100



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  

Chapter 7 
Transitional arrangements:
Protecting schools and local authorities from significant 
fluctuations in funding

!"#$%&'()*

+,-. 2"+)!,)&*+)-+'#!"#),!-)')3!4+)/'05)&!)'),!-3$%')/'#+.)'66-!'0*)(#)&*'&)&*+)0$--+"&)#7#&+3)
!,)86+".)9%$#:);*(%#&)6-!4(.("1)#&'/(%(&7)'".)6-+.(0&'/(%(&7:)*'#)%+.)&!)').(#0!""+0&(!")
/+&;++")6$6(%#<)0*'-'0&+-(#&(0#)'".)&*+)'3!$"&)!,),$".("1)&*+)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&7)-+0+(4+#)(")
-+#6+0&)!,)&*!#+)6$6(%#=)>")?@A@BAA:)&*+)C$'-'"&++.)D"(&#)!,)E$".("1)6+-)6$6(%);(%%)/+)
%'-1+%7)/'#+.)!")*!;)3$0*)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)#6+"&),(4+)7+'-#)6-+4(!$#%7=)>")'..(&(!":)&*+)?)
6+-)0+"&)0'#*),%!!-:);*(0*)#$66!-&#)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#);(&*),'%%("1)6$6(%)"$3/+-#:)&'5+#)#!3+)
'$&*!-(&(+#)+4+"),$-&*+-)';'7),-!3)&*+(-)6-+4(!$#%7)'##+##+.)%+4+%)!,)"++.)6+-)6$6(%=

+,/. F*(#)!,)0!$-#+)3+'"#)&*'&)("&-!.$0("1)')"++.#)/'#+.),!-3$%')(")6%'0+)!,)&*+)0$--+"&)
86+".)9%$#)'66-!'0*)(#)1!("1)&!)-+#$%&)(")#(1"(,(0'"&).(#&-(/$&(!"'%)0*'"1+#=)>&);!$%.)"!&)
/+)-(1*&)&!)("&-!.$0+)#$..+")0*'"1+#)(")%!0'%)'$&*!-(&7)/$.1+&#=)G+)-+0!1"(#+)&*'&)%!0'%)
'$&*!-(&(+#)'".)#0*!!%#);(%%)"++.)&(3+)&!)6-+6'-+=)F*+-+,!-+)&*+)(36%+3+"&'&(!")!,)&*+)
,!-3$%')(#)1!("1)&!)-+H$(-+)&-'"#(&(!"'%)'--'"1+3+"&#=

012#343#.%&")56

+,7. I#);+)'-+)3'("#&-+'3("1)#6+0(,(0)1-'"&#)("&!)&*+)J8C);+)6-!6!#+)&!)*'4+)')#("1%+)#+&)!,)
&-'"#(&(!"'%)'--'"1+3+"&#)&*'&)'66%(+#)&!)')/'#+%("+)("0!-6!-'&("1)/!&*)&*+)J8C)'".)
&*+#+)1-'"&#=)G+)0!"#(.+-)&*(#)'66-!'0*)(#)6-+,+-'/%+)&!)#+6'-'&+)&-'"#(&(!"'%)
'--'"1+3+"&#),!-)1-'"&#)&*'&)'-+)/+("1)3'("#&-+'3+.=

+, . F*(#)'66-!'0*);!$%.)'%3!#&)0+-&'("%7)-+H$(-+)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)&!)-+4(#+)&*+(-)%!0'%)
,!-3$%'+)#!)&*'&)(&)&'5+#)'00!$"&)!,)&*+)3!"+7)&*'&);'#),!-3+-%7)(")#6+0(,(0)1-'"&#=)
K!;+4+-:)(&);!$%.)/+)$"-+'%(#&(0)&!)+L6+0&)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)&!)0*'"1+)&*+(-),!-3$%'+)(")
&(3+),!-)?@AABA?=)F*+-+,!-+)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)"++.)&!)/+)'/%+)&!).(#&-(/$&+),$".("1)
&*-!$1*)&*+(-)+L(#&("1),!-3$%'+)/$&)&'5("1)("&!)'00!$"&)&*+)0$--+"&)%+4+%#)!,)1-'"&)&*'&)
#0*!!%#)-+0+(4+=)>")'..(&(!":)&*+)M("(3$3)E$".("1)C$'-'"&++);!$%.)-+#&-(0&)&*+).+1-++)
!,)3!4+3+"&)&!;'-.#)"+;)%!0'%),!-3$%'+)!4+-)&*+)6+-(!.=)82.592&24'&2.1&'1'62.5'.
":2)*.592.0#9'';.<3)")#2.=2%(;"53')6.5'.2)">;2.;'#";."(59'&35326.5'.3)#;(*2.
1&2?3'(6.612#343#.%&")5.1"@:2)56."6.4'&:(;".4"#5'&6.4'&./A--B-7,

0#9'';.;2?2;.1&'52#53')

+,C. G+)("&+".)&!)#+&)')M("(3$3)E$".("1)C$'-'"&++)6+-)6$6(%)(")+'0*)!,)&*+)7+'-#)?@AABA?)'".)
?@A?BAN=)F*(#)3+'"#)&*'&)'%%)#0*!!%#);(%%)-+0+(4+)')1$'-'"&++.)0'#*)("0-+'#+)6+-)6$6(%:)
#$/O+0&)&!)+L0%$#(!"#)#$0*)'#)-+#!$-0+#)'##(1"+.)&!)(".(4(.$'%)6$6(%#)'".)'.O$#&3+"&#),!-)

101



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

2'-1("'%)3$3(%)"$2/+-)0*'"1+#4)50*!!%#)6!-$2#)7(%%)-+&'(")&*+)3!7+-8)&!)2'9+)
'.:$#&2+"&#)&!)&*+)!3+-'&(!")!,)&*+);("(2$2)6$".("1)<$'-'"&++8)7*+-+)(&)',,+0&#),+7+-)
&*'")=>)3+-)0+"&)!,)&*+)3$3(%#4

"#$% ?*+);("(2$2)6$".("1)<$'-'"&++)7!$%.)'33%@)&!)')#0*!!%A#)&!&'%)/$.1+&8)("0%$.("1)/!&*)
2!"+@),-!2)&*+)B5<)'".)'..(&(!"'%),$".#)3-+C(!$#%@)'%%!0'&+.)&*-!$1*)#3+0(,(0)1-'"&#)
&*'&)7+)'-+)-!%%("1)("&!)&*+)B5<4

"#"% D+)7(%%)'%#!)&'9+)&*(#)!33!-&$"(&@)&!)0!"#(.+-)(,)&*+)!3+-'&(!")!,)&*+);("(2$2)6$".("1)
<$'-'"&++)0'")/+)(23-!C+.4

&'()*%)+,-'./,0%*121*%3.',1(,/'4

"#5% E")!-.+-)&!)3-!&+0&)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#),-!2)#(1"(,(0'"&)3!&+"&('%)%!##+#)(")&*+),!-2$%'8)7+)
("&+".)&!)*'C+)')3+-)3$3(%),%!!-)#+&)'/!C+)&*+);("(2$2)6$".("1)<$'-'"&++4)F!)%!0'%)
'$&*!-(&@)7!$%.)-+0+(C+)'")("0-+'#+)%!7+-)&*'")&*+)3+-)3$3(%),%!!-)(")+(&*+-)G>HHIHG)!-)
G>HGIHJ4

"#6% ?*(#),%!!-)7(%%)"++.)&!)/+)3'(.),!-)/@)+(&*+-)')0+(%("1)!")%'-1+)("0-+'#+#),!-)#!2+)
'$&*!-(&(+#)!-)/@)-+.$0("1)&*+)'%%!0'&(!")&!)'%%)!&*+-)"!"I,%!!-)'$&*!-(&(+#)K!-)')
0!2/("'&(!")!,)&*+)&7!L4

7)8-%9*''.8

"#:;% ?*+)0$--+"&)B5<).(#&-(/$&(!")("0%$.+#)')0'#*),%!!-),!-)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#8)(")!-.+-)&!)3-!&+0&)
&*+2),-!2),'%%("1)3$3(%)"$2/+-#4)E")'..(&(!"8)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#A)!7"),!-2$%'+)0!22!"%@)
("0%$.+)0'#*),%!!-)'--'"1+2+"&#)'&)#0*!!%)%+C+%4)M!7+C+-8)(")'),!-2$%'I/'#+.)#@#&+2)&*+)
!3+-'&(!")!,)')0'#*),%!!-)(#)%(9+%@)&!)2!C+)'$&*!-(&(+#)7(&*),'%%("1)-!%%#)'7'@),-!2)&*+)
,!-2$%')-'&*+-)&*'")&!7'-.#)(&8)'".)0!$%.)-+#&-(0&)'&&+23&#)&!)2!C+)'%%)'$&*!-(&(+#)!")&!)
&*+),!-2$%')!C+-)&(2+4)D+)&*+-+,!-+).!)"!&)("&+".)'&)&*(#)#&'1+)&!)!3+-'&+)')0'#*),%!!-4)
M!7+C+-8)7+)-+0!1"(#+)&*'&)&*+-+)2'@)/+)(##$+#),!-)&*!#+)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)&*'&)/!&*)
#&'".)&!)%!#+)$".+-)&*+)"+7),!-2$%')'".)7*(0*)*'C+).+0%("("1)3$3(%)"$2/+-#8)'".)7(%%)
0!"#(.+-)7*+&*+-)'"@)3-!&+0&(!")"++.#)&!)/+)!,,+-+.),!-)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)(")&*'&)3!#(&(!"4

<+18,/'48

='%0'+%8+33'.,%'+.%3*)48%9'.%,-1%,.)48/,/'4)*%)..)4>1?14,8%9'.%?)/48,.1)?/4>%>.)4,8@

A-'+*B%9*''.8%C1%3)/B%9'.%C0%)**%*'()*%)+,-'./,/18%'.%D+8,%C0%,-1%*).>18,%>)/4/4>%)+,-'./,/18@

='%0'+%-)21%)40%8+>>18,/'48%9'.%-'E%,-1%F/4/?+?%G+4B/4>%H+).)4,11%('+*B%C1%/?3.'21B@

102



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

Chapter 8 
Further considerations and 
conclusion
Other issues and next steps

"#$% 2+)*'3+)0!"#(.+-+.)')"$4/+-)!,)!&*+-)(##$+#)'#)5'-&)!,)&*+)-+3(+67

&'()*+,*-

"#.% 8#)6+)4!3+)&!6'-.#)&*+)&'-1+&)!,)9::)80'.+4(+#)&*+)-+3(+6)0!"#(.+-+.)*!6)/+#&)&!)
'.;$#&)&*+)<=>),!-)&*+)0!"3+-#(!")!,)4'("&'("+.)#0*!!%#)("&!)80'.+4(+#7)?6!)'55-!'0*+#)
*'3+)/++")$#+.)#!),'-),!-)&*(#)'.;$#&4+"&@

 l /01,2%30+4*5-6)&*+)'55-!'0*)$#+.)$"&(%)A::B)!,)'.;$#&("1)/C)&'D("1)EFGA)!,)&*+)5$5(%#)
'&)&*+)5-+0+.("1)H'"$'-C)I,!-)=+5&+4/+-)0!"3+-#(!"#J)!$&)!,)(&#)<=>)5$5(%)0!$"&)'".)
&*+),$%%)"$4/+-),-!4)&*+)"+K&),("'"0('%)C+'-L)'".

 l 7*'801+*396)+'0*)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&C)0$--+"&%C)*'#)&!)0'%0$%'&+)'")'55-!5-('&+)/$.1+&)
#*'-+),!-)&*+)80'.+4C)'#)(,)(&)6'#)#&(%%)')4'("&'("+.)#0*!!%)'".)')-+%+3'"&)5!-&(!")!,)
0+"&-'%)+K5+".(&$-+7)?*+)&!&'%)!,)&*+#+)&6!)0!45!"+"&#),!-)'%%)80'.+4(+#)(")+'0*)%!0'%)
'$&*!-(&C)(#)-+0!$5+.),-!4)&*+(-)<=>)'%%!0'&(!"7)?*(#)'55-!'0*)6'#)'.!5&+.),!-)
80'.+4(+#)0!"3+-&("1)',&+-)A::B),!%%!6("1)0!"0+-"#)&*'&)'.;$#&("1)&*+)5$5(%)0!$"&).(.)
"!&)'00$-'&+%C)-+,%+0&)&*+),$".("1)6*(0*)&*+)'$&*!-(&C)6!$%.)*'3+)5-!3(.+.)&!)&*+)
80'.+4C7

"#:% M+0!$54+"&)6(%%)!5+-'&+)'&)%+'#&),!-)A:G:NGG)/$&)(")&*+)%!"1+-)&+-4O)&*+)<+5'-&4+"&)(#)
4(".+.)&!)-+&$-")&!)&*+)5$5(%)"$4/+-)'.;$#&4+"&)#C#&+4),!-)/!&*)"+6%C)0!"3+-&+.)'".)
+K(#&("1)80'.+4(+#7)P$-)'"'%C#(#)#$11+#&#)&*'&)&*+).(,,+-+"0+)/+&6++")&*+)&6!)#C#&+4#)(#)
#4'%%)("),("'"0('%)&+-4#)'".)&*+)-(#("1)"$4/+-)!,)80'.+4(+#)4+'"#)6+)"++.)'#)#(45%+)')
#C#&+4)'#)5!##(/%+7)8),$-&*+-).(,,(0$%&C)6(&*)&*+)-+0!$54+"&)'55-!'0*)(#)&*'&)-+0!$54+"&)
.'&')(#)-+0+(3+.)0+"&-'%%C)3+-C)%'&+)(")&*+),("'"0('%)C+'-)'".)&*(#)&*-+'&+"#)&!)*!%.)$5)&*+)
,("'%(#("1)!,)<=>)/+C!".)&*+),("'"0('%)C+'-)&!)6*(0*)(&)'55%(+#O)4'D("1)'00!$"&'/(%(&C)
5'-&(0$%'-%C).(,,(0$%&7)8),$-&*+-)C+'-)!,)0!45'-(#!")/+&6++")&*+)&6!)#C#&+4#)6(%%)/+)
$".+-&'D+")$#("1).'&'),!-)A::QNG:)&!)(",!-4)'),("'%).+0(#(!"7

;+1('9%8<%&'()*+=%'83>*5-,83%83%'*395(22=%5*9(,3*)%-*5>,'*-

"# % 2+)'%#!)0!"#(.+-+.)&*+)(##$+)!,)6*+&*+-)("0-+'#+.)80'.+4C)0!"3+-#(!")6'#)*'3("1)')
#(1"(,(0'"&)+,,+0&)!")&*+)3('/(%(&C)!,)0+"&-'%)#+-3(0+#7)8")'"'%C#(#)/C)&*+)<+5'-&4+"&)
#$11+#&#)"!)#(1"(,(0'"&).(,,+-+"0+)&!)&*+)&-+".#)/+&6++")1-!$5#)!,)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)6(&*)
80'.+4(+#)'".)&*!#+)6(&*!$&7)8")(45!-&'"&)+%+4+"&)6(&*(")&*+)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&C)0+"&-'%)
#+-3(0+#)/%!0D)(#),$".("1),!-)*(1*)0!#&)5$5(%#7)P$-)5-!5!#'%#)("3!%3+),$".("1),!-)#$0*)

103



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

2$2(%#)-+3'("("1)4(&*)&*+)-+#(.+"&)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&5)'".)&*(#)4(%%)/+)$"',,+0&+.)/5)&*+)
"$3/+-)!,)60'.+3(+#7)#!)&*(#)2-!2!#'%)#*!$%.)1-+'&%5)-+.$0+)'"5)+,,+0&)!,)60'.+35)
0!"8+-#(!")!")#$0*)#+-8(0+#9):+).!)"!&)#++)')0'#+)&*+-+,!-+),!-)'.;$#&("1)&*+)<=>9)6#)
4(&*)&*+)'.;$#&3+"&)(##$+)'/!8+7)'),$-&*+-)5+'-)!,)'"'%5#(#)4(%%)/+)$".+-&'?+")$#("1).'&')
,!-)@AABCDA)&!)(",!-3)'),("'%).+0(#(!"9

" #"$%&'()*(+

,-.% E*+)-+8(+4)0!"#(.+-+.)4*+&*+-)&*+-+)4'#)#0!2+),!-).+8+%!2("1)')0!33!")DFCDB),$".("1)
#5#&+39):+)0!"0%$.+.)&*'&)&*+)&(3("1)4'#)"!&)-(1*&)&!)("&-!.$0+)#$0*)'),$".("1)#5#&+3)
"!49)E*(#).+0(#(!")4'#)'""!$"0+.)(")&*+)@D#&) +"&$-5)=0*!!%#):*(&+)G'2+- !"#$ %&'()* 
+"#$ ,%&""(,* "#$ -#.#$/0 1#'()'23 4 56,. %/2.#$+ ,%&""(, ,+,./79)H32!-&'"&)0!"#(.+-'&(!"#)
4+-+)&*+)&(3("1)!,)&*+),$%%)-!%%)!$&)!,)&*+).$&5)&!)2'-&(0(2'&+)(")+.$0'&(!")!-)&-'("("1)$"&(%)
&*+)'1+)!,)DI7)4*(0*)4(%%)"!&)/+)$"&(%)@ADJ7)'".)&*+)"++.)&!)'%%!4)3!-+)&(3+),!-)<(2%!3'#)
,!-)DFCDB)5+'-)!%.#)&!)/+.)("9)H&)(#)+'-%5).'5#),!-)!$-)<(2%!3')#&-'&+15)4(&*)&*+),(-#&),(8+)
<(2%!3'#)!"%5)0!3("1)!")#&-+'3)(")@AAICAB9)K(?+4(#+7)L!$".'&(!")K+'-"("1)(#)0$--+"&%5)
!"%5)(")&*+)#+0!".)5+'-)!,)2(%!&("1)'".).+8+%!23+"&'%).+%(8+-59)E*+)'3/(&(!")-+3'("#)&!)
.+8+%!2)')"'&(!"'%)DFCDB),$".("1),!-3$%')!8+-)&*+)%!"1+-)&+-37)'".)4+)("&+".)&!)
0!"#(.+-)(&).$-("1)&*+)"+M&)#2+".("1)-+8(+4)2+-(!.9

/0(1*(+2(34%&'()*(+

,-5% H")@AAI)4+)("&-!.$0+.)&*+)NM0+2&(!"'%) (-0$3#&'"0+#)>-'"&)ON >P9)H&#)2$-2!#+)(#)&!)'##(#&)
&*!#+)'$&*!-(&(+#)4*!)+M2+-(+"0+Q

 l #(1"(,(0'"&)1-!4&*)(")&*+)"$3/+-)!,)2$2(%#)/+&4++")&*+)R'"$'-5)#0*!!%)0+"#$#)'".)&*+)
#&'-&)!,)&*+)'0'.+3(0)5+'-S)!-

 l #(1"(,(0'"&)1-!4&*)!8+-)&*+)#2+".("1)2+-(!.)(")&*+)"$3/+-)!,)2$2(%#)4(&*)N"1%(#*)'#)'")
'..(&(!"'%)%'"1$'1+9

E*(#)1-'"&)(#),$".+.),-!3)&*+)!8+-'%%)<=>)#+&&%+3+"&9)H")@AAICAB)'".)@AABCDA7)"!)
'$&*!-(&(+#)-+0+(8+.)N >),!-)')1+"+-'%)("0-+'#+)(")2$2(%)"$3/+-#7)'%&*!$1*)#+8+-'%)*'8+)
-+0+(8+.),$".("1),!-)("0-+'#+#)(")&*+)2-!2!-&(!")!,)2$2(%#)4(&*)N6K9

,-!% :+)'-+)#++?("1)8(+4#)!")4*+&*+-)&*+-+)(#)')0'#+),!-)')#(3(%'-)'--'"1+3+"&),-!3)@ADD7)
,$".+.),-!3)&*+)<=>7)'".)(,)#!)*!4)(&)#*!$%.)!2+-'&+)'".)4*'&)0(-0$3#&'"0+#)#*!$%.)/+)
0!8+-+.9

6278*32%39*:)72(

,-,% E*+)-+8(+4)0!"#(.+-+.)4*+&*+-)&*+-+)(#)+8(.+"0+)&*'&)0*(%.-+")!,)2'-+"&#),-!3)&*+)6-3+.)
=+-8(0+#)'-+)$".+-'0*(+8("1)'".)"++.)'..(&(!"'%)#$22!-&9)E*(#),!%%!4#)')0!33(&3+"&)(")
&*+)T("(#&-5)!,)<+,+"0+U#) !33'".)G'2+-)8&/ 94.'"2:, ;"77'.7/2.0 ;$",,<=">/$27/2. 
?#@@"$. ." "#$ A$7/) B"$%/,* .&/'$ B47'('/, 42) C/./$42,7)&!)-+8(+4)&*+)+.$0'&(!"'%)
2+-,!-3'"0+)!,)=+-8(0+)0*(%.-+")(")N"1%'".)'".)(.+"&(,5)4*+-+)&*+-+)(#)
$".+-'0*(+8+3+"&9)E*+)2'2+-)#'(.)&*'&)'"5).(#'.8'"&'1+)(.+"&(,(+.)4!$%.)/+)'..-+##+.7)
4*(0*)0!$%.)/+)&*-!$1*)&*+)<=>)-+8(+4)4*+-+)'22-!2-('&+9)E*+)<+2'-&3+"&)(#)"!4)'/%+)

104



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

&!)(.+"&(,2)3+-4(0+)0*(%.-+"),%'11+.)(")&*+)'""$'%)#0*!!%)0+"#$#)'".)*'#)'"'%2#+.)&*+)
-+#$%&#),!-)56678)9*+#+)#*!:)&*'&)#$0*);$;(%#).!):+%%)0!<;'-+.)&!)&*+(-)"!"=3+-4(0+)
0*(%.-+");++-#8)9*(#).!+#)"!&)&*+-+,!-+)#$11+#&)&*+)"++.)&!)<'>+)#;+0(,(0);-!4(#(!"),!-)
3+-4(0+)0*(%.-+")(")&*+)?3@),!-<$%'8)A+):(%%)>++;)&*+);!#(&(!")$".+-)-+4(+:B)&'>("1)
'00!$"&)!,)'&&'("<+"&).'&')(")#$/#+C$+"&)2+'-#8

!"#$ A+)0!"#(.+-)&*'&)&*+-+)(#)')0'#+),!-)#$;;!-&),!-)#0*!!%#):*(0*)&-'.(&(!"'%%2)0'&+-),!-)
3+-4(0+),'<(%(+#B)<'("%2)&*!#+)%!0'&+.)"+'-)'-<+.)#+-4(0+)+#&'/%(#*<+"&#8)3$0*)#0*!!%#)
'-+);-!"+)&!);$;(%)"$</+-),%$0&$'&(!"#B'".)&*+-+,!-+),$".("1B).$+)&!)&-!!;)<!4+<+"&#B)
'".)0'")',,+0&)&*+(-)#&'/(%(&2)'".)#$#&'("'/(%(&28)A+)'-+)0!"#(.+-("1):*+&*+-)&!)'%%!:)%!0'%)
'$&*!-(&(+#):(&*)#$0*)#0*!!%#)&!)<'>+)')0%'(<),!-)'..(&(!"'%);$;(%#)&!)/+)0!$"&+.),!-)?3@)
;$-;!#+#):*+-+)"$</+-#)*'4+),'%%+")#(1"(,(0'"&%2),-!<)!"+)2+'-)&!)&*+)"+D&)'#)')-+#$%&)!,)
'-<+.),!-0+#)<!4+<+"&#8)9*+#+)0%'(<#):!$%.)/+)<'.+).(-+0&%2)&!)&*+)?+;'-&<+"&)'".)
:!$%.)/+)0!"#(.+-+.)(".(4(.$'%%2)!")&*+(-)<+-(&#8

%&'()*+$,'-)-.+$/-'*')*'(+$0%,/1$2.3+4+2

!"56$ 9*+)?+;'-&<+"&)*'#)/++")%!!>("1)("&!)&*+)-+4+"$+)0!#&)!,)-$""("1)EFG)#0*+<+#)&!)'##+##)
:*'&B)(,)'"2B);-+##$-+#)&*+2)'-+);%'0("1)!")%!0'%)'$&*!-(&2)/$.1+&#8)H!&)'%%)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)
*'4+)EFG)#0*+<+#)'".)&*+)"'&$-+)!,)#$0*)#0*+<+#):(%%)4'-2)'0-!##)&*+)'$&*!-(&(+#)&*'&)
!;+-'&+)&*+<8)A+)(##$+.)')C$+#&(!""'(-+)(")&*+)'$&$<")!,)566I)&!)&*+)J66)%!0'%)
'$&*!-(&(+#):(&*)#$0*)#0*+<+#B)#++>("1)(",!-<'&(!")!")&*+):'2)("):*(0*)&*+2),$".)&*+<B)
,-!<):*'&)#!$-0+#)'".)*!:)&*+2)'00!$"&),!-)&*+),$".("1)(")&*+(-),("'"0('%)-+&$-"#8)K!0'%)
'$&*!-(&(+#)*'.)$"&(%)&*+)+".)!,)L'"$'-2)56J6)&!)-+#;!".8)A+)'-+)'"'%2#("1)-+#;!"#+#)'".)
:(%%)0!"#(.+-):*+&*+-)EFG)(##$+#)"++.)&!)/+)&'>+")("&!)'00!$"&)(")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")
!,),$".("1)'<!"1)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#8

784+$+9:.)*+9$.3';9&+-

!"55$ 9*+)M'.<'")-+;!-&)!")*!<+)+.$0'&(!")-+0!<<+".+.)&*'&)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)#*!$%.)1(4+)
'00+##)&!)0+-&'(")#+-4(0+#)&!)*!<+)+.$0'&+.)0*(%.-+"):*!<)&*+2).!)"!&)!&*+-:(#+),$".8)
N#)'""!$"0+.)(")&*+)@!4+-"<+"&)-+#;!"#+)&!)&*+)M'.<'")-+;!-&B):+);-!;!#+)')#0*+<+)
:*(0*):!$%.)'%%!:)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)&!)<'>+)')0%'(<),!-)&*+#+)0*(%.-+"B):*!)'-+)-+0+(4("1)
%(<(&+.)#+-4(0+#B)&!)/+)0!$"&+.),!-)?3@);$-;!#+#8)9*+)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&2):!$%.)"++.)&!)
0!",(-<)&*'&)(&)(#);-!4(.("1)#+-4(0+#)&!)&*+#+)0*(%.-+"8)9*+)0*(%.-+"):!$%.)0!$"&)'#)68J)
;$;(%)+'0*),!-)?3@);$-;!#+#8

!"5<$ A+)*'4+)'%-+'.2)0%'-(,(+.)(")1$(.'"0+)&!)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)&*'&)&*+2)0'")("0%$.+)*!<+)
+.$0'&+.);$;(%#)(")&*+(-)?3@)0!$"&):*+-+)&*+2)'-+);-!4(.("1)#$/#&'"&('%),("'"0('%)
#$;;!-&B),!-)("#&'"0+),!-)3OH)!-)&*+)0!#&)!,)');-+=JP);$;(%Q#)'&&+".'"0+)'&)'")FO)0!%%+1+8

=*3+&$.3';9&+->2$?8&4:;)+

!"5@$ A*(%#&)&*+)?+;'-&<+"&)(#)"!&)'&)&*+)0$--+"&)&(<+)0'--2("1)!$&)'),$%%)-+4(+:)!,)&*+)
0*(%.-+"Q#)#+-4(0+#)-+%'&(4+)"++.#),!-<$%'+)RSHFTB)'.<("(#&+-+.)/2) K@B)#!<+)!,)&*+)
,'0&!-#)("0%$.+.)(")&*+#+),!-<$%'+)'-+)',,+0&+.)/2)&*+)-+#+'-0*)'".)+4(.+"0+)1+"+-'&+.)

105



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

&*-!$1*)&*+)234)-+5(+67)8*+)9!$&*)'".)0!::$"(&9),!-:$%')("0%$.+#)#+0!".'-9)%!6)
'0*(+5("1)+&*"(0)1-!$;#)'#)'),'0&!-<)'".)6'-.)#;'-#(&9),+'&$-+#)(")&*+)=!0'%)>$&*!-(&9)
 +"&-'%)?.$0'&(!")@$"0&(!"#),!-:$%'7)A!&*)!,)&*+#+)(".(0'&!-#)'-+);!&+"&('%%9)0*'"1("1<)'#)
#+&)!$&)(")&*+)0!"#$%&'&(!");';+-7)>%#!)&*+).+;-(5'&(!"):+'#$-+#)&*'&),+'&$-+)(")&*+)9!$&*)
'".)0!::$"(&9<)=!0'%)>$&*!-(&9) +"&-'%)?.$0'&(!")@$"0&(!"#)'".)0*(%.-+"B#)#!0('%)0'-+)
,!-:$%'+).!)"!&):'&0*)+(&*+-)!,)&*+)!;&(!"#)6+)'-+)0!"#$%&("1)!")(")&*(#)234)-+5(+67)8*+)
2+;'-&:+"&)(#):(".+.)&!)+"#$-+)&*'&)&*+)%!6)'0*(+5("1)+&*"(0)1-!$;),'0&!-)'".)&*+)
#;'-#(&9),'0&!-)C6*(0*)(#)#;+0(,(0'%%9)%("D+.)&!)*!:+)&!)#0*!!%)&-'"#;!-&E)6*(0*),+'&$-+)(")
&*+)0*(%.-+"B#)FG@),!-:$%'+)'-+)0!"#(#&+"&)6(&*)&*+),'0&!-#),+'&$-("1)(")&*+)234),!-:$%'7)
H!6+5+-)6+),++%)&*+).+;-(5'&(!"),!-:$%')6*(0*)(#)$#+.)(")0*(%.-+"B#)FG@),!-:$%'+)#*!$%.)
/+)0!"#(#&+"&)6(&*)&*'&)$#+.)&*-!$1*!$&)&*+)-+#&)!,)&*+)FG@),!-:$%'+7

"#$ % 8*+)2+;'-&:+"&),!-) !::$"(&(+#)'".)=!0'%)4!5+-":+"&)6(%%)/+)0!"#$%&("1)!")&*+)(:;'0&)
!,)&*+#+)0*'"1+#)(")&*+(-)0!"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+)FG@),!-:$%'+7

&'()*+,-)

./%0%1,-*+-2(-13%0440-2(5(-*%/,4%6,106%0'*7,4+*+()%+)%*,%1,-*+-'(8%/'-9(9%/4,5%*7(%:;<%
=70*%04(0)%)7,'69%+*%1,>(4%0-9%=70*%)7,'69%*7(%14+*(4+0%?(%/,4%*4+22(4+-2%(6+2+?+6+*3@

:,%3,'%)'AA,4*%,'4%A4,A,)06)%/,4%;(4>+1(%17+694(-@

B,-16')+,-%0-9%-(C*%)*(A)

"#$D% 8*(#)0!"#$%&'&(!")#+&#)!$&)!$-)/-!'.);%'"#),!-)')"+6),!-:$%')&!).(#&-(/$&+)&*+)2+.(0'&+.)
30*!!%#)4-'"&),-!:)IJKKLKI)!"6'-.#7)A$&)&*+-+)'-+):'"9).+0(#(!"#)!,).+&'(%)&!)/+):'.+7

"#$E% M+)6'"&)&!)*+'-)5(+6#),-!:)'%%)("&+-+#&+.);'-&(+#)'/!$&)/!&*)&*+)!5+-'%%):'D+$;)!,)&*+)
,!-:$%'<)'".)!")&*+)!;&(!"#)&*'&)6+)*'5+)#+&)!$&7)N");'-&(0$%'-)6+)6'"&)&!)*+'-);-("0(;%+.)
'-1$:+"&#)("),'5!$-)!,)!-)'1'("#&);'-&(0$%'-)!;&(!"#7

"#$F% ='&+-)(")&*+)9+'-<)6+)6(%%);$/%(#*)'),$-&*+-)0!"#$%&'&(!")!"),(-:+-);-!;!#'%#<)(");'-&(0$%'-)
#;+0(,9("1)6*(0*)!;&(!"#)6+)6(%%)0*!!#+),!-)&*+)5'-(!$#)+%+:+"&#)!,)&*+),!-:$%')&'D("1)
("&!)'00!$"&)-+#;!"#+#)&!)&*(#)0!"#$%&'&(!"7)8*(#)0!"#$%&'&(!")&(:+&'/%+)6(%%)+"'/%+)
(".(0'&(5+)'%%!0'&(!"#)&!)/+)1(5+")&!)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)(")G!5+:/+-7)M+)6!$%.)+O;+0&)
#0*!!%#)'".)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)(")&*+):+'"&(:+)&!);%'")/'#+.)!")'##$:;&(!"#)'/!$&)&*+(-)
/$.1+&)&*+9)'-+)'/%+)&!):'D+7

"#$"% M+)6(%%)'%#!)0!"#$%&)%'&+-)(")IJKJ)!")0*'"1+#)&!)&*+)30*!!%)@("'"0+)F+1$%'&(!"#),!-)&*+)
;+-(!.)IJKKLKP7

 !"#$%&'&(!")-+#;!"#+#)0'")/+)0!:;%+&+.)!"%("+)'&Q

6667.0#,71!57$DR0!"#$%&'&(!"#

!-)/9).!6"%!'.("1)')-+#;!"#+),!-:)6*(0*)#*!$%.)/+)0!:;%+&+.)'".)#+"&)&!

+L:'(%Q).#170!"#$%&'&(!"S.0#,71#(71!57$D

106



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

!-)/2)3!#&)&!4

5'")607(0'-)
89:;)
<-.)9%!!-
8'"0&$'-2)=$(%.("1#)
>-+'&)8?(&*)8&-++&)
@!".!")
8ABC)<=:

"##$%$&'()*+&,$-.

D..(&(!"'%)0!3(+#)!,)&*+)E!-.)F+-#(!")!,)&*(#)0!"#$%&'&(!")'".)&*+)-+#3!"#+),!-?)'-+)'F'(%'/%+)
,-!?)EEEG.0#,G1!FG$HI0!"#$%'&(!"#

:*+).+'.%("+),!-)-+#3!"#+#)(#)J&*)K$"+)LMBMG

107



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

Annex A 
Methodology underpinning the 
current funding arrangements

!"# 2"&(%)34456478)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#9)0!-+),$".("1),!-)#0*!!%#)'".)!&*+-):$:(%):-!;(#(!")<'#)
:-!;(.+.)(")&*+)#'=+)<'>)'#),!-)'%%)!&*+-)%!0'%)#+-;(0+#)&*-!$1*)&*+)%!0'%)1!;+-"=+"&)
,("'"0+)#>#&+=?)@!)<!-A)!$&)+'0*)0!$"0(%9#)#*'-+)!,)B!-=$%')C-'"&)&*+)C!;+-"=+"&)
0'%0$%'&+.)')B!-=$%')D:+".("1)D*'-+)EBDDF?)@*+)BDD#)<+-+)/'#+.)!")='&*+='&(0'%)
,!-=$%'+)&*'&)("0%$.+.)(",!-='&(!")!")&*+):!:$%'&(!"8)#!0('%)#&-$0&$-+)'".)!&*+-)
0*'-'0&+-(#&(0#)!,)+'0*)'$&*!-(&>?)@*+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)B!-=$%')C-'"&)<'#).+&+-=("+.)/>)
&*+)B!-=$%')D:+".("1)D*'-+),!-=$%'+8)&*+)'=!$"&)!,)0!$"0(%)&'G)&*+)'$&*!-(&>)<'#)
'##$=+.)&!)/+)'/%+)&!)-'(#+)'".)&*+),%!!-).'=:("1)#0*+=+?)@*+).+0(#(!")'#)&!)*!<)=$0*)
<'#)#:+"&)!")+'0*)#+-;(0+)<'#)')='&&+-),!-)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#8)&*!$1*)&*+-+)<+-+)#&-!"1)
+G:+0&'&(!"#)&*'&)("0-+'#+#)(")#0*!!%),$".("1)'%%!0'&(!"#)#*!$%.)/+):'##+.)!"?

$"# @*+)#>#&+=)-+0!1"(#+.)&*'&).(,,+-+"&)'-+'#)*';+).(,,+-+"&)"++.#)+(&*+-)/+0'$#+)!,)
1+!1-':*>)!-)/+0'$#+)!,)&*+):'-&(0$%'-)"++.#)!,):$:(%#8)'".)&*+),!-=$%')-+0!1"(#+.)&*+)
0!#&#)!,H

 l &*+)%+;+%)!,)+.$0'&(!"'%).(#'.;'"&'1+)E&*'&)(#8)#!0('%).+:-(;'&(!")'".)!&*+-)'..(&(!"'%)
+.$0'&(!"'%)"++.#)("0%$.("1)D:+0('%)I.$0'&(!"'%)J++.#F)(")+'0*)'-+'8)*+%:("1)&!)
+"#$-+)&*'&)'%%)0*(%.-+")*';+)'")+K$'%)!::!-&$"(&>)&!)#$00++.L

 l '-+')0!#&#)M)-+0!1"(#("1)&*+)*(1*+-)0!#&)!,)-+0-$(&("1)'".)-+&'("("1)&+'0*+-#)'".)!&*+-)
#0*!!%)#&',,)(")#!=+)'-+'#L

 l #:'-#(&>)M)-+0!1"(#("1)&*+),'0&)&*'&);+->)#='%%):-(='->)#0*!!%#8)"+0+##'->)(")-$-'%)'-+'#8)
'-+)=!-+)+G:+"#(;+)&!)-$"?

%"# @*(#)-+#$%&+.)(")N$#&(,('/%+).(,,+-+"0+#)(")&*+)%+;+%)!,),$".("1):+-):$:(%)+'0*)'$&*!-(&>)'-+')
'&&-'0&+.8):'-&(0$%'-%>)/+&<++")&*!#+)'-+'#)<(&*)*(1*)%+;+%#)!,).(#'.;'"&'1+)'".)&*!#+)
<(&*)-+%'&(;+%>)%(&&%+).(#'.;'"&'1+8)'".)&*!#+)<(&*)0!=:'-'&(;+%>)%!<)!-)*(1*)'-+')0!#&#?

&'()*#+,-.#/-)*0)1#2(345)0.2

6"# @*+)#>#&+=)0*'"1+.)(")344764O?)@*+)-("1),+"0+.)P+.(0'&+.)D0*!!%#)C-'"&)<'#)("&-!.$0+.)
&!)+"#$-+)&*'&)&*+)#(1"(,(0'"&)("0-+'#+#)&*+)C!;+-"=+"&)<'#):-!;(.("1),!-)#0*!!%#)'".)
+'-%>)>+'-#)#+&&("1#)(")+;+->)'-+')+'0*)>+'-)-+'0*+.)&*+),-!"&%("+?)Q&)*'#)/++").(#&-(/$&+.)
&!)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)$#("1)&*+)D:+".)R%$#)=+&*!.!%!1>H

108



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

 l 2*+)345+".6)+%+7+"&)1(8+#)+'0*)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&9)&*+)#'7+)/'#(0)("0-+'#+)5+-)5$5(%)!8+-)
&*+(-)%+8+%)!,):4;)5+-)5$5(%),!-)&*+)5-+8(!$#)9+'-<)=(&*)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#>)5%'""+.)
#5+".("1)(")?@@AB@C)'#)&*+)/'#+%("+),!-)&*+),(-#&):4;)'%%!0'&(!"#)(")?@@CB@DE

 l 2*+)3F%$#6)+%+7+"&)(#)&!5B$5#)+'-7'-G+.),!-)7("(#&+-('%)5-(!-(&(+#<).(#&-(/$&+.)$#("1)
'55-!5-('&+),!-7$%'+E)2*+)7'H!-)&!5B$5),!-)?@@IBJJ)#$55!-&#)&*+)-!%%B!$&)!,)
5+-#!"'%(#'&(!")&!)'%%)5$5(%#E

 l K!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)=*(0*)*'.)5-+8(!$#%9).+0(.+.)&!)#5+".)/+%!=)&*+(-)40*!!%#)L!-7$%')
45+".("1)4*'-+)=(%%)*'8+)*'.)&*+(-)1-'"&)/-!$1*&)$5)&!)&*'&)%+8+%)/9)?@J@BJJE)M"+)
5$-5!#+)!,).!("1)&*(#)='#)&!),'0(%(&'&+)&*+)0*'"1+)/'0G)&!),$".("1)/9),!-7$%'E

 "# 2!)("0-+'#+)&*+)0+-&'("&9)!,),$".("1)&*+);!8+-"7+"&)'%#!)/-!$1*&)(")7$%&(B9+'-)
#+&&%+7+"&#E)2*+)45+".)F%$#)7+&*!.!%!19)='#)$#+.)&!).+&+-7("+)');$'-'"&++.)N"(&)!,)
L$".("1),!-)+8+-9)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&9),!-)+'0*)9+'-)!,)')7$%&(B9+'-)#+&&%+7+"&E)2*(#)(#)&*+)
'7!$"&)&*+)'$&*!-(&9)G"!=#)(&)=(%%)-+0+(8+),!-)+8+-9),$%%)&(7+)+O$(8'%+"&)5$5(%)(")&*+)
P'"$'-9)(77+.('&+%9)/+,!-+)&*+),("'"0('%)9+'-)(")O$+#&(!"E)2*(#)*'#)+"'/%+.)%!0'%)
'$&*!-(&(+#)&!)#+&)7$%&(B9+'-)#0*!!%)/$.1+&#E

$"# 2*+)45+".)F%$#)7+&*!.!%!19)='#)0*!#+"),!-)&*+),(-#&):4;)'%%!0'&(!"#),!-)?@@CB@IE)2*+)
0!"#$%&'&(!")!")*!=)&!)'%%!0'&+),$".("1),!-)?@@IBJJ)(".(0'&+.)#&-!"1)#$55!-&),!-)(&#)
0!"&("$'&(!")'#)&*+)7+&*!.),!-).(#&-(/$&("1):4;),!-)&*'&)5+-(!.E)Q!=+8+-<)(&)*'#)-+O$(-+.)
&*+)#+&&("1)!,)')/'#+)9+'-)&!)=*(0*),$&$-+)("0-+'#+#)'-+)'55%(+.<)(")&*(#)0'#+)?@@AB@C<)'".)
#!).!+#)"!&)'%%!=),!-)0*'"1+#)(")-+%'&(8+)"++.)/+&=++")%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)',&+-)&*'&)&(7+)&!)
/+)-+,%+0&+.E)R*(%#&)(&)*'#)#$00++.+.)(")/-("1("1)#&'/(%(&9)'".)5-+.(0&'/(%(&9)&!)&*+)#9#&+7<)
'%%!0'&(!"#)'-+)"!&).(-+0&%9)/'#+.)!")&*+)0*'-'0&+-(#&(0#)!,)&*+)#0*!!%#)'".)5$5(%#)&*+9)'-+)
#+-8("1E

%&'()*+,#-*&.+/0

1"# R*(%+)&*+)45+".)F%$#)7+&*!.!%!19)(#)"!&)'.H$#&+.),!-)9+'-)!")9+'-)0*'"1+#)(")5$5(%)
0*'-'0&+-(#&(0#)/+&=++")'$&*!-(&(+#<)(&).!+#)-+,%+0&)&!)#!7+)+S&+"&).(,,+-+"0+#)(")=*'&)
%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)=+-+)-+0+(8("1),!-<)'".)&*+-+,!-+)#5+".("1)!"<)8'-(!$#)+%+7+"&#)$".+-)
&*+)5-+8(!$#),!-7$%')'%%!0'&(!"#)(")?@@AB@CE

2+34)35#0&&035'.'36,#-*&#&'-/'76)35#68'#90,)7#'36)6/'.'36

:"# 2*+)/'#(0)+"&(&%+7+"&)(")&*+)5-+8(!$#),!-7$%')0!"#(#&+.)!,)&=!)0!75!"+"&#T)&*+)
7("(7$7)+"&(&%+7+"&)'".)'")UVW)+%+7+"&)X)#("0+)+8+-9)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&9)='#)'##$7+.)&!)
*'8+)')0+-&'(")'7!$"&)!,)UVWE)2*+)UVW)+%+7+"&)(#)&*+),$".("1)=(&*(")&*+)/'#(0)
+"&(&%+7+"&)&*'&)5'9#),!-)&*+)&*-+#*!%.)5-!5!-&(!")!,)UVW)5$5(%#E)2*(#)(#).+#0-(/+.)(")
7!-+).+&'(%)(")&*+)UVW)#+0&(!")/+%!=E)2*+)7("(7$7)+"&(&%+7+"&)-+,%+0&+.)').+0(#(!")!")
*!=)/+#&)&!).(8(.+)$5)&*+),$".("1)'8'(%'/%+),-!7)&*+);!8+-"7+"&)'0-!##)&*+),!-7$%')
+%+7+"&#E)2*+)7("(7$7)+"&(&%+7+"&)='#)'.H$#&+.)&!)-+7!8+)&*+)+%+7+"&).+&+-7("+.),!-)
UVW<)*(1*)0!#&)5$5(%#<)'".)#5'-#(&9)0!#&#)(")&*+)5-(7'-9)#+0&!-E)2*+)-+7'("("1)#$7#)=+-+)
'8'(%'/%+),!-)&*+)7("(7$7)+"&(&%+7+"&)'".)'##!0('&+.)'-+')0!#&#E)2*+)UVW)+%+7+"&)(")&*+)

109



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

/'#(0)+"&(&%+2+"&)3'#)0'%0$%'&+.)#+4'-'&+%5)'".)'..+.)&!)&*(#)2("(2$2)+"&(&%+2+"&)&!)
1(6+)&*+)&!&'%)/'#(0)+"&(&%+2+"&7

"#$%&$'()**)$'+,+$-.(/0*(*+/1+2-&$'(3#3&1.(4&-5(678

9:( 8*+),!-2$%')'44%(+.)(")9::;<:=)3'#)(",!-2+.)/5)-+#+'-0*)$".+-&'>+")/5)?3 )(")9::97)
8*+)@AB),'0&!-)*'.)&*-++)+%+2+"&#C

 l 0!#&)D)&*+)'2!$"&)&*'&)+'0*)@AB)4$4(%)'&&-'0&#E

 l ("0(.+"0+)D)'")+#&(2'&+)!,)&*+)"$2/+-)!,)4$4(%#)3(&*)@AB)(")+'0*)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&5E)'".

 l &*-+#*!%.)D)')2("(2$2)&*-+#*!%.)#+&)'&)&*+)%+6+%)&!)-+,%+0&)3*'&)(#)'##+##+.)&!)/+)(")
&*+)/'#(0)+"&(&%+2+"&7

;<:( F!$-)0'&+1!-(+#)!,)"++.)3+-+)(.+"&(,(+.)(")9::9)D)%+'-"("1)"++.#)-+%'&+.)&!)A"1%(#*)'#)'")
@..(&(!"'%)G'"1$'1+H)#4+0(,(0)%+'-"("1)"++.#)#$0*)'#)'$&(#2H)#!0('%)"++.#)'".)!&*+-)
%+'-"("1)"++.#7)8*+)&54+#)!,)0!#&)!,)4-!6(.("1),!-)4$4(%#)3(&*)@AB)3+-+C

 l #0*!!%)0!#&)D)0!#&)!,)4'5("1),!-)'..(&(!"'%)-+#!$-0+#)#$0*)'#)&+'0*("1)'##(#&'"&#E

 l !44!-&$"(&5)0!#&#)D).(6+-&("1)-+#!$-0+#)#$0*)'#)&+'0*+-)&(2+)&!3'-.#)@AB)4$4(%#)(")
4%'0+)!,)#$44!-&)&*'&)3!$%.)(.+'%%5)/+)4-!6(.+.)/5H),!-)+I'24%+H)')%+'-"("1)#$44!-&)
'##(#&'"&E

 l $"2+&)"++.)D)&*+)'##+##+.)0!#&)!,)"++.#),!-)3*(0*)#0*!!%#)#'(.)&*+5)3+-+)$"'/%+)&!)
4-!6(.+7)?3 )-+0!22+".+.)0'44("1)&*+#+)"++.#)'&)JKHL::)4+-)4$4(%7

;;:( 8*+),("'%),!-2$%')$#+.),!-)&*+)5+'-#)9::M<:N)&!)9::;<:=)0!6+-+.)'%%)2+&)"++.#H)#0*!!%)'".)
!44!-&$"(&5)0!#&#H)'".)*'%,)!,)&*+)$"2+&)"++.7)8*+)$"(&)0!#&)3'#)-+.$0+.)&!)-+,%+0&)
'..(&(!"'%),$".("1)&*-!$1*)#4+0(,(0)1-'"&#),!-).+4-(6'&(!"7)@")@AB)(".+I)3'#).+6+%!4+.)
&!)4-!6(.+)&*+)/+#&)+#&(2'&+)!,)&*+)4-!4!-&(!")!,)4$4(%#)3(&*)@AB)(")+'0*)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&57)
8*+)(".+I)("0%$.+.C

 l ')#!0('%)(".(0'&!-)D)(")&*(#)0'#+)O"0!2+)P$44!-&)0!2/("+.)3(&*)Q!->("1)F'2(%(+#)8'I)
 -+.(&)'".)R(#'/(%(&5)?+-#!"#)8'I) -+.(&E)'".

 l '")A@G)'".)+&*"(0(&5)(".(0'&!-7

;=:( 8*+)&*-+#*!%.)3'#)#+&)'&)&*+)K:&*)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&5),-!2)&*+)/!&&!2)!,)&*+)@AB)(".+I)3*(0*)
2+'"&)&*'&)&*+)/!&&!2)K:)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)-+0+(6+.)&*+)#'2+)'2!$"&)!,),$".("1)'".)3'#)
#+&)'&)&*+)%+6+%)'##$2+.)(")&*+)/'#(0)+"&(&%+2+"&)D)'-!$".)K9)4+-)0+"&)!,)4$4(%#)'##$2+.)
&!)*'6+)@AB7)G!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)3(&*)')4-!4!-&(!")!,)4$4(%#)3(&*)@AB)'/!6+)&*+)&*-+#*!%.)
3!$%.)-+0+(6+)'..(&(!"'%)@AB),$".("17

"#$%&$'()**)$'+,+$-.(/0*(*+/1+2-&$'(5&'5(20.-(3#3&1.

;!:( 8*+)0'%0$%'&(!")!,)&*+)*(1*)0!#&)#$/)/%!0>),!-)9::;<:=H)3*(0*)3'#)&*+)/'#+)5+'-),!-)&*+)
P4+".)?%$#)#5#&+2H)3'#)(",!-2+.)/5)&*+)3!->)!,)&*+)A.$0'&(!")F$".("1)P&-'&+15)S-!$4H)
&*+)S-!$4)+#&'/%(#*+.)&!)0!"#(.+-)&*+),!-2$%'),!-)&*+)9::M<:N)#+&&%+2+"&7)8*+)2'(")
,+'&$-+#)!,)&*(#)#5#&+2)3+-+C

110



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

"#$ &*+)0%(+"&)1-!$2)("0%$.+.)'%%)2$2(%#)(")3'("&'("+.)#2+0('%)#0*!!%#4)*!#2(&'%)#0*!!%#)'".)
2$2(%)-+,+--'%)$"(&#5)'%%)2$2(%#),!-)6*!3)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)2'(.),++#)'&)"!"73'("&'("+.)
'".)(".+2+".+"&)#2+0('%)#0*!!%#4)'".)'%%)2$2(%#)(")!&*+-)3'("&'("+.)#0*!!%#)6*!)*'.)
#&'&+3+"&#8

%#$ ,$".("1)6!$%.)"!&)/+).(#&-(/$&+.)!")&*+)/'#(#)!,)'0&$'%)2$2(%)"$3/+-#)'#)&*+9)6!$%.)
/+)*+':(%9)(",%$+"0+.)/9)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&9)2!%(09);)(")2'-&(0$%'-)&*+):'-('&(!")(")
#&'&+3+"&("1)2!%(098)<&)6!$%.)/+).(#&-(/$&+.)/9)-+#(.+"&)0*(%.)2!2$%'&(!"8

&#$ '")'%&+-"'&(:+)3+'#$-+)!,)&*+)"$3/+-)!,)0*(%.-+")!,)*(1*)0!#&)=>?)(")3'("#&-+'3)
#0*!!%#)6'#)0'%0$%'&+.)$#("1).'&')!")%!6)'0*(+:+-#);)2$2(%#)2+-,!-3("1)&6!)%+:+%#)
/+%!6)&*'&)+@2+0&+.),!-)&*+(-)'1+8

'#$ &*(#)+#&(3'&+.).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)*(1*)0!#&)2$2(%#)6'#)*(1*%9)0!--+%'&+.)6(&*)')-'"1+)!,)
#!0(!7+0!"!3(0),'0&!-#8)A)0!32!#(&+)B2-!@9C)(".(0'&!-),!-).(#&-(/$&("1),$".("1)
0!32-(#("1)("0!3+)#$22!-&)'".)%!6)/(-&*)6+(1*&)6'#)0*!#+")/+0'$#+)(&)*'.)')*(1*)
+@2%'"'&!-9)2!6+-),!-)&*+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)*(1*)0!#&)2$2(%#)'0-!##)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#8)
D*(#)6'#)3$%&(2%(+.)/9)&*+)E);)FG)2!2$%'&(!"8

(#$ *(1*)0!#&)2$2(%#)'&)A0'.+3(+#)6+-+)("0%$.+.4)'#)&*+)-+#(.+"&)'$&*!-(&9)-+&'("+.)
,$".("1)-+#2!"#(/(%(&9),!-)2$2(%#)6(&*)#&'&+3+"&#)'&)A0'.+3(+#8

)!#$ D*+)H I)#2+".("1)#*'-+),!-)+'0*)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&9)6'#)0'%0$%'&+.)/9)3$%&(2%9("1)')"'&(!"'%)
$"(&)0!#&)/9)&*+)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)+#&(3'&+.)"$3/+-)!,)H I#8

*+,'-,.$"//",.(0(,12$34/$/(35(&1-,.$26"/2-17

) #$ D*+)JKKE),!-3$%'4)6*(0*)6'#)$#+.)(")JKKG7KL4)-+0!1"(#+.)&*'&)#3'%%+-)#0*!!%#)0!#&)3!-+4)
'".)&*'&)(&)#*!$%.)/+)&*+)2$2(%)2!2$%'&(!")&*'&).+&+-3("+.)6*+&*+-)'..(&(!"'%),$".("1)
6'#)'0&$'%%9)-+M$(-+.8)D*+)JKKE)#9#&+3)-+0!1"(#+.)')-+%'&(!"#*(2)/+&6++")#2'-#(&9)!,)
2!2$%'&(!")'".)#(N+)!,)#0*!!%4)'#)6+%%)'#)(.+"&(,9("1)&*'&)#3'%%)#0*!!%)0!#&#)("0-+'#+.)
#(1"(,(0'"&%9)2+-)2$2(%)!"0+)&*+)#(N+)!,)&*+)#0*!!%),'%%#)/+%!6)OK)2$2(%#8

)8#$ A)$"(&)0!#&)!,)PFLG)6'#)+#&'/%(#*+.),!-)JKKE7KQ)/'#+.)!")$2%(,&("1)&*+)2-+:(!$#)JKKK7KF)
,(1$-+)'".)'..("1)+@&-'),!-)&*+)$".+-)G#8)R-.("'-9)#2'-#(&9)6'#).+,("+.)'#)&*+)-+#(.+"&)
2!2$%'&(!")!,)&*!#+)6'-.#)6(&*(")&*+)'-+')!,)&*+)'$&*!-(&9)'&)&*+)FSSF) +"#$#)6(&*)3!-+)
&*'")K8G)/$&)%+##)&*'")!-)+M$'%)&!)Q)-+#(.+"&#)2+-)*+0&'-+4).(:(.+.)/9)&*+)&!&'%)-+#(.+"&)
2!2$%'&(!")!,)&*+)'$&*!-(&94)0'%0$%'&+.)$#("1)(",!-3'&(!"),-!3)&*+)FSSF) +"#$#8)A".)
#$2+-7#2'-#(&9)6'#)&*+)#'3+)/$&),!-)&*!#+)6'-.#)6(&*),+6+-)&*'")K8G)-+#(.+"&#)2+-)
*+0&'-+8

*+,'-,.$"//",.(0(,12$34/$/(35(&1-,.$"/("$&421$'-33(/(,&(2

)9#$ D*+)'22-!'0*)0*!#+")(")&*+)JKKE7KQ),!-3$%')'".)6*(0*)$".+-2("#)&*+)0$--+"&)=2+".)
I%$#)3+&*!.!%!19)6'#)/'#+.)!")&*+)T+"+-'%)U'/!$-)V'-W+&)'22-!'0*)$#+.)/9)&*+)
X+2'-&3+"&),!-) !33$"(&(+#)'".)U!0'%)T!:+-"3+"&)B UTC8)D*(#)(#)/'#+.)!")+@'3("("1)
#+%+0&+.)6'1+)0!#&#)(")+'0*)'-+')'".).+-(:("1)'")(".+@8)D*+) UT)A-+') !#&)A.Y$#&3+"&)
BA AC)("0%$.+#)/!&*)')U'/!$-) !#&)A.Y$#&3+"&)'".)')#3'%%+-)Z'&+#) !#&)A.Y$#&3+"&8)D*+)
U'/!$-) !#&)A.Y$#&3+"&)(#)/'#+.)$2!")&*+)T+"+-'%)U'/!$-)V'-W+&)'22-!'0*)6*(0*)

111



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)   

'##$2+#)&*'&)&!)#+0$-+)'".)-+&'(")#&',,)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)"++.)&!)3'4)')%!0'%)51!("1)-'&+67)
8'&'),-!2)&*+)9""$'%):$-;+4)!,)<!$-#)'".)='-"("1#)(#)$#+.)&!)0'%0$%'&+)&*+)>'/!$-) !#&)
9.?$#&2+"&),!-)+'0*)'-+')0!"&-!%%("1),!-)'1+@)1+".+-)!00$3'&(!")'".)(".$#&-4)#+0&!-7

!"#$ A*+)9 9)$#+#)/!&*)3$/%(0)'".)3-(;'&+)#+0&!-)+'-"("1#).'&'@)-+0!1"(#("1)&*'&)B'1+)
,%+C(/(%(&4)(")&*+)3$/%(0)#+0&!-@)("0%$.("1)!&*+-)3-!,+##(!"#)%(D+)3!%(0+)!,,(0+-#@)B(%%)/+)%!B+-)
'#)')-+#$%&)!,)&*+)'33%(0'&(!")!,)"'&(!"'%)3'4)#0'%+#7

!%#$ A*+)9 9)0'")/+)0'%0$%'&+.)$#("1).(,,+-+"&)1+!1-'3*(+#7)A*+)0$--+"&)9 9),'0&!-)0!2/("+#)
#2'%%+-)1+!1-'3*(0'%)'-+'#)&!1+&*+-)&!)0-+'&+)EF)9 9)'-+'#7)A*+)G#%+#)!,):0(%%4)B'#)"!&)
("0%$.+.)(")&*+)0'%0$%'&(!")!,)&*+)EF)1+!1-'3*(+#)/$&)B'#)1(;+")')#+3'-'&+)1-'"&)
'%%!0'&(!"@)1(;+")(&#)3'-&(0$%'-)1+!1-'3*(0'%)0*'-'0&+-(#&(0#7

&'#$ A*+)9 9)'%#!)$#+#)')&*-+#*!%.)/+%!B)B*(0*)'%%)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)'-+)1(;+")&*+)#'2+)9 9)
,'0&!-7)A*(#)B'#)("0%$.+.)&!)-+0!1"(#+)&*'&)'%%)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)#&(%%)*';+)&!)'.*+-+)&!)
"'&(!"'%)3'4)-'&+#)+;+")(,)&*'&)-'&+)(#)*(1*+-)&*'")&*+)1!("1)B'1+)-'&+),!-)&*+)'-+'7)A*+)
0$--+"&) >H)&*-+#*!%.)2+'"#)&*'&)#!2+)IJ)$33+-)&(+-)'".)$"(&'-4)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)'-+)!")
&*+)%!B+-)%(2(&7

&!#$ 9")9 9)(".+C)B'#)'33%(+.)&!)&*+)#+3'-'&+),$".("1)#$/)/%!0D#7)A*+)(".+C)B'#)'..+.)'&)
&*+)+".)!,)&*+)3-!0+##)&!).+&+-2("+)&*+)#0*!!%#)'".)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&4)#3+".("1)#*'-+@)',&+-)
'.?$#&2+"&)*'.)/++")2'.+)&!)-+,%+0&).+3-(;'&(!")'".)#3'-#(&4)KB*+-+)'33-!3-('&+L7)A*(#)
-+#$%&+.)(")#!2+)E)3+-)0+"&)!,)&*+)&!&'%)/+("1)'%%!0'&+.)&!)-+,%+0&)'-+')0!#&).(,,+-+"0+#7

&&#$ 8!0$2+"&#)-+%'&("1)&!)&*+)0$--+"&)#+&&%+2+"&)0'")/+),!$".)*+-+M$*&&3MNNBBB7&+'0*+-"+&7
1!;7$DN2'"'1+2+"&N#0*!!%,$".("1N#0*!!%,$".("1JOOP&!QQN)'".),!-)&*+)3-+;(!$#)
#+&&%+2+"&)0'")/+),!$".)*+-+M)*&&3MNNBBB7&+'0*+-"+&71!;7$DN2'"'1+2+"&N
#0*!!%,$".("1NJOORSOIT,$".("1T'--'"1+2+"&#N7)8+&'(%#)!,)&*+)3-+;(!$#),!-2$%')0'")/+)
,!$".)*+-+M)*&&3MNNBBB7&+'0*+-"+&71!;7$DN2'"'1+2+"&N#0*!!%,$".("1NJOOUSORT
:0*!!%T,$".("1T'--'"1+2+"&#N

112



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

Annex B 
Supplementary technical 
information on the proposed 
formula arrangements

"#$%&''#(#)*+,%-'./+(#)*+,%011'2

34% 2*+)3-!3!#+.)4+&*!.!%!15),!-)'%%!0'&("1)-+#!$-0+#),!-)678)(")&*+),!-4$%')("9!%9+#:

34% 0'%0$%'&("1)&*+)"$4/+-)!,)3$3(%#);(&*)678)"'&(!"'%%5)'".)&*!#+)&*'&)'-+)<(1*) !#&)
=$3(%#)'".)-+4!9("1)&*+)<(1*) !#&)=$3(%#>

54% 0'%0$%'&("1)&*+)"$4/+-)!,)+3(#!.+#)!,)+'0*)"++.)&53+)"'&(!"'%%5>

64% #0'%("1)&*+)"'&(!"'%),(1$-+)/'0?)&!)&*+)&!&'%)"'&(!"'%)"$4/+-)!,)3$3(%#);(&*)678)@'#)
#!4+)3$3(%#);(%%)*'9+)4!-+)&*'")!"+)"++.A>

74% '%%!0'&("1)&*+#+)3$3(%#)&!)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)/5)'##(1"("1)'")'33-!3-('&+).(#&-(/$&(!")
4+&*!.),!-)+'0*)"++.)&53+>)'".

 4% 0*!!#("1);*(0*).(#&-(/$&(!")(".(0'&!-)&!)$#+),-!4)&*+)!3&(!"#)'9'(%'/%+)B)(")&*(#)
0'#+)&*+)-'"1+)!,).+3-(9'&(!")!3&(!"#C

8+,/.,+(#*9%(:1%*.;<1=%)>%?.?#,2%@#(:%&-0%*+(#)*+,,A

54% D+)*'9+)$#+.)&*+)=; )#$-9+5),(1$-+)&*'&)EF)3+-)0+"&)!,)3$3(%#)(")4'("#&-+'4)#0*!!%#)
*'9+)678G)("0%$.("1)3$3(%#);(&*)H78)@EI)3+-)0+"&)(")3-(4'-5)'".)EE)3+-)0+"&)(")
#+0!".'-5AC)J!-)&*+)678)+%+4+"&)!,)&*+),$".("1),!-4$%');+)"++.)&!)-+4!9+)*(1*)0!#&)
3$3(%#G)4'("%5)&*!#+);(&*)H78G);*!);(%%)/+)0!9+-+.)#+3'-'&+%5)(")&*+),!-4$%'C)D+)*'9+)
$#+.)'),("'"0('%)&*-+#*!%.)&!).+,("+)*(1*)0!#&G)$#("1)&*+),(1$-+)0'%0$%'&+.),-!4)&*+)#$-9+5)
!,)KLGEMN)3+-)5+'-G);*(0*)(#)(")'..(&(!")&!)/'#(0),$".("1C)O#("1)&*(#)&*-+#*!%.)'".).'&')
,-!4)&*+)#$-9+5);+)+#&(4'&+)&*'&)#!4+)MCI)3+-)0+"&)!,)3$3(%#)(")4'("#&-+'4)#0*!!%#)'-+)
*(1*)0!#&G);*(0*)4+'"#)&*'&)EMCI)3+-)0+"&)!,)3$3(%#)"'&(!"'%%5)*'9+)678)@EFCP)3+-)0+"&)(")
3-(4'-5G)EQCF)3+-)0+"&)(")#+0!".'-5)'".)'")'##$4+.)EI)3+-)0+"&)(")7'-%5)R+'-#)#+&&("1#AC)
2*(#)'4!$"&#)&!)#!4+)MGINNGQQQ)3$3(%#)!,)&*+)"'&(!"'%)&!&'%)!,)S$#&)$".+-)PCT)4(%%(!")
3$3(%#C

113



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

"#$%&$#'()*+',-+)&./-0+12+-3(415-4+12+-#%,+678+'93-+)#'(1)#$$9

:;+ 2*+)#$-3+4)'%#!)("3+#&(1'&+.)&*+).(,,+-+"&)&45+#)!,)"++.)&*'&)5$5(%#)*'3+)'".),-!6)&*(#)
&*+),!%%!7("1)#0*!!%)%+3+%)("0(.+"0+#)!,)89:)/4)&45+),!-)5-(6'-4)'".)#+0!".'-4)#0*!!%#)
*'3+)/++").+-(3+.;)<&)#*!$%.)/+)"!&+.)&*'&)')5$5(%)6'4)*'3+)6!-+)&*'")!"+)"++.;

<"=>>?+?7@7?+A8"AB78"7++
<()*$-+10+C&$'(3$-+8--5

D0(.#09+
A)%(5-)%-+

<-%1)5#09+
A)%(5-)%-+

=+*'3(!$-'%>)96!&(!"'%)'".)?!0('%)<"&+-'0&(!" @A BA

C!6+)9"3(-!"6+"& DEA FA

 !1"(&(!")'".)G+'-"("1 HDA HIA

 !66$"(0'&(!")'".)<"&+-'0&(!" @A DA

?+"#!-4)'".)J*4#(0'% HA HA

9"1%(#*)'#)'")8..(&(!"'%)G'"1$'1+ KA LA

M&*+- HA HA

E;+ =4)6$%&(5%4("1)+'0*)("0(.+"0+)/4)&*+)"$6/+-)!,)5$5(%#)(")5-(6'-4)!-)#+0!".'-4)5*'#+#)'")
+#&(6'&+)!,)&*+)&!&'%)"$6/+-)!,)+5(#!.+#)!,)+'0*)89:)&45+)(#)5-!.$0+.;)2*+#+)'-+)#+&)!$&)
(")&*+)$"#0'%+.)0!%$6"#)/+%!7)'".)#*!7#)&*'&)#!6+)5$5(%#)7(%%)*'3+)6!-+)&*'")!"+)"++.;

<%#$()*+',-+)#'(1)#$+2(*&0-+/#%F

 ;+ 8#)7+)*'3+)0'%0$%'&+.)&*'&)DE;B)5+-)0+"&)!,)5-(6'-4>)DI;E)5+-)0+"&)!,)#+0!".'-4)'".)'")
'##$6+.)D@)5+-)0+"&)!,)&*+)+'-%4)4+'-#)5$5(%#)*'3+)89:>)&*+).'&')(#)#0'%+.)/'0N)#!)&*'&)
&*+)&!&'%)0!$"&)!,)5$5(%#)(#)0!--+0&;)2*(#)6+&*!.)0'5&$-+#)6$%&(5%+)"++.#)'&)5$5(%)%+3+%;)
2*(#)(#)#*!7"),!-)5-(6'-4)'".)#+0!".'-4)/+%!7O

+ G)4%#$-5 <%#$-5

DGDA?+A8"AB78"7 D0(.#09+
678+

D&3($4

<-%1)5#09+
678+

D&3($4

D0(.#09+
678+

D&3($4

<-%1)5#09+
678+

D&3($4

=+*'3(!$-'%>)96!&(!"'%)'".)
?!0('%

HFE>HLK) HFF>BEF KE>DDD HHF>LPH

C!6+)9"3(-!"6+"& KKK>LKH) D@P>KIB EKD>KHF H@E>@FE

 !1"(&(!")'".)G+'-"("1 LPE>@@@) DK@>ELH HFF>BED HBI>P@F

 !66$"(0'&(!")'".)<"&+-'0&(!" HFE>HLK) @B>IPK KE>DDD EL>HED

?+"#!-4)'".)J*4#(0'% EK>PEI) DK>@EL HP>PLL HB>IPP

9"1%(#*)'#)'")8..(&(!"'%)
G'"1$'1+

EIF>IEB) HHL>HEP HEE>H@L PK>DPL

M&*+- EK>PEI) DK>@EL HP>PLL HB>IPP

2!&'% E>IFL>BKB H>LF@>PBB
114



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

"#$ 2*+)#$-3+4).(.)"!&)0!3+-)+'-%4)4+'-#)#+&&("1#)'".)&*+-+,!-+)&*+)("0(.+"0+)!,)567)/4)"++.)
&48+)(#)'##$9+.)&!)/+)&*+)#'9+)'0-!##)&*+)+'-%4)4+'-#)#+&&("1#)'".)&*+):+0+8&(!")&!);+'-)
<)/%!0=#>)2*+)("0(.+"0+)(#)#$99'-(#+.)/+%!?@

%&'()$*+&',$
-+../01,

2$.3$*" *4$.3$*55

A+*'3(!$-'%B)69!&(!"'%)'".)C!0('%)
D"&+-'0&(!"

EF EF GHF

I!9+)6"3(-!"9+"& JGF JGF G<F

 !1"(&(!")'".)K+'-"("1 GGF GGF GEF

 !99$"(0'&(!")'".)D"&+-'0&(!" EF EF <F

C+"#!-4)'".)L*4#(0'% GF GF MF

6"1%(#*)'#)'")5..(&(!"'%)K'"1$'1+ HNF HNF HGF

O&*+- GF GF MF

2!&'%)P(1"!-("1)-!$".("1Q HRRF HRRF HRRF

6,,/10/01$&0$&77'37'/&.+$8/,.'/9:./30$;+.<38$=3'$+&><$0++8$.)7+

4#$ S+)="!?)&*'&)&*+)("0(.+"0+)!,)&*+#+)"++.#)0!--+%'&+#)0%!#+%4)&!)0+-&'(")(".(0'&!-#)+>1>)
.+8-(3'&(!">)S+)*'3+)'##$9+.)&*'&)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)&*'&)*'3+)8$8(%#)?(&*)&*!#+)
(".(0'&!-#)'%#!)*'3+)8$8(%#)?(&*)&*+)0!--+#8!".("1)"++.)&48+>)S+)*'3+)%("=+.)&*+)'/!3+)
"++.)&48+#)&!)&*+)9!#&)'88-!8-('&+).(#&-(/$&(!")9+&*!.#>)2*+)-'&(!"'%+),!-)&*(#)(#)#+&)!$&)
(") *'8&+-)M>

6%?$@)7+ A/,.'/9:./30$;+.<38,

A+*'3(!$-'%B)69!&(!"'%)'".)C!0('%)
D"&+-'0&(!"

T+8-(3'&(!"

I!9+)6"3(-!"9+"& T+8-(3'&(!"

 !1"(&(!")'".)K+'-"("1 U".+-8+-,!-9("1)1-!$8#)

 !99$"(0'&(!")'".)D"&+-'0&(!" V%'&):'&+)L+-)L$8(%

C+"#!-4)'".)L*4#(0'% V%'&):'&+)L+-)L$8(%

6"1%(#*)'#)'")5..(&(!"'%)K'"1$'1+ 6"1%(#*)'#)'")5..(&(!"'%)K'"1$'1+

O&*+- V%'&):'&+)L+-)L$8(%

B<33,/01$C</><$8/,.'/9:./30$/08/>&.3'$.3$:,+

!#$ 2*-++)!,)&*+)"++.)&48+#)?(%%)/+)'%%!0'&+.)/4)'),%'&)-'&+)'".)8'-'1-'8*)M>HW)#+&#)!$&)*!?)
&*+)$".+-8+-,!-9("1)1-!$8#)?(%%)/+).+,("+.),!-)&*+)0!1"(&(!")'".)%+'-"("1)'%%!0'&(!">)
2*+)9'(")(##$+)(#)'-!$".)?*(0*).+8-(3'&(!")(".(0'&!-)&!)$#+),!-)&*+)A6CD)'".)I!9+)

115



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

2"3(-!"4+"&)"++.)&56+#7)8*+)-'&(!"'%+)(#)#+&)!$&)(")&*+)92:)#+0&(!")'/!3+)'".)("0%$.+#)
&*+),!%%!;("1)!6&(!"#<

=6&(!")>)?)=$&)!,)@!-A)?)8'B) -+.(&)C".(0'&!-

=6&(!")D)?)EFG)?)E-++)F0*!!%)G+'%#

=6&(!")H)?) *(%.)I!3+-&5)G+'#$-+

=6&(!")J)?))93+-'1+)CK9 C)LC"0!4+)K+6-(3'&(!")9,,+0&("1) *(%.-+")C".+BM)#0!-+)!,)6$6(%#)
+.$0'&+.);(&*(")&*+)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&5

=6&(!")N)?))EFG);(&*)&*+)'..(&(!"'%)NOOPOOO)6$6(%#)(")&*+)4!#&).+6-(3+.)'-+'#)/5)&*+)CK9 C)
#0!-+)"!&)!")EFG

F!4+)$".+-%5("1).'&'#+&#)$#+.)&!),!-4)&*+)(".(0'&!-#)!6&(!")6-+#+"&+.)(")&*(#).!0$4+"&)
'-+)'3'(%'/%+)(")&;!),!-4'&#<)!"+)/'#+.)$6!")0*(%.-+")'1+.)$".+-)>QP)'".)!"+)/'#+.)!")
'%%)0*(%.-+"7)8*+).(#&("0&(!")0!4+#),-!4)!3+-)>N#);*!#+),'4(%(+#)'-+)+%(1(/%+)&!)0%'(4) *(%.)
R+"+,(&#7)@*+-+)6!##(/%+)&*+)$".+-)>Q)4+'#$-+);!$%.)/+)$#+.);*+").'&')/+0!4+#)
'3'(%'/%+7

"##$%&#'(%)*+,%-.-#/+

!0% @+)'-+)6-!6!#("1)&*+)#'4+)4+&*!.!%!15),!-)'%%!0'&("1)-+#!$-0+#),!-)*(1*)0!#&)6$6(%#)'#)
&*+)6-!6!#+.)'66-!'0*)&!)0'%0$%'&("1)92:P)"'4+%5<

10% 0'%0$%'&("1)&*+)"'&(!"'%)"$4/+-)!,)*(1*)0!#&)6$6(%#S

20% 0'%0$%'&("1)&*+)"$4/+-)!,)+6(#!.+#)!,)+'0*)"++.)&56+)"'&(!"'%%5S

30% #0'%("1)&*+)"'&(!"'%),(1$-+)/'0A)&!)&*+)&!&'%)"'&(!"'%)"$4/+-)!,)*(1*)0!#&)6$6(%#)L'#)
#!4+)6$6(%#);(%%)*'3+)4!-+)&*'")!"+)"++.MS

40% '%%!0'&("1)&*+#+)6$6(%#)&!)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&(+#)/5)'##(1"("1)'")'66-!6-('&+).(#&-(/$&(!")
4+&*!.),!-)+'0*)"++.)&56+S)'".

 0% 0*!!#("1);*(0*).(#&-(/$&(!")(".(0'&!-)&!)$#+),-!4)&*+)!6&(!"#)'3'(%'/%+7

)5/6./5,#7'%,(8%7.9:8;%*<%(#'(%6*+,%-.-#/+

1=0% 8*+)4'(")#+0&(!")'/!3+)#+&)!$&)!$-)6-!6!#'%)&!).+,("+)*(1*)0!#&)6$6(%#)/5)4+'"#)!,)')
,("'"0('%)&*-+#*!%.P)#+&)'&)TQPD>U7)8*(#)4+'"#)&*'&)'%%)6$6(%#P)(")4'("#&-+'4)#+&&("1#P)
;*!#+)0!#&#)'-+)'/!3+)&*(#)'4!$"&)'-+).++4+.)&!)/+)*(1*)0!#&7)8*(#);!$%.)("0%$.+)#!4+)
6$6(%#);*!)'-+)0%'##(,(+.),!-)F2:)6$-6!#+#)'#)#0*!!%)'0&(!")'".)#0*!!%)'0&(!")6%$#)'#);+%%)
'#)&*!#+);*!)*'3+)#&'&+4+"&#7

110% 8!)'--(3+)'&)'")+#&(4'&+)!,)&*+)"$4/+-)!,)*(1*)0!#&)6$6(%#)(")4'("#&-+'4)#0*!!%#)
"'&(!"'%%5);+)*'3+)$#+.),(1$-+#),-!4)&*+)I; )#0*!!%#)#$-3+5)!,)&*+)6-!6!-&(!")!,)+'0*)
F2:)6-!3(#(!")1-!$6)&*'&)'-+)0!"#(.+-+.)&!)/+)*(1*)0!#&7)I; );+(1*&#)'-+)/'#+.)!")DOOU)
0+"#$#).'&'7)V#("1)DOOW).'&')1(3+#)&*+),!%%!;("1);+(1*&#<

F&'&+4+"&+.) QN7QQX

116



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

20*!!%)'0&(!")3%$#)) 45647

20*!!%)'0&(!")) 85987

:!)2;:)3-!<(#(!")) 858=7

"#$% >*+)?+&*!.!%!1@)$#+.)/@)AB )&'C+#)3$/%(#*+.)#&'&(#&(0#)!")23+0('%);.$0'&(!"):++.#)'#)')
3$3(%)/'#(#)B*(0*)*'<+)').(,,+-+"&)0!<+-'1+)&!)&*!#+)&*'&)'-+),$".+.)&*-!$1*)&*+)D2E5)
>*+)&'/%+)/+%!B).+-(<+#)&*+)"$?/+-)!,)3$3(%#).++?+.)&!)/+)*(1*)0!#&5

&'(%)*+,'*-%
./0%)12+34

&5(%.6789:'*-%
./0%)12+34

&7(%)*828*;+89%
<=)

&'%>%7(%
)*+,'*-%<=)%

)12+34

&5%>%7(%
.6789:'*-%
<=)%)12+34

:!)2;: 6FG96FHH8 GF4IGFH48 858=7 6G9 G4I

2J 4H=FH48 6IHFK88 85987 6F696 GF9I8

2JL GM=FGM8 =IGF688 45647 ==F66I HF64M

2&'&+?+"& K9FI=8 MGF448 MK5MM7 6HF8G4 48FIIH

>!&'% 4F894FHI8 6F=4MF8H8 K6F8M6 KGF6H6

"?$% N!-)+'0*)3*'#+F)&*+)3-!3!-&(!")!,)3$3(%#)&*'&)'-+)*(1*)0!#&)(#),!$".)&!)/+)=56)3+-)0+"&)'".)
=59)3+-)0+"&)-+#3+0&(<+%@5)N$".+.)3$3(%#)B(&*(")&*+)D2E)'-+)$#+.)&!).+-(<+)&*+)"$?/+-)!,)
O A#)(")?'("#&-+'?)#+&&("1#5

@8;'3%A@/4 )*828*;+89%
<=)

<=)%A@/4

D2E)
A-(?'-@)
A$3(%#

6FHMGFIM= =567 K8F686

D2E)
2+0!".'-@)
A$3(%#

GFHK6F48H =597 49FK=8

>!&'%)O A# I9FH=6

117



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

!"#$ 2")'..(&(!")3+)"++.)&!)("0%$.+)4$4(%#)(")"!"56'("#&-+'6)#+&&("1#)3*(0*)0!7+-)&*+)
,!%%!3("18

9'("&'("+.:)"!")6'("&'("+.)'".)(".+4+".+"&)#4+0('%)4-!7(#(!"));<:=<=

>?@#)) AB:<CD

E0'.+6(+#)F(".(7(.$'%%G)'##(1"+.)-+#!$-0+#H) I:A;D

J!&)(")#0*!!%) K:===

L$-)+#&(6'&+),!-)AMMC)(#)&*'&)&*+-+)'-+)AI<:DCC)*(1*)0!#&)4$4(%#)(")&!&'%)!,)3*(0*)C<:;I=)
'-+)(")6'("#&-+'6)4-(6'-G)'".)#+0!".'-G)#0*!!%#)'".)IIC:<;K)'-+),$".+.)(")!&*+-)
#+&&("1#N

%&'()'&*+,-$*./$,)01/2$34$/5+637/6$34$/&(.$,//7$*85/$,&*+3,&''8

!9#$ O*+)&'/%+)/+%!3:)3*(0*)(#)&'P+"),-!6)&*+)>3 )#$-7+G:)#+&#)!$&)&*+)("0(.+"0+)!,)+'0*)"++.)
&G4+),!-)*(1*)0!#&)4$4(%#)(")6'("#&-+'6)#+&&("1#N

:+,-'/$32$;)'*+5'/$<//7 =,(+7/,(/

Q+*'7(!$-'%:)R6!&(!"'%)'".)S!0('%)2"&+-'0&(!" B<T

U!6+)R"7(-!"6+"& =DT

 !1"(&(!")'".)V+'-"("1 DCT

 !66$"(0'&(!")'".)2"&+-'0&(!" D=T

S+"#!-G)'".)>*G#(0'% A;T

R"1%(#*)'#)'")E..(&(!"'%)V'"1$'1+ <T

L&*+- ACT

! #$ O!)0'%0$%'&+)&*+)"'&(!"'%)"$6/+-)!,)+'0*)"++.)&G4+),!-)*(1*)0!#&)4$4(%#)(")6'("#&-+'6)
#+&&("1#)3+)*'7+)6$%&(4%(+.)&*+)'/!7+)("0(.+"0+)/G)&*+)&!&'%)"$6/+-)!,)*(1*)0!#&)4$4(%#)
(")#$0*)#+&&("1#:)"'6+%G)C<:;I=N)J!&)$"+W4+0&+.%G)&*+)U >)/%!0P)(#)#*!3("1)')6$0*)
*(1*+-)("0(.+"0+)&*'")(")&*+)ERJ)#$-7+G)!,)0!1"(&(!")'".)%+'-"("1:)0!66$"(0'&(!")'".)
("&+-'0&(!")'".)#+"#!-G)'".)4*G#(0'%)"++.#:)'#)&*+#+)'-+)4'-&(0$%'-%G)%(P+%G)&!)/+)*(1*)0!#&N

:(&'+,-$1&(>

!?#$ E#)3(&*)&*+)ERJ)0'%0$%'&(!")&*(#)3(%%)-+#$%&)(")6!-+)+4(#!.+#)&*'")-+%+7'"&)4$4(%#)F'#)6'"G)
4$4(%#)3(%%)*'7+)6!-+)&*'")!"+)"++.)&G4+H)'".)&*+)&!&'%)*'#)/++")#0'%+.)/'0P)&!)&*+)U >)
&!&'%N

118



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

" #$%&'()* +&'()*

2+*'3(!$-'%4)56!&(!"'%)'".)7!0('%)8"&+-'0&(!" 9:4;<= ><4?>;

@!6+)5"3(-!"6+"& A94=A9 >A4=B;

 !1"(&(!")'".)C+'-"("1 :<4<D; ==4AB?

 !66$"(0'&(!")'".)8"&+-'0&(!" :>4?9> =D4D;A

7+"#!-E)'".)F*E#(0'% =<4A?? >D4B>:

5"1%(#*)'#)'")G..(&(!"'%)C'"1$'1+ B4?9< =4B:9

H&*+- =?4ABB >D4;;9

,-.'( !/!01/2 320451

6-$78'9$%.:)'8"%)..9$;%

54<" I+)J"!K)&*'&)&*+-+)'-+)>>;4<?B)L$L(%#)(")"!")6'("#&-+'6)#+&&("1#)!3+-'%%)/$&)'-+)"!&)
'/%+)&!)$#+)&*+)FK )#$-3+E)&!)'%%!0'&+)&*+6)'0-!##)&*+)L'-&(0$%'-)G5M)"++.)&EL+#)'#)&*+)
#$-3+E)!"%E)0!3+-+.)6'("#&-+'6)#+&&("1#N)I+)*'3+)&*+-+,!-+)&-(+.)&!)6'L)&*+)#&'".'-.)
75M)0'&+1!-(+#)'0-!##)&!)&*+)G5M)"++.)&EL+#N)O*(#)*'#)+"'/%+.)')"++.)L-!,(%+)&!)/+)
.+-(3+.),!-)L$L(%#)(")6'("&'("+.)#L+0('%4)"!"P6'("&'("+.)#L+0('%)'".)1+"+-'%)*!#L(&'%)
#0*!!%#Q

=>?"@A6"?'.);-:9)% +A6"?'.);-:9)% =):"BCB9("

2+*'3(!$-'%4)56!&(!"'%)'".)
7!0('%)8"&+-'0&(!"

2+*'3(!$-4)56!&(!"'%)R)7!0('%)
S(,,(0$%&(+#

DN>9?

@!6+)5"3(-!"6+"& MTG

 !1"(&(!")'".)C+'-"("1 7L+0(,(0)C+'-"("1)S(,,(0$%&E DN::A

) U!.+-'&+)C+'-"("1)S(,,(0$%&E

) 7+3+-+)C+'-"("1)S(,,(0$%&E

) F-!,!$".)R)U$%&(L%+)C+'-"("1)S(,,(0$%&E

 !66$"(0'&(!")'".)8"&+-'0&(!" 7L++0*4)C'"1$'1+)'".)
 !66$"(0'&(!"#)M++.#

DN=><

) G$&(#&(0)7L+0&-$6)S(#!-.+-

7+"#!-E)'".)F*E#(0'% @+'-("1)86L'(-6+"& DND<:

) V(#$'%)86L'(-6+"&

) U$%&(P)7+"#!-E)86L'(-6+"&

) F*E#(0'%)S(#'/(%(&E

5"1%(#*)'#)'")G..(&(!"'%)
C'"1$'1+

MTG

H&*+- H&*+-)S(,,(0$%&ETS(#'/(%(&E DNDDB
119



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

"#$% 2*+)"$3/+-)!,)+4(#!.+#)!,)+'0*)"++.)&54+)(#)&*+")!/&'("+.)/5)3$%&(4%5("1)&*+)!6+-'%%)
"$3/+-)!,)4$4(%#),!-)+'0*)"!")3'("#&-+'3)#0*!!%)#+&&("1)/5)&*+)'/!6+)4-!,(%+7)8!9+6+-:)
9+)0!"#(.+-)&*'&;

 l &*+)3!#&)(34!-&'"&)"++.)&54+),!-)<=>#)(#)?@AB)'".)*'6+)&*+-+,!-+)'%%!0'&+.)'%%)<=>)
4$4(%#)&!)&*'&)0'&+1!-5C

 l &*'&)4$4(%#)(")&*+)D!&)(")A0*!!%)0'&+1!-5)#*!$%.)/+)(")&*+)EF&*+-G)0'&+1!-5C)'".

 l &*'&)4$4(%#)9(&*)(".(6(.$'%%5)'##(1"+.)-+#!$-0+#)(")H0'.+3(+#)#*!$%.),!%%!9)&*+)#'3+)
4-!,(%+)'#)&*!#+)!,)3'("&'("+.)3'("#&-+'3)#+&&("1#7

% &'() *+,%-.%
/01++2

30456786) 948.,48.65%
/:60842;%

*9//;%<=/;%
>,16?%-.5

?+*'6(!$-'%:)@3!&(!"'%)'".)
A!0('%)B"&+-'0&(!"

IJ:KLM) INJ) OI:LMP)

8!3+)@"6(-!"3+"& OKJ)

 !1"(&(!")'".)Q+'-"("1 ILJ) JR:NOS)

 !33$"(0'&(!")'".)B"&+-'0&(!" IPJ) OR:LRN)

A+"#!-5)'".)<*5#(0'% ONL) P:MMP)

@"1%(#*)'#)'")H..(&(!"'%)
Q'"1$'1+

NM)

F&*+- P:NNN) OJJ) MPR)

) IJ:KLM) P:NNN) O:IRM) RK:NKN)

@A$% <$&&("1)&*+)3'("#&-+'3)'".)"!")3'("#&-+'3)4$4(%#)&!1+&*+-)9+)*'6+)&*+),!%%!9("1)
#0'%+.)&!&'%;

322%=B&%&C:82)%DE%*665%FE:6

?+*'6(!$-'%:)@3!&(!"'%)'".)A!0('%)B"&+-'0&(!" MM:RSJ

8!3+)@"6(-!"3+"& ON:JJN)

 !1"(&(!")'".)Q+'-"("1 KS:LKI)

 !33$"(0'&(!")'".)B"&+-'0&(!" NL:NJO)

A+"#!-5)'".)<*5#(0'% OK:NOO)

@"1%(#*)'#)'")H..(&(!"'%)Q'"1$'1+ )I:PRL

F&*+- OR:SNL)

F+,42 %@"G;H##%

120



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

"##$%&$&%'(&'())*+)*$(,-'.$#,*$/0,$+&'1-,2+.'3+*'-(42'&--.',5)-

678' 2+)*'3+)%("4+.)&*+)'/!3+)"++.)&56+#)&!)7*'&)7+)0!"#(.+-)&*+)8!#&)'66-!6-('&+)
.(#&-(/$&(!")8+&*!.#9):#)0*'6&+-);)+<6%'("#=)!$-)+3(.+"0+)#$11+#&#)&*'&)&*+-+)(#)%(&&%+)
'##!0('&(!")/+&7++")8!#&)!,)&*+)"++.)&56+#)'".).+6-(3'&(!")'".)#!)&*+-+)(#)%+##)-+%('"0+)
!").+6-(3'&(!")8+'#$-+#)(")!$-)6-!6!#+.).(#&-(/$&(!")8+&*!.!%!15)&*'"),!-):>?9):#)&*+)
("0(.+"0+)!,)*(1*)0!#&):>?)(#)8!-+)-'".!8%5)!00$--("1=)')%'-1+)6-!6!-&(!")!,)&*+)
.(#&-(/$&(!"),!-)@>AB=) B)'".)AC)(#)'##$8+.)&!)/+)/5)'),%'&)-'&+9)D*+)6-!6!-&(!")!,)0*(%.-+")
+%(1(/%+),!-)E(#'/(%(&5)F(3("1):%%!7'"0+)*'#)/++")("0%$.+.),!-)#+"#!-5)'".)6*5#(0'%)'#)
&*+-+)(#)#!8+)+3(.+"0+=)-+0+"&%5)6$/%(#*+.=)&!)#$66!-&)&*(#9

:>?)D56+ G C ?++.)("0(.+"0+

@+*'3(!$-'%=)>8!&(!"'%)'".)
A!0('%

HIJ)E+6-(3'&(!")
KIJ)L%'&)-'&+)6+-)6$6(%)

HMJ

G!8+)>"3(-!"8+"& NOOJ)E+6-(3'&(!") MJ

 !1"(&(!")'".)F+'-"("1 NOOJ)/5)?!&):0*(+3("1)P!-+)
&*'")F+3+%)H)'&)Q+5)A&'1+)H

RRJ

 !88$"(0'&(!")'".)B"&+-'0&(!" SOJ)L%'&)T'&+)C+-)C$6(%U)NOJ)
E+6-(3'&(!"

NVJ

A+"#!-5)'".)C*5#(0'% VOJ)L%'&)T'&+)C+-)C$6(%)
HOJ)EF:)

VJ

>"1%(#*)'#)'"):..(&(!"'%)
F'"1$'1+

>"1%(#*)'#)'"):..(&(!"'%)
F'"1$'1+

NJ

W&*+- L%'&)T'&+)C+-)C$6(% VJ

92++#$&%':2$42'.$#,*$/0,$+&'$&.$4(,+*',+'0#-

668' D*+)8'(")(##$+)7*(0*)7!$%.)',,+0&)&*+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,),$".("1),!-)*(1*)0!#&)6$6(%#)-+%'&+#)
&!)7*(0*).+6-(3'&(!")(".(0'&!-)&!)$#+9)D*+)!6&(!"#)'-+)#+&)!$&)(")0*'6&+-);9)2+)6-!6!#+)&!)
$#+)&*+)#'8+).+6-(3'&(!")(".(0'&!-)'#)&*'&)&!)/+)$#+.),!-)&*+):>?)'%%!0'&(!"9

;$$$<'"*-('9+#,'".=0#,1-&,

>5/*$.'+),$+&

 '%0$%'&("1)&*+).(-+0&),("'"0('%)0!#&)!,)&+'0*+-#

6?8' D*+)6-!0+##)("3!%3+#).+-(3("1)'")(".+<)!,)&*+).(-+0&),("'"0('%)0!#&)!,)+'0*)1-!$6)!,)
&+'0*("1)#&',,)7*(0*),!-)&*(#)6$-6!#+)("0%$.+#),$%%)&(8+)X+Y$(3'%+"&Z)0%'##-!!8)&+'0*+-#=)
,$%%)&(8+)%+'.+-#*(6)#&',,=),$%%)&(8+):.3'"0+.)A4(%%#)D+'0*+-#=)LD>)$"'&&'0*+.)'".)
$"Y$'%(,(+.)&+'0*+-#9)F+'.+-#*(6)#&',,),!-)&*(#)6$-6!#+)0!3+-#)*+'.&+'0*+-#=)'##(#&'"&)
*+'.)&+'0*+-#=).+6$&5)*+'.)&+'0*+-#)'".)!&*+-)%+'.+-#*(6)#&',,9)B")!-.+-)&!)/+)0!"#(#&+"&)
7(&*)&*+)6-("0(6%+)!,)'$&*!-(&(+#)"!&)',,+0&("1)&*+): :)&*-!$1*)&*+(-)!7")'0&(!"#=)7+)

121



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

"++.)&!)$#+)')"'&(!"'%)(".+2)3)/'#+.)!")&*+)4-!4!-&(!")!,)&+'0*("1)#&',,)'0-!##)&*+)
.(,,+-+"&)4!("&#)!")&*+)4'5)/'".)#4("+#)6,!-)+2'74%+),!-)0%'##-!!7)&+'0*+-#)&*+)
4-!4!-&(!"#),!-)8"1%'".)!,)&+'0*+-#)'0-!##)&*+)9:;<=)4'5)#4("+#>?

"#$% @)A+(1*&+.)'B+-'1+)0!#&)4+-)&+'0*+-)(#).+-(B+.)$#("1)&*+)4-!4!-&(!"#)(.+"&(,(+.)'/!B+)
7$%&(4%(+.)/5)#'%'-5),!-)&*+)&+'0*+-#)'0-!##)&*+)4'5)/'".)#4("+#?)C!),!-)+2'74%+)(,):D)4+-)
0+"&)!,)0%'##-!!7)&+'0*+-#)'-+)!")&*+)9:)4'5#0'%+)'".)&*+)#'%'-5),!-)&*+)9:)0%'##-!!7)
&+'0*+-#)(#)EFGHDDDH)&*+")&*+)A+(1*&+.)'B+-'1+)0!#&)4+-)IJ8)0%'##-!!7)&+'0*+-)(#)EFHGDD?)
J*+)#'7+)'44-!'0*)(#),!%%!A+.),!-)+'0*)1-!$4)!,)&+'0*+-#)'".)'")!B+-'%%)(".+2)(#)
.+&+-7("+.)/5)0'%0$%'&("1)'")'B+-'1+)A+(1*&("1),!-)'%%)!,)&*+)1-!$4#)/'#+.)!")&*+)
"$7/+-)!,)&+'0*+-#)(")+'0*)1-!$4?

&'()*('+,-.%+/0%12(,+%34%)31+1

"!$% @%#!)(74!-&'"&)&!)&*(#)0'%0$%'&(!")(#)*!A)&!).+-(B+)&*+)A+(1*&("1#)&!)/+)'44%(+.)&!)&*+)
.(,,+-+"&)0!#&#?)J*+)@ @)A(%%)!"%5)'44%5)&!)0!#&#)'##!0('&+.)A(&*)#&',,("1?)K+)*'B+)
0'%0$%'&+.)&*+)#4%(&)/+&A++")#0*!!%#L)+24+".(&$-+)!")&+'0*+-#L)4'5)&!)!&*+-)4'5)&!)/+)
MNO=FH)A*(0*)0!--+#4!".#)&!)')#4%(&)/+&A++")&+'0*+-#L)4'5P!&*+-)4'5P"!";4'5)!,)GMOFMO:N?

" $% J*(#)#4%(&)A'#)0'%0$%'&+.)$#("1)FDDQ;DN)C+0&(!")GF)!$&&$-").'&'?)824+".(&$-+)A'#).(B(.+.)
("&!),!$-)0'&+1!-(+#R)&*+)&*-++)(")&*+)#4%(&)'".)'7!$"&#)&!)/+)(1"!-+.),!-)&*+)4$-4!#+)!,)
&*(#)0'%0$%'&(!"H)/+0'$#+)&*+5)'-+)"!&),$".+.),-!7)&*+)SCT?)J*+)&'/%+)/+%!A)#*!A#)&*+)
&!&'%)'7!$"&#)0'%0$%'&+.?

53+'(%&31+%6789 :';%<2(,+ 53+'(%<2(,+

J+'0*+-#L)U'5 :NHVFQ?VVF) MN?=:W GM?D=W

X&*+-)U'5 NHGVQ?M:=) =:?MYW FG?YYW

Z!";U'5 GHY:V?Y:G) ) :Q?YNW

[1"!-+ ::Q?VQF) ) )

"=$% K+)*'B+)$#+.)C+0&(!")GF)!$&&$-").'&')&!)0'%0$%'&+)&*+)#4%(&H)'44%5("1)&*+),!%%!A("1)
'##$74&(!"#O

 l &+'0*("1)#&',,)68D:>)(#)'%%)&+'0*+-#L)4'5H)+20+4&),!-)&+'0*("1)#&',,)'%%!A'"0+#)60'%0$%'&+.)
/5)UA )&!)/+)EF=G7>)A*(0*)(#)!&*+-)4'5?

 l #$44%5)&+'0*("1)#&',,)68DF>)'".)'1+"05)#$44%5)&+'0*("1)#&',,)68FM>)'-+)'%%)&+'0*+-#L)4'5?

 l 0!#&)!,)-+0-$(&("1)&+'0*+-#)6'..(&(!"'%)%("+>)(#)!&*+-)4'5H)&*(#)A'#)0'%0$%'&+.)&!)/+)EMQ7)
/5)UA ?

 l +.$0'&(!")#$44!-&)#&',,)68D=>H)4-+7(#+#)#&',,)68DV>H)'.7(")#&',,)68DG>H)0'&+-("1)#&',,)
68DM>H)!&*+-)#&',,)68DQ>)'".).+B+%!47+"&)'".)&-'("("1)68DY>)'-+)!&*+-)4'5?

 l (".(-+0&)+74%!5++)824+"#+#)68DN>H)#$44%5)&+'0*+-)("#$-'"0+)68:D>)'".)#&',,)-+%'&+.)
("#$-'"0+)68::>)A+-+)#4%(&)4-!4!-&(!"'%%5)/+&A++")&+'0*+-#L)4'5)'".)!&*+-)4'5?)J*(#)
#4%(&)A'#)0'%0$%'&+.)&!)/+)MNO=F?

122



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  

 l (&)2'#)'##$3+.)&*'&)/$(%.("1)3'("&+"'"0+)456789)1-!$".#)3'("&+"'"0+)456:89)0%+'"("1)
'".)0'-+&';("1)456<8)'".)/!$1*&=(")>-!,+##(!"'%)#+-?(0+#)0$--(0$%$3@!&*+-)457A@57B8)
2!$%.)/+)#>%(&)/+&2++")!&*+-)>'C)'".)"!"=>'CD)E")!-.+-)&!)0'%0$%'&+)&*+)#>%(&)2+)
%!!;+.)'&)&*+)'00!$"&#)!,)')#+%+0&(!")!,)0!3>'"(+#)&*'&)'-+)0!"&-'0&+.)/C)%!0'%)
'$&*!-(&(+#)&!)>+-,!-3)&*+#+)#+-?(0+#)4,!%%!2("1)#!3+)#(3(%'-)2!-;)/C) FG89)'".)
0'%0$%'&+.)&*'&)&*+)'>>-!>-('&+)#>%(&#)/+&2++")!&*+-)>'C)'".)"!"=>'C),!-)&*+#+),(?+)
%("+#)2+-+)6HIBH9)6HIBH9)JHI:H9)<KIJK)'".)<KIJK)-+#>+0&(?+%CD

 l 2'&+-)'".)#+2+-'1+)456H89)+"+-1C)456J89)-'&+#)456A89)!&*+-)!00$>'&(!")0!#&#)456B89)
%+'-"("1)-+#!$-0+#)456L89)E M)%+'-"("1)-+#!$-0+#)457K89)+N'3("'&(!"),++#)457689)'.3(")
#$>>%(+#)457789)!&*+-)("#$-'"0+)>-+3($3#)457:89)#>+0('%),'0(%(&(+#)457<89)0'&+-("1)#$>>%(+#)
457H8)O)%!'")("&+-+#&)457L8)2+-+)'%%)"!"=>'CD

 l  !33$"(&C),!0$#+.)+N&+".+.)#0*!!%)#&',,@0!#&#)45:6@5:78)2+-+)(1"!-+.)!")&*+)/'#(#)
&*'&)&*+C)'-+)"!&)&!)/+),$".+.),-!3)&*+)P0*!!%#)Q$.1+&D

!"#$%&'()*'+$',$%&-).$,/$&)+',"-)"01"&2$,3+"

456) M*+)+N>+".(&$-+)!")-'&+#)456A8)2'#)+N>%!-+.)&!)#++)(,)&*+-+)2'#)'"C)-+1(!"'%)?'-('&(!"D)
E")!-.+-)&!)("?+#&(1'&+)&*(#)2+)&!!;)&*+)7KKA=KB)#+0&(!")H7)!$&&$-").'&')'&)%!0'%)'$&*!-(&C)
%+?+%)'".)'11-+1'&+.)(&)$>)&!)')-+1(!"'%)%+?+%D)R+)&*+").(?(.+.)&*+)+N>+".(&$-+)!")-'&+#)
/C)&*+)"$3/+-)!,)SPG),$".+.)>$>(%#)(")7KKA=KB)&!)1+&)&*+)+N>+".(&$-+)>+-)>$>(%)/C)
-+1(!"D)M*+)-+#$%&#)'-+)#*!2")(")&*+)&'/%+)/+%!2D)M*+)*(1*+#&)+N>+".(&$-+)(#)(")T$&+-)
F!".!"9)&*+)%!2+#&)(#)(")&*+)U!-&*)R+#&D

!"#$%& 701"&2$,3+")%&)
!',"-)1"+)831$()

9:;

<,'&2'+2$-"2)
!',$%

=$>>"+"&?")>+%@)
A',$%&'()
BC"+'#"

E""+-)F!".!" <LDK: 6D7K KD6V

T$&+-)F!".!" HJDKL 6D:A 6<DHV

P!$&*)5'#& H:DBB 6D:7 6KDKV

P!$&*)R+#& <ADHL 6D6A =7DLV

5'#&)!,)5"1%'". <BDH7 6D6L =6DKV

5'#&)W(.%'".# <ADJH 6D6A =7DAV

R+#&)W(.%'".# <ADB6 6D6A =7D<V

U!-&*)5'#& <BD6J 6D6B =6DAV

U!-&*)R+#& <KDB< 6DKK =6JDJV

X!-;#*(-+)'".)&*+)Y$3/+- HKDAH 6D7< :DJV

A',$%&'()BC"+'#" DE6FF G64F FH

123



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

"#$% 2*+#+),(1$-+#)#*!3)&*'&)&*+-+)(#)#!4+)-+1(!"'%)5'-('&(!")/$&)(&)(#)"!&)#6#&+4'&(0)7)&*+)
,(1$-+),!-)8""+-)9!".!")(#)%!3+-)&*'"),!-):!-;#*(-+)'".)&*+)<$4/+-=)>(1$-+#),!-)(".(5(.$'%)
'$&*!-(&(+#)3(&*(")&*+)-+1(!"#)'-+)'%#!)5'-('/%+?)'".)3(%%)/+)(",%$+"0+.)/6)&*+)@-!@!-&(!")
!,)'(.+.)'".),!$".'&(!")#0*!!%#?)3*(0*)-+0+(5+)-'&+)-+%(+,?)(")+'0*)'-+'=)A(5+")&*(#)
!$&0!4+?)'".)&*+)-+%'&(5+%6)#4'%%)'4!$"&)!,)+B@+".(&$-+)-+@-+#+"&+.)/6)-'&+#)3(&*(")&*+)
CDA?)3+).!)"!&)("&+".)&!)@$-#$+),$-&*+-)&*+)(.+')!,)')#+@'-'&+)E E),'0&!-),!-)-'&+#=

&'(()*+%,&,%-).-(/012)3

45$% 9!".!")F+B0%$.("1) (&6)!,)9!".!"G)(#)0$--+"&%6)#@%(&)("&!)&*-++)-+1(!"#)(")&*+)C+@'-&4+"&)
,!-) !44$"(&(+#)'".)9!0'%)A!5+-"4+"&)E E)4!.+%)'#).+#0-(/+.)/+%!3H

6**)( 7'+)(%8%9)3+ 7'+)(%8%:)3+

 '4.+" I'-"+& I'-;("1)J)C'1+"*'4

A-++"3(0* I-+"& I+B%+6

<'0;"+6 K'%("1 I-!4%+6

<'44+-#4(&* <'--!3  -!6.!"

8#%("1&!" <(%%("1.!" K",(+%.

L+"#("1&!")J) *+%#+' <!$"#%!3 <'-("1+6

9'4/+&* L("1#&!" <'5+-("1

9+3(#*'4 M+-&!" N+3*'4

D!$&*3'-; O(0*4!". O+./-(.1+

2!3+-)<'4%+&# D$&&!" P'%&*'4)>!-+#&

P'".#3!-&* ) )

P+#&4("#&+- ) )

124



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

 (&2)!,)3!".!")(#)')#+4'-'&+)5 5)'-+'6

 $--+"&)3!".!")7+'0*+-)8'2)9'".)'-+'#)'-+)'#),!%%!:#;

"##$% &'($%

9'-<("1)=)>'1+"*'? 9'-"+&

9-+"& 9+@%+2

 '?.+" 9-!?%+2

 (&2)!,)3!".!"  -!2.!"

A'%("1 A",(+%.

B-++":(0* C'--!:

C'0<"+2 C'D+-("1

C'??+-#?(&* C(%%("1.!"

C'-("1+2 C!$"#%!:

E#%("1&!" F("1#&!"

F+"#("1&!")=) *+%#+' G+./-(.1+

3'?/+&* G(0*?!".

3+:(#*'? H$&&!"

I+-&!" J'%&*'?)K!-+#&

L+:*'?

H!$&*:'-<

7!:+-)C'?%+&#

J'".#:!-&*

J+#&?("#&+-

)*+, 9+2!".)&*+)M$&+-)3!".!")4'2)/'".)&*+-+)(#)&*+)NK-("1+O)4'2)/'".)'-+'):*(0*)0!?4-(#+#;

 l P"(&'-2)'$&*!-(&(+#)!,)9-'0<"+%%)K!-+#&Q)H%!$1*)'".)J(".#!-)'".)I'(.+"*+'.)(")9+-<#*(-+R

 l >(#&-(0&#)!,)H!$&*)9$0<("1*'?#*(-+)'".) *(%&+-")(")9$0<("1*'?#*(-+R

 l >(#&-(0&#)!,)9'#(%.!"Q)9-+"&:!!.Q)A44("1)K!-+#&Q)C'-%!:)'".)&*+)$"(&'-2)'$&*!-(&2)!,)
7*$--!0<)(")A##+@R

 l >(#&-(0&#)!,)9-!@/!$-"+Q)>'0!-$?Q)A'#&)C+-&,!-.#*(-+Q)C+-&#?+-+Q)H&)5%/'"#Q)7*-++)
G(D+-#Q)J'&,!-.)'".)J+%:2")C'&,(+%.)(")C+-&,!-.#*(-+R

 l >(#&-(0&#)!,)>'-&,!-.)'".)H+D+"!'<#)(")F+"&R

 l  !$"&2)!,)H$--+2

 l >(#&-(0&)!,) -':%+2)(")J+#&)H$##+@

)-+,  3B)-+,%+0&)&*+),-("1+)1+!1-'4*(+#)(")&*+)ST)A"1%'".)5 5)'-+'#6)M$&#(.+)!,)&*+),-(.1+)4'2)
/'".Q)&*+)-+#&)!,)&*+)0!$"&-2)*'#)')#("1%+)4'2)/'".6

125



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !
A

nne
x C

: C
ha

rts
"#$%&'()'*+%,+-&$.+'/0'1+,+2&3/-'&/'4

+$%'(('252367'3-'0$8
363+7'/-'9

5&'/0':
/%;'<$='"%+>3&7?'<#37'>$&$'37',$6,56$&+>'0/%'+$,#'+>5,$&3-.'

6/,$6'$5&#/%3&@'573-.'ABBC'&$=',%+>3&'>$&$'8
$&,#+>'&/'&#+'D$-5$%@'ABB!'7,#//6',+-757

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90

100

City of London
Camden

Greenwich
Hackney

Hammersmith and Fulham
Islington

Kensington and Chelsea
Lambeth

Lewisham
Southwark

Tower Hamlets
Wandsworth
Westminster

Barking and Dagenham
Barnet
Bexley
Brent

Bromley
Croydon

Ealing
Enfield

Haringey
Harrow

Havering
Hillingdon
Hounslow

Kingston upon Thames
Merton

Newham
Redbridge

Richmond upon Thames
Sutton

Waltham Forest
Birmingham

Coventry
Dudley

Sandwell
Solihull
Walsall

Wolverhampton
Knowsley
Liverpool
St. Helens

Sefton
Wirral

Bolton
Bury

Manchester
Oldham

Rochdale
Salford

Stockport
Tameside

Trafford
Wigan

Barnsley
Doncaster

Rotherham
Sheffield
Bradford

Calderdale
Kirklees

Leeds
Wakefield

Gateshead
Newcastle upon Tyne

North Tyneside
South Tyneside

Sunderland
Bath and North East Somerset

Bristol, City of
North Somerset

South Gloucestershire
Hartlepool

Middlesbrough
Redcar and Cleveland

Stockton-on-Tees
Kingston Upon Hull, City of

East Riding of Yorkshire
North East Lincolnshire

North Lincolnshire
North Yorkshire

York
Luton

Bedford Borough
Central Bedfordshire

Buckinghamshire
Milton Keynes

Derbyshire
Derby

Dorset
Poole

Bournemouth
Durham

Darlington
East Sussex

Brighton and Hove
Hampshire

Portsmouth
Southampton
Leicestershire

Leicester
Rutland

Staffordshire
Stoke-on-Trent

Wiltshire
Swindon

Bracknell Forest
Windsor and Maidenhead

West Berkshire
Reading

Slough
Wokingham

Cambridgeshire
Peterborough

Halton
Warrington

Devon
Plymouth

Torbay
Essex

Southend-on-Sea
Thurrock

Herefordshire
Worcestershire

Kent
Medway

Lancashire
Blackburn with Darwen

Blackpool
Nottinghamshire

Nottingham
Shropshire

Telford and Wrekin
Cheshire East

Cheshire West and Chester
Cornwall
Cumbria

Gloucestershire
Hertfordshire
Isle of Wight
Lincolnshire

Norfolk
Northamptonshire

Northumberland
Oxfordshire

Somerset
Suffolk
Surrey

Warwickshire
West Sussex

Percentage of pupils (R-Y11) in families receiving Out Of Work Tax Credits

126



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

"#$%&'()'*+%,+-&$.+'/0'1+,+2&3/-'&/'4
+$%'55'262378'9-/:

-'&/';+'+73.3;7+'0/%'<%++'=,#//7'>
+$78'$&'+?6,$&3-.'7/,$7'$6&#/%3&@'7+A+7'

683-.'B$-6$%@'(!!C'8,#//7',+-868'?$&$

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90

100

City of London
Camden

Greenwich
Hackney

Hammersmith and Fulham
Islington

Kensington and Chelsea
Lambeth

Lewisham
Southwark

Tower Hamlets
Wandsworth
Westminster

Barking and Dagenham
Barnet
Bexley
Brent

Bromley
Croydon

Ealing
Enfield

Haringey
Harrow

Havering
Hillingdon
Hounslow

Kingston upon Thames
Merton

Newham
Redbridge

Richmond upon Thames
Sutton

Waltham Forest
Birmingham

Coventry
Dudley

Sandwell
Solihull
Walsall

Wolverhampton
Knowsley
Liverpool
St. Helens

Sefton
Wirral

Bolton
Bury

Manchester
Oldham

Rochdale
Salford

Stockport
Tameside

Trafford
Wigan

Barnsley
Doncaster

Rotherham
Sheffield
Bradford

Calderdale
Kirklees

Leeds
Wakefield

Gateshead
Newcastle upon Tyne

North Tyneside
South Tyneside

Sunderland
Bath and North East Somerset

Bristol, City of
North Somerset

South Gloucestershire
Hartlepool

Middlesbrough
Redcar and Cleveland

Stockton-on-Tees
Kingston Upon Hull, City of

East Riding of Yorkshire
North East Lincolnshire

North Lincolnshire
North Yorkshire

York
Luton

Bedford Borough
Central Bedfordshire

Buckinghamshire
Milton Keynes

Derbyshire
Derby

Dorset
Poole

Bournemouth
Durham

Darlington
East Sussex

Brighton and Hove
Hampshire

Portsmouth
Southampton
Leicestershire

Leicester
Rutland

Staffordshire
Stoke-on-Trent

Wiltshire
Swindon

Bracknell Forest
Windsor and Maidenhead

West Berkshire
Reading

Slough
Wokingham

Cambridgeshire
Peterborough

Halton
Warrington

Devon
Plymouth

Torbay
Essex

Southend-on-Sea
Thurrock

Herefordshire
Worcestershire

Kent
Medway

Lancashire
Blackburn with Darwen

Blackpool
Nottinghamshire

Nottingham
Shropshire

Telford and Wrekin
Cheshire East

Cheshire West and Chester
Cornwall
Cumbria

Gloucestershire
Hertfordshire
Isle of Wight
Lincolnshire

Norfolk
Northamptonshire

Northumberland
Oxfordshire

Somerset
Suffolk
Surrey

Warwickshire
West Sussex

Percentage of pupils (R-Y11) eligible for FSM

127



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

"#$%&'()'*+%,+-&$.+'/0'1+,+2&3/-'&/'4
+$%'!!'252367'8++9

+8'&/':+'3-'2/;+%&<'$7'8+03-+8':<'&#+'"#368'*/;+%&<'=
-3&>7'5-8+%'!?'9

+$75%+'
$-8',$6,56$&+8'$&'&#+'+85,$&3-.'6/,$6'$5&#/%3&<'6+;+6'573-.'@$-5$%<'ABBC'7,#//6',+-757'8$&$

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90

100

City of London
Camden

Greenwich
Hackney

Hammersmith and Fulham
Islington

Kensington and Chelsea
Lambeth

Lewisham
Southwark

Tower Hamlets
Wandsworth
Westminster

Barking and Dagenham
Barnet
Bexley
Brent

Bromley
Croydon

Ealing
Enfield

Haringey
Harrow

Havering
Hillingdon
Hounslow

Kingston upon Thames
Merton

Newham
Redbridge

Richmond upon Thames
Sutton

Waltham Forest
Birmingham

Coventry
Dudley

Sandwell
Solihull
Walsall

Wolverhampton
Knowsley
Liverpool
St. Helens

Sefton
Wirral

Bolton
Bury

Manchester
Oldham

Rochdale
Salford

Stockport
Tameside

Trafford
Wigan

Barnsley
Doncaster

Rotherham
Sheffield
Bradford

Calderdale
Kirklees

Leeds
Wakefield

Gateshead
Newcastle upon Tyne

North Tyneside
South Tyneside

Sunderland
Bath and North East Somerset

Bristol, City of
North Somerset

South Gloucestershire
Hartlepool

Middlesbrough
Redcar and Cleveland

Stockton-on-Tees
Kingston Upon Hull, City of

East Riding of Yorkshire
North East Lincolnshire

North Lincolnshire
North Yorkshire

York
Luton

Bedford Borough
Central Bedfordshire

Buckinghamshire
Milton Keynes

Derbyshire
Derby

Dorset
Poole

Bournemouth
Durham

Darlington
East Sussex

Brighton and Hove
Hampshire

Portsmouth
Southampton
Leicestershire

Leicester
Rutland

Staffordshire
Stoke-on-Trent

Wiltshire
Swindon

Bracknell Forest
Windsor and Maidenhead

West Berkshire
Reading

Slough
Wokingham

Cambridgeshire
Peterborough

Halton
Warrington

Devon
Plymouth

Torbay
Essex

Southend-on-Sea
Thurrock

Herefordshire
Worcestershire

Kent
Medway

Lancashire
Blackburn with Darwen

Blackpool
Nottinghamshire

Nottingham
Shropshire

Telford and Wrekin
Cheshire East

Cheshire West and Chester
Cornwall
Cumbria

Gloucestershire
Hertfordshire
Isle of Wight
Lincolnshire

Norfolk
Northamptonshire

Northumberland
Oxfordshire

Somerset
Suffolk
Surrey

Warwickshire
West Sussex

Percentage of pupils in Poverty

128



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

"#$%&'()'*#+',+%-+.&$/+'01',2,345'6++7
+6'&0'8+'6+,%39+6'8:'-$4-24$&3./'&#+'7

+$.';<
=
";'>!?? @'5-0%+'01'A+-+,&30.'&0'B

+$%'CC',2,345'
7
$&-#+6'&0'&#+'D$.2$%:'!??E'5-#004'-+.525'$&'+62-$&3./'40-$4'$2&#0%3&:'4+9+4

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90

100

City of London
Camden

Greenwich
Hackney

Hammersmith and Fulham
Islington

Kensington and Chelsea
Lambeth

Lewisham
Southwark

Tower Hamlets
Wandsworth
Westminster

Barking and Dagenham
Barnet
Bexley
Brent

Bromley
Croydon

Ealing
Enfield

Haringey
Harrow

Havering
Hillingdon
Hounslow

Kingston upon Thames
Merton

Newham
Redbridge

Richmond upon Thames
Sutton

Waltham Forest
Birmingham

Coventry
Dudley

Sandwell
Solihull
Walsall

Wolverhampton
Knowsley
Liverpool
St. Helens

Sefton
Wirral

Bolton
Bury

Manchester
Oldham

Rochdale
Salford

Stockport
Tameside

Trafford
Wigan

Barnsley
Doncaster

Rotherham
Sheffield
Bradford

Calderdale
Kirklees

Leeds
Wakefield

Gateshead
Newcastle upon Tyne

North Tyneside
South Tyneside

Sunderland
Bath and North East Somerset

Bristol, City of
North Somerset

South Gloucestershire
Hartlepool

Middlesbrough
Redcar and Cleveland

Stockton-on-Tees
Kingston Upon Hull, City of

East Riding of Yorkshire
North East Lincolnshire

North Lincolnshire
North Yorkshire

York
Luton

Bedford Borough
Central Bedfordshire

Buckinghamshire
Milton Keynes

Derbyshire
Derby

Dorset
Poole

Bournemouth
Durham

Darlington
East Sussex

Brighton and Hove
Hampshire

Portsmouth
Southampton
Leicestershire

Leicester
Rutland

Staffordshire
Stoke-on-Trent

Wiltshire
Swindon

Bracknell Forest
Windsor and Maidenhead

West Berkshire
Reading

Slough
Wokingham

Cambridgeshire
Peterborough

Halton
Warrington

Devon
Plymouth

Torbay
Essex

Southend-on-Sea
Thurrock

Herefordshire
Worcestershire

Kent
Medway

Lancashire
Blackburn with Darwen

Blackpool
Nottinghamshire

Nottingham
Shropshire

Telford and Wrekin
Cheshire East

Cheshire West and Chester
Cornwall
Cumbria

Gloucestershire
Hertfordshire
Isle of Wight
Lincolnshire

Norfolk
Northamptonshire

Northumberland
Oxfordshire

Somerset
Suffolk
Surrey

Warwickshire
West Sussex

Percentage of pupils (R-Y11) deemed deprived by IDACI

129



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !
"#$%&'()'*+%,+-&$.+'/0'1+,+2&3/-'&/'4

+$%'55'262378'9-/:
-'&/';+'+73.3;7+'0/%'<%++'=,#//7'>

+$78':
3&#'$-'$??3&3/-$7'@(AABAAA'262378'

0%/C
'&#+'C

/8&'?+2%3D+?'E=F
G
8':

#/'$%+'-/&'+73.3;7+'0/%'<=>
H'I#38'?$&$'38'2%+8+-&+?'0/%'&#+'+?6,$&3-.'$6&#/%3&J';$8+?'62/-'KL

G
"K'

MNAA O'?$&$'C
$&,#+?'&/'&#+'P$-6$%J'NAAQ'8,#//7',+-868

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90

100

City of London
Camden

Greenwich
Hackney

Hammersmith and Fulham
Islington

Kensington and Chelsea
Lambeth

Lewisham
Southwark

Tower Hamlets
Wandsworth
Westminster

Barking and Dagenham
Barnet
Bexley
Brent

Bromley
Croydon

Ealing
Enfield

Haringey
Harrow

Havering
Hillingdon
Hounslow

Kingston upon Thames
Merton

Newham
Redbridge

Richmond upon Thames
Sutton

Waltham Forest
Birmingham

Coventry
Dudley

Sandwell
Solihull
Walsall

Wolverhampton
Knowsley
Liverpool
St. Helens

Sefton
Wirral

Bolton
Bury

Manchester
Oldham

Rochdale
Salford

Stockport
Tameside

Trafford
Wigan

Barnsley
Doncaster

Rotherham
Sheffield
Bradford

Calderdale
Kirklees

Leeds
Wakefield

Gateshead
Newcastle upon Tyne

North Tyneside
South Tyneside

Sunderland
Bath and North East Somerset

Bristol, City of
North Somerset

South Gloucestershire
Hartlepool

Middlesbrough
Redcar and Cleveland

Stockton-on-Tees
Kingston Upon Hull, City of

East Riding of Yorkshire
North East Lincolnshire

North Lincolnshire
North Yorkshire

York
Luton

Bedford Borough
Central Bedfordshire

Buckinghamshire
Milton Keynes

Derbyshire
Derby

Dorset
Poole

Bournemouth
Durham

Darlington
East Sussex

Brighton and Hove
Hampshire

Portsmouth
Southampton
Leicestershire

Leicester
Rutland

Staffordshire
Stoke-on-Trent

Wiltshire
Swindon

Bracknell Forest
Windsor and Maidenhead

West Berkshire
Reading

Slough
Wokingham

Cambridgeshire
Peterborough

Halton
Warrington

Devon
Plymouth

Torbay
Essex

Southend-on-Sea
Thurrock

Herefordshire
Worcestershire

Kent
Medway

Lancashire
Blackburn with Darwen

Blackpool
Nottinghamshire

Nottingham
Shropshire

Telford and Wrekin
Cheshire East

Cheshire West and Chester
Cornwall
Cumbria

Gloucestershire
Hertfordshire
Isle of Wight
Lincolnshire

Norfolk
Northamptonshire

Northumberland
Oxfordshire

Somerset
Suffolk
Surrey

Warwickshire
West Sussex

Percentage of pupils (R-Y11) eligible for FSM with an additional
500,000 pupils with the lowest IDACI scores

130



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

"#$%&'()'*+%,+-&$.+'/0'1+,+2&3/-'&/'4
+$%'55'262378'9

#/'0/%:
'2$%&'/0'&#+'6-;+%2+%0/%:

3-.'.%/628'$&'+;6,$&3-.'7/,$7'$6&#/%3&<'7+=+7'
683-.'>$-6$%<'?@@A'8,#//7',+-868';$&$

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90

100

City of London
Camden

Greenwich
Hackney

Hammersmith and Fulham
Islington

Kensington and Chelsea
Lambeth

Lewisham
Southwark

Tower Hamlets
Wandsworth
Westminster

Barking and Dagenham
Barnet
Bexley
Brent

Bromley
Croydon

Ealing
Enfield

Haringey
Harrow

Havering
Hillingdon
Hounslow

Kingston upon Thames
Merton

Newham
Redbridge

Richmond upon Thames
Sutton

Waltham Forest
Birmingham

Coventry
Dudley

Sandwell
Solihull
Walsall

Wolverhampton
Knowsley
Liverpool
St. Helens

Sefton
Wirral

Bolton
Bury

Manchester
Oldham

Rochdale
Salford

Stockport
Tameside

Trafford
Wigan

Barnsley
Doncaster

Rotherham
Sheffield
Bradford

Calderdale
Kirklees

Leeds
Wakefield

Gateshead
Newcastle upon Tyne

North Tyneside
South Tyneside

Sunderland
Bath and North East Somerset

Bristol, City of
North Somerset

South Gloucestershire
Hartlepool

Middlesbrough
Redcar and Cleveland

Stockton-on-Tees
Kingston Upon Hull, City of

East Riding of Yorkshire
North East Lincolnshire

North Lincolnshire
North Yorkshire

York
Luton

Bedford Borough
Central Bedfordshire

Buckinghamshire
Milton Keynes

Derbyshire
Derby

Dorset
Poole

Bournemouth
Durham

Darlington
East Sussex

Brighton and Hove
Hampshire

Portsmouth
Southampton
Leicestershire

Leicester
Rutland

Staffordshire
Stoke-on-Trent

Wiltshire
Swindon

Bracknell Forest
Windsor and Maidenhead

West Berkshire
Reading

Slough
Wokingham

Cambridgeshire
Peterborough

Halton
Warrington

Devon
Plymouth

Torbay
Essex

Southend-on-Sea
Thurrock

Herefordshire
Worcestershire

Kent
Medway

Lancashire
Blackburn with Darwen

Blackpool
Nottinghamshire

Nottingham
Shropshire

Telford and Wrekin
Cheshire East

Cheshire West and Chester
Cornwall
Cumbria

Gloucestershire
Hertfordshire
Isle of Wight
Lincolnshire

Norfolk
Northamptonshire

Northumberland
Oxfordshire

Somerset
Suffolk
Surrey

Warwickshire
West Sussex

Percentage of pupils (R-Y11) in Underperforming Groups

131



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

"#$%&' (')*%+*,&$-*'./'0*+*1&2.,'&.'3
*$%'44'151267'8

2&#'9,-627#'$7'$,':
;;2&2.,$6'<$,-5$-*'$&'*;5+$&2,-'6.+$6'$5&#.%2&='6*>*6'572,-'

;$&$'/%.?
'@$,5$%='ABBC'7+#..6'+*,757

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90

100

City of London
Camden

Greenwich
Hackney

Hammersmith and Fulham
Islington

Kensington and Chelsea
Lambeth

Lewisham
Southwark

Tower Hamlets
Wandsworth
Westminster

Barking and Dagenham
Barnet
Bexley
Brent

Bromley
Croydon

Ealing
Enfield

Haringey
Harrow

Havering
Hillingdon
Hounslow

Kingston upon Thames
Merton

Newham
Redbridge

Richmond upon Thames
Sutton

Waltham Forest
Birmingham

Coventry
Dudley

Sandwell
Solihull
Walsall

Wolverhampton
Knowsley
Liverpool
St. Helens

Sefton
Wirral

Bolton
Bury

Manchester
Oldham

Rochdale
Salford

Stockport
Tameside

Trafford
Wigan

Barnsley
Doncaster

Rotherham
Sheffield
Bradford

Calderdale
Kirklees

Leeds
Wakefield

Gateshead
Newcastle upon Tyne

North Tyneside
South Tyneside

Sunderland
Bath and North East Somerset

Bristol, City of
North Somerset

South Gloucestershire
Hartlepool

Middlesbrough
Redcar and Cleveland

Stockton-on-Tees
Kingston Upon Hull, City of

East Riding of Yorkshire
North East Lincolnshire

North Lincolnshire
North Yorkshire

York
Luton

Bedford Borough
Central Bedfordshire

Buckinghamshire
Milton Keynes

Derbyshire
Derby

Dorset
Poole

Bournemouth
Durham

Darlington
East Sussex

Brighton and Hove
Hampshire

Portsmouth
Southampton
Leicestershire

Leicester
Rutland

Staffordshire
Stoke-on-Trent

Wiltshire
Swindon

Bracknell Forest
Windsor and Maidenhead

West Berkshire
Reading

Slough
Wokingham

Cambridgeshire
Peterborough

Halton
Warrington

Devon
Plymouth

Torbay
Essex

Southend-on-Sea
Thurrock

Herefordshire
Worcestershire

Kent
Medway

Lancashire
Blackburn with Darwen

Blackpool
Nottinghamshire

Nottingham
Shropshire

Telford and Wrekin
Cheshire East

Cheshire West and Chester
Cornwall
Cumbria

Gloucestershire
Hertfordshire
Isle of Wight
Lincolnshire

Norfolk
Northamptonshire

Northumberland
Oxfordshire

Somerset
Suffolk
Surrey

Warwickshire
West Sussex

Percentage of pupils (R-Y11) with English as an Additional Language

132



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

"#$%&'()'*+%,+-&$.+'/0'121345'$,#3+63-.'-/'#3.#+%'&#$-'7+6+4'8'3-'9
$&#5'$-:';,3+-,+'$&'<

+=';&$.+'8',$4,24$&+:'$&'+:2,$&3-.'4/,$4'
$2&#/%3&='4+6+4'253-.'03-$4'<

+=';&$.+'8':$&$'0%/>
'8??(

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

City of London
Camden

Greenwich
Hackney

Hammersmith and Fulham
Islington

Kensington and Chelsea
Lambeth

Lewisham
Southwark

Tower Hamlets
Wandsworth
Westminster

Barking and Dagenham
Barnet
Bexley
Brent

Bromley
Croydon

Ealing
Enfield

Haringey
Harrow

Havering
Hillingdon
Hounslow

Kingston upon Thames
Merton

Newham
Redbridge

Richmond upon Thames
Sutton

Waltham Forest
Birmingham

Coventry
Dudley

Sandwell
Solihull
Walsall

Wolverhampton
Knowsley
Liverpool
St. Helens

Sefton
Wirral

Bolton
Bury

Manchester
Oldham

Rochdale
Salford

Stockport
Tameside

Trafford
Wigan

Barnsley
Doncaster

Rotherham
Sheffield
Bradford

Calderdale
Kirklees

Leeds
Wakefield

Gateshead
Newcastle upon Tyne

North Tyneside
South Tyneside

Sunderland
Bath and North East Somerset

Bristol, City of
North Somerset

South Gloucestershire
Hartlepool

Middlesbrough
Redcar and Cleveland

Stockton-on-Tees
Kingston Upon Hull, City of

East Riding of Yorkshire
North East Lincolnshire

North Lincolnshire
North Yorkshire

York
Luton

Bedford Borough
Central Bedfordshire

Buckinghamshire
Milton Keynes

Derbyshire
Derby

Dorset
Poole

Bournemouth
Durham

Darlington
East Sussex

Brighton and Hove
Hampshire

Portsmouth
Southampton
Leicestershire

Leicester
Rutland

Staffordshire
Stoke-on-Trent

Wiltshire
Swindon

Bracknell Forest
Windsor and Maidenhead

West Berkshire
Reading

Slough
Wokingham

Cambridgeshire
Peterborough

Halton
Warrington

Devon
Plymouth

Torbay
Essex

Southend-on-Sea
Thurrock

Herefordshire
Worcestershire

Kent
Medway

Lancashire
Blackburn with Darwen

Blackpool
Nottinghamshire

Nottingham
Shropshire

Telford and Wrekin
Cheshire East

Cheshire West and Chester
Cornwall
Cumbria

Gloucestershire
Hertfordshire
Isle of Wight
Lincolnshire

Norfolk
Northamptonshire

Northumberland
Oxfordshire

Somerset
Suffolk
Surrey

Warwickshire
West Sussex

Percentage of pupils achieving no higher than Level 2 in Maths and English at Key Stage 2

133



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  

!"#$%&'(&)*$+*,%#-*&./&0,1*$&234&5,&$*+*56%&./&7
54#89*1&:5;5,-&<

99.=
#,+*&045,-&#&>&?*#$&#;*$#-*&./&@AA3B&@AA &#,1&@AAC&7

*6#$%D
*,%&

/.$&E
.$F&#,1&)*,45.,4&1#%#&G#++*44*1&;5#&H

*5-"8.0$"..1&I%#%54%5+4J

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

City of London
Camden

Greenwich
Hackney

Hammersmith and Fulham
Islington

Kensington and Chelsea
Lambeth

Lewisham
Southwark

Tower Hamlets
Wandsworth
Westminster

Barking and Dagenham
Barnet
Bexley
Brent

Bromley
Croydon

Ealing
Enfield

Haringey
Harrow

Havering
Hillingdon
Hounslow

Kingston upon Thames
Merton

Newham
Redbridge

Richmond upon Thames
Sutton

Waltham Forest
Birmingham

Coventry
Dudley

Sandwell
Solihull
Walsall

Wolverhampton
Knowsley
Liverpool
St. Helens

Sefton
Wirral

Bolton
Bury

Manchester
Oldham

Rochdale
Salford

Stockport
Tameside

Trafford
Wigan

Barnsley
Doncaster

Rotherham
Sheffield
Bradford

Calderdale
Kirklees

Leeds
Wakefield

Gateshead
Newcastle upon Tyne

North Tyneside
South Tyneside

Sunderland
Bath and North East Somerset

Bristol, City of
North Somerset

South Gloucestershire
Hartlepool

Middlesbrough
Redcar and Cleveland

Stockton-on-Tees
Kingston Upon Hull, City of

East Riding of Yorkshire
North East Lincolnshire

North Lincolnshire
North Yorkshire

York
Luton

Bedford Borough
Central Bedfordshire

Buckinghamshire
Milton Keynes

Derbyshire
Derby

Dorset
Poole

Bournemouth
Durham

Darlington
East Sussex

Brighton and Hove
Hampshire

Portsmouth
Southampton
Leicestershire

Leicester
Rutland

Staffordshire
Stoke-on-Trent

Wiltshire
Swindon

Bracknell Forest
Windsor and Maidenhead

West Berkshire
Reading

Slough
Wokingham

Cambridgeshire
Peterborough

Halton
Warrington

Devon
Plymouth

Torbay
Essex

Southend-on-Sea
Thurrock

Herefordshire
Worcestershire

Kent
Medway

Lancashire
Blackburn with Darwen

Blackpool
Nottinghamshire

Nottingham
Shropshire

Telford and Wrekin
Cheshire East

Cheshire West and Chester
Cornwall
Cumbria

Gloucestershire
Hertfordshire
Isle of Wight
Lincolnshire

Norfolk
Northamptonshire

Northumberland
Oxfordshire

Somerset
Suffolk
Surrey

Warwickshire
West Sussex

Percentage of pupils (Under 16) in receipt of Disabled Living Allowance

134



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !
"#$%&'()*'+#,'-.$%-/&0'1

,$-2%,'34%',$5#'645$6'$2&#4%/&0'7
/&#'$'8489:,%4';.$%-/&0'<8=,>?'+#/-'1

,$-2%,'/-'5$6526$&,='$&'@
;A

B
'6,C,6'

2-/8D'$8'$C,%$D,'43'E)) 9E))F'-5#446'$8=',$%60'0,$%-'5,8-2-,-'34%'G'&4'()'0,$%-'46=-?'+#,'7
/=,'$8='8$%%47

'&#%,-#46='4.&/48-'$%,'
-#47

8

0.0

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.9

1.0

Westminster
Bromley

Enfield
Havering

Hillingdon
Merton

Richmond upon Thames
Coventry

Solihull
Knowsley
St. Helens

Sefton
Wirral

Oldham
Rochdale
Stockport

Trafford
Wigan

Barnsley
Doncaster

Rotherham
Sheffield
Bradford

Calderdale
Kirklees

Leeds
Wakefield

Gateshead
Newcastle upon Tyne

Sunderland
Bath and North East Somerset

North Somerset
South Gloucestershire

Hartlepool
Redcar and Cleveland

Stockton-on-Tees
East Riding of Yorkshire
North East Lincolnshire

North Lincolnshire
North Yorkshire

York
Bedford Borough

Central Bedfordshire
Buckinghamshire

Milton Keynes
Derbyshire

Dorset
Poole

Durham
Darlington
East Sussex
Hampshire

Leicestershire
Rutland

Staffordshire
Wiltshire
Swindon

Bracknell Forest
Windsor and Maidenhead

West Berkshire
Wokingham

Cambridgeshire
Peterborough

Halton
Warrington

Devon
Torbay

Essex
Thurrock

Herefordshire
Worcestershire

Kent
Medway

Lancashire
Blackburn with Darwen

Nottinghamshire
Shropshire

Telford and Wrekin
Cheshire East

Cheshire West & Chester
Cornwall
Cumbria

Gloucestershire
Hertfordshire
Isle of Wight
Lincolnshire

Norfolk
Northamptonshire

Northumberland
Oxfordshire

Somerset
Suffolk
Surrey

Warwickshire
West Sussex

Sparsity – MSOA – Average 2007-2009 School Census and EYC 

W
ide Thresholds

N
arrow

 Thresholds

135



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

"#$%&'(()'*#+',-.+%/,.$%,0&1'2
+$,-%+'34%'+$5#'645$6'$-&#4%0&1'7

0&#'$'848/9+%4':.$%,0&1';8<+=>'*#0,'2
+$,-%+'0,'5$65-6$&+<'$&'?

:@
A
'

6+B+6'-,08C'$8'$B+%$C+'43'DEE /DEE!',5#446'$8<'+$%61'1+$%,'5+8,-,+,'34%'F'&4'(E'1+$%,'46<,>'*#+'7
0<+'$8<'8$%%47

'&#%+,#46<'4.&048,'
$%+',#47

8

0.0

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.9

1.0

Westminster
Bromley

Enfield
Havering

Hillingdon
Merton

Richmond upon Thames
Coventry

Solihull
Knowsley
St. Helens

Sefton
Wirral

Oldham
Rochdale
Stockport

Trafford
Wigan

Barnsley
Doncaster

Rotherham
Sheffield
Bradford

Calderdale
Kirklees

Leeds
Wakefield

Gateshead
Newcastle upon Tyne

Sunderland
Bath and North East Somerset

North Somerset
South Gloucestershire

Hartlepool
Redcar and Cleveland

Stockton-on-Tees
East Riding of Yorkshire
North East Lincolnshire

North Lincolnshire
North Yorkshire

York
Bedford Borough

Central Bedfordshire
Buckinghamshire

Milton Keynes
Derbyshire

Dorset
Poole

Durham
Darlington
East Sussex
Hampshire

Leicestershire
Rutland

Staffordshire
Wiltshire
Swindon

Bracknell Forest
Windsor and Maidenhead

West Berkshire
Wokingham

Cambridgeshire
Peterborough

Halton
Warrington

Devon
Torbay

Essex
Thurrock

Herefordshire
Worcestershire

Kent
Medway

Lancashire
Blackburn with Darwen

Nottinghamshire
Shropshire

Telford and Wrekin
Cheshire East

Cheshire West & Chester
Cornwall
Cumbria

Gloucestershire
Hertfordshire
Isle of Wight
Lincolnshire

Norfolk
Northamptonshire

Northumberland
Oxfordshire

Somerset
Suffolk
Surrey

Warwickshire
West Sussex

Super-sparsity – MSOA – Average 2007-2009 School Census and EYC

W
ide Thresholds

N
arrow

 Thresholds

136



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

"#$%&'()*'+#,'-./
012,3'45$%61&7'823,9:'+#16'/

,$6;%,'16'-$<-;<$&,3'$&'=
4>

?
'<,@,<';612A'$2'$@,%$A,'.B')!!CD)!!E'6-#..<'$23',$%<7'

7,$%6'-,26;6,6'B.%'F'&.'(!'7,$%6'.<36:'+#,'G
13,'$23'2$%%.G

'&#%,6#.<3'.5&1.26'$%,'6#.G
2

Westminster
Bromley

Enfield
Havering

Hillingdon
Merton

Richmond upon Thames
Coventry

Solihull
Knowsley
St. Helens

Sefton
Wirral

Oldham
Rochdale
Stockport

Trafford
Wigan

Barnsley
Doncaster

Rotherham
Sheffield
Bradford

Calderdale
Kirklees

Leeds
Wakefield

Gateshead
Newcastle upon Tyne

Sunderland
Bath and North East Somerset

North Somerset
South Gloucestershire

Hartlepool
Redcar and Cleveland

Stockton-on-Tees
East Riding of Yorkshire
North East Lincolnshire

North Lincolnshire
North Yorkshire

York
Bedford Borough

Central Bedfordshire
Buckinghamshire

Milton Keynes
Derbyshire

Dorset
Poole

Durham
Darlington
East Sussex
Hampshire

Leicestershire
Rutland

Staffordshire
Wiltshire
Swindon

Bracknell Forest
Windsor and Maidenhead

West Berkshire
Wokingham

Cambridgeshire
Peterborough

Halton
Warrington

Devon
Torbay

Essex
Thurrock

Herefordshire
Worcestershire

Kent
Medway

Lancashire
Blackburn with Darwen

Nottinghamshire
Shropshire

Telford and Wrekin
Cheshire East

Cheshire West & Chester
Cornwall
Cumbria

Gloucestershire
Hertfordshire
Isle of Wight
Lincolnshire

Norfolk
Northamptonshire

Northumberland
Oxfordshire

Somerset
Suffolk
Surrey

Warwickshire
West Sussex

0.0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.4

1.6

Sparsity Index – MSOA – Average 2007-2009 School Census and EYC 

W
ide Thresholds

N
arrow

 Thresholds

137



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

"#$%&'!()'*#+',
+-+%$.'/$012%'3

$%4+&'5
%+$'"16&'5

7826&9
+-&':-7+;'<1%'+$=#'.1=$.'$2&#1%:&>

City of London
Camden

Greenwich
Hackney

Hammersmith and Fulham
Islington

Kensington and Chelsea
Lambeth

Lewisham
Southwark

Tower Hamlets
Wandsworth
Westminster

Barking and Dagenham
Barnet
Bexley

Brent
Bromley
Croydon

Ealing
En�eld

Haringey
Harrow

Havering
Hillingdon
Hounslow

Kingston upon Thames
Merton

Newham
Redbridge

Richmond upon Thames
Sutton

Waltham Forest
Birmingham

Coventry
Dudley

Sandwell
Solihull
Walsall

Wolverhampton
Knowsley
Liverpool
St. Helens

Sefton
Wirral

Bolton
Bury

Manchester
Oldham

Rochdale
Salford

Stockport
Tameside

Tra�ord
Wigan

Barnsley
Doncaster

Rotherham
She�eld
Bradford

Calderdale
Kirklees

Leeds
Wake�eld

Gateshead
Newcastle upon Tyne

North Tyneside
South Tyneside

Sunderland
Bath and North East Somerset

Bristol, City of
North Somerset

South Gloucestershire
Hartlepool

Middlesbrough
Redcar and Cleveland

Stockton-on-Tees
Kingston Upon Hull, City of

East Riding of Yorkshire
North East Lincolnshire

North Lincolnshire
North Yorkshire

York
Luton

Bedford Borough
Central Bedfordshire

Buckinghamshire
Milton Keynes

Derbyshire
Derby

Dorset
Poole

Bournemouth
Durham

Darlington
East Sussex

Brighton and Hove
Hampshire

Portsmouth
Southampton
Leicestershire

Leicester
Rutland

Sta�ordshire
Stoke-on-Trent

Wiltshire
Swindon

Bracknell Forest
Windsor and Maidenhead

West Berkshire
Reading

Slough
Wokingham

Cambridgeshire
Peterborough

Halton
Warrington

Devon
Plymouth

Torbay
Essex

Southend-on-Sea
Thurrock

Herefordshire
Worcestershire

Kent
Medway

Lancashire
Blackburn with Darwen

Blackpool
Nottinghamshire

Nottingham
Shropshire

Telford and Wrekin
Cheshire East

Cheshire West and Chester
Cornwall
Cumbria

Gloucestershire
Hertfordshire

Isle of Wight
Lincolnshire

Norfolk
Northamptonshire

Northumberland
Oxfordshire

Somerset
Su�olk
Surrey

Warwickshire
West Sussex

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

General Labour Market Area Cost Adjustment

138



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

"#$%&'()*'+#,'-
./%01'2

%,$'"34&'2
1564&7

,8&'081,9':3%',$;#'<3;$<'$6&#3%0&.
City of London

Camden
Greenwich

Hackney
Hammersmith and Fulham

Islington
Kensington and Chelsea

Lambeth
Lewisham

Southwark
Tower Hamlets

Wandsworth
Westminster

Barking and Dagenham
Barnet
Bexley

Brent
Bromley
Croydon

Ealing
En�eld

Haringey
Harrow

Havering
Hillingdon
Hounslow

Kingston upon Thames
Merton

Newham
Redbridge

Richmond upon Thames
Sutton

Waltham Forest
Birmingham

Coventry
Dudley

Sandwell
Solihull
Walsall

Wolverhampton
Knowsley
Liverpool
St. Helens

Sefton
Wirral

Bolton
Bury

Manchester
Oldham

Rochdale
Salford

Stockport
Tameside

Tra�ord
Wigan

Barnsley
Doncaster

Rotherham
She�eld
Bradford

Calderdale
Kirklees

Leeds
Wake�eld

Gateshead
Newcastle upon Tyne

North Tyneside
South Tyneside

Sunderland
Bath and North East Somerset

Bristol, City of
North Somerset

South Gloucestershire
Hartlepool

Middlesbrough
Redcar and Cleveland

Stockton-on-Tees
Kingston Upon Hull, City of

East Riding of Yorkshire
North East Lincolnshire

North Lincolnshire
North Yorkshire

York
Luton

Bedford Borough
Central Bedfordshire

Buckinghamshire
Milton Keynes

Derbyshire
Derby

Dorset
Poole

Bournemouth
Durham

Darlington
East Sussex

Brighton and Hove
Hampshire

Portsmouth
Southampton
Leicestershire

Leicester
Rutland

Sta�ordshire
Stoke-on-Trent

Wiltshire
Swindon

Bracknell Forest
Windsor and Maidenhead

West Berkshire
Reading

Slough
Wokingham

Cambridgeshire
Peterborough

Halton
Warrington

Devon
Plymouth

Torbay
Essex

Southend-on-Sea
Thurrock

Herefordshire
Worcestershire

Kent
Medway

Lancashire
Blackburn with Darwen

Blackpool
Nottinghamshire

Nottingham
Shropshire

Telford and Wrekin
Cheshire East

Cheshire West and Chester
Cornwall
Cumbria

Gloucestershire
Hertfordshire

Isle of Wight
Lincolnshire

Norfolk
Northamptonshire

Northumberland
Oxfordshire

Somerset
Su�olk
Surrey

Warwickshire
West Sussex

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

Hybrid Area Cost Adjustment

139



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

Annex D: Consultation Questions

"#$%&'()%

*+,-&$./0

01/ 2(/3(#/,4.$$/5'&+/&+$/-.')6'-7$%/5$/,.$/,--73')4/&(/&+$/8(.9#7,:

;1/ 2(/3(#/,4.$$/5'&+/&+$/-.(-(%,7%/&(/9,')%&.$,9/&+$/4.,)&%/%-$6'8'$</')&(/2=>:

!1/ 2(/3(#/,4.$$/5'&+/&+$/-.(-(%$</$7$9$)&%/(8/&+$/8(.9#7,:

*+,-&$./;

?1/ @+'6+/9$&+(<(7(43/8(./6,76#7,&')4/&+$/A,%'6/$)&'&7$9$)&/<(/3(#/6()%'<$./5(#7</
$),A7$/&+$/8,'.$%&/,)</9(%&/-.,6&'6,7/<'%&.'A#&'()/(8/8#)<')4:

*+,-&$./!

B1/ 2(/3(#/,4.$$/5'&+/&+$/-.(-(%$</9$&+(<(7(43/8(./<'%&.'A#&')4/9()$3/8(./,<<'&'(),7/
$<#6,&'(),7/)$$<%:/

C1/ @+'6+/'%/3(#./-.$8$..$</')<'6,&(./8(./<'%&.'A#&')4/9()$3/D',/<$-.'D,&'():/@+3:

E1/ 2(/3(#/,4.$$/5'&+/&+$/')<'6,&(.%F/(&+$./&+,)/8(./<$-.'D,&'()F/&+,&/5$/+,D$/-.(-(%$</
8(./$,6+/)$$<:

 1/ @'77/&+$/G(6,7/H#-'7/H.$9'#9/9$6+,)'%9/+$7-/8#)<')4/&(/A$/9(.$/.$%-()%'D$/&(/
6+,)4$%/')/-#-'7/6+,.,6&$.'%&'6%:

I1/ J%/'&/.'4+&/&+,&/7(6,7/,#&+(.'&'$%/%+(#7</$,6+/<$D$7(-/&+$'./(5)/-#-'7/-.$9'#9/
9$6+,)'%9:

*+,-&$./?

0K1/ 2(/3(#/,4.$$/5'&+/&+$/9$&+(<(7(43/8(./<'%&.'A#&')4/9()$3/8(./L'4+/*(%&/H#-'7%:

*+,-&$./B

001/ 2(/3(#/,4.$$/&+,&/&+$/%6+((7/6$)%#%/,)</M'<<7$/=#-$./N#&-#&/O.$,/,.$/&+$/.'4+&/
<,&,/%(#.6$/,)</4$(4.,-+3/&(/#%$/&(/,%%$%%/&+$/%-,.%'&3/(8/,)/,.$,:

0;1/ @+'6+/9$&+(</8(./6,76#7,&')4/&+$/%-,.%'&3/8,6&(./<(/3(#/&+')P/5'77/A$%&/$),A7$/
,<<'&'(),7/8#)<')4/&(/.$,6+/&+(%$/7(6,7/,#&+(.'&'$%/&+,&/)$$</&(/9,')&,')/%9,77/
%6+((7%/Q/&+$/A.(,</(./),..(5/(-&'():

0!1/ 2(/3(#/,4.$$/&+,&/&+$.$/%+(#7</)(&/A$/,/%$6()<,.3/%-,.%'&3/8,6&(.:

140



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1) !

"#$%&'()*

+!,) -#./#).0)&#')1$.('0&)2'&#34)31)$%%56.78)&#')9('$)"30&)94:;0&2'7&<

"#$%&'()=

+>,) ?3)63;)0;%%3(&)3;()%5$70)13()&#')&($70.&.37$5)$(($78'2'7&0)13()2$.70&('$2.78)
8($7&0<

+*,) @#3;54)1533(0)A')%$.4)13()A6)$55)53/$5)$;&#3(.&.'0)3():;0&)&#')5$(8'0&)8$.7.78)
$;&#3(.&.'0<

+=,) ?3)63;)#$B')$76)0;88'0&.370)$0)&3)#3C)&#')D.7.2;2)E;74.78)F;$($7&'')/3;54)A')
.2%(3B'4<

"#$%&'() 

+ ,) G1)$)/37&.78'7/6)$(($78'2'7&)13()53/$5)$;&#3(.&.'0).0)&3)/37&.7;'H)1;74'4)1(32)&#')
?@FH)C#$&)$('$0)0#3;54).&)/3B'()$74)C#$&)0#3;54)&#')/(.&'(.$)A')13()&(.88'(.78)
'5.8.A.5.&6<

+I,) ?3)63;)0;%%3(&)3;&)%(3%30$50)13()@'(B./')/#.54('7<

141



 !"#$%&'&(!")!")&*+),$&$-+).(#&-(/$&(!")!,)#0*!!%),$".("1)  !

Annex E: Links to other useful 
documents

"# $%&' ()*&+,-./

2 3+'0*+-4+&)5+6(+7)#(&+ *&&89::777;&+'0*+-"+&;1!6;$<:='"'1+=+"&:#0*!!%,$".("1:
>?@,!-=$%'-+6(+7:

A 3+-=#)!,)5+,+-+"0+ *&&89::777;&+'0*+-"+&;1!6;$<:.!0/'"<:(".+B;0,=C(.D2AE2F

G H'8+-#)'".)I("$&+# *&&89::777;&+'0*+-"+&;1!6;$<:='"'1+=+"&:#0*!!%,$".("1:
>?@,!-=$%'-+6(+7:>?@-+6(+78'8+-#:

E H7 )5+#+'-0*)5+8!-&# *&&89::777;&+'0*+-"+&;1!6;$<:.!0/'"<:(".+B;0,=C(.D2E2FE

J K5@)I+=/+-#*(8 *&&89::777;&+'0*+-"+&;1!6;$<:.!0/'"<:(".+B;0,=C(.D2ELAJ

L MK?@)N-0*(6+ *&&89::777;.0#,;1!6;$<:+,#1:(".+B;#*&=%

O >+0;)PQF)HR5 *&&89::777;*=S&-+'#$-T;1!6;$<:8-+/$.U8/-QFU-+8(".+B;*&=

V ?8+0('%)M.$0'&(!"'%)
4++.#)'".)>(#'/(%(&T9)
W".+-#&'".("1)X!0'%)
Y'-('&(!")(")H-+6'%+"0+Z)
?+-6(0+)H-!6(#(!")'".)
?$88!-&;

*&&89::777;.0#,;1!6;$<:-+#+'-0*:8-!1-'==+!,-+#+'-0*:(".+B;
0,=C&T8+DJ[<+T7!-.%(#&2DQ[<+T7!-.%(#&ADQ[<+T7!-.%(#&GDQ
['".!-D!-[<+T7!-.DAQQOQVO[BDJ2[TDAQ

142



 !"#$%&#'!(&)!%'#*+,-#."/),$%*,!&#!0#!0'10#$!.,1-#!&),&1#%*#
   !"#$%&#'(#"!)*+!,-./,012%$"2*(3

21%0$+#"-,&3#0145#67289::;<=9;:=:

7!.,1-#!4#*+,-#."/),$%*,!&#$%&#/1#!/*%,&1'#40!>5#

6728#?"/),$%*,!&-
?@#A!B#<:<:
2+10(!!'#?%0C
D&&1-)1E
F!**,&3+%>#FG=<#:6H
I1)5#:JK<#L:#;;;#L:
8%B5#:JK<#L:#MMM#L:
I1B*.+!&15#:JK<#L:#<<<#L:

?)1%-1#N"!*1#*+1#0145#::;<=9;:=:AOI9PF

6=LQJLMRST:M=:

U#70!(&#$!.E0,3+*#;:=:

I+1#*1B*#,&#*+,-#'!$">1&*#Q1B$)"',&3#*+1#V!E%)#D0>-#%&'#!*+10#'1.%0*>1&*%)#!0#%31&$E#)!3!-S#
>%E#/1#01.0!'"$1'#4011#!4#$+%031#,&#%&E#4!0>%*#!0#>1',">#.0!W,',&3#,*#,-#01.0!'"$1'#%$$"0%*1)E#
%&'#&!*#"-1'#,&#%#>,-)1%',&3#$!&*1B*X#

I+1#>%*10,%)#>"-*#/1#%$C&!()1'31'#%-#70!(&#$!.E0,3+*#%&'#*+1#*,*)1#!4#*+1#'!$">1&*#-.1$,4,1'X#
Y+101#(1#+%W1#,'1&*,4,1'#%&E#*+,0'#.%0*E#$!.E0,3+*#>%*10,%)#E!"#(,))#&11'#*!#!/*%,&#.10>,--,!&#
40!>#*+1#$!.E0,3+*#+!)'10-#$!&$10&1'X

8!0#%&E#!*+10#"-1#!4#*+,-#>%*10,%)#.)1%-1#$!&*%$*#*+1#@44,$1#!4#?"/),$#21$*!0#Z&4!0>%*,!&[#
Z&4!0>%*,!&#?!),$E#I1%>[#O1([#V,$+>!&'[#2"001E#IY\#K6]#!0#19>%,)5#),$1&-,&3^!.-,X3-,X3!WX"CX

143



144



FINAL 

The Future Distribution of 
School Funding 

Consultation Response Form 
The closing date for this consultation is: 

7 June 2010 

Your comments must reach us by that date. 

145



FINAL 

THIS FORM IS NOT INTERACTIVE. If you wish to respond electronically please 

use the online response facility available on the Department for Children, 

Schools and Families e-consultation website 

(http://www.dcsf.gov.uk/consultations). 

 

The information you provide in your response will be subject to the Freedom of 

Information Act 2000 and Environmental Information Regulations, which allow public 

access to information held by the Department. This does not necessarily mean that 

your response can be made available to the public as there are exemptions relating to 

information provided in confidence and information to which the Data Protection Act 

1998 applies. You may request confidentiality by ticking the box provided, but you 

should note that neither this, nor an automatically-generated e-mail confidentiality 

statement, will necessarily exclude the public right of access. 

Please tick if you want us to keep your response confidential.

Name  

Organisation (if applicable)  

Address: 

 

If you have an enquiry related to the policy content of the consultation you can 

contact either 

Juliet Yates on: Telephone: 020 7340 8313     e-mail: juliet.yates@dcsf.gsi.gov.uk, or 

Ian McVicar on: Telephone: 020 7340 7980     e-mail: ian.mcvicar@dcsf.gsi.gov.uk 

If your enquiry is related to the DCSF e-consultation website or the consultation 

process in general, you can contact the Consultation Unit by e-mail: 

consultation.unit@dcsf.gsi.gov.uk, by Fax: 01928 794 311, or by telephone: 0870 000 

2288. 

146



FINAL 

 

 

Please tick the box that best describes you as a respondent. 

 School  Schools Forum  Governor Association 

 Teacher  
Local Authority 

Group  Individual Local Authority 

 
Teacher 

Association  
Other Trade Union / 

Professional Body  Early Years Setting 

 Campaign Group 
 
Parent / Carer 

 
Other 

 

 

If ‘Other’ Please Specify: 

 

 

 

147



FINAL 

The principles underlying the new funding formula are: that it should meet the 
needs of the 21st Century School; that “fairness” does not mean that everyone 
will get the same; that needs in individual schools are best assessed at the local 
level; that differences in funding between local authorities must be justified using 
robust evidence; that a Local Pupil Premium should be used to distribute 
deprivation funding, and that there should be protections at school and local 
authority level to reduce the level of short term changes to the distribution.  

1. Do you agree with the principles we are applying to the formula?  

 

   All   Some   None   Not Sure 

 

 

Comments: 

 

 

148



FINAL 

We intend to mainstream as many specific grants as possible into the DSG. At 
this stage we see the DSG as including: Dedicated Schools Grant (including 
London Pay Addition Grant); School Development Grant (Devolved) excluding 
Specialist Schools; School Standards Grant; School Standards Grant 
(Personalisation); School Lunch Grant; Ethnic Minority Achievement Grant; 
Extension of the Early Years Free Entitlement and Extended Schools – 
Sustainability and Subsidy. 

 

2. Do you agree with the proposals to mainstream the grants specified into DSG? 

 

 Yes  No  Not Sure 

 

 

Comments: 

 

 

149



FINAL 

We are clear that the elements of the formula will be: a basic entitlement; 
additional educational needs, including those associated with deprivation; high 
cost pupils; sparsity and an area cost adjustment. 

3. Do you agree with the proposed elements of the formula? 

 

 Yes  No  Not Sure 

 

 

Comments: 

 

 

 

150



FINAL 

The basic entitlement is intended to cover the general costs of running schools -
notionally just less than three quarters of the current DSG allocation. There are 
two approaches to calculating the basic unit of funding per pupil: a judgemental 
approach – in which the funding is based on an assessment about how best to 
divide up the overall sum planned by the Government into its main formula 
components, or a bottom-up approach – in which the funding is based on an 
assessment of how much a school needs to spend to provide education for 
pupils before any adjustments are made, known as activity-led funding (ALF).   

 

4. Which methodology for calculating the basic entitlement do you consider would 
enable the fairest and most practical distribution of funding? 

 

 Judgemental  Activity-led Funding  Not Sure 

 

 

Comments: 

 

 

151



FINAL 

Our proposed methodology for distributing AEN funding is to make an 
assessment of the national incidence of additional educational needs and, 
because we have no way of knowing exactly where each pupil with additional 
educational needs is located, to use proxy indicators to assess the likely 
incidence of these needs in each local authority. We propose to distribute 
funding using carefully chosen indicators that are associated with the individual 
need types identified in the PricewaterhouseCoopers survey. 
 

5. Do you agree with the proposed methodology for distributing money for 
additional educational needs?  

 

 Yes  No  Not Sure 

 

 

Comments: 

 

 

152



FINAL 

Within the distribution mechanism we have identified five options for the 
indicators to be used for distributing deprivation funding. These are: 

Option 1 Out of Work Tax Credit Indicator 

Option 2 Free School Meals (FSM)  

Option 3 Child Poverty Measure 

Option 4  Average IDACI (Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index) score 
of pupils educated within the local authority  

Option 5  FSM with the additional 500,000 pupils in most deprived areas by the 
IDACI score not on FSM 

6. Which is your preferred indicator for distributing money via deprivation? Why? 

 

 1  2  3  4  5 

 

 

Why? 

 

 

153



FINAL 

In the consultation document we have linked the non-high cost AEN need types 
to what we consider to be the most appropriate distribution indicator. This 
results in 49.5 per cent of AEN funding being distributed via a deprivation 
indicator, 24.6 per cent is distributed via underperforming groups, 13.5 per cent 
via English as an Additional Language and 12.4 per cent via a flat per pupil rate. 

 

7. Do you agree with the indicators, other than for deprivation, that we have 
proposed for each need? 

 

   All   Some   None   Not Sure 

 

 

Comments: 

 

 

154



FINAL 

To ensure the funding to support schools to meet the needs of deprived children 
is clearly identified and responsive to where these children are, the Government 
will require all local authorities to operate a Local Pupil Premium from 2012-13 
onwards. This means that an amount of money in a school’s delegated budget 
must relate directly and explicitly to deprived pupils within the school, and 
should move around the system as necessary. Such a Local Pupil Premium 
would mean that if a school recruits a larger number of deprived pupils, they can 
see that they will get additional funds, which will be reflected in their budget. 

8. Will the Local Pupil Premium mechanism help funding to be more responsive to 
changes in pupil characteristics? 

 

 Yes  No  Not Sure 

 

 

Comments: 

 

 

155



FINAL 

The Government believes that local authorities and schools are in a far better 
position than central Government to assess the levels of need within individual 
schools. Local authorities will have the freedom to agree with their Schools 
Forums how to operate a local pupil premium, rather than a process being 
mandated nationally. Local authorities will want to develop different systems 
depending on their local circumstances, and we will look to provide best practice 
as systems develop. 

9. Is it right that local authorities should each develop their own pupil premium 
mechanism? 

 

 Yes  No  Not Sure 

 

 

Comments: 

 

 

156



FINAL 

We propose to use the same approach for the allocation of funding for the high 
cost pupil block to that proposed for the allocation of AEN funding – namely that 
based on the pupil need types identified in PwC school survey, but using the 
specific data for high cost pupils, and identifying the most appropriate 
distribution mechanism for allocating resources to local authorities for these 
need types. The effect of the formula is to distribute 14 per cent of the high cost 
pupils block via deprivation, 50 per cent distributed via a flat per pupil rate, 33 
per cent distributed via a measure of those pupils not achieving higher than 
Level 2 at Key Stage 2, 2 per cent via the take-up of Disability Living Allowance 
and 1 per cent via English as an Additional Language. 

10. Do you agree with the methodology for distributing money for High Cost Pupils? 

 

 Yes  No  Not Sure 

 

 

Comments: 

 

 

157



FINAL 

For sparsity funding we propose to use the home postcode data collected in the 
annual school censuses; these are collected annually and, as a pupil census, 
would more accurately reflect the sparsity of the pupil population. We also 
propose to use the Middle Super Output Area to provide a replacement to the 
ward geography, providing a comparable number of geographic units to that of 
wards 

11. Do you agree that the school censuses and Middle Super Output Area are the 
right data source and geography to use to assess the sparsity of an area? 

 

 Yes  No  Not Sure 

 

 

Comments: 

 

 

158



FINAL 

Two options are proposed for calculating the sparsity factor – broad and narrow. 
The broad option would, at current figures, result in 104 local authorities 
receiving additional money for sparsity, with 1.07 million pupils deemed sparse 
or super-sparse. An alternative, narrow, option would mean that around 300,000 
pupils are deemed sparse or super-sparse, a number similar to the 280,000 pupils 
who currently attend small (<150FTEs) rural primary schools. Under these altered 
thresholds 66 authorities would receive sparsity money, enabling us to increase 
the unit cost for each sparse pupil.  

12. Which method for calculating the sparsity factor do you think will best enable 
additional funding to reach those local authorities that need to maintain small 
schools – the broad or narrow option? 

 

 Broad  Narrow  Not Sure 

 

 

Comments: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

159



FINAL 

The case for a sparsity factor for small secondary schools was considered, 
having regard to: 
 

    Whether there are enough small secondary schools to warrant a dedicated 
sparsity factor and whether their occurrence can be predicted by a sparsity 
measure; 

    Whether or not small secondary schools require more teachers per pupil than 
other schools; and 

    If not, whether that means that small secondary schools are unable to deliver 
sufficient choice in the KS4 curriculum.  
 
No robust link was found between small schools (below 600 FTE) and sparsity. 
No evidence was found that small secondary schools have disproportionately 
more teachers than other schools. And an analysis of the number of subjects on 
offer at each school showed a very wide variation in the number of subjects 
available in schools of similar sizes. This suggests that the need for a secondary 
sparsity factor has not been proven.  

13. Do you agree that there should not be a secondary sparsity factor? 

 

 Yes  No  Not Sure 

 

 

Comments: 

 

 

160



FINAL 

The Area Cost Adjustment (ACA) reflects the need for schools in some areas to 
pay higher salaries and to pay more to recruit and retain staff.  Two options are 
proposed for reflecting area cost differences for education: the general labour 
market (GLM) approach and a hybrid approach. The latter is based on the 
specific pay costs of teachers, details of which are available, and the GLM 
approach for the elements of staff costs where details are not available. 

14. Which is the fairest method of applying the Area Cost Adjustment? 

 

  GLM   Hybrid  Not Sure 

 

 

Comments: 

 

 

161



FINAL 

As we are mainstreaming specific grants into the DSG we propose having a 
single set of transitional arrangements that applies to a baseline incorporating 
both the DSG and those grants. As the approach is likely to require local 
authorities to revise their formulae and as timing is tight to do this for 2011-12 we 
propose to amend the School Finance Regulations to enable local authorities to 
include previous specific grant payments as formula factors for 2011-13.  

 

15. Do you support our plans for the transitional arrangements for mainstreaming 
grants? 

 

 Yes  No  Not Sure 

 

 

Comments: 

 

 

162



FINAL 

In order to protect local authorities from significant potential losses in the 
formula, we intend to have a per pupil cash floor which will be set above the level 
of the Minimum Funding Guarantee. This floor will need to be paid for by either a 
ceiling on large increases the formula generates for some authorities or by 
reducing the allocation to all other non-floor authorities (or a combination of the 
two). 

16. Should floors be paid for by all local authorities or just the largest gaining 
authorities? 

 

 All Authorities  Largest Gaining Authorities  Not Sure 

 

 

Comments: 

 

 

163



FINAL 

We have said that we will take this opportunity to consider if the operation of the 
Minimum Funding Guarantee can be improved. 

17. Have you any suggestions as to how the Minimum Funding Guarantee could be 
improved? 

 

 Yes  No  Not Sure 

 

 

Comments: 

 

 

164



FINAL 

In 2008 we introduced the Exceptional Circumstances Grant (ECG). Its purpose 
was to assist local authorities who experience: 

• significant growth in the number of pupils between the January school census 
and the start of the academic year; or  

• significant growth over the spending period in the number of pupils with English 
as an Additional Language. 

This grant is funded from the overall DSG settlement. In 2008-09 and 2009-10, no 
authorities received ECG for a general increase in pupil numbers, although several 
have received funding for increases in the proportion of pupils with EAL.  We are 
seeking views on whether there is a case for a similar arrangement from 2011, funded 
from the DSG, and if so how it should operate and what circumstances should be 
covered. 

18. If a contingency arrangement for local authorities is to continue, funded from the 
DSG, what areas should it cover and what should the criteria be for triggering 
eligibility? 

 

 

Comments: 

 

 

165



FINAL 

The review considered whether there is evidence that children of parents from the 
Armed Services are underachieving and need additional support. Evidence shows that 
such children do well compared to their non-Service children peers and this does not 
suggest the need to make specific provision for Service children in the DSG formula to 
support underachievement.  
 
We consider there is a case for additional support for schools which traditionally 
cater for Service families, mainly those located near armed service 
establishments. Such schools are prone to pupil number fluctuations and 
therefore funding due to troop movements, which can affect their stability and 
sustainability. We are considering whether to allow local authorities with such 
schools to make a claim for additional pupils to be counted for DSG purposes 
where numbers have fallen significantly from one year to the next as a result of 
armed forces movements. These claims would be made directly to the 
Department and would be considered individually on their merits. 
 
19.  Do you support our proposals for Service children? 

 Yes  No  Not Sure 

 

 

Comments: 

 

 

166



FINAL 

20. Have you any further comments? 

 

 

Comments: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

167



FINAL 

Thank you for taking the time to let us have your views. We do not intend to 
acknowledge individual responses unless you place an 'X' in the box below. 

 

Please acknowledge this reply  

 

Here at the Department for Children, Schools and Families we carry out our research 
on many different topics and consultations. As your views are valuable to us, would it 
be alright if we were to contact you again from time to time either for research or to 
send through consultation documents? 

 

   Yes       No 

 

All DCSF public consultations are required to conform to the following criteria within the 
Government Code of Practice on Consultation: 

Criterion 1: Formal consultation should take place at a stage when there is scope to 
influence the policy outcome. 
 
Criterion 2: Consultations should normally last for at least 12 weeks with consideration 
given to longer timescales where feasible and sensible. 
 
Criterion 3: Consultation documents should be clear about the consultation process, 
what is being proposed, the scope to influence and the expected costs and benefits of 
the proposals. 
 
Criterion 4: Consultation exercises should be designed to be accessible to, and clearly 
targeted at, those people the exercise is intended to reach. 
 
Criterion 5: Keeping the burden of consultation to a minimum is essential if 
consultations are to be effective and if consultees’ buy-in to the process is to be 
obtained. 
 
Criterion 6: Consultation responses should be analysed carefully and clear feedback 
should be provided to participants following the consultation. 
 
Criterion 7: Officials running consultations should seek guidance in how to run an 
effective consultation exercise and share what they have learned from the experience. 

If you have any comments on how DCSF consultations are conducted, please contact 
Donna Harrison, DCSF Consultation Co-ordinator, tel: 01928 794304 / email: 
donna.harrison@dcsf.gsi.gov.uk 

168



FINAL 

Thank you for taking time to respond to this consultation. 

Completed questionnaires and other responses should be sent to the address shown 
below by 7 June 2010 

Send by post to:  

Ian McVicar 
SFTU 
3rd Floor 
Sanctuary Buildings 
Great Smith Street 
London 
SW1P 3BT  

Send by e-mail to: dsg.consultation@dcsf.gsi.gov.uk 

169



170



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Debbie McMillan Head of Operational Development (01432) 260978 
  

ExtendedSchoolsreport0.doc 26Nov08 

MEETING: SCHOOLS FORUM 

DATE: 17 MAY 2010 

TITLE OF REPORT: EXTENDED SCHOOLS REVIEW – ALLOCATION OF 
FUNDING FOR 2010/11 

OFFICER:  HEAD OF OPERATIONAL DEVELOPMENT 

CLASSIFICATION: Open  

Wards Affected 

County-wide  

Purpose 

To inform the Schools Forum of the Extended Services funding allocations for 2010/11 and monitoring 
arrangements and to ask for endorsement of these. 

Key Decision  

This is not a Key Decision.  

Recommendation(s) 

 THAT Schools Forum: 

 (a) Endorse the Extended Services funding allocation for 2010/11 on the 
basis of proportional increases of the base amount per partnership, per 
school and per pupil; 

(b) Agree that the funding will be released upon agreement of a cluster 
delivery plan with progress targets on each of the performance measures 
on a quarterly basis in line with Forum decision made last year; 

(c) Endorse the Extended Services Disadvantage Subsidy Funding allocation. 

Key Points Summary 

• The Extended Services funding formula will remain the same as agreed by Schools Forum in 
2009/10. 

• Extended Services funding for 2010/11 will be released upon receipt of a cluster delivery plan. 

• Clusters will be expected to complete termly monitoring returns to enable the LA to have a clear 
picture of both the locally identified priorities and the way in which the Extended Services 
budget is being used to help meet these priorities and how the fund is being used to support 

AGENDA ITEM 11

171



school improvement and improve outcomes for children and young people. 

• Extended Services Disadvantage Subsidy funding is additional funding for 2010/11 and is 
provided to schools to directly support children who are financially disadvantaged to access 
activities outside of the school day for free. The subsidy must not be spent on administration or 
staffing costs.  Full guidance about subsidy funding has been provided to schools.  Subsidy 
funding will be released to cluster budget holders in 3 termly instalments and basic monitoring 
forms will need to be submitted. The monitoring forms have been designed by the Extended 
Services Coordinators involved in the pilot phase. 

• All subsidy funding will be released directly to schools except for the element of that funding 
allocated for Looked After Children that will be held centrally.  Looked After Children, as part of 
the target group, and their carers should be fully involved in choosing, designing and 
continuously improving a range of activities that are attractive and relevant for them to engage 
in. This should help to establish genuine control of the funding identified for them.  They will be 
able to choose whether they wish to access out of school activities on or off the school site or if 
they would like to take part in group activities with other Looked After Children.   

Alternative Options 

1. The funding formula for allocation of Extended Services funding is as agreed by Schools 
Forum for the 2009/10 allocations.  There is no reason to make changes to the agreed 
formula. 

Reasons for Recommendations 

2. Schools Forum has previously made the decision on the funding formula for Extended 
Services funding.  We are not proposing making any changes to this. 

Introduction and Background 

3. Schools Forum approved the funding formula for the 2009/10 Extended Services funding 
allocation on 15th December 2008.  It was approved that the Extended Services clusters would 
need to complete an Extended Services delivery plan linking activities to anticipated outcomes 
for children, young people and their families and for schools.  All clusters completed delivery 
plans and were supported by the LA.  Delivery plans enabled clusters to consider what their 
priorities were and helped schools make decisions over funding Extended Services provision.  

4. We will continue with this arrangement for Extended Services delivery in 2010/11.  Clusters 
have been provided with a delivery plan template and support will be offered especially 
focusing on those schools that are not yet at Full Core Offer status to ensure that the delivery 
plan focuses spend on enabling all schools to reach FCO status.  Funding will be released to 
cluster budget holders termly and Extended Services Co-ordinators (ESCOs) will be 
responsible for the return of termly monitoring forms.   

5. The LA will support clusters with monitoring visits to all ESCOs and with regular ESCO 
meetings.  This process will enable the LA as the accountable body to have a clear picture of 
both the locally identified priorities and the way in which the Extended Services budget is 
being used to help meet these priorities and how the fund is being used to support school 
improvement and improve outcomes for children and young people. 

6. Subsidy funding will be released directly to cluster budget holders with recommendations on 
each schools allocation of the fund.  Funding will be released in 3 instalments.  Clusters will be 
expected to complete a detailed monitoring form. Funding for Looked After Children will be 

172



held centrally. 

7. Clusters will be expected to report on the impact that Extended Services funding has had in 
terms of school improvement – in particular, attendance, behaviour and achievement.  ESCOs 
have received training in the TDA impact evaluation model and will be expected to provide the 
LA with evidence of impact. An audit of Extended Services activity will be expected to be 
completed by clusters during April/May 2010.  Demonstrating the rationale and the impact of 
targeting pupils with regard to learning and support will be important judgements to highlight in 
the SEF. The effectiveness of how a school manages its available resources, to meet the 
needs of its pupils and achieve high quality outcomes, is also important evidence to be 
outlined in the SEF. The Extended Services provision and Subsidy will have an important role 
to enable these outcomes. 

Key Considerations 

8. No change to the current situation is being proposed.  Delivery of Extended Services support 
Children’s Trust priorities for 2010/11.   TDA expect that all Herefordshire Schools will be at 
Full Core Offer status by 1st September 2010.  Currently 10 schools do not meet FCO status 
and are a priority for the Local Authority.  

Community Impact 

9. Community Use is one element of the Extended Services core offer and there will be a drive in 
2010/11 to encourage Extended School clusters to engage with community partners in 
delivery of the ES core offer.  Clusters can consider pooling budgets with community partners. 

Financial Implications 

10. A spreadsheet is attached outlining Extended Services allocations for 2010/11.  £1,687,414 is 
allocated against Extended Services for 2010/11.  This includes: 

 

DSG* 158,351 

Area Based Grant 314,109 

Standards Fund (ES) 722,747 

Standards Fund (Subsidy) 492,207 

* equivalent to £7 per pupil but not separately indentified in school budgets. 

 

 

Legal Implications 

11. These proposals comply with the Council's legal duties. 

Risk Management 

12. The key risk for the Local Authority is that we do not reach the target set by TDA of 100% of 
schools offering access to the Full Core Offer (FCO) by Sept 2010.  Currently 10 schools do 

173



not reach FCO.  Schools reaching FCO status are listed on the DirectGov website.  DCSF are 
asking us to reassess schools that are currently full core offer and we are expected to inform 
them if any have regressed and need to be removed from this database. The TDA cluster 
working together event on 20th April aims to support these schools to reach FCO.  Cluster 
business plans will focus spend on achieving FCO status for these schools. 

Consultees 

13. The Enjoy and Achieve Outcome group chaired by Denise Strutt endorsed the funding formula 
for Extended Services Disadvantage Subsidy. Extended Schools Co-ordinators have been 
involved in discussions over monitoring arrangements and the design of relevant forms. 

Appendices 

Appendix A - Extended Services allocations for 2010/11 

Background Papers 

None identified. 

174



Extended Schools Calculation Dedicated Schools Grant Standards Fund Sustainability Area Based Grant Start Up
DEVOLVED FUNDING Lump Per Per Lump Per Per Lump Per Per

24/02/10 Partnership No. No. Sum School Pupil TOTAL Sum School Pupil TOTAL Sum School Pupil TOTAL
Code Schools Pupil 3,582 521.00 2.29 8,000 950 9.39 1,500 965.00 4.35

E0300 QUEEN ELIZABETH HIGH 4004 QE 7 894.0 3,582 3,647 2,047 9,276 8,000 6,650 8,396 23,046 1,500 6,755 3,889 12,144 35,190

E0301 AYLESTONE HIGH 4015 AY 9 1,719.5 3,582 4,689 3,938 12,209 8,000 8,550 16,150 32,700 1,500 8,685 7,480 17,665 50,364

E0302 BISHOP OF HEREFORD'S BLUECOAT4600 BI 6 2,255 3,582 3,126 5,164 11,872 8,000 5,700 21,179 34,879 1,500 5,790 9,809 17,099 51,978

E0303 HEREFORD ACADEMY 4011 HA 7 1,929 3,582 3,647 4,417 11,646 8,000 6,650 18,117 32,767 1,500 6,755 8,391 16,646 49,413

E0304 ST MARY'S R.C. HIGH 4601 SM 3 1,096 3,582 1,563 2,510 7,655 8,000 2,850 10,294 21,144 1,500 2,895 4,768 9,163 30,306

E0305 WHITECROSS HIGH 4014 WX 6 2,551 3,582 3,126 5,842 12,550 8,000 5,700 23,959 37,659 1,500 5,790 11,097 18,387 56,046

D A T A Total of 
SFS & 
ABG

E0305 WHITECROSS HIGH 4014 WX 6 2,551 3,582 3,126 5,842 12,550 8,000 5,700 23,959 37,659 1,500 5,790 11,097 18,387 56,046

E0306 KINGSTONE HIGH 4021 KI 8 1,451.0 3,582 4,168 3,323 11,073 8,000 7,600 13,628 29,228 1,500 7,720 6,312 15,532 44,760

E0307 LADY HAWKINS 4022 LH 5 907.5 3,582 2,605 2,078 8,265 8,000 4,750 8,523 21,273 1,500 4,825 3,948 10,273 31,546

E0308 THE JOHN MASEFIELD HIGH 4058 JM 8 2,102 3,582 4,168 4,814 12,564 8,000 7,600 19,742 35,342 1,500 7,720 9,144 18,364 53,706

E0309 THE MINSTER COLLEGE 4027 MI 9 1,689 3,582 4,689 3,867 12,138 8,000 8,550 15,858 32,408 1,500 8,685 7,345 17,530 49,938

E0310 FAIRFIELD HIGH 4032 FF 5 623.0 3,582 2,605 1,427 7,614 8,000 4,750 5,851 18,601 1,500 4,825 2,710 9,035 27,636

E0311 THE JOHN KYRLE HIGH 4428 JK 14 2,759.0 3,582 7,294 6,318 17,194 8,000 13,300 25,913 47,213 1,500 13,510 12,002 27,012 74,224

E0312 WEOBLEY HIGH 4045 WE 6 965.0 3,582 3,126 2,210 8,918 8,000 5,700 9,063 22,763 1,500 5,790 4,198 11,488 34,251

E0313 WIGMORE HIGH 4046 WI 6 1,079.0 3,582 3,126 2,471 9,179 8,000 5,700 10,134 23,834 1,500 5,790 4,694 11,984 35,818

E0501 BLACKMARSTON 7004 BM 4 233 3,582 2,084 534 6,200 8,000 3,800 2,188 13,988 1,500 3,860 1,014 6,374 20,362
15 102 22,253 53,730 53,663 50,958 ###### 120,000 97,850 208,995 426,845 22,500 99,395 96,798 218,693 645,539

income 2010/11 Revenue Capitalincome 2010/11 Revenue Capital

Standards Fund - Sustainability 722,747 166130 100000 PSA 95310 PSA
Area Based Grant - Start Up (indicative) 314,109
Dedicated Schools Grant 158,351 40000 supporting children with disabilities to access ES
Standards Fund Dis Sub 492,207 25000 Supporting carers to access ES

20000 Playrangers
Total Income 1,687,414 166,130 10000 Training and resources to support ES development

40000 Speech and Language Therapy provision
Expenditure 2010/11 54703 ES staffing costs
Devolved Funding - DSG 158,351
Devolved Funding - ABG 218,693 289703 95310
Devolved Funding - Standards Fund 426,845
Other listed 385,013
Unallocated 6,305 6,199 106
Dis Sub 468,944

Total Expenditure 1,664,152 722,747 314,109

Amount Remaining 23,262 166,130

1
7
5



Disad
Subsidy

21,428

34,837

36,621

52,675

20,638

53,40353,403

35,003

19,191

40,437

39,475

13,133

52,878

22,152

20,899

6,174
468,944

supporting children with disabilities to access ES

Training and resources to support ES development

468,944

1
7
6



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Les Knight – Head of Additional Needs on (01432) 261724 (lknight1@herefordshire.gov.uk)  
  

  

MEETING: SCHOOLS FORUM 

DATE: 17TH MAY 2010 

TITLE OF REPORT: PROPOSAL TO REVIEW SEN/AEN FUNDING 

OFFICER:  HEAD OF ADDITIONAL NEEDS 

CLASSIFICATION: Open  

Wards Affected 

County-wide  

Purpose 

To note and endorse recommendations for further work on SEN Funding. 

Key Decision  

This is not a Key Decision.  

Recommendation 

 THAT (Schools Forum): 

 (a) endorses further work to produce a range of options for the 
delegation of SEN funding to mainstream schools to replace or 
modify the existing model of delegation/banded funding; 

(b) endorses further work to produce a range of options for the funding 
of the County’s maintained special schools; and 

(c) endorses further work to produce a range of options for the 
delegation of funding to allow schools to purchase learning and 
behaviour support services via a service level agreement. 

Key Points Summary 

• The present system of SEN funding for schools, although it has been revised several 
times, does not always command the confidence of a range of stakeholders.   

• The LA is revising its Policy on Inclusion and this is a good opportunity to develop a 
coherent funding system that supports the policy objectives including the delivery of 
positive outcomes for learners with Additional Needs. 

AGENDA ITEM 12

177



 2

Alternative Options 

1. If recommendations 1-3 above are endorsed, a range of options will be presented in 
paper(s) to be brought back to Schools Forum at a later date.  One of the options will, 
in each case, be to maintain the current model. 

Reasons for Recommendations 

2. It has become apparent that the current system for funding SEN/AEN does not always 
command the confidence of a range of stakeholders.  The concerns expressed cover 
the following areas: 

• LA Officers and the Schools Forum representatives have raised concerns regarding 
the growth in the cost of providing for those with SEN.  This growth is demonstrated in 
Appendix A.  Investigations into the reasons for this growth have led to a belief that it 
is the band 3 and 4 allocations of the banded funding system that might be 
responsible. Further work is required to determine the extent to which expenditure on 
the funding of ‘hours on statements’ have reduced by a corresponding amount. 

• Schools have expressed concerns about the complexity of the application system for 
banded funding.  The composition of the banded funding panel has also been a 
concern for some Head teachers. 

• Parents and carers have expressed doubts about the monitoring of delegated SEN 
funding and the guarantees that can be provided about the levels of support delivered 
to their child. 

• Some schools and LA Officers have concerns regarding the ability of smaller schools 
to respond to high levels of need under a delegated system. 

• LA Officers have concerns that the present system retains some features that provide 
a perverse incentive to seek additional funding. 

• Head teachers of Herefordshire’s special schools have expressed concern about the 
responsiveness of the current special school funding system.  In particular, whether 
the funding system can respond quickly to the build up of pupils placed in special 
schools as the academic year progresses and how this can impact on the stability of 
staffing.  

3. The LA is currently revising its policy on inclusion and this provides a good opportunity to 
review the current system to ensure that Herefordshire develops a coherent funding 
system that supports the policy objectives.   

4. Comparative information provided by the National Strategies also raises a number of 
other questions relating to the way in which we distribute SEN and AEN funding in 
Herefordshire (see Appendix B).  These questions need to be considered as we develop 
the policy on inclusion. 

 

178



 3

Introduction and Background 

5.  There have been a number of incremental changes to the SEN/AEN funding system in 
recent years including: 

a) Banded funding: 

• The move to a banded funding system started in 2003 and moved through primary 
schools year-by-year and into Secondary schools in 2005/6.  There were 4 levels of 
funding). 

• In April 2009, bands 1 and 2 were delegated to schools on a formula basis following 
detailed consultation with schools, approval by Schools Forum and sign off by 
Cabinet. 

• The process trialled throughout the summer of 2009 and changes were made 
including amending the criteria for behaviour and autism. 

• The budget for band 3 and 4 continued to be allocated to individual pupils against 
specific criteria with £217,000 being allocated for 2009/10and an actual expenditure of 
£337,000 (excluding academies).  This overspend was almost entirely accounted for 
in primary school applications.  The 2009/10 level of funding for band 3 is £7,200 and 
for band 4 is £11,250.  

b) Delegation of SEN funding by formula based on proxy indicators: 

• The delegation of band 1 and 2 funding in April 2009 was the first delegation of SEN 
funding via a formula based on the proxy indicators of need.  Initially, this was based 
on two factors: pupil numbers and free school meals.  The indicators were revised for 
2010/11 to be consistent with the deprivation factors in the overall school funding 
formula,  i.e. an IDACI deprivation factor, a low prior attainment factor, free school 
meals, free school meal percentage and pupil numbers. 

• The amount delegated in 2009/10 was £2.35m and £2.55m in 2010/11. 

c) Special school funding 

• The current formula for is based on 2 levels of pupil-led funding (standard and 
enhanced). The standard funding rate is £13,207 and the enhanced rate is £19,348 
(2010/11 values).   The schools receive other elements of funding, e.g., premises 
costs. 

• There are two annual pupil counts, which determine the pupil-led element of the 
funding. These take place in January and September.  Special school budgets are 
revised when September pupil numbers are known. 

• The moderation process to determine which pupils should receive the enhanced level 
of funding takes place in November. The moderation process is conducted by head 
teachers and LA officers. 

 

179



 4

• The total special schools budget in 2010/11 is £4,006,000.  This includes both the 
pupil-led elements and premises elements of the budget. 

d) Delegation of funding for Learning and Behaviour Support Services  

• The Learning and Behaviour Teams currently provide support to pupils and schools 
that is free at the point of delivery. The funding for these services is top-sliced from 
DSG.  In September 2007, Schools Forum tasked the Funding for Inclusion Group to 
scope delegation of the funding for Central Advisory Teams to schools. The group 
recommended the delegation of the funding for learning and behaviour advice and 
support services.  It was proposed that the funding that currently supports these 
teams is delegated to schools in order that the same type of services could be 
purchased from the teams (or from elsewhere) via a service level agreement.  This 
would allow decisions about support to be made as close to the child as possible and 
also helps the LA meet its delegation targets. 

• Consultation was held from 22nd September to 14th November 2008.  Consultees 
were asked to consider whether ‘To delegate Dedicated Schools Grant budgets of 
approximately £400,000 identified for the provision of general learning and behaviour 
teams together with associated team costs to mainstream schools from April 2009’.  

• Due to the low response rate of 23% across all mainstream schools. (Primary 25% 
High Schools 14%), further consultation was sought and implementation postponed.   

• The Herefordshire Association of Secondary Heads (HASH) subsequently indicated 
unanimous support for all the proposals subject to further consultation.  

• Options for the delegation of funding for the Learning and Behaviour teams together 
with the development of an appropriate SLA are now being prepared for consultation.  

• The quality of the service provided ought to determine the level of buy-back from 
schools.  In order to maintain the service, it is essential that the quality remains high.  
If the percentage of schools buying back reduces below a certain level, the viability of 
the service will be called into question. 

• We remain a high spending LA on centrally held Specialist Advisory Services: most 
LAs have delegated the funding for their high incidence support services. (England 
Average £28 per pupil Herefordshire £59 per pupil).  The delegation of Learning and 
Behaviour Support funding would bring us more into line with the national average and 
statistical neighbours. 

Key Considerations 

6. In order to build confidence of all stakeholders, a range of principles or criteria may be 
used for the design and evaluation of a funding formula or scheme as shown in 
Appendix C.  Recommendations 1-3 above will use this set of criteria to evaluate any 
options for revising the funding system. 

 
7. It is important to note that the accountability through the monitoring of the use of 

resources is seen as an integral part of the funding system and not a separate activity.  

180



 5

This aspect is continuing to be developed as part of an overall Quality Assurance 
Framework for SEN.    

 
Community Impact 
 
8. The aim would be to provide a system of SEN/AEN funding that offers that same level 

of funding for the same level of need across the county, regardless of which school or 
setting a pupil attends.  

 
9. Consideration of delegation of cluster or locality funding should be considered amongst 

the options to be brought back to the forum as this has the potential to strengthen the 
working together of a community of schools to meet need.  

 
 
Financial Implications 

 
10. The intention would be to provide a funding system that is cost-neutral, that would 

remove any perverse incentives and would therefore contain costs unless there was 
clear evidence of changes in the pattern of need that would demand additional funding.  
Any increase in expenditure would be funded from DSG and would therefore result in a 
further top slicing of school budgets. 

 

Legal Implications 

11. Any changes to the SEN funding system need to be within the current regulations 
relating to Local financial management and need to take account of the new 
requirements relating to the funding of deprivation. 

Risk Management 

12a. There is a risk that any revision to the current system will have further unintended 
consequences that distort the system.  This can be mitigated by ensuring that the 
monitoring systems are responsive to trends and that action can be taken to adjust the 
system. 

12b. The risk of not preparing options to review the system is that the system might be 
undermined by a lack of confidence in it and that the costs for SEN might continue to 
rise in a way that is out of proportion to the budget available for all children.  Given the 
growth in the numbers of children with banded funding on statements, this risk can 
partly be mitigated by improving the monitoring of the Annual Review of Statement in 
order to ensure that those in receipt of Band 3 and 4 funding continue to have that level 
of need. 

Consultees 

Inclusion Partnership Co-ordinators 

Herefordshire Carers Group 

181



 6

Relevant LA Officers 

A sample of Herefordshire’s Headteachers 

Appendices 

 Appendix A - A Summary of SEN Funding Trends 

Appendix B - Extract from A framework to support self-evaluation by local authorities Part III - 
SEN/ LDD Data Set - Herefordshire LA No 884 (National Strategies April 2010) 
 
Appendix C - Principles for AEN/SEN Funding (From Marsh; 2004) 

 

 

 

Background Papers 

• Resourcing Additional and Special Educational Needs in Wales (Marsh; 2004)  

• The Management of SEN Expenditure (DfES; 2004) 

• SEN Expenditure Trends Report by Managers of SEN and Finance 
(Herefordshire Schools Forum 10th October 2007) 

*Use of Exempt Information Schedule 12A 

The information below must be included in any exempt report.  

‘This report (or the appendices) is / are exempts by virtue of paragraph (quote the paragraph number 
of the list below) …. 

i. Information related to any individual 

ii. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual 

iii. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the 
authority holding that information) 

iv. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or 
negotiations, in connection with any labour relating matter arising between the authority or a 
Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under the authority. 

v. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in 
legal proceedings. 

vi. Information which reveals that the authority proposes: 

(a) to give under any enactment a notice of by virtue of which requirements are 
imposed on a person ; or  

(b) to make an order or direction under any enactment 

182



 7

vii. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, 
investigation or prosecution of crime. 

…. of the Access to Information Procedure Rules set out in the Constitution pursuant to Schedule 12A 
Local Government Act 1972, as amended. 

Report authors must make sure the correct paragraph is used to apply any exemption (and that a public 
interest test has been applied and justified).  This means that the exemptions can only be applied where 
the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing it.  The relevant 
paragraph must be included together with the public test justification before you sent it to Legal Services in 
order that they can confirm that your reasons are acceptable. 

The justification must be set out in the ‘Exempt Information Section’.  In the case of a partial exemption 
e.g. appendix, the above test, together with the justification must also be included on the appendix. 

183



184



 
 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Les Knight – Head of Additional Needs on (01432) 261724 
 

1

Appendix A – A Summary of SEN Funding Trends 
 
Key points: 
 
• SEN Expenditure as % of Education Budget:  The proportion of the budget devoted to SEN has 

increased.  (excluding central SEN support services) The following paragraphs investigate some 
of the elements that could be creating this increase. 

 
 2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 
% 3.53 3.58 5.4 5.50 5.3 

 
• Banded Funding without Statements via Banded Funding Panel.  Between 2006-10 there was 

evidence of an increase in the number of allocations via the Banded Funding Panel at Band Level 
3 or 4. 

 
 2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 
Band 3 23 33 29 37 
Band 4 9 12 14 15 

 
• The majority of these allocations were for General Learning and Developmental Delay and 

Behavioural, Emotional and Social Difficulties. 
 
• Statutory Assessment and Statement: Apart from 2007/08, there has been a year on year 

increase in requests for Statutory Assessment and an increase in the number of Statements 
issued. 

 
  DECISION OUTCOME 

Financial Year Requests for Statutory 
Assessment 

Assess Don’t 
Assess 

Statements 
Issued 

NiL issued 

2006/07 51 38 13 34 4 
2007/ 08 58 26 32 25 1 
2008/09 90 53 37 44 7 
2009/2010 102 65  29  43  1 

Note: Some decisions still pending from 2009/10 
 
• Banded Funding with Statements There has been a tripling of the number of Statements with 

Level 3 or 4 funding since 2005 with year on year increase; the greatest increase has been in the 
number of Level 4 allocations. Over a quarter of all Statements now have Level 3 or 4 funding.  It 
needs to be noted that Herefordshire has a lower overall rate of statementing for the 0-19 
population compared to nationally (1.42% compared to 1.85%).  As pupils tend to receive 
statements of SEN in their primary phase of education, this growth following the introduction of the 
new system is inevitable.  There needs to be further investigation to determine if there is a 
commensurate reduction in the level of funding for pupils with ‘hours’ on statements (the previous 
system) as pupils leave school. 

 
Year Level 3 Level 4 Total 
2005 36 15 51 
2006 47 27 74 
2007 66 55 121 
2008 61 60 121 
2009 79 88 177 

 
 
 

185



 
 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Les Knight – Head of Additional Needs on (01432) 261724 
 

2

• There has been an increase in the total expenditure for Out of County ‘Education Only’ 
placements in 2009/10 although the increase is due to one placement via a parental appeal to 
SENDIST.  

 
 

Financial 
Year 

Cost 

2006/7 £407,211 
2007/8 286,871 
2008/9 332,275 
2009/10 293,145 ** 

** provisional subject to final closedown. 1 case pending which potentially brings total to £443,002 
 
• At least two young people are due to leave their Out of County placement by September 2010. 
 
L Knight based on information supplied by M Green and E Edwards 
April 2010 

186



Appendix B - Extract from A framework to support self-evaluation by local authorities Part III - SEN/ LDD Data Set  
Herefordshire LA No 884 (National Strategies April 2010) 

 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Les Knight – Head of Additional Needs on (01432) 261724 
 

 

1
8
7



Appendix B - Extract from A framework to support self-evaluation by local authorities Part III - SEN/ LDD Data Set  
Herefordshire LA No 884 (National Strategies April 2010) 

 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Les Knight – Head of Additional Needs on (01432) 261724 
 

 

1
8
8



Appendix B - Extract from A framework to support self-evaluation by local authorities Part III - SEN/ LDD Data Set  
Herefordshire LA No 884 (National Strategies April 2010) 

 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Les Knight – Head of Additional Needs on (01432) 261724 
 

 

1
8
9



1
9
0



Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Les Knight – Head of Additional Needs on (01432) 261724 (lknight1@herefordshire.gov.uk)  
 

Appendix C -  Principles for AEN/SEN Funding (From Marsh; 2004) 
 
A range of principles or criteria may be used for the design and evaluation of 
a funding formula or scheme [Marsh, 2003a].  The principles and associated 
key questions need to be judged against the main policy objectives of the LEA 
and the intended purpose[s] of the funding.  The principles have been drawn 
from three sources: Ross [1983], Levacic [1995]; Ross and Levacic [1999].  
The key questions have been drawn from the 2001 DfES guidance to LEAs 
on the distribution of resources to support inclusion [DfES, 2001]. 
 
a. Simplicity.  Is the funding scheme easy to understand and does it have 
low administrative costs both at LEA and school level? 

b. Equity.  Are the levels of resources for different SEN Funding Blocks 
judged to be fair?  Is there fair and equal treatment for all schools and 
does the funding scheme promote inclusive practice?  Should the same 
amount of money [unit value] be allocated to each pupil irrespective of the 
nature or degree of their need? 

c. Effectiveness and Standards.  How well does the funding scheme meet 
the LEA’s policy objectives?  Are monitoring arrangements in place for 
pupil outcomes of pupils with SEN? 

d. Responsiveness to Needs.  Is the funding scheme flexible enough to 
make provision for children with complex needs?  Are children with 
additional educational needs supported and not just those who experience 
special educational needs?  Are the requirements of statements met? 

e. Efficiency/Value for Money.  Does the funding scheme adhere to the 
principles of whole school funding to ensure maximum effect?  Is early 
identification supported with appropriate intervention strategies?  Are 
perverse incentives avoided?  Does the scheme in general offer value for 
money? 

f. Cost Containment.  Are resources distributed to meet the additional and 
special educational needs of children in mainstream settings, irrespective 
of whether or not a statement is held? 

g. Accountability.  Are the relative roles, duties and expectations of schools 
and LEAs clearly outlined?  Are arrangements included to monitor the use 
of resources? 

h. Transparency.  Is the funding scheme readily understood by schools, 
governing bodies and parents?  Are schools aware of the amount received 
for pupils with additional and special educational needs and of the 
intended purpose of the funding?  Has there been open dialogue between 
stakeholders and the LEA? 

i. Stability of Funding.  Are there major shifts in funding between schools? 
j. Willingness to Accept Change.  Has the funding scheme been 
developed in partnership with schools and other relevant stakeholders?  
Are schools willing to change?  Has a clear plan for transitional 
arrangements been formulated? 

 

191



192



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Mel Ganderton, HR Manager - CYPD on (01432) 260934 
  

TradeUnionFacilitiesBudgetSchoolsForumUpdateReportApril101.doc 26Nov08 

MEETING: SCHOOLS FORUM 

DATE: 19TH APRIL 2010 

TITLE OF REPORT: TRADE UNION FACILITIES BUDGET – UPDATE 
REPORT 

OFFICER:  HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGER 

CLASSIFICATION: Open 

Wards Affected 

County-wide  

Purpose 

The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the Trade Union facilities budget in terms of the 
mechanism to better control the trade union facilities budget. The report is provided for Schools 
Forum to note.  

Key Decision  

This is not a Key Decision.  

Key Points Summary 

• Teacher trade union trade union facilities spend is £65,814 for Period 13  

• Budget overspend was due to a number of factors 

• Under the current climate of financial pressure it is imperative that budgets are balanced. Two 
options 1) less activity or 2) more money allocated from DSG 

• A number of actions have been undertaken in order to alleviate the current budgetary pressure 
of the Trade Union Budget for schools 

• A full review of the Trade Union Facilities Agreement is currently underway  

Alternative Options 

N/A 

Reasons for Recommendations 

N/A 

AGENDA ITEM 13

193



Introduction and Background 

1 A previous report was provided for Schools Forum Budget Working Group on the Trade union 
Facilities Budget for schools. As a result of the overspend of the TU budget for schools 
Schools Forum asked for a number of actions to be undertaken in relation to ensuring better 
budgetary control. Schools Forum gave the directive that the TU budget for schools should 
only fund TU facility activity with a direct benefit to schools, and therefore other corporate 
activity, and other facility activity should be funded from the other more appropriate budgets. It 
was recognised that the TU facilities budget has historically funded different facility activity 
other than consultation, schools policy work, and casework for schools. The actions from 
Schools Forum included the following: 

• Corporate Policy development / Corporate Workshops to be funded from a Corporate 
HR budget 

• WAMG meetings to be funded from a Workforce Development budget 

• Health & Safety activity to be funded from Health & Safety 

• Union Learning Rep facility funded from another central budget 

• Full review of Trade Union Facility time with reference to consultation framework 

In addition, Schools Forum requested that a better system be introduced in order to monitor 
the budget in the future, and to also ensure that trade union facility time is used appropriately. 
It was confirmed that the review of Trade Union Facilities across the Council would include a 
review of the voucher system and a mechanism to ensure better budgetary control. 

Update 

Corporate Policy Development / Corporate Workshops 

In terms of update corporate policy development / corporate workshops will now be funded by 
the Corporate TU facilities budget. Adrian Chard, HR Manager Employee Relations is also 
investigating refunding the cost of corporate TU work for 09/10. Once the value is determined 
the amount will be credited to the Trade Union Facilities budget for schools. 

WAMG 

All WAMG activity is now funded directly from Training and Development, and is managed by 
Sharron Goode. Sharron has developed a separate voucher system, and is monitoring the 
spend directly. The budget for this activity has been set at £10k. 

Health & Safety 

Health & Safety meetings will be funded directly from Health & Safety. Andrew Rewell is 
currently developing a separate arrangement for H&S facility time, and this is to be discussed 
with union reps in due course. 

Union Learning Representative Time 

There is no identified budget either corporately or within CYPD in order to fund this activity. It 
must however be recognised that facilities time for Union Learning Representatives as this is 
statutory requirement, and therefore funding must be allocated for this activity. It is not an 
option to stop all funding for Union Learning Representative activity. Consideration must be 

194



given to whether money should be allocated from DSG and a CYPD budget in order to jointly 
to fund this activity. One option could be to agree a funding split of 50:50 between CYPD and 
DSG, and this would be capped at the agreed level. This will require further discussion, and 
agreement in conjunction with the wider Trade Union Facilities Time Agreement. (See below)  

Trade Union Facilities Agreement – Review 

Adrian Chard, HR Manager – Employee Relations is currently undertaking the review of Trade 
Union Facilities arrangements across the Council. This includes arrangements for all Teacher 
Trade Unions, Unison and GMB. This review is not yet complete, but it is intended that the 
review will be complete by mid-May for discussion and consultation with Trade Union 
representatives. The review has taken longer than anticipated, largely due to the need to 
conduct a full review of funding and monitoring arrangements and also linking it to the review 
of Consultation and Negotiation arrangements across the Council and PCT. 

The Trade Union Facilities Agreement is scheduled to be presented at Schools Forum in July. 

Key Considerations 

2 The report is for update only. A further discussion paper on the Trade Union Facilities 
Agreement will be brought to Schools Forum in July, following the review that is currently 
being undertaken.   

Community Impact 

3 None 

Financial Implications 

4 None 

Legal Implications 

5 None 

Risk Management 

6 Risk will be determined through the Trade Union Facilities Agreement review. 

Consultees 

7 None 

Appendices 

8 None  

Background Papers 

None identified 

195



196


	Agenda
	
	FIREBROCK(1)

	4 Minutes
	7 SCHOOLS FORUM REGULATIONS UPDATE
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3

	8 REVISED CONSTITUTION OF THE SCHOOLS FORUM
	HSF RevisedHSF Revised Constitution (Format 1) Version 2 Draft ( Amended on 9 April )2010

	9 FORECAST SCHOOL BALANCES 2009/10
	APPENDIX

	10 CONSULTATION ON THE FUTURE DISTRIBUTION OF SCHOOL FUNDING
	APPENDIX.1
	APPENDIX.2doc

	11 EXTENDED SCHOOLS REVIEW - ALLOCATION OF FUNDING FOR 2010/11
	Extended Schools Final Draft 2010 11#3

	12 PROPOSAL TO REVIEW SEN/AEN FUNDING
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C

	13 TRADE UNION FACILITIES BUDGET - UPDATE REPORT

